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Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Resulialftionary Statements Under the Private Secutiitegation Reform Act of 1995)

The disclosures and analysis in this report corgaime forward-looking statements. This discusshmuathose statements is provided in
accordance with the Private Securities Litigatiadfd®m Act of 1995.

Forward-looking statements give current expectatimnforecasts of future events. You can identise statements by the fact that they do
not relate strictly to historical or current factéiey use words such as "anticipate,” "estima&xpéct,” "project,” "intend," "plan," "believe,"
and other words and terms of similar meaning imeation with discussions of future operating oafinial performance. In particular, these
include statements relating to future actions, pective products, future performance or resultsusfent and anticipated products, sales
efforts, expenses, the outcome of contingenciels asdegal proceedings, and financial results. Riora to time, we may also provide oral
written forward-looking statements in other matisrigleased to the public.

Any or all of the forward-looking statements madehis report and in any other public statementg taen out to be incorrect. They can be
affected by inaccurate assumptions we may makg &nbwn or unknown risks and uncertainties. Consatjy, no forward-looking
statement can be guaranteed. Actual future residisvary materially. We undertake no obligatiomupalate any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future ésem otherwise. However, you should consult amth&r disclosures we make on related
subjects in Forms 10-Q, 8-K, 10-K or other repfditésl with the SEC. Other factors besides thogedidere could also adversely affect our
businesses.

These are some of the factors that could poteyntallise actual results to differ materially fronpested and historical results:

Chapter 11 Filing

. Factors relating to Armstrong World Industries;.Is ("AWI") Chapter 11 Filing, such as: the pbtssidisruption of relationships with
creditors, customers, suppliers and employeegjlteate size of AWI's asbestos-related and otiadillties; the ability to confirm and
implement a plan of reorganization; the availapitif financing and refinancing for both AWI and #tsbsidiaries that are not parties to its
Chapter 11 Filing; and AWI's ability to comply witlovenants in its debtor-in-possession credititsiqithe "DIP Facility”).

Legal Claims
. Claims of undetermined merit and amount whichehagen asserted against us for various legal mattetuding AWI's asbestos related
litigation. For more information on these mattesee the discussion of Legal Proceedings in Pigrh 3 in this report.

Business Environment

. Changes in demand for public and private comrakarid residential building construction and rernimva laws and regulations, foreign
currency and interest rates, inflation or otheated factors affecting our businesses. Despitefiarts to foresee and plan for the effects of
changes in these circumstances, we can not prteeictimpact with certainty. For example, an ecoimdownturn may lead our customers to
delay or cancel construction plans. For more infiiom on these matters, see the discussion of NI&iké& in Item 7A of this report.

. Business combinations among our competitors pplgers, which could affect our competitive positim any of our business units.
Similarly, combinations or alliances among our majastomers could increase their purchasing powedealing with us. If we should enter
into one or more business combinations, our busjrifasmnces and capital structure could be affected

. The level of success of our new product introunst and those of our competitors.
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. The extent to which we successfully achieve irgtggn of and synergies from acquisitions as wellree impact of divestitures, restructuring
and other unusual items that may result from ewnghdusiness strategies and organizational restingtu

Retail Environment
. Business decisions and business conditions tfeit @ur major customers and distribution netwofksr example, a significant portion of
our revenue in North America comes from sales tnteoome center retailers.

. Increased retail trade consolidation, especiallyparkets such as the United States, could makeaus dependent upon key retailers whose
relative bargaining strength may increase.

. Changes in the policies of our retail trade congtis, such as inventory shifts or fluctuationsjthtions on access to shelf space and other
conditions. Many of our customers, particularly bigh-volume retail trade customers, have engagtdug in continuous efforts to reduce
their inventory levels and improve delivery fulfilent.

International

. Various worldwide economic and political factozhanges in the competitive structures of the niarloeedit risks in emerging markets,
variations in residential and commercial constarctiates, and economic growth rates in varioussaséthe world in which we do business.
These factors could affect the end-use marketsdoproducts in various parts of the world.

. Changes in intellectual property legal proteddiand remedies, trade regulations, tariff classifns or duty rates, and procedures and
actions affecting production, pricing and marketirigoroducts, intergovernmental disputes, possialéonalization and unstable governments
and legal systems.

. Changes in exchange rates can significantly afecreported results from one period to the next.

Raw Materials

. Availability of raw materials, energy, water aswlirced products due to changes in business aalldegditions that impact our suppliers,
including environmental conditions, laws and regalzs, litigation involving our suppliers, transpation disruptions and/or business
decisions made by our suppliers.

. Raw material price increases (for example pmocegases in hardwood lumber, limestone or petrolbased raw materials such as
plasticizers or PVCs), energy cost increases (anmle price increases in natural gas), and changdistribution and product mix.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. ("AWI") is a Peryhgania corporation incorporated in 1891, whichdtiger with its subsidiaries is referred
to here as "Armstrong". Through its U.S. operatiand U.S. and international subsidiaries, Armstrédesjgns, manufactures and sells
flooring products (resilient, wood, carpeting apass flooring) as well as ceiling systems, arothlworld. Armstrong products are sold
primarily for use in the finishing, refurbishinganrepair of residential, commercial and institutibbuildings. Armstrong also designs,
manufactures and sells kitchen and bathroom cabinetingle and multi family homebuilders and reeleds.

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. (which together with itsbsidiaries is referred to here as "AHI") is thdlly held parent holding company of
Armstrong. Armstrong Holdings, Inc. became the pacempany of Armstrong on May 1, 2000, followingVAshareholder approval of a
plan of exchange under which each share of AWl awematically exchanged for one share of Armstidotglings, Inc. Armstrong
Holdings, Inc. was formed for purposes of the slexehange and holds no other significant assetp@rations apart from AWI and AWI's
subsidiaries. Stock certificates that formerly esgnted shares of AWI were automatically convarttxcertificates representing the same
number of shares of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. Thbljgly held debt of AWI was not affected in therigaction.

Proceedings under Chapter 11

On December 6, 2000, AWI, the major operating siiasy of AHI, filed a voluntary petition for religthe "Filing") under Chapter 11 of the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") in tthated States Bankruptcy Court for the DistricDlaware (the "Court") in order to
use the court-supervised reorganization proceashi@ve a resolution of its asbestos liability.cM8ing under Chapter 11 were two of
Armstrong's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Nitram Lidaiors, Inc. ("Nitram") and Desseaux CorporatioMNofth America, Inc. ("Desseaux,"
and together with AWI and Nitram, the "Debtors"heTChapter 11 cases are being jointly administenelér case numbers 00-4469,D0¢0,
and 00-4471 (the "Chapter 11 Case").

AWI is operating its business and managing its pri@s as a debtor-in-possession subject to thagioas of the Bankruptcy Code. Pursuant
to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, AWI i permitted to pay any claims or obligations whigbse prior to the Filing date
(prepetition claims) unless specifically authorizgdthe Court. Similarly, claimants may not enfoars claims against AWI that arose prior
to the date of the Filing unless specifically auihed by the Court. In addition, as a debtor-ingassion, AWI has the right, subject to the
Court's approval, to assume or reject any execwomyracts and unexpired leases in existence atateeof the Filing. Parties having claims
as a result of any such rejection may file clainithwhe Court, which will be dealt with as parttbé Chapter 11 Case.

Three creditors' committees, one representing sbpsrsonal injury claimants (the "Asbestos Peakhmjury Claimants' Committee™), one
representing asbestos property damage claimart§Adbestos Property Damage Committee"), and theraepresenting other unsecured
creditors (the "Unsecured Creditors' Committee8yénbeen appointed in the Chapter 11 Case. Iniaddin individual has been appointe
represent the interests of future asbestos perggogy} claimants (the "Future Claimants' Repreagwme”). In accordance with the provisions
of the Bankruptcy Code, these parties have the tighe heard on matters that come before the Qotine Chapter 11 Case.

Plan of Reorganization

On November 4, 2002, AWI filed a Plan of Reorgaticrawith the Court and on March 14, 2003, AWI filés First Amended Plan of
Reorganization and selected exhibits (as so ameitdedeferred to in this report as the "POR"ZeTPOR has been endorsed by AHI's Board
of Directors and is supported by the Asbestos Patdojury Claimants' Committee, the Unsecured G@oest Committee and the Future
Claimants' Representative. At present, AWI hasysbreached agreement with the Asbestos ProperntyaDda Committee with respect to the
terms and provisions of the POR. The POR providesainong other things, the treatment and dischairgél prepetition claims, including ¢
asbestos-related claims.



The POR excludes Armstrong's Nitram and Desseabsidiaries. Implementation of the POR and the tneat of claims and interests as
provided therein is subject to confirmation of @R in accordance with the provisions of the BaptayiCode. Therefore, the timing and
terms of resolution of the Chapter 11 Case remagerain.

Disclosure Statement

On December 20, 2002, a proposed disclosure statesith respect to the POR was filed with the CoOGm December 26, 2002, AWI filed
projected financial information with the Court aghiibit C to the disclosure statement. On March2D03, AWI filed an amended Disclosure
Statement with the Court (as so amended, it isneddo in this report as the "Disclosure Staterf)eRrior to soliciting acceptances to the
POR, the Court must approve a disclosure statetodrd included as part of the solicitation materatd find that the disclosure statement
contains adequate information to enable those gatimthe POR to make an informed judgment to acmemject the POR.

As indicated in the Disclosure Statement and itghets, the projected financial information andivas estimates of value therein discussed
should not be regarded as representations or wgsary AWI, AHI or any other person as to the aacy of such information or that any
such projection or valuation will be realized. Tihtormation in the Disclosure Statement, includihg projected financial information and
estimates of value, has been prepared by AWI arfth&incial advisors. This information has not baadited or reviewed by independent
accountants. The significant assumptions useddaparation of the information and estimates of valteincluded in Exhibit C to the
Disclosure Statement. The Bankruptcy Court hasdidbd the hearing to consider approval of the Dsate Statement for April 4, 2003.

The discussions of the POR and Disclosure Statemehis report are qualified by reference to thk text of those documents as filed with
the Court and filed for reference purposes withSkeurities and Exchange Commission. The POR ascld3ure Statement are available at
www.armstrongplan.com, where additional informatialt be posted as it becomes available.

Objections to the Disclosure Statement

During February 2003, several parties involvechin €hapter 11 Case filed objections to the indi@kclosure Statement with the Court.
Objections were filed by, among others, Liberty Maltinsurance Company, the Center for Claims RésoluTravelers Indemnity Company
and Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, WeligdBank Minnesota, N.A., as Indenture Trustee,thedJnofficial Committee of Sele
Asbestos Claimants. Additional objections may bedfagainst the amended Disclosure Statement. dhet Geard and addressed many of
these objections at the February 28, 2003 heafing remaining objections are expected to be addrkasthe April 4, 2003 hearing.

Asbestos Personal Injury Trust

A principal feature of the POR is the creation ¢fiest (the "Asbestos Pl Trust"), pursuant to sec&24(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, to which
all present and future asbestos-related persopeyiolaims, including contribution claims of cofdadants, will be channeled. In accordance
with the "524(g) injunction” to be issued by theuftdn connection with the confirmation of the PORyrious entities will be protected from
suit on account of present and future asbestoterefzersonal injury claims. These entities incluapng others, AWI, reorganized AWI,
AHI, AWI's affiliates, and their respective officeand directors. Claims resolution procedures totitiged by the Asbestos Pl Trust have
been developed. These procedures will govern tbevahce and payment by the Asbestos Pl Trust gfralent and future asbestos-related
personal injury claims. The Asbestos PI Trust idlfunded with AWI's rights to insurance providicmyerage for asbestos-related personal
injury claims, as well as a share of cash, noted,cemmon stock to be issued under the POR totoredas described below.
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Consideration to Be Distributed under the POR Thbestos Pl Trust and the holders of unsecured shaifhshare in the POR consideration
that is made up of the following components:

. Available Cash, which is comprised of:

. Cash available on the effective date of the P@& eeserving up to $100 million to fund ongoingeoations and making provisions for
certain required payments under the POR,

. Any cash drawn, at AWI's sole discretion, undeeait finance facility for the purpose of fundidgstributions under the POR, and

. Certain insurance proceeds related to environahematters

. Plan Notes of reorganized AWI with a term of SLbyears and/or net proceeds from any privateiaffe of debt securities, and

. Substantially all of the outstanding common stotkeorganized AWI

The total amount of Plan Notes will be the greafg(i) $1.125 billion less Available Cash and @i 75 million. However, AWI will use
reasonable efforts to issue one or more privagrioffs of debt securities on, or as soon as peditcafter, the Effective Date that would y
net proceeds at least equal to the amount of tne IRbtes prescribed by the Plan. If the privateraifys are successful, the Plan Notes would
not be issued. If the offerings yield proceeds thas the amount of the Plan Notes prescribed &ytan, AWI will issue Plan Notes equal to
the difference. The private offerings, if issued| not be registered under the Securities Act @83 and may not be offered or sold in the
absent registration or an applicable exemption fregistration requirements.

The POR provides that unsecured creditors, otlzar tonvenience creditors described below, willikectheir pro rata share of:

. 34.43% of the new common stock,

. 34.43% of the first $1.05 billion of

. Up to $300 million of Available Cash and

. The principal amount of Plan Notes and/or nehgasceeds from any private debt offerings of deduturities.

. 60% of the next $50 million of Available Cash aiicduch Available Cash is less than $50 millidren 60% of Plan Notes and/or net cash
proceeds from any private debt offerings of debtigées, in an amount equal to the difference leetw$50 million and the amount of such
Available Cash, and

. 34.43% of the remaining amount of Available Casll Plan Notes and/or net cash proceeds from avgt@idebt offerings of debt
securities. The remaining amount of new commonkstAegailable Cash and Plan Notes and/or net casbegds from any private debt
offerings of debt securities, will be distributedthe Asbestos PI Trust.

Under the POR, unsecured creditors whose clainhe(dhan debt securities) are less than $10,00horelect to reduce their claims to
$10,000 will be treated as "convenience creditarg! will receive payment of 75% of their allowediol amount in cash.

Asbestos property damage claims that are stillidéspas of the effective date of the POR will barateled to a separate trust ("Asbestos PD
Trust") under the POR. If the class of asbestopguty damage claimants votes to accept the PORghestos PD Trust will be funded with
$0.5 million to $2.0 million in cash based upon thenber of disputed claims (which will be fundedlesively from the proceeds of
insurance). If the class of asbestos property darmmkgmants rejects the POR, the Court will esténihe aggregate value of asbestos property
damage claims, and the Asbestos PD Trust will bddd exclusively with rights to insurance in an amtcsufficient to provide for payment

in full of asbestos property damage claims, ufphéoaggregate amount estimated by the Court. How#Vess than 25 disputed asbestos
property damage claims remain outstanding as oéffleetive date of the POR, AWI may elect, in ibdesdiscretion, to litigate the merits of
each remaining asbestos property damage claimé#ferCourt and pay any allowed claim in full, &sh, from insurance proceeds rather
than channel the asbestos property damage claithe tdsbestos PD Trust.
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Under the POR, the existing equity interests in AMill be cancelled. The POR provides for the pdgdmistribution, with respect to existing
equity, of warrants to purchase shares of reorgan/V| (the "Warrants"). The terms of the Warrantauld all be measured from the
effective date of the POR. The Warrants:

. Would constitute 5% of the common stock of reaiged AWI on a fully diluted basis:

. Would have a 7-year exercisable term; and

. Would contain an exercise price equal to 125%efper share equity value of reorganized AWI,gased among the financial advisers for
AWI, the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' Contemitthe Unsecured Creditors' Committee, and ther&Claimants' Representative, and
which will be set forth in the Court-approved dastire statement for the POR. The Warrants are &&iiio have a value on the effective
date of the POR of approximately $40 million to $Bilion.

AHI's shareholders will have no actual vote onRI@R. If the POR is implemented, the only value thifitbe retained by AHI shareholders
the potential to receive their ratable share ofiterants if AHI's Plan of Liquidation (see discassbelow) is approved. If the shareholders
and Board of Directors of AHI do not approve AHPlan of Liquidation, AHI will not receive any Wants to distribute to its shareholders.

Consideration Value Defined by the Disclosure $teet In the Disclosure Statement, assuming an ffieeDate of the POR of July 1, 2003,
and based on estimates of the fair value of reazgdmWI, the total value of consideration to bstdbuted to the Asbestos Pl Trust, other
than the asbestos product liability insurance peicwill be approximately $2.1 billion, and theéatiovalue of consideration to be distributec
holders of allowed unsecured claims (other tharvenience claims) will be approximately $1.1 billidased upon the estimated value of the
POR consideration and AWI's estimate that unseccisgohs allowed by the Court (other than convengeciaims) will total approximately
$1.65 billion, AWI estimates that holders of allalwensecured claims (other than convenience clawillsdeceive a recovery having a value
equal to approximately 66.5% of their allowed clailAWI's estimates of the consideration and paaéntcoveries are based upon many
assumptions, including:

. The estimated reorganization value for AWI isiEtn $2.7 billion and $3.3 billion (with a midpoiwit $3.0 billion)

. The estimated equity value of new common stodletsveen $25.60 and $34.40 per share with a mitpdi$30.00 per share (assuming a
distribution of 67.5 million shares of new commaack to holders of unsecured claims and the Aslsé3tdrust)

. The Plan Notes will be in the aggregate princgrabunt of $775 million and are worth their facéuea

. AWI expects to have Available Cash of approxirya®350 million

. The estimated value of the Warrants is betwe@w$iflion and $50 million

AHI's Plan of Liquidation

In connection with the consummation of the POR kisting equity interests in AWI will be cancellexhd the common stock of reorganized
AWI will be held principally by AWI's unsecured diéors and the Asbestos Pl Trust. The POR contetepthat AHI will propose to its
shareholders that it adopt a plan for winding ug dissolving itself. The POR provides that, in arfite AHI to receive the Warrants, the
shareholders and Board of Directors of AHI mustrape AHI's Plan of Liquidation within one year aftBe occurrence of the effective date
under the POR. If such approval is not obtaineg hibider of AWI's existing equity interest will natceive the Warrants. The POR provides
that reorganized AWI will pay any costs and expsriseurred in connection with AHI's Plan of Liquitten. More information regarding the
contemplated dissolution and winding up of AHI vii# made available to AHI shareholders in the &utur
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Structure of Reorganized AWI

As disclosed within the 2002 third quarter FormQ@ing, AWI had planned to effectuate a "divisiaimder the Pennsylvania Business
Corporation Law in connection with the consummatibthe POR. Under the planned division, reorgahix@/| was to separate into a
holding company and separate wholly-owned subsetiararrying out its major lines of business. Aftether analysis and review, the
previously contemplated division will no longer acand AWI will emerge from bankruptcy protectiomthe parent and primary operating
company.

Next Steps in the Chapter 11 Proc

Following the Court's approval of a disclosureeastant, the POR will be submitted to the appropigateies in interest in AWI's Chapter 11
Case for voting. Implementation of the POR is scitje voting and its confirmation in accordancehvilie provisions of the Bankruptcy
Code. AWI believes that if the Disclosure Statenigsmipproved in April 2003, a hearing on the canéition of the POR will likely occur in
the third quarter of 2003. If the POR is confirnisdthe Court at such time, AWI will likely emergef Chapter 11 shortly thereafter. Of
course, there can be no certainty that all suchteweill occur, or if they do, that they will occur accordance with such timeframes.

Common Stock and Debt Securities

As a result of filing the POR on November 4, 2002, New York Stock Exchange stopped trading orEtkehange of the common stock of
AHI (traded under the ticker symbol "ACK") and twebt securities of AWI (traded under the ticker bgis "AKK" and "ACK 08"). AHI's
common stock has resumed trading in the over-thexen (OTC) Bulletin Board under the ticker symb®CKHQ" and one of AWI's debt
securities has resumed trading under the tickebsytAKKWQ".

Bar Date for Filing Claims

The Court established August 31, 2001 as the karfdaall claims against AWI except for asbestelsted personal injury claims and certain
other specified claims. A bar date is the date hicivclaims against AWI must be filed if the claim&wish to participate in any distribution
in the Chapter 11 Case. The Court has extendedktheate for claims from several environmental agenuntil the first quarter of 2003. On
March 1, 2002, the Court allowed certain holderallEfged asbestos property damage claims to filass proof of claim against AWI and
extended the bar date for asbestos property daotaiges to March 20, 2002. In July 2002, the Cowentidd the certification of the proposed
class and held that the plaintiffs' proof of clahall only be effective as to the named claimahtisar date for asbestastated personal inju
claims (other than claims for contribution, indefiwation, or subrogation) has not been set.

Approximately 4,600 proofs of claim (including l&fiied claims) totaling approximately $6.2 billi@ileging a right to payment from AWI
were filed with the Court in response to the Auddst2001 bar date, which are discussed below. Adktinues to investigate claims. The
Court will ultimately determine liability amountbdt will be allowed as part of the Chapter 11 pssce

In its ongoing review of the filed claims, AWI hakentified and successfully objected to approxiyate300 claims totaling $1.6 billion.
These claims were primarily duplicate filings, oaithat were subsequently amended or claims thatarrelated to AWI. The Court
disallowed these claims with prejudice.

Approximately 1,000 proofs of claim totaling appirately $1.9 billion are pending with the Courttthae associated with asbestos-related
personal injury litigation, including direct persadninjury claims, claims by co-defendants for cdnttion and indemnification, and claims
relating to AWI's participation in the Center fola@ins Resolution (the "Center”). As stated abolre,dar date of August 31, 2001 did not
apply to asbestolated personal injury claims other than claimscfintribution, indemnification, or subrogation.eTROR contemplates tr
all asbestos-related personal injury claims, incigalaims for contribution, indemnification, ortsegation, will be addressed in the future
pursuant to the procedures to be developed in abionewith the POR. See further discussion regayrdikVI's liability for asbestos-
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related matters in Note 32 of the Consolidated fére Statements.

Approximately 500 proofs of claim totaling approxtaly $0.8 billion alleging asbestos-related propdamage are pending with the Court.
Most of these claims were new to AWI and many vegeriemitted with insufficient documentation to asdésdr validity. As part of
determining whether AWI asbestos containing resilf®or covering products give rise to propertyrdage liability, the Court conducted an
initial hearing on September 26-27, 2002 to detheetype of scientific testing allowable under Fexleral Rules of Evidence to prove or
disprove whether such products cause building comi@ion. On October 22, 2002, the Court granted’AV¢quested relief and ruled that
the methodology offered by the Asbestos Propertm@ge Committee in support of its claims is notiargdically valid method of
guantifying the level of ashestos contaminationa uilding. On November 1, 2002, the Court dire¢ted all property damage claimants
provide, in support of their claims, substantiatibat Armstrong flooring products were used in¢k@mants' buildings. The Court's deadline
for submission of such product identification do@ntation was February 10, 2003. Prior to the Codeadline, AWI reached an agreement
in principle to settle approximately 360 propergnthage claims, which alleged damages of $0.2 bjlfienapproximately $2 million. Any
amounts to be paid are expected to be funded lyanse. This settlement is subject to the Coupfsaval, which is scheduled to be hearc
the Court on April 4, 2003. Additionally, 130 prapedamage claims have been disallowed or withdraypproximately 100 property
damage claims totaling $0.6 billion will remain asolved if the settlement is approved. Only 2éheke approximately 100 remaining
property damage claims submitted product identificeby the February 10, 2003 deadline referreahiove. AWI expects to continue
vigorously defending any asserted asbestos-refatguerty damage claims in the Court. AWI believet it has a significant amount of
existing insurance coverage available for asbestiased property damage liability, with the amoultimately available dependent upon,
among other things, the profile of the claims tinaty be allowed by the Court. AWI's history of prdgelamage litigation prior to the Chap
11 filing is described in Note 32 of the ConsolethFinancial Statements.

Approximately 1,800 claims totaling approximatell.$ billion alleging a right to payment for finangi, environmental, trade debt and other
claims are pending with the Court. For these categmf claims, AWI has previously recorded appnoiely $1.6 billion in liabilities. AWI
continues to investigate the claims to determiedr talidity.

AWI continues to evaluate claims filed in the Cleadtl Case. AWI has recorded liability amountsclaims whose value can be reasonably
estimated and which it believes are probable aidpailowed by the Court. During the fourth quadg&2002, AWI recorded a $2.5 billion
charge to increase its estimate of probable asbestated liability based on the developments e@hapter 11 Case. See Note 32 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dis@mn. At this time, it is impossible to reasonatdyimate the value of all the claims that
will ultimately be allowed by the Court. Howeverid likely the value of the claims ultimately alted by the Court will be different than
amounts presently recorded by AWI and could be rizdt® AWI's financial position and the resultsitsf operations. Management will
continue to review the recorded liability in lightfuture developments in the Chapter 11 Case aaicernhanges to the recorded liability if
and when it is appropriate.

Financing

On November 1, 2002, the Court announced it hadoapp AWI's motion to reduce the amount of its delim-possession credit facility (the
"DIP Facility") from $200 million to $75 million, leninate the revolving credit borrowing featuretaia the letter of credit issuance facility
and extend the maturity date to December 8, 2083fDecember 31, 2002, AWI had approximately $28illion in letters of credit which
were issued pursuant to the DIP Facility. As of &aber 31, 2002, AWI had $76.4 million of cash aaslcequivalents, excluding cash held
by its non-debtor subsidiaries. The decrease flan$205.9 million of cash and cash equivalentepte&nber 30, 2002 is primarily due to an
intercompany payment of $120 million from AWI tavaolly owned non-debtor subsidiary under a licemgeeement for use of intangible
assets and intellectual property. This payment doggsffect Armstrong's consolidated cash balaAb¥l believes that cash on hand and
generated from operations and dividends from ibsisliaries, together with lines of credit and th® Bacility, will be adequate to address its
foreseeable
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liquidity needs. Obligations under the DIP Facilitycluding reimbursement of draws under the Isttdrcredit, if any, constitute superprior
administrative expense claims in the Chapter 1kCas

Accounting Impact

AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, "Financial Repartby Entities in Reorganization under the BankeypCode" ("SOP 90-7") provides
financial reporting guidance for entities that srerganizing under the Bankruptcy Code. This guidan implemented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to SOP 90-7, AWI is required to segrepgedpetition liabilities that are subject to compisenand report them separately on the
balance sheet. See Note 4 of the Consolidated EiadeBtatements for detail of the liabilities sulijeo compromise at December 31, 2002
2001. Liabilities that may be affected by a plamasfrganization are recorded at the expected anajuhée allowed claims, even if they may
be settled for lesser amounts. Substantially al\Wi's prepetition debt, now in default, is recalds face value and is classified within
liabilities subject to compromise. Obligations afdstrong subsidiaries not covered by the Filingaentlassified on the consolidated bale
sheet based upon maturity date. AWI's estimatéilitiafor asbestos-related personal injury claimalso recorded in liabilities subject to
compromise. See Note 32 of the Consolidated FiaaStatements for further discussion of AWI's astetability.

Additional prepetition claims (liabilities subjeitt compromise) may arise due to the rejection etatory contracts or unexpired leases, or as
a result of the allowance of contingent or disputiaiins.

SOP 90-7 also requires separate reporting of @dimees, expenses, realized gains and losses, avidipn for losses related to the Filing as
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net. AccordingW/| recorded the following Chapter 11 reorganizataxtivities during 2002, 2001 and
2000:

Year Ended December 31,

(amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Professional fees $27.8 $ 245 $ 2.6
Interest income, post petition (3.5) (5.1) (0.3)
Reductions to prepetition liabilities (1.2) (2.0) --
Termination of prepetition lease obligation - (5.9) -
ESOP related costs - - 58.8
Adjustment of net debt and debt issue costs to expe nsed

amount of allowed claim - - 42.0
Other expense directly related to bankruptcy, net 0.3 1.0 0.2
Total Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net $235 $ 125 $103.3

Professional fees represent legal and financiakady fees and expenses directly related to thad-il
Interest income is earned from short-term investsieficash by AWI subsequent to the Filing.

Reductions to prepetition liabilities represent difeerence between the prepetition invoiced amaunt the actual cash payment made to
certain vendors due to negotiated settlements.eTpagments of prepetition obligations were madesuymmt to authority granted by the Court.

Termination of prepetition lease obligation repreésehe reversal of an accrual for future leasermays for office space in the U.S. that AWI
will not pay due to the termination of the leasatcact. This amount was previously accrued in i tquarter of 2000 as part of a
restructuring charge when the decision to vacaetbmises was made.

12



ESOP related costs include a $43.3 million impaithodarge related to amounts borrowed by the ES@R Armstrong, the trustee of the
ESOP. After the Filing, it was expected that thePSvould no longer have the ability to repay Armost money it previously borrowed. In
addition, a $15.5 million expense was recordededlto interest and tax penalty guarantees ow&SOP bondholders caused by the default
on the ESOP bonds.

In order to record prepetition debt at the faceigalr the amount of the expected allowed claims) Aujusted the amount of net debt and
debt issue costs and recorded a pretax expeng2df fillion.

As a result of the Filing, realization of assetd dguidation of liabilities are subject to uncenty. While operating as a debtor-in-possession,
AWI may sell or otherwise dispose of assets anddigte or settle liabilities for amounts other tlhose reflected in the consolidated finar
statements. Although a POR and Disclosure Stateh@am been filed with the Court, implementatiornih&f POR is subject to confirmation of
the POR in accordance with the provisions of thekBaptcy Code. AWI is unable to predict when anthé POR will be confirmed.
Therefore, the timing and terms of a resolutiothef Chapter 11 Case remain uncertain. Furthemfirowd plan of reorganization could
materially change the amounts and classificatiepsnted in the consolidated financial statements.

Discontinued Operations

In February 2001, AHI determined to permanently thé Textiles and Sports Flooring segment andebriary 20, 2001 entered into
negotiations to sell substantially all of the besises comprising this segment to a private equigsitor based in Europe. Based on these
events, the segment was classified as a discouttioperation starting with the fourth quarter of @00n June 12, 2001, negotiations with -
investor were terminated. During the third quade2001, AHI terminated its plans to permanentlit &s segment. This decision was based
on the difficulty encountered in selling the busis@nd a new review of the business, industry aadatl economy conducted by new senior
management. Accordingly, this segment is no lomtgessified as a discontinued operation and amdwas been reclassified into operations
as required by Emerging Issues Task Force ("EIT$S)e No. 90-16 - "Accounting for Discontinued Cgaiems Subsequently Retained". All
previous periods have been reclassified to contorthe current presentation.

On May 31, 2000, Armstrong completed its sale bbfthe entities, assets and certain liabilitiesprising its Insulation Products segment to
Orion Einundvierzigste Beteiligungsgesellschaft Matsubsidiary of the Dutch investment firm Gildedstment Management N.V. for $264
million. The transaction resulted in an after takngof $114.8 million, or $2.86 per share, in 2000.

See Note 6 of the Consolidated Financial Statenfenfsirther discussion of discontinued operations.
Industry Segments

Financial Information about Industry Segments SeteM of the Consolidated Financial Statementdifiancial information on Armstrong's
reportable industry segments.

Narrative Description of Busine
Armstrong conducts its business through the folfmahusiness segments:

Resilient Flooring

Armstrong is a worldwide manufacturer of a broaggeof floor coverings for homes and commercial iastitutional buildings, which are
sold with adhesives, installation and maintenanatenals and accessories. Armstrong's Resilierdrfig products include vinyl sheet and
vinyl tile, linoleum and laminate flooring. Variogsoducts offer ease of installation, reduced nesiahce (no-wax), and cushioning for
greater underfoot comfort. The business mix is exiprately 55% residential and 45% commercial. Tradpcts are sold in a wide variety of
types, designs, and colors to commercial, residkeatid institutional customers through wholesalesilers (including large home centers
and buying groups), contractors, and to the hot#hand manufactured homes industries.
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Wood Flooring

The Wood Flooring segment manufactures and diggtwood and other flooring products. These pradact used primarily in residential
new construction and remodeling, with some comnaégegplications in stores, restaurants and highedfices. The business mix is
approximately 95% residential, and 5% commerciabod/Flooring sales are generally made through iedégnt wholesale flooring
distributors and retailers (including large homatees and buying groups) under the brand nameseBR)cHartco(R) and Robbins(R).

Textiles & Sports Flooring

The Textiles and Sports Flooring business segmanufactures carpeting and sports flooring prodinasare mainly sold in Europe. The
carpeting products consist principally of carpletstiand broadloom used in commercial applicatienwell as the leisure and travel industry.
Sports flooring products include artificial turfréaces. The business mix is approximately 26% esgidl and 74% commercial. Both product
groups are sold through wholesalers, retailerscamtractors.

Building Products

The Building Products segment includes commercidlrasidential ceiling systems. Commercial suspémading systems, designed for use
in shopping centers, offices, schools, hospitald, @her commercial and institutional settings,arailable in numerous colors, performance
characteristics and designs and offer charactesistich as acoustical control, accessibility tgpleaum (the area above the ceiling), rated
protection, and aesthetic appeal. The businesssnaipproximately 90% commercial, with approximateip-thirds in improvement projects
and the balance in new construction. Armstrong sslmmercial ceiling materials and accessoriegiling systems contractors and to resale
distributors. Ceiling materials for the home pravitbise reduction and incorporate features affgrdase of installation. These residential
ceiling products are sold through wholesalers atailers (including large home centers). Framewgrkd) products for Armstrong
suspension ceiling systems products are manufatthreugh a joint venture with Worthington Industi(WAVE) and are sold by both
Armstrong and the WAVE joint venture.

Cabinets

The Cabinets segment manufactures kitchen anddmathcabinetry and related products, which are psedarily in residential new
construction and remodeling. The business mix istimoesidential, with approximately 70% in new straction and 30% in home
improvement projects. Through its nationwide systdrocompany-owned and independent distributionenthe Cabinets segment provides
design, fabrication and installation services tmka-family builders, multi-family builders and rexhelers under the brand names IXL(R),
Bruce(R) and Armstrong(TM).

Major Customers

Armstrong businesses principally sell products digiobuilding products distributors, who re-sell puoducts to retailers, builders,
contractors, installers and others. Armstrong aldts a significant portion of our products to hooeater chains and industry buying groups.
For example, in 2002, Armstrong net sales to Thmel®epot, Inc. totaled approximately $380.3 millmmpared to approximately $340.8
million and $373.2 million in 2001 and 2000, redpedy. No other customer accounted for more th@® f Armstrong's revenue.
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Raw Materials
Raw materials essential to Armstrong businessepuaahased worldwide in the ordinary course of bess from numerous suppliers. The
principal raw materials used in each business dethe following:

Business Principal Raw Materials

Resilient Flooring ~ Synthetic resins, plasticiz ers, PVC, latex, linseed oil,
limestone, films, pigments and inks

Wood Flooring Lumber, veneer, acrylics, ¢ oatings, and plywood

Textiles and Yarn, latex, bitumen and wo ol

Sports Flooring

Building Products Mineral fibers and fillers, clays, starches, newspaper,
and perlite, as well as ste el used in the production of
metal ceilings and manufact uring of ceiling grids

Cabinets Lumber, veneer, plywood, pa rticleboard, fiberboard and

components, such as doors

Armstrong's laminate flooring products are souriteth third parties under long-term supply contracts

Armstrong also purchases significant amounts okaging materials for all products and uses subisieartounts of energy, such as
electricity and natural gas, and water in our maatufring operations. In general, adequate suppfieswv materials were available to all of
Armstrong's businesses. Armstrong cannot guardhge significant shortage of one raw materiamother will not occur, however.

Customers' orders for Armstrong products are tyfgiéar immediate shipment. Thus, in each busingeaip, Armstrong keeps sufficient
inventory on hand to satisfy orders, or manufagtym®duct to meet delivery dates specified in a@d&s a result, there historically has been
no material backlog in any industry segment.

Patent and Intellectual Property Rights

Patent protection is important to Armstrong's besiin the United States and other markets. Armgsa@ompetitive position has been
enhanced by U.S. and foreign patents on productpetesses developed or perfected within Armstmmgptained through acquisition or
license. In addition, Armstrong also benefits froor trade secrets for certain products and prosesse

Patent protection extends for varying periods adiogrto the date of patent filing or grant and lggel term of a patent in the various
countries where patent protection is obtained. 8¢taal protection afforded by a patent, which cary\irom country to country, depends
upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage the availability of legal remedies in the doynAlthough Armstrong considers that, in
the aggregate, our patents and trade secretsttb@stivaluable asset of material importance tbutiness, Armstrong does not regard any of
its businesses as being materially dependent uppsiagle patent or trade secret, or any grouglated patents or trade secrets.

Armstrong products are sold around the world umdenerous brand-name trademarks that are considetkd aggregate to be of material
importance. Certain of Armstrong trademarks, ingigdvithout limitation, house marks Armstrong(TNBruce(R), Hartco(R), Robbins(R),
and DLW(TM), and product line marks Allwood(TM), i@is(R), Corlon(R), Cortega(R), Designer Solarign@celon(R), Fundamentals(|
i-ceilings(R), IXL(R), Medintech(R), Natural Inspitions(TM), Nature's Gallery(TM), Second Look(Ryl&ian(R), SuperLock(TM),
SwiftLock(TM), ToughGuard(R) and Ultima(TM) are imtant to Armstrong's business because of themifagnt brand name recognition.
Trademark protection continues in some countridsrag as the mark is used, in other countriespag s it is registered. Registrations are
generally for fixed, but renewable, terms.
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Competition

There is strong competition in all of the industggments in which Armstrong does business. Conmetit each industry segment and each
geographic area where Armstrong does businesdieslnumerous companies. Principal methods of catigpeinclude product performant
product styling, service and price. Increasing cetitipn in the U.S. from international producersparent in Armstrong's businesses. Over
recent years, there has continued to be excesstigdiapacity in many geographic markets, whicliseto increase price competition.

Research & Development
Research and development ("R&D") activities areantgnt and necessary in helping Armstrong imprés@ioducts. Principal R&D
functions include the development and improveméproducts and manufacturing processes.

Armstrong spent $55.9 million in 2002, $56.3 miliim 2001 and $60.3 million in 2000 on R&D actig#iworldwide.

Environmental Matters

Most of Armstrong's manufacturing and certain ofm&trong's research facilities are affected by weri@deral, state and local environmental
requirements relating to the discharge of matedalhe protection of the environment. Armstrong heade, and intends to continue to make,
necessary expenditures for compliance with appicabvironmental requirements at its operatinglitées. Armstrong incurred capital
expenditures of approximately $4.5 million in 2088,8 million in 2001 and $6.2 million in 2000 as&ded with environmental compliance
and control facilities. Armstrong anticipates thahual expenditures for those purposes will nohgbanaterially from recent experience.
However, applicable environmental laws continuehtange. As a result of continuous changes in rémylaequirements, Armstrong cannot
predict with certainty future capital expendituessociated with compliance with environmental rezmaients.

Armstrong is involved in proceedings under the Caghpnsive Environmental Response, Compensatiohiabdity Act ("Superfund"”), and
similar state laws at approximately 22 sites. Irshuases, Armstrong is one of many potentially sasjble parties ("PRPs") which have
potential liability for the required investigatiamd remediation of each site, and which in somes;dsave agreed to jointly fund that required
investigation and remediation. With regard to saites, however, Armstrong disputes the liabilibg proposed remedy or the proposed cost
allocation among the PRPs. Armstrong may havesightontribution or reimbursement from other pgrtor coverage under applicable
insurance policies.

Armstrong has been remediating environmental coint@tion resulting from past industrial activityartain of its former plant sites. AWI's
payments and remediation work on such sites fochvAWI is the potentially responsible party is undeview in light of the Chapter 11
Filing. The bar date for claims from several enmir@ntal agencies has been extended into the €iester of 2003.

Estimates of Armstrong's future environmental liabat the Superfund sites and current or formanpsites are based on evaluations of
currently available facts regarding each individsied and consider factors such as Armstrong'siieti in conjunction with the site, existing
technology, presently enacted laws and regulatmaisprior company experience in remediating comaiteid sites. Although current law
imposes joint and several liability on all part&sSuperfund sites, Armstrong's contribution toréraediation of these sites is expected to be
limited by the number of other companies also ifiet as potentially liable for site remediations A result, Armstrong's estimated liability
reflects only Armstrong's expected share. In deit@ng the probability of contribution, Armstrongresiders the solvency of the parties,
whether liability is being disputed, the terms ny &xisting agreements and experience with similatters. The Chapter 11 Case also may
affect the ultimate amount of such contributions.

AWI is subject to a unilateral order by the Ored@@epartment of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") to caretla remedial investigation and
feasibility study and any necessary remedial deaighaction at its
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St. Helens, Oregon facility, as well as the adjaGmappoose Bay. AWI has denied liability for thea@poose Bay, but has cooperated with
the DEQ regarding its owned property. Other posdigtresponsible parties who are not yet subjeartters by the DEQ include former site
owners Owens Corning ("OC") and Kaiser Gypsum Camgplnc. OC has entered into a settlement withDE€). Pursuant to the settlement,
OC will make a lump sum payment to the DEQ in exgfeafor contribution protection (including protextiagainst common law and statul
contribution claims by AWI against OC) and a cowan#ot to sue. AWI has negotiated with the DEQ hb@se funds will be made available
for the investigation and remedial action for thie.sSAWI has recorded an environmental liabilitytlwiespect to the St. Helens remedial
investigations and feasibility study at its fagilibut not for Scappoose Bay because AWI contitoiesspute responsibility for any
contamination in Scappoose Bay.

Liabilities of $21.2 million at December 31, 2002de$16.6 million at December 31, 2001 were for ptiéd environmental liabilities that
Armstrong considers probable and for which a realstenestimate of the probable liability could bedmaWNhere existing data is sufficient to
estimate the liability, that estimate has been uséére only a range of probable liability is aahile and no amount within that range is more
likely than any other, the lower end of the range heen used. As assessments and remediationi@stpriogress at each site, these liabilities
are reviewed to reflect additional information elsecomes available. Due to the Chapter 11 Fifd,.4 million of the December 31, 2002
and $6.4 million of the December 31, 2001 environtakliabilities are classified as prepetition lidkes subject to compromise. As a general
rule, the Chapter 11 process does not preserveamyrgssets for such prepetition liabilities.

The estimated liabilities above do not take intoocamt any claims for recoveries from insurancenodtparties. Such recoveries, where
probable, have been recorded as an asset in tiselmtatied financial statements and are either abiglthrough settlement or anticipated tc
recovered through negotiation or litigation. Theoaimt of the recorded asset for estimated recoveréss$3.3 million and $3.8 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites magy from the estimates, given the inherent uageties in evaluating environmental
liabilities. Subject to the imprecision in estirmafienvironmental remediation costs, Armstrong ebethat any sum it may have to pay in
connection with environmental matters in exceshefamounts noted above would not have a mateharae effect on its financial

condition, or liquidity, although the recordingfature costs may be material to earnings in sutdréuperiod. Armstrong recorded expense of
$4.5 million, $2.1 million and $1.5 million for theears ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 200@atasgy.

Employees

As of December 31, 2002, AHI had approximately 06,8ull-time and part-time employees around theldyaf whom approximately 5,100
are located outside of the United States. About 68%e approximately 8,000 hourly or salaried prctébn and maintenance employees in
the United States are represented by labor unidnis.percentage includes all hourly production eappés at company plants and wareho
where labor unions exist, regardless of whethembdthe employees actually pay union dues.

Armstrong employee and labor relations remainedlgon@002. During 2002, Armstrong concluded nedaties for all collective bargaining
agreements expiring during the year without a watdppage. Throughout 2003, collective bargainingegents covering certain employees
at eight plants and one warehouse will expire. Aromg) has already successfully renegotiated orleesie agreements in the Wood Flooring
segment. Excluding the successfully renegotiatedeagent, approximately 3,000 employees are cougrddr agreements expiring during
2003, which includes approximately 50% of produttianployees at both the Wood Flooring and Cabisegignents. Currently,
approximately 800 Wood Flooring employees, who watrkwo manufacturing facilities but are coveredemone union agreement, are
working under expired contracts. The timing of tagons is not determinable and work stoppagegassible. The actual effects could have
a material adverse impact on the operations obtisnesses.
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Geographic Areas
See Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statenfenfinancial information by geographic areas.

Armstrong's norld.S. operations are subject to local governmens lemncerning restrictions on and transfers of imaests, tariffs, personn
administration, and other matters. In addition,saidlated earnings that originate outside the Hr& subject to both U.S. and non-U.S. tax
laws, to certain exchange and currency controld tarthe effects of currency fluctuations.

Financial Information Filed With the Court Armstigpreports its operating results and financial stetets on a consolidated basis. These
public reports are available through the U.S. Séearand Exchange Commission and other sourcelsa@nalso provided free of charge to
investors who contact Armstrong. However, undetliegble bankruptcy law, AWI is also required tcefpperiodically with the Court various
documents, including certain financial informatimman unconsolidated basis. This information inetugtatements, schedules, and monthly
operating reports in forms prescribed by FederalkBaptcy Law.

Armstrong cautions that such materials are prepacedrding to requirements under Federal Bankrulpésy. While they accurately provide
then-current information required under Bankrugtayv, they are nonetheless unconsolidated, unauditetiare prepared in a format
different from that used in Armstrong's consolidifi@ancial statements filed under the securitdegsl Accordingly, Armstrong believes the
substance and format do not allow meaningful cormparwith Armstrong's regular publicly disclosedsolidated financial statements. The
materials filed with the Court are not preparedtfa purpose of providing a basis for an investnaeaision relating to the stock of AHI or
the debt securities of AWI, or for comparison wather financial information filed with the SEC.

Notwithstanding, most of the Debtors' filings witte Court are available to the public at the offi€¢he Clerk of the Bankruptcy Cou
Those filings may also be obtained through priviieument retrieval services. Armstrong undertalkesbiigation to make any further pub
announcement with respect to the documents filed thie Court or any matters referred to in them.

As previously disclosed, on December 6, 2000, AW two of its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Deldt") filed voluntary petitions for relief
under Chapter 11 of the United States BankruptayeGo the United States Bankruptcy Court for thstidit of Delaware (“the Court"). On
November 4, 2002, AWI filed its Plan of Reorganiaat("POR") with the Court. The POR provides fanang other things, the treatment :
discharge of all prepetition claims, including abestos-related claims and future asbestos-raiitimals. The POR excludes Armstrong's
Nitram and Desseaux subsidiaries. On December@2,2AWI filed its Disclosure Statement with theu®oand on December 26, 2002, A
filed Exhibit "C" entitled "Projected Financial lmfimation," pertaining to the Disclosure Statem@&nmt.March 14, 2003, AWI filed its First
Amended Plan of Reorganization and selected eshélnitl an amended Disclosure Statement. The PORIacldsure Statement, including
amendments, are available on the following websitew.armstrongplan.com.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Armstrong and AHI world headquarters are in Larea$tennsylvania. Armstrong owns a 100-acre, nwliliding campus comprising the ¢
of our corporate headquarters, most operationalduesters, and our U.S. R&D operations and margetimd service headquarters.
Altogether, our headquarters operations occupy 886000 square feet of floor space.

We produce and market Armstrong products and sesutiroughout the world, owning and operating S@ufecturing plants in 15 countries.
Twenty-nine of these facilities are located thromgfthe United States. In addition, Armstrong hasnéerest through joint ventures in 9
additional plants in 5 countries.

Business Number
Segment of Plants Location of Prin
Resilient Flooring 14 California, llli

Pennsylvania, Au
Sweden and the U

Wood Flooring 13 Arkansas, Kentuc
Texas and West V

Textiles and 5 Belgium, Germany

cipal Facilities

nois, Mississippi, Oklahoma,
stralia, Canada, Germany,
K.

ky, Mississippi, Tennessee,
irginia

and The Netherlands

Sports Flooring

Building Products 15 Alabama, Florida , Georgia, Oregon,
Pennsylvania, Ch ina, France, Germany, The
Netherlands and the U.K.

Cabinets 3 Nebraska, Pennsy Ivania and Tennessee

Sales offices are leased and owned worldwide, earseld facilities are utilized to supplement Armragte owned warehousing facilities.

Productive capacity and the extent of utilizatid\anstrong facilities are difficult to quantify Wi certainty because in any one facility,
maximum capacity and utilization vary periodicadlgpending upon the product that is being manufadiwiand individual facilities
manufacture multiple products. Armstrong beliewsdacilities have sufficient productive capacibymeet its anticipated needs for the current
period and for the next two to three years. Arnmgirbelieves that its various facilities are adeguatd suitable. Additional incremental
investments in plant facilities are made as appatgto balance capacity with anticipated demamgyrove quality and service, and reduce
costs.

19



ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

ASBESTOS-RELATED LITIGATION

AWI is a defendant in personal injury cases ang@rty damage cases related to asbestos contairadggis. On December 6, 2000, AWI
filed a voluntary petition for relief ("the Filing'under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Codesithe court supervised reorganization
process to achieve a final resolution of its agisekability.

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Claims

Prior to filing for relief under the Bankruptcy CedAWI was a member of the Center for Claims Rdsmiuthe "Center") which handled the
defense and settlement of asbestos-related perisqungl claims on behalf of its members. The Ceptarsued broad-based settlements of
asbestos-related personal injury claims under tfaegjic Settlement Program ("SSP") and had reaagesements with law firms that
covered approximately 130,000 claims that named A8v4 defendant.

Due to the Filing, holders of asbestos-relatedgrekinjury claims are stayed from continuing tog@cute pending litigation and from
commencing new lawsuits against AWI. In additiovyAceased making payments to the Center with respexsbestos-related personal
injury claims, including payments pursuant to thisstanding SSP agreements. AWI's obligations vefipect to payments called for under
these settlements will be determined in its Chapte€ase.

A creditors' committee representing the interebsbestos personal injury claimants and an indadithas been appointed to represent the
interests of future personal injury claimants ia @hapter 11 Case. AWI's present and future asbiahility will be addressed in its Chapter
11 Case rather than through the Center and a oddtivf lawsuits in different jurisdictions throughidhe U.S. It is anticipated that all of
AWI's current and future asbestos-related persiopaly claims will be resolved in the Chapter 11s€a

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Liability In exaing its potential asbestoslated personal injury liability prior to the Fifj, AWI reviewe(
information provided by the Center including, amanler things, recent and historical settlementwnts the incidence of past and recent
claims, the mix of the injuries of the plaintifthe number of cases pending against it and thesstatd results of broad-based settlement
discussions. Based on this review, AWI developedsiimated range for its cost to defend and resadbestos-related personal injury claims
for six years, through 2006. This estimated range large due to the limitations of the availabl@dad the difficulty of forecasting with a
certainty the numerous variables that could hafectfd AWI's actual liability for this period. AWoncluded that no amount within the ral
was more likely than any other, and therefore céélé the low end of the range as the liabilityhia tonsolidated financial statements, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes

It is expected that the Chapter 11 process will déth all current and future asbestos-related geasinjury claims against AWI. There are
significant differences between the way the aslsesttated personal injury claims may be addressdénthe bankruptcy process and the
historical way AWI's claims were resolved. See Nbt# the Consolidated Financial Statements fahimrdiscussion on how the Chapter 11
process may address AWI's asbestos-related pelisgungl claims.

As of September 30, 2000, AWI had recorded a lighdf $758.8 million for its asbestos-related maral injury liability that it determined
was probable and estimable through 2006. Due tinttieased uncertainty created as a result of ithrgFthe only change made to the
previously recorded liability through the third gtex of 2002 was to record October and Novembef2&yments of $68.2 million against
the accrual. The asbestos-related personal injibjlity balance recorded at December 31, 2001 $629.6 million, which was recorded in
liabilities subject to compromise.

As discussed previously, AWI filed an initial PORdadisclosure statement with respect to the PO gte fourth quarter of 2002. In
March 2003, AWI filed an amended POR and disclostagement. The POR represents the product of iagigos with and is supported by
the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' CommittezUnsecured Creditors' Committee and the Futlaien@nts' Representative. Based
upon the foregoing, the discussions AWI has hatl vépresentatives of such entities within the $asteral months
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and the hearings held before the Court in thes@seral months, management now believes thatéaisonably likely that the claims
addressed in the POR will be satisfied substaptialthe manner set forth in the POR. As a re®\W| has concluded that it can reasonably
estimate its probable liability for asbestos-radatarrent and future personal injury claims. Acdogtly, in the fourth quarter of 2002, AWI
recorded a $2.5 hillion charge to increase thdliiphThe asbestoselated liability of approximately $3.2 billion Becember 31, 2002, whic
was treated as subject to compromise, represemesstimated amount of liability that is implied edsipon the negotiated resolution reflected
in the POR, the total consideration expected tpdid to the Asbestos Pl Trust pursuant to the P@Raarecovery value percentage for the
allowed claims of the Asbestos PI Trust that issédo the estimated recovery value percentagehtoatiowed norasbestos unsecured claii
Pursuant to the POR, all current and future asbestated personal injury claims will be channetethe Asbestos PI Trust for resolution
and, upon emergence from Chapter 11, reorganizetiwilvhot have any responsibility for the claims participate in their resolution.

AWI is unable to predict when and if this POR vl confirmed. Therefore, the timing and terms ebhetion of the Chapter 11 Case remain
uncertain. As long as this uncertainty exists, feitthanges to the recorded liability are possihte@uld be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@mwill continue to review the recorded liabilitylight of future developments in the
Chapter 11 Case and make changes to the recoadddyiif and when it is appropriate.

The $2.5 billion, fourth quarter 2002, charge tor@ase the asbestos-related personal injury fplislibefore recognition of gains from the
settlement of liabilities subject to compromise jethwill arise at a later date as a consequentleso€hapter 11 process.

Collateral Requirements

During 2000, AWI had secured a bond for $56.2 onillto meet minimum collateral requirements esthbtisby the Center with respect to
asbestos-related personal injury claims assertathstgAWI. On October 27, 2000, the insurance comyghat underwrote the surety bond
informed AWI and the Center of its intention notrémew the surety bond effective February 28, 2@l February 6, 2001, the Center
advised the surety of the Center's demand for payofeahe face value of the bond. The surety faedotion with the Court seeking to
restrain the Center from drawing on the bond. Tl#ion was not granted. On March 28, 2001, the gdiled an amended complaint in the
Court seeking similar relief. The Center has fidehotion to dismiss the amended complaint. The Owas not yet ruled on the Center's
motion or the complaint. In addition, on April 2001, AWI filed a complaint and a motion with theutt seeking an order, among other
things, enjoining the Center from drawing on thadbor, in the event the Center is permitted to doavthe bond, requiring that the proceeds
of any such draw be deposited into a Court-appraeedunt subject to further order of the Courtgtudlfred M. Wolin of the Federal
District Court for the District of New Jersey, wisoalso presiding over AWI's Chapter 11 Case, iagid he would determine these matters.
Judge Wolin has not yet ruled on these matters.

Asbestos-Related property Damage Litigation Ovenyiisars, AWI was one of many defendants in asbestated property damage claims
that were filed by public and private building owsiewith six claims pending as of June 30, 200% @laims that were resolved prior to the
Filing resulted in aggregate indemnity obligatiafidess than $10 million. To date, all paymentshefse obligations have been entirely
covered by insurance. The pending cases presegatitins of damage to the plaintiffs’ buildingssmaiby asbestos-containing products and
generally seek compensatory and punitive damagesa@uitable relief, including reimbursement of exgliéures for removal and replacement
of such products. In the second quarter of 2000] A6 served with a lawsuit seeking class certificaof Texas residents who own propt
with asbestos-containing products. This case irdwallegations that AWI asbestos-containing pradoatised damage to buildings and
generally seeks compensatory damages and equitdiele including testing, reimbursement for remioarad diminution of property value.
AWI vigorously denies the validity of the allegat®against it in these actions and, in any evatigves that any costs will be covered by
insurance.

Continued prosecution of these actions and the cameement of any new asbestos property damage setierstayed due to the Filing. In
March 2002, the Court allowed certain alleged halad asbestos property damage claims to file ssgh@oof of claim against AWI. In July
2002, the Court denied the
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certification of the proposed class and held thatglaintiffs' proof of claim shall only be effeati as to the named claimants. The plaintiffs'
motion for leave to appeal to the U.S. District @auas denied by Judge Wolin on October 3, 2002p$ of determining whether AWI
asbestos containing resilient floor covering prdduggve rise to property damage liability, the Garonducted an initial hearing on Septen
26 - 27, 2002 to decide the type of scientificitesllowable under the Federal Rules of Evidencerbve or disprove whether such products
cause building contamination. On October 22, 2802 Court granted AWI's requested relief and rdhed the methodology offered by the
Asbestos Property Damage Committee in supporsaf#@ims is not a scientifically valid method ofaaptifying the level of asbestos
contamination in a building. On November 1, 2002, Court directed that all property damage claisianbvide, in support of their claims,
substantiation that Armstrong flooring products evased in the claimants' buildings. The Court'sitiea for submission of such product
identification documentation was February 10, 20@%8r to the Court's deadline, AWI reached an agpent in principle to settle
approximately 360 property damage claims, whicagat damages of $0.2 billion, for $2 million. Any@unts to be paid are expected to be
funded by insurance. This settlement is subjetttédCourt's approval, which is scheduled to bedhbgithe Court on April 4, 2003.
Additionally, 130 property damage claims have baisallowed or withdrawn. Approximately 100 propetigmage claims totaling $0.6
billion will remain unresolved if the settlementapproved. Only 26 of these 100 remaining propéaiypage claims submitted product
identification by the February 10, 2003 deadlinfened to above.

Consistent with prior periods and due to increasezkrtainty, AWI has not recorded any liabilityateld to asbestos-related property damage
claims as of December 31, 2002. See Note 1 of tms@lidated Financial Statements for further disusof property damage claims in the
Chapter 11 Case. A separate creditors' commitesenting the interests of property damage asbekionants has been appointed in the
Chapter 11 Case.

Insurance Recovery Proceedings

A substantial portion of AWI's primary and excessiaining insurance asset is nonproducts (genaflity) insurance for personal injury
claims, including among others, those that invaiteged exposure during AWI's installation of asbgsnsulation materials. AWI has ente
into settlements with a number of the carriersIkésg its coverage issues. However, an alternatigpute resolution ("ADR") procedure was
commenced against certain carriers to determinpeéheentage of resolved and unresolved claimsatigabonproducts claims, to establish the
entitlement to such coverage and to determine velnethd how much reinstatement of prematurely exkdysoducts hazard insurance is
warranted. The nonproducts coverage potentialljl@e is substantial and includes defense costsldition to limits.

During 1999, AWI received preliminary decisiongli initial phases of the trial proceeding of tHeR\ which were generally favorable to
AWI on a number of issues related to insurance iamee However, during the first quarter of 200heav trial judge was selected for the
ADR. The new trial judge conducted hearings in 280d determined not to rehear matters decidedéprivious judge. In the first quarter
of 2002, the new trial judge concluded the ADRIfpiaceeding with findings in favor of AWI on substially all key issues. Liberty Mutual,
the only insurer that is still a party to the ADRs appealed that final judgment. Appellate argurogginally scheduled for October 2002
was adjourned and was held on March 11, 2003.1in2002, AWI filed a lawsuit against Liberty Mutuia the Federal District Court for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania seeking, amonegratings, a declaratory judgment with respectetitain policy issues not subject to
binding ADR.

One of the insurance carriers, Reliance Insurarmregany, was placed under an order of liquidatiothgyPennsylvania Insurance
Department during October 2001 due to financidialifties. The order of liquidation prohibits Relige from making any claim payments
under the insurance policies until the liquidatomeurs. AWI intends to file a proof of claim agdiReliance by the December 2003 deadline.
It is uncertain when AWI will receive proceeds frételiance under these insurance policies.

Another insurer, Century Indemnity Company, whovresly settled its coverage issues with AWI, haglesome of its required payments
under the settlement to a trust of which AWI iseadficiary. During January 2002, this insurer fimdadversary action in AWI's Chapter 11
Case. Among other things, the action requests thet@o (1) declare that the settlement agreensean iexecutory contract and to
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compel assumption or rejection of the agreemeptjé2lare that the insurer need not make its ptesehfuture scheduled payments unless
AWI assumes the agreement; (3) declare that theenss entitled to indemnification from AWI agairay liabilities that the insurer may
incur in certain unrelated litigation in which thmessurer is involved; and (4) enjoin the dispositafrfunds previously paid by the insurer to the
trust pending an adjudication of the insurer'stagfihese issues are before the Court for detetimmand AWI believes it is highly unlikely
the insurer will prevail in this matter.

On March 5, 2003, the New Hampshire Insurance Deyant placed The Home Insurance Company ("Homedguan order of
rehabilitation. Less than $10 million of AWI's reded insurance asset is based on policies with Harmieh management believes is still
probable of recovery.

Insurance Asset

An insurance asset in respect of asbestos persgmal claims in the amount of $198.1 million isoeded as of December 31, 2002 comp
to $214.1 million as of December 31, 2001. Of thtaltrecorded asset at December 31, 2002, apprtedyr$35.7 million represents partial
settlement for previous claims that will be paidifixed and determinable flow and is reportedsahét present value discounted at 6.50%.
The total amount recorded reflects AWI's beliethia availability of insurance in this amount, bagpdn AWI's success in insurance
recoveries, settlement agreements that provide caatrage, the nonproducts recoveries by other aomp and the opinion of outside
counsel. Such insurance is either available thraggtiement or probable of recovery through negjotialitigation or resolution of the ADR
process. Depending on further progress of the A&dRyities such as settlement discussions withrarsee carriers party to the ADR and
those not party to the ADR, the final determinatidrcoverage shared with ACandS (the former AWulagon contracting subsidiary that
was sold in August 1969 and which filed for reliefder Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in Septe2®@2) and the financial condition of
the insurers, AWI may revise its estimate of prdbafisurance recoveries. Approximately $80 millafrthe $198.1 million asset is
determined from agreed coverage in place and igfitre directly related to the amount of the liepilOf the $198.1 million asset, $24.0
million has been recorded as a current asset Beegmber 31, 2002 reflecting management's estiofdte minimum insurance payments to
be received in the next 12 months. As of Febru@g82 approximately $8.0 million of the $24.0 miflicurrent asset is past due based on a
previous settlement agreement. AWI believes catlaadf the full amount is still probable and thenmef has not established a reserve against
these receivables.

A significant part of the recorded asset relatessarance that AWI believes is probable and welldbtained through settlements with the
various carriers. Although AWI revised its recoragetestos liability by $2.5 billion in the fourtbarter of 2002, there was no increase
recorded in the estimated insurance recovery adfgle AWI believes that the process of resolvirgpdted insurance coverage may resu
higher settlement amounts than recorded, therééas no increase in the recorded amounts due tnttertainties remaining in the process.
Accordingly, this asset could change significatt&sed upon resolution of the issues. Managementass that the timing of future cash
payments for the recorded asset may extend beyoyddrs.

Cash Flow Impact

As a result of the Chapter 11 Filing, AWI did noake any payments for asbestos-related claims i@ 20@001. AWI received $16.0 million
and $32.2 million in asbestos-related insuranceweges during 2002 and 2001, respectively. Dutirgpendency of the Chapter 11 Case,
AWI does not expect to make any further cash paysien asbestos-related claims, but AWI expectotatinue to receive insurance
proceeds under the terms of various settlementaggats.

Conclusion

Based upon the events described above, managearaatto a belief that AWI's asbestos-related lighiliill be settled substantially in the
manner set forth in the POR. As a result, AWI rdedra $2.5 billion charge to increase its estiméprobable asbestos-related liability to
approximately $3.2 billion at December 31, 2002ichiwas treated as subject to compromise. TheHawrarter charge was determined by
calculating an implied liability based upon thesions of the POR and Disclosure Statement. Howegechange was made to the estim
asbestos-related insurance recovery asset. Margrtaities continue to exist about the matters otipg AWI's asbestos-related liability and
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insurance asset. These uncertainties include thadhof the Filing and the Chapter 11 processntheber of future claims to be filed, the
ultimate value of the ashestos liability, the impafcany potential legislation, the impact of thBR proceedings on the insurance asset and
the financial condition of AWI's insurance carriefslditionally, although a POR and Disclosure Staat have been filed with the Court,
implementation of the POR is subject to confirmatid the POR in accordance with the provisionshefBankruptcy Code. AWI is unable to
predict when and if the POR will be confirmed. Téfere, the timing and terms of resolution of theafier 11 Case remain uncertain. As long
as this uncertainty exists, future changes to¢lsended liability and insurance asset are possidecould be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@mwill continue to review the recorded liabiland insurance asset in light of future
developments in the Chapter 11 Case and make chamdige recorded amounts if and when it is appetgar

Environmental Matters
See discussion of Environmental Matters under temhthis report.

Patent Infringement Claims

Armstrong is a defendant in two related lawsuitsnalng patent infringement related to some of Anorsg's laminate products. The plaintiffs
have claimed unspecified monetary damages. Armgtioheing defended and indemnified by its suppbeall costs and potential damages
related to the litigation.

Former Employees Claim

About 370 former Armstrong employees that were s@pd in two business divestitures in 2000 havedginbtwo purported class actions
against the Retirement Committee of AWI, certairrent and former members of the Retirement Committee Retirement Savings and
Stock Ownership Plan (RSSOP), AHI and the trustew lof the RSSOP. The cases are pending in thed)8iiates District Court (Eastern
District of PA). Similar proofs of claim have befled against AWI in the Chapter 11 Case. Plaintdflege breach of Employee Retirement
Income Security Act (ERISA) fiduciary duties andhet violations of ERISA pertaining to losses inithi@SSOP accounts, which were
invested in Armstrong common stock. While AHI beés there are substantive defenses to the allegatiod while denying liability, AWI
has reached an agreement to settle this matt&dformillion, which will be allocated among the ampgmate 370 former employees and
treated as convenience claims in the Chapter 1&.Jd® settlement requires approval of the Banksu@ourt.

Department of Labor Discussions

Subsequent to an audit by the United States Depattof Labor ("DOL"), Armstrong has been informédttthe DOL is challenging the
validity of the use of certain contributions to éudebt payments made by the Armstrong EmployeekSamership Plan ("ESOP"), as
provided for by that plan. Armstrong is cooperativith the DOL to address its questions and concabasit those transactions. Armstrong
believes that it fully complied with all applicabdkewvs and regulations governing the plan, and fhezehas not recorded any liability relatec
this matter.

Inquiries Concerning World Trade Center Collapsegtrong has received inquiries from parties (initilgdhe National Institute of Standa
and Technology or NIST) investigating the fire aadlapse at the World Trade Center in New York @itySeptember 11, 2001 concerning
the types and amounts of the company's productsvér@ placed into the World Trade Center towemesr divne. The products manufactured
by the company that are believed to have been gliactne World Trade Center site including the Toweildings in significant amounts
included ceiling tile, floor tile (some containiegcapsulated asbestos fibers) and low temperataregsbestos) pipe insulation. The
company has not been made aware of any claimigatiibn relating to its products which were in @aas of September 11, 2001.

Other Claims

Additionally, AHI, through AWI and AWI's subsidias, is involved in various other claims and legaioms involving product liability,
patent infringement, distributor termination, emptent law issues and other actions arising in tdeéary course of business. While
complete assurance cannot be given to the outcéthese claims, AHI does not expect that any suahitiay have to be paid in connection
with these matters will have a materially adveif$ect on its consolidated financial position ordidity, however it could be material to the
results of operations in the particular period imah a matter is resolved.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY A ND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS

As a result of filing the POR on November 4, 2002, New York Stock Exchange stopped trading orEtkehange of the common stock of
AHI (traded under the ticker symbol "ACK"). As obMember 14, 2002, Armstrong Holding's Common Stoa#tes on the over-the-counter
(OTC) Bulletin Board under the ticker symbol (ACKKH@s of February 14, 2003, there were approxinyated67 holders of record of
Armstrong Holding's Common Stock.

2002 First Second Third Fourth  Tota | Year
Price range of common stock--high $4.1 0 $3.82 $1.98 $1.85 $4.10
Price range of common stock--low $2.7 0 $1.79 $1.28 $0.24 $0.24
2001
Price range of common stock--high $5.6 9 $4.05 $3.74 $3.80 $5.69
Price range of common stock--low $2.0 6 $3.20 $2.20 $2.34 $2.06

There were no dividends declared or paid durind?20f®001. The DIP Facility stipulates that AWI wibt declare or pay any dividends
either directly or indirectly.

During 2001, Armstrong issued a total of 2,472 ehaif restricted Common Stock to nonemployee dirsaif Armstrong pursuant to
Armstrong's Restricted Stock Plan for Nonemploy&edors. Given the small number of persons to whiloase shares were issued,
applicable restrictions on transfer and the infdramaregarding Armstrong possessed by the directbese shares were issued without
registration in reliance on Section 4(2) of theB@ies Act of 1933, as amended. This plan was iteatad in February 2001.

The following table provides information on seciestthat were authorized for issuance under eqoitypensation plans as of December 31,
2002:

Number of sec urities
remaining avai lable for
future issuan ce under
Number of securiti esto Weighted-average equity compe nsation
be issued upon exe rcise exercise price of plans (exc luding
of outstanding opt ions, outstanding options, securities re flected in
Plan category warrants and rig hts warrants and rights column (@)

() (b) (c)

Equity compensation

plans approved by

security holders 2,000,886 $34.07 4,285, 597
Equity compensation

plans not approved by

security holders 108,622 N/A/(L)/ 504, 081

Total 2,109,508 $32.37 4,789, 678

/(1)/ These restricted stock awards have not yen learned, which is when the exercise price will&rmined.

The Stock Award Plan was adopted by the AHI Bodmitectors effective July 24, 2000. The originalrpose of the plan was to promote
long-term success of AHI by providing a portiontleé compensation for officers, directors and kepleyees in shares of common stock
pursuant to the terms of the plan. The plan is agrgred by the Management Development and Compiensaommittee and provides for
the grant of Restricted Stock Awards and Stock Alsavhich may be subject to certain terms and cmditestablished by the Committee.
The awards were to be used for the purposes dfite@nt, recognition and retention of eligible papants.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following data is presented for continuing @piens.

(Dollars in millions except for per-share data)

For Year 2002 2001 20 00 1999 1998

Income statement data

Net sales $3,172.3 $3,138.7 $3,2 48.9 $3,322.0 $2,592.4

Cost of goods sold 2,404.5 2,364.7 2,3 86.2 2,291.5 1,807.1

Selling, general and administrative expenses 624.9 596.6 5 95.3 605.9 445.9

Charge for asbestos liability, net 2,500.0 22.0 2 36.0 335.4 274.2

Restructuring and reorganization charges (reversals ), net 1.9 9.0 18.8 (1.4) 74.4

Goodwill amortization -- 22.8 23.9 25.5 10.7

Equity (earnings) from affiliates, net (21.7) (16.5) ( 18.0) (16.8) (13.8)

Operating income (loss) (2,337.3) 140.1 6.7 81.9 (6.1)

Interest expense 13.8 13.1 1 02.9 105.2 62.2

Other non-operating expense 8.2 11.8 3.7 10.4 15.9

Other non-operating income (6.0) (13.0) ( 80.4) (17.0) (17.6)

Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net 23.5 125 1 03.3 - -

Income tax expense (benefit) (827.8) 42.5 ( 37.7) (0.5) (23.6)

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before

cumulative change in accounting principle (1,549.0) 73.2 ( 85.1) (16.2) (43.0)
Per common share - basic (a) (38.25) 1.81 ( 2.12) (0.41) (1.08)
Per common share - diluted (a) (38.25) 1.79 ( 2.12) (0.41) (1.08)

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting princip le,

Net of tax of $2.2 (593.8) - - - -

Net earnings (loss) (2,142.8) 92.8 12.2 14.3 9.3)
Per common share - basic (a) (52.91) 2.29 0.30 0.36 (0.23)
Per common share - diluted (a) (52.91) 2.27 0.30 0.36 (0.23)

Average number of common shares outstanding (millio ns) 40.5 40.5 40.2 39.9 39.8

Dividends declared per share of common stock - - $ 144 $ 192 $ 1.88

Average number of employees 16,700 16,800 16 ,500 16,900 13,900

Balance sheet data (December 31)

Working capital $ 8516 $ 7401 $ 6 104 $ 3146 $ 4454

Total assets 4,504.8 4,038.1 4,0 05.2 4,081.6 4,183.9

Liabilities subject to compromise 4,861.1 2,357.6 2,3 85.2 -- --

Net long-term debt (b) 39.9 50.3 56.9 14129 1,562.8

Shareholders’ equity (1,346.7)  760.4 6 65.1 679.2  709.7

Notes:
(a) See definition of basic and diluted earningsgbare in Note 2 of the Consolidated Financialedtents.
(b) 2002, 2001 and 2000 net long-term debt exclaeds subject to compromise.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiegbbform to the current year presentation. See [aif the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Beginning in 1998, consolidated results include sinong's acquisitions of Triangle Pacific (now rdpd as Wood Flooring and Cabinets)
and DLW (included in Resilient Flooring). The netrghase price of the acquisitions was $1,175.7anill
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. ("AWI") is a Peryhgania corporation incorporated in 1891, whichdtiger with its subsidiaries is referred
to here as "Armstrong". Through its U.S. operatiand U.S. and international subsidiaries, Armstrédesjgns, manufactures and sells
flooring products (resilient, wood, carpeting apass flooring) as well as ceiling systems, arothrelworld. Armstrong products are sold
primarily for use in the finishing, refurbishinganrepair of residential, commercial and institutibbuildings. Armstrong also designs,
manufactures and sells kitchen and bathroom cabinetingle and multi family homebuilders and reeleds.

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. (which together with itsbsidiaries is referred to here as "AHI") is thdlly held parent holding company of
Armstrong. Armstrong Holdings, Inc. became the pacempany of Armstrong on May 1, 2000, followingVAshareholder approval of a
plan of exchange under which each share of AWIlawematically exchanged for one share of Armstidotglings, Inc. Armstrong
Holdings, Inc. was formed for purposes of the slexehange and holds no other significant assetp@rations apart from AWI and AWI's
subsidiaries. Stock certificates that formerly esgnted shares of AWI were automatically convarttxcertificates representing the same
number of shares of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. Thbljgly held debt of AWI was not affected in therigaction.

Armstrong conducts its business through the folfmahusiness segments:
Resilient Flooring, Wood Flooring, Textiles and &pd-looring, Building Products and Cabinets. Tremeetwo additional segments. The All
Other segment, which relates to a corporate equigstment, and Unallocated Corporate.

The following discussion and analysis correspondsHl financial statements, which includes all dfiks subsidiaries. Since there are no
material differences between the financial statamehAHI and Armstrong, the following discussiomdsanalysis pertains to both AHI and
Armstrong.

PROCEEDINGS UNDER CHAPTER 11

On December 6, 2000, AWI, the major operating sliasy of AHI, filed a voluntary petition for religthe "Filing") under Chapter 11 of the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") in theted States Bankruptcy Court for the DistricDlaware (the "Court") in order to
use the court-supervised reorganization proceashi@ve a resolution of its asbestos liability.cMBing under Chapter 11 were two of
Armstrong's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Nitram Lidaiors, Inc. ("Nitram") and Desseaux CorporatioMNofth America, Inc. ("Desseaux,"
and together with AWI and Nitram, the "Debtors"heTChapter 11 cases are being jointly administenelér case numbers 00-4469,8D0¢0,
and 00-4471 (the "Chapter 11 Case").

AWI is operating its business and managing its prig@s as a debtor-in-possession subject to thagioas of the Bankruptcy Code. Pursuant
to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, AWI i permitted to pay any claims or obligations whigbse prior to the Filing date
(prepetition claims) unless specifically authorizgdthe Court. Similarly, claimants may not enfoars claims against AWI that arose prior
to the date of the Filing unless specifically auibed by the Court. In addition, as a debtor-ingession, AWI has the right, subject to the
Court's approval, to assume or reject any execwongracts and unexpired leases in existence atateeof the Filing. Parties having claims
as a result of any such rejection may file clainithwhe Court, which will be dealt with as parttbé Chapter 11 Case.

Three creditors' committees, one representing sbpsrsonal injury claimants (the "Asbestos Peakhmjury Claimants' Committee™), one
representing asbestos property damage claimartsAbestos Property Damage Committee"), and theraepresenting other unsecured
creditors (the "Unsecured Creditors' Committeedyéhbeen appointed in the Chapter 11 Case. Iniaddétn individual has been appointer
represent the interests of future asbestos perggna} claimants (the
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"Future Claimants' Representative™). In accordamitie the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, theadips have the right to be heard on
matters that come before the Court in the ChapiteZdse.

Plan of Reorganization

On November 4, 2002, AWI filed a Plan of Reorgaticrawith the Court and on March 14, 2003, AWI filés First Amended Plan of
Reorganization and selected exhibits (as so ameitdedeferred to in this report as the "POR"ZeTPOR has been endorsed by AHI's Board
of Directors and is supported by the Asbestos Paifdojury Claimants' Committee, the Unsecured @oest Committee and the Future
Claimants' Representative. At present, AWI hasysbreached agreement with the Asbestos ProperntyaDa Committee with respect to the
terms and provisions of the POR. The POR providesainong other things, the treatment and dischairgél prepetition claims, including «
asbestos-related claims. The POR excludes Armsgdtifam and Desseaux subsidiaries. Implementatidghe POR and the treatment of
claims and interests as provided therein is suljeconfirmation of the POR in accordance with phevisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
Therefore, the timing and terms of resolution & @hapter 11 Case remain uncertain.

Disclosure Statement

On December 20, 2002, a proposed disclosure statenid respect to the POR was filed with the CoOn December 26, 2002, AWI filed
projected financial information with the Court ashiibit C to the disclosure statement. On March2D03, AWI filed an amended Disclosure
Statement with the Court (as so amended, it ignedddo in this report as the "Disclosure StaterfjeRrior to soliciting acceptances to the
POR, the Court must approve a disclosure statetondre included as part of the solicitation matsrad find that the disclosure statement
contains adequate information to enable those gainthe POR to make an informed judgment to acmepject the POR.

As indicated in the Disclosure Statement and itshgts, the projected financial information andivas estimates of value therein discussed
should not be regarded as representations or wesayy AWI, AHI or any other person as to the aecy of such information or that any
such projection or valuation will be realized. TihtBormation in the Disclosure Statement, includihg projected financial information and
estimates of value, has been prepared by AWI anithiincial advisors. This information has not baadited or reviewed by independent
accountants. The significant assumptions useddaparation of the information and estimates of valteeincluded in Exhibit C to the
Disclosure Statement. The Bankruptcy Court hasdidbd the hearing to consider approval of the Dsate Statement for April 4, 2003.

The discussions of the POR and Disclosure Statemehis report are qualified by reference to thk text of those documents as filed with
the Court and filed for reference purposes withSkeurities and Exchange Commission. The POR ascld3ure Statement are available at
www.armstrongplan.com, where additional informatialt be posted as it becomes available.

Obijections to the Disclosure Statement

During February 2003, several parties involvechim €hapter 11 Case filed objections to the indigiclosure Statement with the Court.
Objections were filed by, among others, Liberty Maltinsurance Company, the Center for Claims RésoluTravelers Indemnity Company
and Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, WeligdBank Minnesota, N.A., as Indenture Trustee,thrdJnofficial Committee of Sele
Asbestos Claimants. Additional objections may bedfagainst the amended Disclosure Statement. dhet Geard and addressed many of
these objections at the February 28, 2003 heafing.remaining objections are expected to be addeasthe April 4, 2003 hearing.

Asbestos Personal Injury Trust

A principal feature of the POR is the creation fust (the "Asbestos PI Trust"), pursuant to sec&24(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, to which
all present and future asbestos-related persopeyiolaims, including contribution claims of cofdadants, will be channeled. In accordance
with the "524(g) injunction” to be issued by theutan connection with the confirmation of the PGRyrious entities will be protected from
suit on account of present and future asbestosetkfgersonal injury claims. These entities incluapng others, AWI, reorganized AWI,
AHI, AWI's affiliates, and their respective officer

29



and directors. Claims resolution procedures totlieed by the Asbestos PI Trust have been develophese procedures will govern the
allowance and payment by the Asbestos PI Trush pfesent and future asbestadated personal injury claims. The Asbestos Pkwill be
funded with AWI's rights to insurance providing eo&ge for asbestos-related personal injury claamsyell as a share of cash, notes, and
common stock to be issued under the POR to crediggrdescribed below.

Consideration to Be Distributed under the POR Thbestos Pl Trust and the holders of unsecured shaifhshare in the POR consideration
that is made up of the following components:

. Available Cash, which is comprised of:

. Cash available on the effective date of the P@& eeserving up to $100 million to fund ongoingeoations and making provisions for
certain required payments under the POR,

. Any cash drawn, at AWI's sole discretion, undeeait finance facility for the purpose of fundidgstributions under the POR, and

. Certain insurance proceeds related to environahematters

. Plan Notes of reorganized AWI with a term of SLbyears and/or net proceeds from any privateioffe of debt securities, and

. Substantially all of the outstanding common stotkeorganized AWI

The total amount of Plan Notes will be the greafg(i) $1.125 billion less Available Cash and @i 75 million. However, AWI will use
reasonable efforts to issue one or more privarioffs of debt securities on, or as soon as peditafter, the Effective Date that would y
net proceeds at least equal to the amount of tne IRbtes prescribed by the Plan. If the privateraifys are successful, the Plan Notes would
not be issued. If the offerings yield proceeds thas the amount of the Plan Notes prescribed &ytan, AWI will issue Plan Notes equal to
the difference. The private offerings, if issued| not be registered under the Securities Act @83 and may not be offered or sold in the
absent registration or an applicable exemption fregistration requirements.

The POR provides that unsecured creditors, otlzar tonvenience creditors described below, willikectheir pro rata share of:

. 34.43% of the new common stock,

. 34.43% of the first $1.05 billion of

. Up to $300 million of Available Cash and

. The principal amount of Plan Notes and/or nehgasceeds from any private debt offerings of deduturities.

. 60% of the next $50 million of Available Cash aiicduch Available Cash is less than $50 millidren 60% of Plan Notes and/or net cash
proceeds from any private debt offerings of debtisées, in an amount equal to the difference leetw$50 million and the amount of such
Available Cash, and

. 34.43% of the remaining amount of Available Casll Plan Notes and/or net cash proceeds from avgt@idebt offerings of debt
securities. The remaining amount of new commonkstAecailable Cash and Plan Notes and/or net casbegds from any private debt
offerings of debt securities, will be distributedthe Asbestos PI Trust.

Under the POR, unsecured creditors whose clainhe(dhan debt securities) are less than $10,00horelect to reduce their claims to
$10,000 will be treated as "convenience creditarg! will receive payment of 75% of their allowediol amount in cash.

Asbestos property damage claims that are stillidéespas of the effective date of the POR will barateled to a separate trust ("Asbestos PD
Trust") under the POR. If the class of asbestopguty damage claimants votes to accept the PORghestos PD Trust will be funded with
$0.5 million to $2.0 million in cash based upon thenber of disputed claims (which will be fundedlesively from the proceeds of
insurance). If the class of asbestos property darmkgmants rejects the POR, the Court will esténihe aggregate value of asbestos property
damage claims, and the Asbestos PD Trust will be
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funded exclusively with rights to insurance in anoant sufficient to provide for payment in full agbestos property damage claims, up tc
aggregate amount estimated by the Court. Howeliess than 25 disputed asbestos property damagesctemain outstanding as of the
effective date of the POR, AWI may elect, in itéesdiscretion, to litigate the merits of each remivag asbestos property damage claim before
the Court and pay any allowed claim in full, inltagom insurance proceeds rather than channelghestos property damage claims to the
Asbestos PD Trust.

Under the POR, the existing equity interests in AMill be cancelled. The POR provides for the pdgdmistribution, with respect to existing
equity, of warrants to purchase shares of reorgadnV| (the "Warrants"). The terms of the Warrantauld all be measured from the
effective date of the POR. The Warrants:

. Would constitute 5% of the common stock of reaiged AWI on a fully diluted basis:

. Would have a 7-year exercisable term; and

. Would contain an exercise price equal to 125%efper share equity value of reorganized AWI,gased among the financial advisers for
AWI, the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' Contemitthe Unsecured Creditors' Committee, and ther&Claimants' Representative, and
which will be set forth in the Court-approved dastire statement for the POR. The Warrants are &&iiio have a value on the effective
date of the POR of approximately $40 million to $Bilion.

AHI's shareholders will have no actual vote onRI@R. If the POR is implemented, the only value thifitbe retained by AHI shareholders
the potential to receive their ratable share ofiterants if AHI's Plan of Liquidation (see discassbelow) is approved. If the shareholders
and Board of Directors of AHI do not approve AHPlan of Liquidation, AHI will not receive any Wants to distribute to its shareholders.

Consideration Value Defined by the Disclosure $teet In the Disclosure Statement, assuming an ffieeDate of the POR of July 1, 2003,
and based on estimates of the fair value of reazgdm W], the total value of consideration to bstdbuted to the Asbestos PI Trust, other
than the asbestos product liability insurance pesicwill be approximately $2.1 billion, and theéatiovalue of consideration to be distributec
holders of allowed unsecured claims (other tharvenience claims) will be approximately $1.1 billidased upon the estimated value of the
POR consideration and AWI's estimate that unsecciechs allowed by the Court (other than convengeclaims) will total approximately
$1.65 billion, AWI estimates that holders of allalwensecured claims (other than convenience clawillsheceive a recovery having a value
equal to approximately 66.5% of their allowed clailAWI's estimates of the consideration and paaéntcoveries are based upon many
assumptions, including:

. The estimated reorganization value for AWI isnmstn $2.7 billion and $3.3 billion (with a midpoiwit$3.0 billion)

. The estimated equity value of new common stodletsveen $25.60 and $34.40 per share with a mitipdi$30.00 per share (assuming a
distribution of 67.5 million shares of new commaack to holders of unsecured claims and the Aslsé3tdrust)

. The Plan Notes will be in the aggregate princgrabunt of $775 million and are worth their facéuea

. AWI expects to have Available Cash of approxirya®350 million

. The estimated value of the Warrants is betwe@wgiglion and $50 million

AHI's Plan of Liquidation

In connection with the consummation of the POR akisting equity interests in AWI will be cancellexhd the common stock of reorganized
AWI will be held principally by AWI's unsecured diéors and the Asbestos Pl Trust. The POR contetepthat AHI will propose to its
shareholders that it adopt a plan for winding ug dissolving itself. The POR provides that, in arfite AHI to receive the Warrants, the
shareholders and Board of Directors of AHI mustrape AHI's Plan of Liquidation within one year aftBe occurrence of the effective date
under the POR. If such approval is not obtaineg hibider of AWI's existing equity interest will n@ceive the Warrants. The POR provides
that
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reorganized AWI will pay any costs and expensesrigd in connection with AHI's Plan of Liquidatidiore information regarding the
contemplated dissolution and winding up of AHI vii#é made available to AHI shareholders in the futur

Structure of Reorganized AWI

As disclosed within the 2002 third quarter FormQ@Hing, AWI had planned to effectuate a "divisiaimder the Pennsylvania Business
Corporation Law in connection with the consummatibthe POR. Under the planned division, reorgahix&/l was to separate into a
holding company and separate wholly-owned subsediararrying out its major lines of business. Aftather analysis and review, the
previously contemplated division will no longer acand AWI will emerge from bankruptcy protectiomthe parent and primary operating
company.

Next Steps in the Chapter 11 Proc

Following the Court's approval of a disclosureestatnt, the POR will be submitted to the appropigateies in interest in AWI's Chapter 11
Case for voting. Implementation of the POR is scibje voting and its confirmation in accordancehvilie provisions of the Bankruptcy
Code. AWI believes that if the Disclosure Statemsmipproved in April 2003, a hearing on the canéition of the POR will likely occur in
the third quarter of 2003. If the POR is confirnisdthe Court at such time, AWI will likely emergei Chapter 11 shortly thereafter. Of
course, there can be no certainty that all suchteweill occur, or if they do, that they will occur accordance with such timeframes.

Common Stock and Debt Securities

As a result of filing the POR on November 4, 2002, New York Stock Exchange stopped trading orEtkehange of the common stock of
AHI (traded under the ticker symbol "ACK") and twlebt securities of AWI (traded under the ticker bpis "AKK" and "ACK 08"). AHI's
common stock has resumed trading in the over-theten (OTC) Bulletin Board under the ticker symb®CKHQ" and one of AWI's debt
securities has resumed trading under the tickebsytAKKWQ".

Bar Date for Filing Claims

The Court established August 31, 2001 as the karfdaall claims against AWI except for asbestelstied personal injury claims and certain
other specified claims. A bar date is the date hiclwclaims against AWI must be filed if the claim&wish to participate in any distribution
in the Chapter 11 Case. The Court has extendedktheate for claims from several environmental agenuntil the first quarter of 2003. On
March 1, 2002, the Court allowed certain holderalte#fged asbestos property damage claims to filass proof of claim against AWI and
extended the bar date for asbestos property daotaiges to March 20, 2002. In July 2002, the Cowentidd the certification of the proposed
class and held that the plaintiffs' proof of clahall only be effective as to the named claimahtsar date for asbestwostated personal inju
claims (other than claims for contribution, indefiwation, or subrogation) has not been set.

Approximately 4,600 proofs of claim (including l&fiied claims) totaling approximately $6.2 billi@ileging a right to payment from AWI
were filed with the Court in response to the Audist2001 bar date, which are discussed below. gdkitinues to investigate claims. The
Court will ultimately determine liability amountkat will be allowed as part of the Chapter 11 pssce

In its ongoing review of the filed claims, AWI haentified and successfully objected to approxityaite300 claims totaling $1.6 billion.
These claims were primarily duplicate filings, oaithat were subsequently amended or claims thatarrelated to AWI. The Court
disallowed these claims with prejudice.

Approximately 1,000 proofs of claim totaling appimately $1.9 billion are pending with the Courttthae associated with asbestos-related
personal injury litigation, including direct persdninjury claims, claims by co-defendants for cdmition and indemnification, and claims
relating to AWI's participation in the Center fola@ins Resolution (the "Center”). As stated abolre,dar date of August 31, 2001 did not
apply to asbestoelated personal injury claims other than claimrscfantribution, indemnification, or subrogation.eTROR contemplates tF
all asbestos-related personal injury claims, iniclgatlaims for
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contribution, indemnification, or subrogation, wik addressed in the future pursuant to the proeeda be developed in connection with the
POR. See further discussion regarding AWI's ligpfior asbestos-related matters in Note 32 of thegBlidated Financial Statements.

Approximately 500 proofs of claim totaling approxtaly $0.8 billion alleging asbestos-related propdamage are pending with the Court.
Most of these claims were new to AWI and many vegeriemitted with insufficient documentation to asdéssr validity. As part of
determining whether AWI asbestos containing resilf®or covering products give rise to propertyrdage liability, the Court conducted an
initial hearing on September 26 - 27, 2002 to dedit type of scientific testing allowable undex Brederal Rules of Evidence to prove or
disprove whether such products cause building comi@ion. On October 22, 2002, the Court granted’AVquested relief and ruled that
the methodology offered by the Asbestos Propertm@ge Committee in support of its claims is notiargdically valid method of
guantifying the level of asbestos contaminationa uilding. On November 1, 2002, the Court dire¢ted all property damage claimants
provide, in support of their claims, substantiatibat Armstrong flooring products were used in¢te@mants' buildings. The Court's deadline
for submission of such product identification do@ntation was February 10, 2003. Prior to the Codeadline, AWI reached an agreement
in principle to settle approximately 360 propergnthage claims, which alleged damages of $0.2 bjlfienapproximately $2 million. Any
amounts to be paid are expected to be funded lyanse. This settlement is subject to the Coupfsaval, which is scheduled to be hearc
the Court on April 4, 2003. Additionally, 130 prapedamage claims have been disallowed or withdradproximately 100 property
damage claims totaling $0.6 billion will remain asolved if the settlement is approved. Only 2éheke approximately 100 remaining
property damage claims submitted product identificeby the February 10, 2003 deadline referreahiove. AWI expects to continue
vigorously defending any asserted asbestos-refatguerty damage claims in the Court. AWI believes it has a significant amount of
existing insurance coverage available for asbestiased property damage liability, with the amoultimately available dependent upon,
among other things, the profile of the claims tinaty be allowed by the Court. AWI's history of prdgelamage litigation prior to the Chap
11 filing is described in Note 32 of the ConsolethFinancial Statements.

Approximately 1,800 claims totaling approximatell.$ billion alleging a right to payment for finangi, environmental, trade debt and other
claims are pending with the Court. For these categof claims, AWI has previously recorded appneiely $1.6 billion in liabilities. AWI
continues to investigate the claims to determirdr talidity.

AWI continues to evaluate claims filed in the Cleaitl Case. AWI has recorded liability amountsclaims whose value can be reasonably
estimated and which it believes are probable aidpailowed by the Court. During the fourth quad&2002, AWI recorded a $2.5 billion
charge to increase its estimate of probable asbestated liability based on the developments en@hapter 11 Case. See Note 32 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dis@mn. At this time, it is impossible to reasonatdyimate the value of all the claims that
will ultimately be allowed by the Court. Howeverid likely the value of the claims ultimately alted by the Court will be different than
amounts presently recorded by AWI and could be nat® AWI's financial position and the resultsitsf operations. Management will
continue to review the recorded liability in lightfuture developments in the Chapter 11 Case aaicernhanges to the recorded liability if
and when it is appropriate.

Financing

On November 1, 2002, the Court announced it hadoapp AWI's motion to reduce the amount of its delim-possession credit facility (the
"DIP Facility") from $200 million to $75 million, leninate the revolving credit borrowing featuretaie the letter of credit issuance facility
and extend the maturity date to December 8, 2083fDecember 31, 2002, AWI had approximately $28illion in letters of credit which
were issued pursuant to the DIP Facility. As of @&aber 31, 2002, AWI had $76.4 million of cash aasicequivalents, excluding cash held
by its non-debtor subsidiaries. The decrease flen$205.9 million of cash and cash equivalentspte3nber 30, 2002 is primarily due to an
intercompany payment of $120 million from AWI tavaolly owned non-debtor subsidiary under a licemgeeement for use of intangible
assets and intellectual property. This payment doégaffect Armstrong's consolidated cash
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balance. AWI believes that cash on hand and gesgefedm operations and dividends from its subsidgrtogether with lines of credit and
the DIP Facility, will be adequate to addressate$eeable liquidity needs. Obligations under the Eacility, including reimbursement of
draws under the letters of credit, if any, constitsuperpriority administrative expense claimsim €hapter 11 Case.

Accounting Impact

AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, "Financial Repartby Entities in Reorganization under the BankeypCode" ("SOP 90-7") provides
financial reporting guidance for entities that srerganizing under the Bankruptcy Code. This guidan implemented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to SOP 90-7, AWI is required to segrepgedpetition liabilities that are subject to compisenand report them separately on the
balance sheet. See Note 4 of the Consolidated EiadeBtatements for detail of the liabilities sulijeo compromise at December 31, 2002
2001. Liabilities that may be affected by a plamasrganization are recorded at the expected anajuhée allowed claims, even if they may
be settled for lesser amounts. Substantially al\Wi's prepetition debt, now in default, is recailds face value and is classified within
liabilities subject to compromise. Obligations afdstrong subsidiaries not covered by the Filingaentlassified on the consolidated bale
sheet based upon maturity date. AWI's estimatéilitiafor asbestos-related personal injury claimalso recorded in liabilities subject to
compromise. See Note 32 of the Consolidated FiaaStatements for further discussion of AWI's astetability.

Additional prepetition claims (liabilities subjettt compromise) may arise due to the rejection etatory contracts or unexpired leases, or as
a result of the allowance of contingent or disputiiims.

SOP 90-7 also requires separate reporting of @dimees, expenses, realized gains and losses, avidipn for losses related to the Filing as
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net. AccordingW/l recorded the following Chapter 11 reorganizataxtivities during 2002, 2001 and
2000:

Year Ended December 31,

(amounts in millions) 2002 2001 200 0
Professional fees $ 278 $ 245 % 2.6
Interest income, post petition (3.5) (5.1) ( 0.3)
Reductions to prepetition liabilities (1.2) (2.0) --
Termination of prepetition lease obligation -- (5.9) --
ESOP related costs - - 5 8.8
Adjustment of net debt and debt issue costs to expe nsed

amount of allowed claim -- -- 4 2.0
Other expense directly related to bankruptcy, net 0.3 1.0 0.2
Total Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net $ 235 $ 125 $ 10 3.3

Professional fees represent legal and financiakady fees and expenses directly related to thad-il
Interest income is earned from short-term investsieficash by AWI subsequent to the Filing.

Reductions to prepetition liabilities represent difeerence between the prepetition invoiced amaunt the actual cash payment made to
certain vendors due to negotiated settlements.eTpagments of prepetition obligations were madesuymmt to authority granted by the Court.

Termination of prepetition lease obligation repreésehe reversal of an accrual for future leasermays for office space in the U.S. that AWI
will not pay due to the termination of the leasetcact. This amount was previously accrued in i@ tquarter of 2000 as part of a
restructuring charge when the decision to vacaetkbmises was made.
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ESOP related costs include a $43.3 million impaithodarge related to amounts borrowed by the ES@R Armstrong, the trustee of the
ESOP. After the Filing, it was expected that thePSvould no longer have the ability to repay Armost money it previously borrowed. In
addition, a $15.5 million expense was recordededlto interest and tax penalty guarantees ow&SOP bondholders caused by the default
on the ESOP bonds.

In order to record prepetition debt at the faceigalr the amount of the expected allowed claims) Aujusted the amount of net debt and
debt issue costs and recorded a pretax expeng2df fillion.

As a result of the Filing, realization of assetd dguidation of liabilities are subject to uncenty. While operating as a debtor-in-possession,
AWI may sell or otherwise dispose of assets anddigte or settle liabilities for amounts other tlhose reflected in the consolidated finar
statements. Although a POR and Disclosure Stateh@am been filed with the Court, implementatiornih&f POR is subject to confirmation of
the POR in accordance with the provisions of thekBaptcy Code. AWI is unable to predict when anthé POR will be confirmed.
Therefore, the timing and terms of a resolutiothef Chapter 11 Case remain uncertain. Furthemfirowd plan of reorganization could
materially change the amounts and classificatiepsnted in the consolidated financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AHI utilizes estimates to record many items inchglasbestos-related liability and insurance agseiveries, allowances for bad debts,
inventory obsolescence and lower of cost or marthkahges, warranty, workers compensation, genatality and environmental claims. In
assessing approximate estimates, management canaltienown relevant information and confers waitltside parties, including outside
counsel, where appropriate.

The following are the critical accounting policiast management believes could have a significapact to the financial statements if the
estimates and judgments used by management tuin batincorrect based on the actual outcome aféutvents covered by these estimates.
In addition, management has discussed the apjplicafithese critical accounting policies with ourdt Committee.

Asbestos Related Estimates - AHI records contintiglilities, including asbesta®lated liabilities, when a loss is probable areldamount ¢
loss can be reasonably estimated. Prior to its ©hdf Filing, AWI estimated its probable asbestlated personal injury liability based
upon a variety of factors including historical E&tient amounts, the incidence of past claims, tixeofrthe injuries and occupations of the
plaintiffs, the number of cases pending againshd the status and results of broad-based setttatismussions. As of September 30, 2000,
AWI had recorded a liability of $758.8 million fis asbestos related personal injury liability thatetermined was probable and estimable
through 2006. Due to the increased uncertaintytedeas a result of the Filing, the only change madbe previously recorded liability
through the third quarter of 2002 was to recordoBet and November 2000 payments of $68.2 millicairesd the accrual. The asbestos-
related personal injury liability balance recordgdecember 31, 2001 was $690.6 million, which reasrded in liabilities subject to
compromise.

As discussed previously AWI filed an initial PORdatlisclosure statement with respect to the PORhdutie fourth quarter of 2002. In Mai
2003, AWI filed an amended POR and disclosure istag. The POR represents the product of negotatioth and is supported by the
Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants’ Committeethsecured Creditors' Committee and the Future Glaish Representative. Based upon
the foregoing, the discussions AWI has had withespntatives of such entities within the last seivamonths and the hearings held before the
Court in the last several months, management ndiemMes that it is reasonably likely that the claiatkiressed in the POR will be satisfied
substantially in the manner set forth in the PORaAesult, AWI has concluded that it can reasgnegtimate its probable liability for
asbestos-related current and future personal imglaiyns. Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 20@2V1 recorded a $2.5 hillion charge to
increase the liability. The asbestos-related lighdf approximately $3.2 billion at December 3002, which was treated as subject to
compromise, represents the estimated amount dlitjathat is implied based upon the negotiatedheton reflected
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in the POR, the total consideration expected tpdié to the Asbestos Pl Trust pursuant to the P@Raarecovery value percentage for the
allowed claims of the Asbestos PI Trust that issédo the estimated recovery value percentagehtvatiowed norasbestos unsecured clail
Pursuant to the POR, all current and future asbestated personal injury claims will be channeatethe Asbestos Pl Trust for resolution
and, upon emergence from Chapter 11, reorganizetiwilvhot have any responsibility for the claims participate in their resolution.

AWI is unable to predict when and if this POR vl confirmed. Therefore, the timing and terms ebhetion of the Chapter 11 Case remain
uncertain. As long as this uncertainty exists, feitthanges to the recorded liability are possibte@uld be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@nwill continue to review the recorded liabilitylight of future developments in the
Chapter 11 Case and make changes to the recoaddiytiif and when it is appropriate.

Additionally, AHI has recorded $198.1 million oftesated insurance recoveries as of December 31, Bfl@ted to its asbestos liability. Of
the total recorded asset at December 31, 2002ozipmately $35.7 million represents partial settletrfer previous claims that will be paid
a fixed and determinable flow and is reportedsahét present value discounted at 6.50%. Approxin&80 million of the $198.1 million
asset is determined from agreed coverage in plagésaherefore directly related to the amounthef asbestos liability. The total amount
recorded reflects the belief in the availabilityim$urance in this amount, based upon prior sudogssurance recoveries, settlement
agreements that provide such coverage, the nonpiodecoveries by other companies and the opifiauiside counsel. Such insurance is
either available through settlement or probablezobvery through negotiation, litigation or res@uatof the ADR process. A significant part
of the recorded asset relates to insurance that BéNéves is probable and will be obtained throsgtilements with the various carriers.
Although AWI revised its recorded asbestos liapitiy $2.5 billion in the fourth quarter of 2002¢eth was no increase recorded in the
estimated insurance recovery asset. While AWI geighat the process of resolving disputed ins@aowerage may result in higher
settlement amounts than recorded, there has beemase in the recorded amounts due to the wioBes remaining in the process. The
estimate of probable recoveries may be revisedrdipg on the developments in the matters discuabede as well as events that occur in
AWI's Chapter 11 Case.

U.S. Pension Credit and Postretirement Benefit£oatHI maintains pension and postretirement ptAnsughout the world, with the most
significant plans located in the U.S. Our pensiond postretirement benefit costs are developed &omarial valuations. These valuations
have been consistently calculated and determingeldbapon a number of assumptions. These assumptiemietermined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAE3ch assumption represents management's besttestihamticipated future experience.
The assumptions that have the most significant ahpa reported results are the discount rate, $limmated long-term return on plan assets
and the estimated health care cost trend rate hwdrie updated on an annual basis at the beginfhieach year.

The discount rate is used in the measurement aktirement liabilities and the interest cost comgrt of net periodic pension and
postretirement cost. AHI's actuary provides theeexggd modified duration of AHI's liabilities. Usirnlgis approach, for the U.S. plans
management determines the appropriate discounbyateferencing the yield on high quality fixed @mse securities of a similar duration as
well as the yield for Moody's AA-rated corporatends. As of December 31, 2002, AHI assumed a didaete of 6.50% compared with a
discount rate of 7.00% as of December 31, 200th®tJ.S. plans. A one-quarter percentage pointe@eaerin the discount rate would reduce
2003 operating income by $1.3 million, while a anearter percentage point increase in the discaiatwould increase 2003 operating
income by $2.0 million.

Effective January 1, 2003, AHI updated the monatible used in its U.S. pension and postretirerbengfit cost calculations to reflect more
current information. The new table (RP2000) is dageon actual 1990 to 1994 general population rityrtates, with improvements
projected to 2003. The previous table was based aptual 1964 to 1968 general population mortaitgs, with
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improvements projected to 1983, which is the tableently designated by the Pension Benefit Gugr@arporation and Internal Revenue
Service for various purposes. The estimated impfittis change on 2003 results is a pretax redndtidhe US pension credit of $2.6 million
and a pretax increase in postretirement expen$g.6fmillion.

AHI has two U.S. defined benefit pension plansyalified funded plan and a nonqualified unfundemhpFor the funded plan, the expected
long-term return on plan assets represents a lemg-¢iew (approximately 10-20 years) of the estadahvestment return performance of the
pension plan's assets that will be used to sdiisfiye retirement benefit payments. This percentagietermined by analyzing the
composition and allocation of the assets in thesjpenplan, the current performance and expectatidature performance. AHI also receives
input from investment professionals and academiccgs on the expected performance of the equitypand markets. The expected long-
term return on plan assets used for the 2002 &iSsipn credit was 8.75%. The actual return on ptsets achieved for 2002 was a negative
2.6%. In accordance with GAAP, this shortfall vii# amortized against earnings as described beloweker, the negative asset experience
for 2002 did not require AHI to make a cash conitiiin and the U.S. funded plan remains overfundeof @ecember 31, 2002. Additional
AHI does not expect to be required to make caslkribotions to the qualified funded plan during 208311 has assumed a return on plan
assets during 2003 of 8.00%. A one-quarter pergernpaint increase or decrease in this assumptiatdancrease or decrease the 2003 U.S.
pension credit by approximately $4.5 million. Camitions to the unfunded plan are made on a mortthgys to fund benefit payments. See
Note 18 of the Consolidated Financial Statementsniore details

The estimated health care cost trend rate repieadnng-term view (approximately 5-10 years) @f éixpected inflation in AHI's
postretirement health care costs. For the U.S, plbih separately estimates expected health careico®ases for pre-65 retirees and post-65
retirees due to the influence of Medicare covemtgrge 65. For 2002, AHI estimated an increasd % for pre-65 retirees and 13% for post-
65 retirees, which combined to an overall assumerkase of approximately 12%. This overall peragmia estimated to decrease 1% per
year until an ultimate rate of 6% is reached in0% the end of 2001, AHI had assumed an ovenalldase of 6%. The appropriatenes

this assumption is determined by considering anaihgr things, the overall health care cost enviremmAHI's retiree population,
information provided by our outside actuary and AHictual health care plans. Increasing the 20@2athhealth care cost trend rate from 6%
to 12% and the reduction in the discount rate fio5% to 7% caused an increase in AHI's postretireinenefit cost in 2002 versus 2001. A
one percentage point increase in the assumed tezakticost trend rate would reduce 2003 operatiognme by $4.0 million, while a one
percentage point decrease in the assumed headtltasirtrend rate would increase 2003 operatingnirecby $3.3 million. See Note 18 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more details.

AHI recorded a U.S. pension credit of $39.2 milli$56.8 million and $63.9 million in 2002, 2001 &2@D0, respectively. AHI recorded U.S.
postretirement benefit costs of $42.7 million, $&illion and $21.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 208€spectively.

Actual results that differ from these estimatescagtured as actuarial gains/losses and are ambitito future earnings over the expected
remaining service period of plan participants inadance with GAAP. Changes in assumptions coue s&gnificant effects on earnings to
be recognized in future years.

Impairments of Tangible and Intangible Assets - Aldtiodically reviews significant tangible and inggble assets, including goodwill, for
impairment under the guidelines of the FASB Statanmins. 142 - "Goodwill and Other Intangible AsSetsd 144 - "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets." Irtadance with these Statements, AHI reviews iténasses for indicators of impairment
such as operating losses and/or negative cash.flbess indication of impairment exists, AHI wilsémate future undiscounted cash flows
comparison to the carrying value of the assehdfdumulative estimated undiscounted cash flowdeagethan the carrying value of the asset,
AHI records an impairment loss equal to the diffieebetween the fair value and carrying value efabset. These
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cash flow estimates are based on management'sdigsates and rely on information available attifme of the analysis. Actual cash flows
that are lower than originally estimated could léagignificant future impairments.

In the second quarter of 2002, AHI completed aesswent of goodwill and intangible assets and dexba non-cash transitional impairment
charge of $596.0 million ($593.8 million, net ok}as of January 1, 2002. See Note 12 of the Cafated Financial Statements for further
information. In the fourth quarter of 2002, AHI cphated its annual assessment of goodwill as reduiyeFAS 142 and determined there was
no additional impairment.

During 2002, AHI recorded fixed asset impairmerdargies of $4.8 million in cost of sales throughdsibusiness segments. These
impairments related primarily to idle property, i@and equipment.

During 2001, AHI recorded an impairment charge &#dmillion in cost of sales within the TextilesdaBports Flooring. The impairment was
related to property, plant and equipment that pcediertain products for which AHI anticipated lovdemand.

Sales-related Accruals - AHI provides direct custoaind end-user warranties for its products. Theseanties cover manufacturing defects
that would prevent the product from performingiielwith its intended and marketed use. Genertilly terms of these warranties range up to
25 years and provide for the repair or replacerétiie defective product. AHI collects and analysesranty claims data with a focus on the
historical amount of claims, the products involvig amount of time between the warranty claimsthed respective sales and the amount
of current sales.

AHI also maintains numerous customer relationsttips incorporate sales incentive programs, primaglume rebates and promotions. The
rebates vary by customer and usually include tiereentives based on the level of customer's pwehaCertain promotional allowances are
also tied to customer purchase volumes. AHI es@mtite amount of expected annual sales duringatinese of the year and uses the proje
sales amount to estimate the cost of the inceptiwgrams.

The amount of actual experience related to theseials could differ significantly from the estimdtamounts. If this occurs, AHI adjusts its
accruals accordingly. AHI maintained sales-relatectuals of $69.4 million and $63.0 million as add@mber 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. AHI records the costs of these adsrasa reduction of gross sales.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Unless otherwise indicated, net sales in theselRasuOperations are reported based upon theitotathere the product was produced.

2002 COMPARED WITH 2001
Consolidated Results
The following discussions of consolidated resutes@n a continuing operations basis.

Net sales in 2002 of $3.17 billion were 1.1% higiveen compared with net sales of $3.14 billion®2. Resilient Flooring net sal
decreased 1.0%. Wood Flooring net sales increas®&®p6. Textiles and Sports Flooring decreased 6B3#ding Products net sales
decreased by 0.5%. Cabinets increased by 0.7%sdles increased in the Americas by 1.9% and iP#wific Area by $0.1 million. Net sal
decreased in Europe by 0.5%. Excluding the effecfavorable foreign exchange rates of $35.4 milliconsolidated net sales decreased by
0.1%, with Europe net sales decreasing by 5.0%Paific Area net sales decreasing by $1.3 mill{@®e Industry Segment Results for
further discussion.)

Cost of goods sold in 2002 was 75.8% of net sal@spared to cost of goods sold of 75.3% of netssal@001. The percentage point incre
was primarily due to higher manufacturing and maldéosts and a $9.6 million decreased U.S. perwsiedit, partially offset by lower raw
material and energy costs. Also, costs of goodsisa2002 included $16.5 million of fixed asset mmment charges and inventory
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adjustments throughout the business segments &@Dihincluded $10.5 million of fixed asset impaémis and inventory writdewns withir
the Textiles and Sports Flooring segment.

SG&A expenses in 2002 were $624.9 million, or 190®het sales compared to $596.6 million, or 19df%et sales in 2001. The increase
was primarily due to a $8.0 million decreased péhsion credit, $6.4 million of non-restructurireyerance costs, higher medical costs, $2.9
million of additional research and development erggeand increased management incentive compensatts) partially offset by decreased
advertising expense.

During 2002, Armstrong recorded a non-cash asbesimge of $2.5 billion to increase its estimatpmbable asbestos-related liability.
During 2001, Armstrong recorded non-cash charg&2af0 million related to a revision of managenseastimate of probable asbestos-
related insurance asset recoveries. See Note B2 @fonsolidated Financial Statements for furthgcussion.

Armstrong recorded net restructuring costs of $dilfion in 2002, which included $2.7 million for werance benefits for approximately 120
employees and a $0.8 million reversal of previastructuring charges for certain severance acctinalsvere no longer necessary. These
restructuring efforts are expected to result indoannual costs of $5.5 million. In 2001, Armstraegorded net restructuring costs of $9.0
million, which included $11.8 million for severanpayments and pension benefits for approximatelgmployees, including the former
Chief Operating Officer of AHI, and a $1.7 millisaversal of previous restructuring charges foraierseverance accruals that were no lo
necessary as certain individuals remained emplbyefirmstrong. Armstrong also reversed $1.1 milliefated to a formerly occupied
building for which AHI no longer believed it wilhcur any additional costs.

In accordance with FAS 142, which was effectiveudam 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer amortized. Asls 2002 includes no goodwill
amortization, which compares to $22.8 million obdwill amortization in 2001.

An operating loss in 2002 was $2,337.3 million canegl to operating income of $140.1 million in 20(8ee Industry Segment Results for
further discussion.) Operating income prior to ¢harge for asbestos reserves for 2002 was $168i@mDperating income prior to
goodwill amortization and the asbestos-relatedremste asset recovery charge for 2001 was $184l@mil

Interest expense of $13.8 million in 2002 was highan interest expense of $13.1 million in 200de tb higher average outstanding
borrowings among non-Chapter 11 subsidiaries. to@ance with SOP 90-7, Armstrong did not reconttiaztual interest expense on
prepetition debt after the Chapter 11 filing ddteis unrecorded interest expense was $99.2 miitic002 and $99.7 million in 2001.

Other non-operating expense of $8.2 million in 20@3 lower than other non-operating expense ofg$filllion in 2001. The reduction was
due to $3.5 million of less foreign currency tractgn losses in 2002, a loss of $3.2 million in 208sulting from the impairment of certain
equity investments, and a $2.0 million impairmemrge in 2001 of a note receivable related to wipus divestiture, offset by a $5.3 million
charge in 2002 for environmental expense relateddivested business.

Other non-operating income of $6.0 million in 2002s lower than other non-operating income of $13l0on in 2001. The reduction was
due to a gain recorded in 2001 of $3.5 million hésg from the demutualization of an insurance camp(Prudential Insurance Co.), with
whom Armstrong has company-owned life insurancécijas, and $3.6 million lower foreign currency tsaction gains in 2002 versus 2001.

Armstrong recorded $23.5 million of Chapter 11 gamization costs, net in 2002 compared to $12.6amiin 2001. See Item 1 for details of
the Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net.

The 2002 effective tax rate benefit from continuomgrations was 34.8% compared with an effectixedte of 36.7% for 2001. Excluding
the impact of the asbestos-related charges in 2@0%kruptcy expenses and goodwill amortization gifective tax rate was 31.2% for 2002
versus 25.9% for 2001.
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This resulted mainly from increases in valuatidovahnces against foreign net operating loss candods and other book differences, offset
by the impact of tax audit settlements.

Germany recently announced its intent to implent@areform proposals which could, among other thjrgignificantly reduce the ability of
companies to utilize tax losses against taxablétprdf enacted, these proposals may result iedaction to Armstrong's deferred tax asset
with respect to German tax loss carryforwards. Sarojposals are not expected to be considered b@éhman government for approval until
early 2003.

The 2002 cumulative effect of a change in accognpirinciple of $593.8 million (net of $2.2 millidax) was due to a non-cash transitional
impairment charge in accordance with FAS 142 asudsed in Note 12 of the Consolidated Financiakgtants.

A net loss of $2,142.8 million was recorded for 20€ompared to net earnings $92.8 million in 2001.

Outlook

AHI expects 2003 to be another challenging yeardéscribed in the Narrative Description of Businesstion of Item 1, AHI competes in
different markets on a worldwide basis. Approxinhataree-fourths of AHI's sales occur in the U.sthe U.S., AHI expects residential
housing activity to remain strong, but at lowerdesvthan experienced in 2002. The U.S. commercéakeats have been depressed and are
expected to remain so through the year. AHI arndieip that European markets will generally remaiakywith moderate economic recovery
in selected regions.

In conjunction with the market pressures on reveAl#l is experiencing significant pricing pressuame some major raw materials, most
notably lumber, natural gas (used principally i@ groduction of ceilings) and oil-based materiakse€l principally in the production of
resilient and textile flooring products). While igrsficant portion of our natural gas needs aregeek] the recent price spikes will negatively
affect manufacturing costs at least in the shomté@HI will experience labor cost increases froangral inflation as well as union contracts
negotiated during 2002, which were generally ie hvith inflation. However, the outcome of 2003 ¢ant negotiations are not predictable as
described in the Employees section of Item 1.

Additionally, AHI anticipates 2003 results will Imegatively affected by a projected $27 million éesed U.S. pension credit, a substantial
increase in Chapter 11 reorganization costs andcreased effective tax rate, due to the expediedrece of tax audit settlement benefits that
were experienced in 2002 and the effect of theeimeed Chapter 11 reorganization costs. AHI planssjoond to these pressures on revenue
and profitability by improving customer servicetroaducing new products, selectively increasingerand focusing on productivity and cost
reduction initiatives. The degree of success anengof benefit from each of these initiatives witlry from numerous factors.

Industry Segment Results

Resilient Flooring

Resilient Flooring net sales were $1,152.3 miliior2002 and $1,164.2 million in 2001, a 1.0% desee®mericas decreased 0.2% primarily
due to the effects of amendments to its distributigreements described below and reductions ie,ppartially offset by increases in volume
in the independent retailer channel. Net salequiojge decreased 1.6%. Excluding the effects ofréhle foreign exchange rates, Europe
decreased 5.7%, primarily due to weak European etgrparticularly Germany. Excluding the effect§asforable foreign exchange rates, the
Pacific Area increased $1.3 million.

Operating income of $64.5 million in 2002 compate&70.8 million in 2001. This decrease was prityatue to the effects of amendments
to its distribution agreements described belowfaretl asset impairment charges of $2.7 million tipfly offset by $3.1 million of lower cost
from changes in certain employee benefits. Opegaticome in 2001 includes $2.4 million of goodvaithortization, $2.8 million
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of income from the reversal of previously accrueteptial preference claims that have been resasgedell as $2.8 million of environmental
and building demolition expenses at one manufagguiacility.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, AHI amendedaigseements with its independent U.S. distributelsted to sales of certain products to
major home center retailers. Sales are recordedruhdse agreements when the products are shippedtie distributor's location to these
retailers. Approximately $19.2 million of reventlee equivalent of approximately 1.6% of Resilielttdfing net sales in 2002, and $7.4
million of operating income will be recorded in selguent periods of 2003 for products shipped teetlistributors during the fourth quarter
of 2002.

Wood Flooring

Wood Flooring net sales of $719.3 million in 2082reased from net sales of $655.3 million in 2001is 9.8% increase was driven primal
by increased volume, the impact of more effectir@mtional campaigns, and improved product mixathithe independent wholesaler
channel and with large home center retailers.

Operating income of $53.0 million in 2002 compare&0.9 million in 2001. Excluding $19.8 million gbodwill amortization expense
recorded in 2001, operating income in 2001 woulehzeen $20.7 million. The increase in operatimgime was driven by higher net sales,
improved production efficiencies, lower lumber spgvwer selling expense, and a change in vacatdiny resulting in a $1.9 million bene’
partially offset by $2.5 million of costs relatemléxiting a product line, and increased medicatcd3perating income in 2001 also included
$4.1 million of employee severance costs relata@structuring efforts.

Textiles and Sports Flooring

Textiles and Sports Flooring net sales of $247 llanidecreased in 2002 compared to $262.9 mililmB001. Excluding the effects of
favorable foreign exchange rates, net sales demniex 2% due to the weak European market, partlguBermany. An operating loss of $¢
million in 2002 was incurred compared to an opegatoss of $0.7 million in 2001. The change washarrily due to the unfavorable impact
lower net sales and a $1.5 million product warramdyms provision. 2002 included restructuring mse¢s of $0.3 million, which compare to
restructuring charges of $1.2 million in 2001. Ailzhially, 2001 included a fixed asset impairmerdrge of $8.4 million and a $2.1 million
inventory write-down.

Building Products

Building Products net sales of $826.6 million ir02@lecreased from $831.0 million in 2001. Excluding effects of favorable foreign
exchange rates, net sales decreased 2.1%, prirdaglyo lower volume in the U.S. commercial markgierating income increased $4.1
million to $96.5 million in 2002 primarily due tower energy costs and lower selling expenses.

Cabinets

Cabinets net sales of $226.9 million in 2002 inseebfrom net sales of $225.3 million in 2001 dueaprily to increased volume. An
operating loss of $3.9 million in 2002 comparedperating income of $15.2 million in 2001. This lilee resulted primarily from $10.9
million of increased manufacturing costs for matedabor and supply chain inefficiencies, and $86iBion in charges for inventory write-
downs.

All Other
The All Other segment contributed operating incah$2.1 million and $0.3 million for 2002 and 200&spectively, reflecting the equity
investment in Interface Solutions, Inc.

Unallocated Corporate Expense

Unallocated corporate expense of $2,544.8 millioB002 increased from $38.8 million in 2001 priradue to a $2.5 billion non-cash
asbestos charge, $17.6 million decreased U.S.qensidit, increased professional and advertiskpgeses, and increased management
incentive compensation costs.
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Geographic Areas

Based on the geographic location of the custonersales of $2.37 billion in the Americas in 200&revhigher, compared to $2.33 billion in
2001, primarily due to higher Wood Flooring salst sales in Europe in 2002 were $694.7 millionmpared to $713.1 million in 2001 as
Resilient Flooring and European Textiles and Speldsring declined, which was partially offset by iacrease in the Building Products
segment. Net sales to the Pacific area of $104l®mcompared to $99.6 million in 2001 due an gwse in the Resilient Flooring segment
partially offset by a decline in the Building Prads segment.

Long-lived assets in the Americas in 2002 were $@4allion compared to $962.3 million in 2001. Loliged assets in Europe in 2002 were
$329.6 million compared to $286.3 million in 200he increase was primarily due to the favorableaf6f foreign exchange rates. Long-
lived assets in the Pacific Area in 2002 were $28illion compared to $30.0 million in 2001.

2001 COMPARED WITH 2000
Consolidated Results
The following discussions of consolidated resutes@n a continuing operations basis.

Net sales in 2001 of $3.14 billion were 3.4% lowren compared with net sales of $3.25 billion iO@0Resilient Flooring net sal

decreased 5.9%. Wood Flooring net sales decreaséd %. Textiles and Sports Flooring decreased 5B3#ding Products net sales
decreased by 0.3%. Cabinets increased by 3.3%sdlet decreased 3.3%, 1.2% and 18.0% in the Amsefeaope, and the Pacific area,
respectively. Excluding the effect of foreign exebe, Europe net sales increased 3.1%. (See Indbstgment Results for further discussion.)

Cost of goods sold in 2001 was 75.3% of net sal@spared to cost of goods sold of 73.4% in 200@0@1, the Textiles and Sports Flooring
segment recorded an $8.4 million impairment chargeertain assets to cost of goods sold and arfidn charge for write-downs related
to certain products that will no longer be soldclging these charges, cost of goods sold was 751@®@01. In 2000, excluding a $17.6
million charge to cost of goods sold for write-d@aaf production-line assets related to the reomgitin efforts that were not categorized as
restructuring costs, the cost of goods sold wa8%2These write-downs of production-line assetnarily related to changes in production
facilities and product offerings. While the amoohtost of goods sold in 2001 was lower than 2@0did not decrease enough to maintain
the same percentage of net sales as in 2000. kegé@athe price of raw materials, such as nagasland wood, offset the general savings
experienced in cost of goods sold due to the Isabss.

SG&A expenses in 2001 were $596.6 million, or 19dPaet sales compared to $595.3 million, or 18&%et sales in 2000. While 2001 1
sales decreased from 2000 amounts, a significaotianof sales and promotional expense, includisgding and market development, was
incurred in 2001, primarily in the Resilient and ¥doFlooring segments. Additionally, 2001 contaihé@gher employee incentive bonus
accruals than 2000. These items resulted in apaserin SG&A as a percentage of net sales. SG&Aresgs in 2000 contained $18.3 million
for CEO and management transition costs, expeesated to the reorganization of European flooringibess, asset write-downs related to
the decision to vacate office space in Lancast&erafd write-downs related to product samples.

During 2001, Armstrong recorded non-cash charg&2af0 million related to a revision of managengeassessment of probable asbestos-
related insurance asset recoveries. 2000 inclug286.0 million non-cash charge to increase thestss-related liability.

Armstrong also recorded net restructuring cost®90® million in 2001, which included $11.8 millidor severance payments and pension
benefits for approximately 75 employees, including former Chief Operating Officer of AHI, and a. $illion reversal of previous
restructuring charges for certain severance ackthat were no longer necessary as certain indilddemained employed by Armstrong.
These reorganizations are expected to result isdomanufacturing costs of approximately $0.3 millger year and lower SG&A expense:
approximately $7.1 million per year. AHI expects to
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record an additional charge of approximately $0ilion in the first quarter of 2002 related to ather streamlining of the textiles and sports
flooring business. Armstrong also reversed $1.lionilrelated to a formerly occupied building for st AHI no longer believes it will incur
any additional costs. This compares to net restrimg and reorganization charges in 2000 of $18IBom, which included $12.0 million for
severance payments and pension benefits for appadely 200 employees and a $1.4 million reversahmrising severance accruals that
were no longer necessary as certain individualaiead employed by Armstrong. In 2000, Armstron@akscorded a $8.2 million charge
primarily related to the remaining payments on acamcelable-operating lease for an office facitityhe U.S.

Goodwill amortization was comparable at $22.8 wiillin 2001 and $23.9 million in 2000.

Operating income in 2001 was $140.1 million comdae$6.7 million in 2000.
(See Industry Segment Results for further discuskio

Interest expense of $13.1 million in 2001 was lothan interest expense of $102.9 million in 20@0a¢cordance with SOP 90-7, Armstrong
did not record contractual interest expense ongtitign debt after the Chapter 11 filing date. Tinisecorded interest expense was $99.7
million in 2001 and $7.0 million in 2000.

Other non-operating expense of $11.8 million in 2@&s higher than other non-operating expense @f$8lion in 2000. The increase was
due to higher foreign currency transaction losadsss of $3.2 million in 2001 resulting from timegairment of certain equity investments,
and a $2.0 million impairment charge in 2001 obterreceivable related to a previous divestiture.

Other non-operating income of $13.0 million was éowhan other nowperating income of $80.4 million in 2000. The reiilon was primaril
due to a $60.2 million gain from the sale of IPGjah was part of the Resilient Flooring segmersmeller gain on the demutualizations of
insurance companies with whom Armstrong has comymavmed life insurance policies and lower foreigmrency transaction gains.

Armstrong recorded $12.5 million of Chapter 11 gamization costs, net in 2001 compared to $103liBmin 2000. See "Proceeding with
Chapter 11" for further discussion.

Effective November 1, 2000, an amendment to the@&eeént Income Plan (RIP), a qualified U.S. defibedefit plan, established an
additional benefit known as the ESOP Pension Acttwupartially compensate active employee andeaetiESOP participants for the decline
in the market value of AHI's stock. The effectluiftamendment had no material impact to the firenposition or results of operations in
2000, but increased the benefit obligation by $92illon and decreased the pension credit by $iillfon in 2001. The RIP document was
revised to reflect these changes.

The 2001 effective tax rate from continuing openagi was 36.7% versus a tax benefit rate of 30.792300. Excluding the impact of the
asbestos charge, the gain on sale of IPG, theiotsting charges and other related expenses artdthpter 11 reorganization costs, net in
2000, the 2000 effective tax rate was 39.6%. Theedese from 39.6% to 36.7%, was due to improvegidartax credit utilization and lower
foreign taxes partially offset by the negative imipaf lower earnings on permanent differences bebAmok and tax. In addition, the 2001
provision reflects the reversal of certain stateaad other accruals no longer required due to ¢etiop of state tax audit and/or the expira
of statutes of limitation partially offset by cartanon-deductible expenses.

Armstrong reported net earnings of $92.8 million$a.27 per diluted share in 2001, compared teasgtings of $12.2 million, or $0.30 per
share in 2000.
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Industry Segment Results

Resilient Flooring

Resilient Flooring net sales were $1,164.2 mildord $1,237.3 million in 2001 and 2000, respectiviligt sales in the Americas decreased
5.0% from the prior year as a result of lower salesommercial tile (volume and pricing pressunell aesidential sheet products (product
mix) and the impact of the third quarter 2000 IH@edtiture. Excluding the impact of the IPG divastt, sales in the Americas decreased
2.6%. Excluding the unfavorable effects of foregxthange rates, net sales in Europe were 3.7% Bakiwear primarily due to weaker sé
of cushion vinyl products. Pacific area net salesrdased $4.9 million versus 2000.

Operating income of $70.8 million in 2001 compare&80.4 million in 2000. Operating income in 206&ludes $2.8 million of income fro
the reversal of previously accrued potential pegiee claims that have been resolved as well asifli8n of environmental and building
demolition expenses at one manufacturing facilitycluding expenses associated with reorganizindgetirepean business and other
management changes, operating income was $108i0miil 2000. The operating income reduction waseadr primarily by lower sales and
higher selling and promotional expenses, includirand and market development expenses and the tirofptdie IPG divestiture, partially
offset by lower production costs.

Wood Flooring

Wood Flooring net sales of $655.3 million in 20@&kckased from net sales of $683.3 million in 2000s 4.1% decrease was driven
primarily by lower sales volume and pricing withire independent wholesaler channel. Operating ilrcoih$0.9 million in 2001 compared
operating income of $57.8 million in 2000. The d&ge was primarily driven by competitive pricinggsure, lower sales, higher lumber
costs, product quality issues, and higher sellimdj @romotional expenses.

Textiles and Sports Flooring

Textiles and Sports Flooring net sales of $2628aniin 2001 compared to $277.0 million in 200&dkiding the impact of unfavorable
foreign exchange rates, net sales decreased 2ig%rjy due to a weak European market. An operaliisg of $0.7 million in 2001 was
incurred compared to operating income of $5.2 orilin 2000. The 2001 operating loss was due tdBah i&illion fixed asset impairment
charge and a $2.1 million inventory write-down. Exiting these charges, 2001 operating income woane: theen $9.8 million. Operating
income in 2000 included approximately $3.0 millfon employee severance accruals.

Building Products

Building Products net sales of $831.0 million ifD2@ecreased slightly from $833.1 million in 20@Qkee full year impact of the Gema
acquisition helped to offset the slow down experézhin the commercial construction markets. Exelgdhe net sales of Gema, net sales
decreased 2.8%. Net sales in the Americas decr@ag@dversus 2000 due to unit volume in the U.&roercial business partially offset by
improvements in the price/product mix as well des&rom new product lines. Excluding the impactuofavorable foreign exchange rates
and incremental net sales from Gema, net salesriope remained flat compared to 2000. Pacific artaales decreased $4.1 million versus
2000. Operating income decreased $21.5 milliore@4million in 2001 primarily due to higher energysts and lower unit volume.

Cabinets

Cabinets net sales of $225.3 million in 2001 inseshfrom net sales of $218.2 million in 2000 dua favorable product mix and volume
growth. Operating income of $15.2 million in 20Gdngpared to operating income of $16.5 million in @0Bxcluding restructuring charges of
$1.1 million in 2001, operating income was $16.8ion, which is comparable to 2000. The 2001 né&sancrease was offset by higher
selling expenses and additional allocations of garend administrative expenses shared with thed\Fdooring segment.
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All Other
The All Other segment contributed operating incah$0.3 million and $0.1 million for 2001 and 2008spectively, reflecting the equity
investment in Interface Solutions, Inc.

Unallocated Corporate

Excluding charges for asbestos liability, net, lowdted corporate expense of $16.8 million in 266thpared to $31.2 million of expense in
2000. The 2001 expense includes a U.S. pensioit ofe®56.8 million compared to a 2000 credit oB# million. The 2000 expense also
includes $19.7 million in expenses related to tB#®Qransition and other management changes ardettision to vacate an office facility in
the U.S.

Geographic Areas

Based on the geographic location of the custonersales of $2.33 billion in the Americas in 200dreviower, compared to $2.41 billion in
2000, primarily due to lower Resilient Flooringesal Net sales in Europe in 2001 were $713.1 mijlldmmpared to $721.7 million in 2000, as
the full year impact of the Gema acquisition pdistiaffset declines in the Resilient Flooring andilBling Products segments. Net sales to the
Pacific area of $99.6 million compared to $121.4liari in 2000 due to volume declines in the ResiliElooring and Building Products
segments.

Long-lived assets in the Americas in 2001 were $3&allion compared to $974.6 million in 2000. Loeliged assets in Europe in 2001 were
$286.3 million compared to $314.4 million in 200te decrease was primarily due to an $8.4 milligad asset impairment charge in the
Textiles and Sports Flooring segment and the divestof certain physical assets. Long-lived assethe Pacific area in 2001 were $30.0
million compared to $32.0 million in 2000.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

2002 COMPARED TO 2001

As shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, Aomgthad cash and cash equivalents of $380.0 maliddecember 31, 2002, compared
with $277.4 million at the end of 2001. The ratfacarrent assets to current liabilities was 3.11 s of December 31, 2002, compared with
2.99 to 1 as of December 31, 2001.

Long-term debt, excluding debt subject to compremigas $39.9 million at December 31, 2002, compueigd $50.3 million at the end of
2001. All other outstanding prepetition long-terebtlis owed by entities that filed for Chapter tatection, and therefore has been classified
as liabilities subject to compromise at December2802 and 2001.

As shown on the Consolidated Statements of Cashigrlioet cash provided by operating activities far year ended December 31, 2002, was
$223.5 million compared with $272.1 million in 200Ihe decrease was primarily due to an increaseome taxes paid and lower asbestos
insurance asset recoveries.

Net cash used for investing activities was $104illiam for the year ended December 31, 2002, comgavith $113.9 million in 2001. Tt
decrease was primarily due to $5.6 million sperz0f1 to purchase some of the remaining minorityitgdnterest of majority owned entities
consolidated within the Resilient Flooring segment.

Net cash used for financing activities was $23.Bioni for the year ended December 31, 2002, contpaiith $37.9 million in 2001. Th
decrease was primarily due to lower payments aj-iemm debt.

AHI's liquidity needs for operations vary throughthe year. Therefore, AHI retains lines of craditraw upon as needed to meet these
needs. Additionally, AHI has letter of credit isaga capabilities under the DIP Facility (describetbw). AHI believes that cash on hand
generated from operations, together with linesreélit and the DIP Facility, will be adequate to ieds its foreseeable liquidity needs.
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DIP Facility

On November 1, 2002, the Court announced it hadoapp AWI's motion to reduce the amount of its Bhility from $200 million to $75

million, eliminate the revolving credit borrowingdture, retain the letter of credit issuance figcilind extend the maturity date to Decemb
2003. Obligations to reimburse drawings upon tlteds of credit constitute a superpriority admiratte expense claim in the Chapter 11
Case. There were no outstanding borrowings un@ebtR Facility as of December 31, 2002 or 2001o0ABecember 31, 2002 and 2001,

AWI had approximately $28.7 million and $8.4 miliiorespectively, in letters of credit which wersusd pursuant to the DIP Facility. The
DIP Facility also contains several covenants inclgdamong other things, limits on asset salestalagxpenditures and a required ratio of
debt to cash flow.

Asbestos-related litigation

AWI is a defendant in personal injury cases angerty damage cases related to asbestos contairadggis. On December 6, 2000, AWI
filed a voluntary petition for relief ("the Filing'under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Codesmthe court supervised reorganization
process to achieve a final resolution of its agizekability.

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Claims

Prior to filing for relief under the Bankruptcy CedAWI was a member of the Center for Claims Rdsmiuthe "Center") which handled the
defense and settlement of asbestos-related perisqungl claims on behalf of its members. The Ceptarsued broad-based settlements of
asbestos-related personal injury claims under traegjic Settlement Program ("SSP") and had reaabesements with law firms that
covered approximately 130,000 claims that named A%v4 defendant.

Due to the Filing, holders of asbestos-relatedgrekinjury claims are stayed from continuing tog@cute pending litigation and from
commencing new lawsuits against AWI. In additiovyAceased making payments to the Center with regpexsbestos-related personal
injury claims, including payments pursuant to thistanding SSP agreements. AWI's obligations vefipect to payments called for under
these settlements will be determined in its Chapte€Case.

A creditors' committee representing the interebsbestos personal injury claimants and an indadithas been appointed to represent the
interests of future personal injury claimants ia @hapter 11 Case. AWI's present and future asbiahility will be addressed in its Chapter
11 Case rather than through the Center and a odétiof lawsuits in different jurisdictions throughidhe U.S. It is anticipated that all of
AWI's current and future asbestos-related persofjaly claims will be resolved in the Chapter 11s€a

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Liability In ewalng its potential asbestoslated personal injury liability prior to the Fifj, AWI reviewer
information provided by the Center including, amanler things, recent and historical settlementwnts the incidence of past and recent
claims, the mix of the injuries of the plaintifthe number of cases pending against it and thesstatd results of broad-based settlement
discussions. Based on this review, AWI developedsiimated range for its cost to defend and resmdbestos-related personal injury claims
for six years, through 2006. This estimated range large due to the limitations of the availabl@dad the difficulty of forecasting with a
certainty the numerous variables that could hafextfd AWI's actual liability for this period. AWdoncluded that no amount within the ra
was more likely than any other, and therefore otflé the low end of the range as the liabilityha tonsolidated financial statements, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes

It is expected that the Chapter 11 process will dih all current and future asbestos-related geasinjury claims against AWI. There are
significant differences between the way the aslsesttated personal injury claims may be addresséénthe bankruptcy process and the
historical way AWI's claims were resolved. See Nbtaf the Consolidated Financial Statements fahfmrdiscussion on how the Chapter 11
process may address AWI's asbestos-related pelisgungl claims.

46



As of September 30, 2000, AWI had recorded a lighif $758.8 million for its asbestos-related meral injury liability that it determined
was probable and estimable through 2006. Due totlreased uncertainty created as a result of itheyFthe only change made to the
previously recorded liability through the third qtea of 2002 was to record October and NovembefZ@yments of $68.2 million against
the accrual. The asbestos-related personal injipjlity balance recorded at December 31, 2001 $6&8.6 million, which was recorded in
liabilities subject to compromise.

As discussed previously, AWI filed an initial PORdadisclosure statement with respect to the PO gte fourth quarter of 2002. In
March 2003, AWI filed an amended POR and disclostagement. The POR represents the product of iaigos with and is supported by
the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' Committee Unsecured Creditors' Committee and the Futlain@nts' Representative. Based
upon the foregoing, the discussions AWI has hatl vepresentatives of such entities within the $asteral months and the hearings held
before the Court in the last several months, mamagé now believes that it is reasonably likely tiet claims addressed in the POR will be
satisfied substantially in the manner set fortthen POR. As a result, AWI has concluded that it e@sonably estimate its probable liability
for asbestoselated current and future personal injury claifascordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2002, AWI mrded a $2.5 billion charge
increase the liability. The asbestos-related ligbdf approximately $3.2 billion at December 3002, which was treated as subject to
compromise, represents the estimated amount adlityathat is implied based upon the negotiatedhetson reflected in the POR, the total
consideration expected to be paid to the AsbedtdsuRt pursuant to the POR and a recovery valuegmtage for the allowed claims of the
Asbestos PI Trust that is equal to the estimatedvery value percentage for the allowed non-asbasteecured claims. Pursuant to the POR,
all current and future asbestos-related persopatyirclaims will be channeled to the Asbestos RIstifor resolution and, upon emergence
from Chapter 11, reorganized AWI will not have aagponsibility for the claims or participate in ithesolution.

AWI is unable to predict when and if this POR via# confirmed. Therefore, the timing and terms ebhation of the Chapter 11 Case remain
uncertain. As long as this uncertainty exists, feitthanges to the recorded liability are possibte@uld be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@nwill continue to review the recorded liabilitylight of future developments in the
Chapter 11 Case and make changes to the recoadddyiif and when it is appropriate.

The $2.5 billion, fourth quarter 2002, charge tor@ase the asbestos-related personal injury fplislibefore recognition of gains from the
settlement of liabilities subject to compromise jehhwill arise at a later date as a consequentieeo€Chapter 11 process.

Collateral Requirements

During 2000, AWI had secured a bond for $56.2 millto meet minimum collateral requirements esthblisby the Center with respect to
asbestos-related personal injury claims assertaahstgAWI. On October 27, 2000, the insurance comyhat underwrote the surety bond
informed AWI and the Center of its intention notrémew the surety bond effective February 28, 2@iLFebruary 6, 2001, the Center
advised the surety of the Center's demand for payofehe face value of the bond. The surety faetotion with the Court seeking to
restrain the Center from drawing on the bond. Tl#ion was not granted. On March 28, 2001, the gdiled an amended complaint in the
Court seeking similar relief. The Center has fidehotion to dismiss the amended complaint. The Qs not yet ruled on the Center's
motion or the complaint. In addition, on April 2001, AWI filed a complaint and a motion with theugt seeking an order, among other
things, enjoining the Center from drawing on thadbor, in the event the Center is permitted to doawhe bond, requiring that the proceeds
of any such draw be deposited into a Court-appraeedunt subject to further order of the Courtgtudlfred M. Wolin of the Federal
District Court for the District of New Jersey, whsoalso presiding over AWI's Chapter 11 Case, amid he would determine these matters.
Judge Wolin has not yet ruled on these matters.
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Asbestos-Related property Damage Litigation Overyidars, AWI was one of many defendants in asbestated property damage claims
that were filed by public and private building owsiewith six claims pending as of June 30, 200% @laims that were resolved prior to the
Filing resulted in aggregate indemnity obligatiafisess than $10 million. To date, all paymentshefse obligations have been entirely
covered by insurance. The pending cases presegatibns of damage to the plaintiffs’ buildingsseiby asbestos-containing products and
generally seek compensatory and punitive damages@uitable relief, including reimbursement of exgitures for removal and replacement
of such products. In the second quarter of 2000] A6 served with a lawsuit seeking class certificaof Texas residents who own propt
with asbestos-containing products. This case irdwadlegations that AWI asbestos-containing pradoaused damage to buildings and
generally seeks compensatory damages and equitdiele including testing, reimbursement for remloarad diminution of property value.
AWI vigorously denies the validity of the allegat®against it in these actions and, in any evatigves that any costs will be covered by
insurance.

Continued prosecution of these actions and the camsgment of any new asbestos property damage seierstayed due to the Filing. In
March 2002, the Court allowed certain alleged hlad asbestos property damage claims to file ssgh@oof of claim against AWI. In July
2002, the Court denied the certification of thepgm®ed class and held that the plaintiffs' proaflaim shall only be effective as to the named
claimants. The plaintiffs' motion for leave to appt the U.S. District Court was denied by JudgaiWon October 3, 2002. As part of
determining whether AWI asbestos containing resilfoor covering products give rise to propertyrdaye liability, the Court conducted an
initial hearing on September 26 - 27, 2002 to detiak type of scientific testing allowable under Bederal Rules of Evidence to prove or
disprove whether such products cause building comi@ion. On October 22, 2002, the Court granted’AV¢quested relief and ruled that
the methodology offered by the Asbestos Propertym&ge Committee in support of its claims is notiargdically valid method of

quantifying the level of asbestos contaminatioa building. On November 1, 2002, the Court diredted all property damage claimants
provide, in support of their claims, substantiatibat Armstrong flooring products were used in¢te@mants' buildings. The Court's deadline
for submission of such product identification do@mtation was February 10, 2003. Prior to the Coddadline, AWI reached an agreement
in principle to settle approximately 360 propergnthge claims, which alleged damages of $0.2 bjlimn$2 million. Any amounts to be p:
are expected to be funded by insurance. This sedtieis subject to the Court's approval, whiclchesluled to be heard by the Court on April
4, 2003. Additionally, 130 property damage claimsdbeen disallowed or withdrawn. Approximately pd@perty damage claims totaling
$0.6 billion will remain unresolved if the settlentés approved. Only 26 of these 100 remaining eriypdamage claims submitted product
identification by the February 10, 2003 deadlinfened to above.

Consistent with prior periods and due to increasezkrtainty, AWI has not recorded any liabilityateld to asbestos-related property damage
claims as of December 31, 2002. See Note 1 of tres@lidated Financial Statements for further disursof property damage claims in the
Chapter 11 Case. A separate creditors' commitesenting the interests of property damage asbekionants has been appointed in the
Chapter 11 Case.

Insurance Recovery Proceedings

A substantial portion of AWI's primary and excessiaining insurance asset is nonproducts (genaflity) insurance for personal injury
claims, including among others, those that invaliteged exposure during AWI's installation of asbgsnsulation materials. AWI has ente
into settlements with a number of the carriersIkésg its coverage issues. However, an alternatigpute resolution ("ADR") procedure was
commenced against certain carriers to determinpeéheentage of resolved and unresolved claimsatigabonproducts claims, to establish the
entitlement to such coverage and to determine venethd how much reinstatement of prematurely exbdysoducts hazard insurance is
warranted. The nonproducts coverage potentialljl@e is substantial and includes defense costsldition to limits.
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During 1999, AWI received preliminary decisionglie initial phases of the trial proceeding of tHeR\ which were generally favorable to
AWI on a number of issues related to insurance iama& However, during the first quarter of 200hewv trial judge was selected for the
ADR. The new trial judge conducted hearings in 2806d determined not to rehear matters decidedéprivious judge. In the first quarter
of 2002, the new trial judge concluded the ADRIfpiaceeding with findings in favor of AWI on substially all key issues. Liberty Mutual,
the only insurer that is still a party to the ADRs appealed that final judgment. Appellate argurogginally scheduled for October 2002
was adjourned and was held on March 11, 2003.1in2002, AWI filed a lawsuit against Liberty Mutuia the Federal District Court for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania seeking, amongratings, a declaratory judgment with respectetitain policy issues not subject to
binding ADR.

One of the insurance carriers, Reliance Insurarmregany, was placed under an order of liquidatiothgyPennsylvania Insurance
Department during October 2001 due to financididalifties. The order of liquidation prohibits Retiee from making any claim payments
under the insurance policies until the liquidatomeurs. AWI intends to file a proof of claim agdifeliance by the December 2003 deadline.
It is uncertain when AWI will receive proceeds frételiance under these insurance policies.

Another insurer, Century Indemnity Company, whovresly settled its coverage issues with AWI, haglesome of its required payments
under the settlement to a trust of which AWI iseaéficiary. During January 2002, this insurer fimdadversary action in AWI's Chapter 11
Case. Among other things, the action requests thet@ (1) declare that the settlement agreenseaih iexecutory contract and to compel
assumption or rejection of the agreement; (2) dedlzat the insurer need not make its present@nidef scheduled payments unless AWI
assumes the agreement; (3) declare that the insuzatitled to indemnification from AWI againstyaliabilities that the insurer may incur in
certain unrelated litigation in which the insurginvolved; and (4) enjoin the disposition of funmteviously paid by the insurer to the trust
pending an adjudication of the insurer's rightseSehissues are before the Court for determinatidn®&VI believes it is highly unlikely the
insurer will prevail in this matter.

On March 5, 2003, the New Hampshire Insurance Deygant placed The Home Insurance Company ("Homedguan order of
rehabilitation. Less than $10 million of AWI's reded insurance asset is based on policies with Harieh management believes is still
probable of recovery.

Insurance Asset

An insurance asset in respect of asbestos persgmal claims in the amount of $198.1 million isoeded as of December 31, 2002 comp
to $214.1 million as of December 31, 2001. Of thtaltrecorded asset at December 31, 2002, apprtedyr®35.7 million represents partial
settlement for previous claims that will be paidifixed and determinable flow and is reportedsahét present value discounted at 6.50%.
The total amount recorded reflects AWI's beliethia availability of insurance in this amount, bagpdn AWI's success in insurance
recoveries, settlement agreements that provide caatrage, the nonproducts recoveries by other aomp and the opinion of outside
counsel. Such insurance is either available thraggtiement or probable of recovery through negjotialitigation or resolution of the ADR
process. Depending on further progress of the A&dRyities such as settlement discussions withrarste carriers party to the ADR and
those not party to the ADR, the final determinatidrcoverage shared with ACandS (the former AWulagon contracting subsidiary that
was sold in August 1969 and which filed for reliefder Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in Septer2®@2) and the financial condition of
the insurers, AWI may revise its estimate of prdbafisurance recoveries. Approximately $80 millafrthe $198.1 million asset is
determined from agreed coverage in place and igfitre directly related to the amount of the liapilOf the $198.1 million asset, $24.0
million has been recorded as a current asset Beegmber 31, 2002 reflecting management's estiofdte minimum insurance payments to
be received in the next 12 months. As of Febru@g82 approximately $8.0 million of the $24.0 miflicurrent asset is past due based on a
previous settlement agreement. AWI believes catlaadf the full amount is still probable and themef has not established a reserve against
these receivables.

A significant part of the recorded asset relatessarance that AWI believes is probable and welldbtained through settlements with the
various carriers. Although AWI revised its recordebestos
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liability by $2.5 billion in the fourth quarter @002, there was no increase recorded in the egtimasurance recovery asset. While AWI
believes that the process of resolving disputedrarsce coverage may result in higher settlemenuatsahan recorded, there has been no
increase in the recorded amounts due to the umtgetaremaining in the process. Accordingly, #séset could change significantly based
upon resolution of the issues. Management estinthiédthe timing of future cash payments for treorded asset may extend beyond 10
years.

Cash Flow Impact

As a result of the Chapter 11 Filing, AWI did noake any payments for asbestos-related claims i@ 80@001. AWI received $16.0 million
and $32.2 million in asbestos-related insuranceveges during 2002 and 2001, respectively. Dutivggpendency of the Chapter 11 Case,
AWI does not expect to make any further cash paysien asbestos-related claims, but AWI expectotatinue to receive insurance
proceeds under the terms of various settlementawnts.

Conclusion

Based upon the events described above, managearaatto a belief that AWI's asbestos-related lighiliill be settled substantially in the
manner set forth in the POR. As a result, AWI rdedra $2.5 billion charge to increase its estiméprobable asbestos-related liability to
approximately $3.2 billion at December 31, 2002ichiwas treated as subject to compromise. TheHawrarter charge was determined by
calculating an implied liability based upon theysions of the POR and Disclosure Statement. Howergechange was made to the estim
asbestos-related insurance recovery asset. Mamytairdies continue to exist about the matters tipg AWI's asbestos-related liability and
insurance asset. These uncertainties include thadhof the Filing and the Chapter 11 processntheber of future claims to be filed, the
ultimate value of the asbestos liability, the impafcany potential legislation, the impact of thBR proceedings on the insurance asset and
the financial condition of AWI's insurance carriefslditionally, although a POR and Disclosure Staat have been filed with the Court,
implementation of the POR is subject to confirmatid the POR in accordance with the provisionshefBankruptcy Code. AWI is unable to
predict when and if the POR will be confirmed. Téfere, the timing and terms of resolution of theafier 11 Case remain uncertain. As long
as this uncertainty exists, future changes to¢lsended liability and insurance asset are possidecould be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@mwill continue to review the recorded liabiland insurance asset in light of future
developments in the Chapter 11 Case and make chaémdige recorded amounts if and when it is apetgar

2001 COMPARED TO 2000

As shown on the Consolidated Statements of Cashdgrlioet cash provided by operating activities far year ended December 31, 2001, was
$272.1 million compared with $27.8 million in 200the increase was primarily due to the absencshléstos-related claims payments in
2001.

Net cash used for investing activities was $113lam for the year ended December 31, 2001, coregavith cash provided by investil
activities of $179.3 million in 2000. The decreas®s primarily due to $329.9 million of proceedsnfrthe sales of businesses in 2000.

Net cash used for financing activities was $37.Bioni for the year ended December 31, 2001, conpaiith $70.9 million in 2000. Th
decrease was primarily due to no dividend paymien2§01, compared with $58.1 million of dividendypgents in 2000, offset by net debt
payments of $33.4 million in 2001 compared with aeltt payments of $16.9 million in 2000.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

Discontinued Operations

In February 2001, AHI determined to permanently theé Textiles and Sports Flooring segment andehrirary 20, 2001 entered into
negotiations to sell substantially all of the besises comprising this segment to a private equigsitor based in Europe. Based on these
events, the segment was classified as a discouttioperation starting with the fourth quarter of @00n June 12, 2001, negotiations with -
investor were terminated. During the third quaaie?2001, AHI terminated its plans to permanentlit &xs segment. This decision was based
on the difficulty encountered in selling the

50



business and a new review of the business, indastityoverall economy conducted by new senior manage Accordingly, this segment is
no longer classified as a discontinued operati@hanounts have been reclassified into operatiomscasred by Emerging Issues Task Force
("EITF") Issue No. 90-16 - "Accounting for Discomtied Operations Subsequently Retained". All pragiqals have been reclassified to
conform to the current presentation.

Based on the expected net realizable value oftkmbss determined during the negotiations tatlselbusiness, AHI had recorded a pretax
net loss of $34.5 million in the fourth quarter28f00, $23.8 million net of tax benefit. AHI alsocheecorded an additional net loss of $3.3
million in the first quarter of 2001, as a resulpoce adjustments resulting from the negotiatiddsncurrent with the decision to no longer
classify the business as a discontinued operatiememaining accrued loss of $37.8 million ($27illion net of tax) was reversed in the
third quarter of 2001 and recorded as part of egmfrom discontinued operations. Additionally, fegment's net income of $3.1 million for
the first and second quarter of 2001 was recl&skifito earnings from continuing operations forsthperiods.

During the third quarter of 2001, AHI concludedréhgvere indicators of impairment related to certseets in this segment, and accordingly,
an impairment evaluation was conducted at the étigecthird quarter under the guidelines of SFAS Neil -"Accounting for the Impairme

of Long-Lived Assets and for Lonigved Assets to be Disposed Of". This evaluatiahtean impairment charge of $8.4 million, repreésey
the excess of book value over estimated fair valnieh was determined using a net discounted castsfapproach. The charge was included
in cost of sales. The impairment was related t@@rty, plant and equipment that produce certaidyets for which AHI anticipates lower
demand in the future. Additionally, an inventoryitesdown of $2.1 million was recorded in the thipdarter of 2001 within cost of sales
related to certain products that will no longersbé.

On May 31, 2000, Armstrong completed its sale bbfthe entities, assets and certain liabilitiesprising its Insulation Products segment to
Orion Einundvierzigste Beteiligungsgesellschaft Matsubsidiary of the Dutch investment firm Gildedstment Management N.V. for $264
million. The transaction resulted in an after takngof $114.8 million, or $2.86 per share in 20D0ring 2001, AHI recorded a pretax loss of
$1.1 million related to its divestiture of its Ihation Products segment. This loss resulted frortagepost-closing adjustments.

Other Divestitures

On July 31, 2000, Armstrong completed the salesofinistallation Products Group ("IPG") to subsigiarof the German company Ardex
GmbH, for $86 million in cash. Ardex purchased sabsally all of the assets and liabilities of IR@luding its shares of the W.W. Henry
Company. The transaction resulted in an after gam gf $44.1 million ($60.2 million pretax) or $0.per share and was recorded in other
non-operating income during the third quarter d@0T he financial results of IPG were reported @$ pf the Resilient Flooring segment.
Under the terms of a supply agreement, Armstromgeaito purchase some of its installation prodoetsds from Ardex for an initial term of
eight years, subject to certain minimums for thst fiive years after the sale. The agreement alBeccfor price adjustments based upon
changing market prices for raw materials, labor @nergy costs. During February 2003, ArmstrongArmtex reached a settlement in
principle on several open issues, which must becyepl by the Court. The settlement allowed forghgment of the pre-petition liability to
Ardex with a discount, adjusted the pricing for Atnong's adhesives purchases, eliminated the mimipurchase requirement and resolved
environmental remediation disputes. Under theesattht, Ardex will file a proof of claim related émvironmental remediation in AWI's
Chapter 11 Case, which will be treated as an aliowesecured claim. This claim resulted in a fogarter 2002 charge of $5.3 million,
which was recorded in other non-operating expense.

In November 2000, Armstrong sold a component of @stiles and Sports Flooring segment. As this slittere included a business classified
as held for sale since its July 1998 acquisitiormgtrong had been recording the 2000 operating$osbthis business within selling, general
and administrative ("SG&A") expense. The overall@@mpact was a reduction of SG&A expense of $0IKam.
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Acquisitions
During 2001, AHI spent $5.6 million to purchase soofithe remaining minority interest of already-solidated entities within the Resilient
Flooring segment. Approximately $5.0 million of therchase price was allocated to goodwiill.

On May 18, 2000, AHI acquired privately-held Switaead-based Gema Holding AG ("Gema"), a manufactureriastaller of metal ceilings
for $6 million plus certain contingent consideratiwot to exceed $25.5 million, based on results twethree year period ending December
31, 2002. The purchase agreement requires thédiimer owners of Gema are advised of the probatri¢irigent consideration calculation
within 30 days of the Gema's audited financialestants being available. If the former owners doawoept such calculation within 30 days,
the contingent consideration calculation will heafly determined by a third party. Management etgpany contingent consideration to be
negligible.

The acquisition was recorded under the purchaskadeif accounting. The purchase price was alloctatélde assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed based on the estimated faiketaralue at the date of acquisition. Contingemtsigeration, when and if paid, will be
accounted for as additional purchase price. Thenfarket value of net tangible and identifiableairgible net assets acquired exceeded the
purchase price by $24.2 million and this amount reasrded as a reduction of the fair value of prgpelant and equipment.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As part of its normal operations, AHI enters intonerous contractual obligations that require spepdyments during the term of the vari
agreements. The following table includes amountpomg under contractual obligations existing aBetember 31, 2002. Only known
payments that are dependent solely on the pass$aigeecare included. Obligations under contractt ttontain minimum payment amounts
are shown at the minimum payment amount. Contthatsstill require performance to be rendered byl Aithe counter-party, or have
variable payment structures without minimum payragate excluded. Amounts are presented below hgsmdthe currently scheduled
payment terms. Actual future payments may diffenfithe amounts presented below due to changeyingud terms or events leading to
payments in addition to the minimum contractual ants.

(millions) 200 3 2004 2005 2006 2007 Therea fter Total
Long-Term Debt /(1)/ $ 6 7 $76 $67 $51 $16 $ 189 $ 46.6
Capital Lease Obligations /(2)/ 1 4 26 1.7 1.0 0.7 0.3 7.7
Operating Lease Obligations /(2)/ 15 .0 117 7.8 5.0 3.0 9.8 52.3
Unconditional Purchase Obligations /(3)/ 15 2 141 3.6 0.7 0.5 0.5 34.6
Other Long-Term Obligations /(4)/ 7 0 21 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 9.5
Total Contractual Obligations $45 3 $381 $199 $119 $59 $ 29.6 $150.7

/(1)/ Payments for long-term debt obligations egelulebt subject to compromise.

/(2)/ Capital and operating lease obligations idelthe minimum lease payments due under existagglagreements with noncancelable |
terms in excess of one year. AWI has issued firsdmgiarantees to assure payment on behalf of ASMbsidiaries in the event of default on
various debt and lease obligations in the table@ab&HI and AWI have not issued any guaranteesedrali of joint-venture or unrelated
businesses.

/(3)/ Unconditional purchase obligations includeghase contracts whereby AHI must make guaranteednmm payments of a specified
amount regardless of how little material is actuplirchased ("take or pay" contracts) and servigeaanents. Included in this amount are
payments that were required to be paid under alp@gpeement to the purchaser of Armstrong's foratdiesive business that was diveste
2000. Subsequently, in February 2003, a settlemgminciple was reached which, among other thimfjminated the minimum purchase
requirements that are included in the table abovihe amounts of $3.0 million in 2003 and 2004, &hd million in 2005. See "Other
Divestitures" section for further discussion.

/(4)/ Other long-term obligations include paymeutsler employee service and severance agreementdlas retainer payments to advisors
within the Chapter 11 Case.
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As of December 31, 2002, Armstrong maintained agesgs with the lending institutions of two of itstibutors. Under these agreements, if
a distributor were to default on its borrowings dinel lender foreclosed on the assets, the bankl ¢eturn a large part of any Armstrong
product still at the distributor (subject to centguality and roll size minimums) for a refund oiginal cost. The last agreement will expire in
February 2004. At December 31, 2002, the amouimveintory held at these distributors was less $&0 million. No claim has been made
under any of these agreements and AHI does natipaiti2 any such claims in the future. As such,atullty has been recorded for these
agreements.

Armstrong is party to supply agreements, some a€fwvkequire the purchase of inventory remaininthatsupplier upon termination of the
agreement. The last such agreement will expire cioli2r 31, 2005. Had these agreements terminat@dcagmber 31, 2002, Armstrong
would have been obligated to purchase approxim&@ly million of inventory. Historically, due toguiuction planning, Armstrong has not
had to purchase material amounts of product a¢mideof similar contracts. Accordingly, Armstrongshacorded no liability for these
guarantees.

As part of its executive compensation plan, AHEoffcertain executives the ability to participate isplit-dollar insurance program where
AHI is responsible for remitting the premiums. Adecember 31, 2002, AHI carried a cash surrendkrevasset of $5.3 million related to
this program. Should AHI discontinue making premipayments, the insured executives have the rigthtet@ntire policy cash surrender
value. In light of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, AHI ently believes it would be inappropriate to make phemium payments for four of the
executives participating in this plan. As a reso#iginning in 2003, AHI requires these four indisads to make the premium payments if they
wish to continue the policy.

AHI utilizes other commercial commitments in orde@rensure that adequate funds are available to opegating requirements. Letters of
credit are issued to third party suppliers, insoeaaind financial institutions and can only be drayon in the event of AHI's failure to pay its
obligations to the beneficiary. This table summesithe commitments AHI has available for use arsddudstanding. Standby letters of credit
are currently arranged through AWI's DIP FacilitghwdP Morgan Chase. Certain standby letters aficegranged with Wachovia prior to t
Filing have been renewed at their scheduled expiratate.

Total Les s
Other Commercial Amounts Than 1 1-3 4-5 Over 5
Commitments Committed Yea r Years Years Years
Standby Letter of Credit $59.6 $59. 0 $0.6 - -

In addition, AHI has lines of credit totaling $5Iniillion, of which $5.9 million was used at DecemBé&, 2002 and $45.2 million was
available to ensure funds are available to meetadipg requirements. Subsequent to December 32, 2id@s of credit for the Building
Products segment totaling $0.7 million were witheanaby the lender.

In disposing of assets through mid 2000, AWI antessubsidiaries had entered into contracts thatded various indemnity provisions,
covering such matters as taxes, environmentalitigliand asbestos and other litigation. Somée$é contracts had exposure limits, but
many did not. Due to the nature of the indemnitileste is no way to estimate the potential maxinexmposure under these contracts. As a
debtor-in-possession, for those contracts thasttexecutory where AWI was the sole guarantdylfanticipates rejecting those contracts
effective the date of Filing. Parties having claimmsler those contracts could have filed claims\kl’A Chapter 11 Case, which will be dealt
with as part of the Case. AWI cannot estimate tdaesof any potential claims that will ultimatelg bllowed by the Court. See ltem 1
regarding Proceedings under Chapter 11.

Subsidiaries that are not part of the Chapter lihg-also entered into certain contracts that idetlivarious indemnity provisions similar to
those described above. Since these subsidiariesapart of
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the Chapter 11 filing, these contracts continulegian effect. Some of these contracts had expdsnits, but many did not. Due to the nature
of the indemnities, there is no way to estimatepbintial maximum exposure under all these cotgr&®r contracts under which an
indemnity claim has been received, a liability @f4million has been recorded as of December 312 2Bee Item 3 regarding Litigation for
additional information.

In September 1999, Armstrong sold its Textiles Botsl operations. As part of the divestiture agregmrmstrong transferred certain
liabilities and assets to the purchaser to covasipa payments earned by the workforce as of tleedsde. Armstrong also will reimburse the
purchaser for such pension payments that are mered by the pension assets. In addition, Armstadag agreed to reimburse the purchaser
for the tax impact of Armstrong's reimbursementhaf pension payments. This agreement has no teiiorirdate. As of December 31, 2002,
Armstrong maintained a $1.2 million liability fdnis guarantee and the maximum payments could b®sipmately $2.6 million, excluding

any amounts paid for tax reimbursement.

See Notes 4 and 24 to the Consolidated Financat®ents for a discussion of the ESOP loan guaante

RELATED PARTIES

Armstrong sold 65% of its ownership in its gasketducts subsidiary, (now known as Interface Sohsgjdnc. or "ISI") on June 30, 1999.
Armstrong still retains 35% ownership of this besia as of December 31, 2002. As part of the diuestiArmstrong agreed to continue to
purchase a portion of the felt products used imthaufacturing of resilient flooring from ISI fonanitial term of eight years. Currently,
Armstrong is required to purchase at least 75%sdeit requirements from ISI. The sale agreeméstt stipulated quarterly felt price
adjustments that are based upon changing marletspior the felt. In October 2002, the agreemerst amaended to include a cap on increi
for 2003 and 2004. Armstrong can purchase felt petgifrom another supplier if ISI's prices are mban 10% higher than another supplier's
prices. Armstrong and ISI| are required to coopedrafroduct reformulation and new product developtmbut Armstrong is free to seek
alternatives to felt products. Additionally, Armmtig receives nominal monthly payments from ISidome logistics and administrative
services. IS| had filed a proof of claim in Armstgis Chapter 11 Case requesting payment for Armgs@repetition obligations. This mal
was settled in November 2002 with Armstrong recg\vé net payment of $0.2 million, with the BankaypCourt's approval.

See "Other Divestitures" for a discussion of Arrosg’s relationship with Ardex.

Armstrong purchases some grid products from WAWES0%-owned joint venture with Worthington Indiesr The total amount of these
purchases was approximately $41 million, $38 millamd $41 million for the years ended DecembefB02, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Armstrong also provides certain selling and adnhiafare processing services to WAVE for which ite&ves reimbursement. Additionally,
WAVE leases certain land and buildings from Armsgo

As discussed in Item 13, AHI did not have any mateelated party transactions with any of its adesdirectors.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial AcanmStandards ("SFAS") No. 143,
"Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations," wihiestablishes the accounting for an obligation @ased with the retirement of tangible
long-lived assets. The standard is effective feedl years beginning after June 15, 2002. While &Hinhalizing its review of this standard,
adoption of this standard is not expected to havegerial impact on AHI's consolidated results pé@tions or financial condition.
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In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Actingrior Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal iittes," which addresses account
for restructuring and similar costs. The standarefffective for activities initiated after Deceml2dr, 2002. The standard requires that the
liability for costs associated with an exit or displ activity be recognized when the liabilitynisurred and not at project initiation. The
standard also establishes that the liability shdwldecorded at fair value. The adoption of tremgard is not expected to have a material
impact on AHI's consolidated results of operationfinancial condition.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation 4 "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Resqngnts for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others."di$ilosure requirements of the standard were ffie®ecember 31, 2002. The disclosure
requirements have been adopted and are includbésiannual 10-K report. The recognition and ihitieeasurement provisions are effective
for guarantees entered into or modified after Ddmem31, 2002. While AHI is finalizing its review dfis standard, adoption of this standard
is not anticipated to have a material impact on'Aldbnsolidated results of operations or finanoadition.

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Foteased Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue with Multiple Bartables." This pronouncement,
effective for revenue arrangements entered intr dfine 30, 2003, defines multiple deliverablesdastribes when revenue should be
recognized. While AHlI is finalizing its review die& standard, adoption of this standard is not ipatied to have a material impact on AHI's
consolidated results of operations or financialditbon.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement Nqg."B&®ounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Trimisiand Disclosure” which
amended FASB Statement No. 123 "Accounting for IS®ased Compensation.” AHI adopted the disclosegeirements in this Form 10-K.
Since AHI currently does not plan to adopt the Yailue method of accounting of Statement No. 123l @nticipates no material impact on
consolidated results of operations or financialditton in 2003.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation46p."Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitieghich addresses consolidation by
businesses of variable interest entities. AHI duasanticipate any impact from this interpretation.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure Alut Market Risk

Market Risk

Armstrong is exposed to market risk from changdsiieign currency exchange rates, interest ratdscammodity prices that could impact
results of operations and financial condition. Amrasg uses financial instruments, including fixed aariable rate debt, as well as swap,
forward and option contracts to finance its operatiand to hedge interest rate, currency and corityredosures. Armstrong regularly
monitors developments in the capital markets arg @mters into currency and swap transactions estiablished counterparties having
investment-grade ratings. Exposure to individuairterparties is controlled, and thus Armstrong @ars the risk of counterparty default to
be negligible. Swap, forward and option contractsemtered into for periods consistent with undegyexposure and do not constitute
positions independent of those exposures. Armstusieg derivative financial instruments as risk ngangent tools and not for speculative
trading purposes. In addition, derivative finanamstruments are entered into with a diversifieougr of major financial institutions and
energy companies in order to manage Armstrong'sKp to nonperformance on such instruments.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Due to AWI's Chapter 11 Filing, all affected debstbeen classified as liabilities subject to commse. All such debt will be addressed in
Chapter 11 Case and during the pendency thereof,ddas not expect to pay any principal, interesttber payments in respect thereof
unless approved by the Bankruptcy Court. Howevétl &lso has debt of entities that were not a pbtthe Chapter 11 filing, which are being
paid on schedule. The table below provides infolmmadbout Armstrong's lontgrm debt obligations as of December 31, 2002,exckmbe
31, 2001, including cash flows and related weiglaedrage interest rates by scheduled maturity deétegghted-average variable rates are
based on implied forward rates in the yield curvtha reporting date. The information is presemed.S. dollar equivalents, which is
Armstrong's reporting currency. The amounts belefiect only post-petition debt and debt of entitieat are not a part of the Chapter 11
Filing.

After
Scheduled maturity date 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Total
(% millions) el
As of December 31, 2002
Long-term debt:
Fixed rate $ 62 $ 71 $62 $46 $14 $ 80 $ 335
Avg. interest rate 6.34% 6.57% 6.45% 6.41% 7.17% 6.74% 6.54%
Variable rate $ 05 % 05 $05 $05 $02 $109 $ 131
Avg. interest rate 3.01% 277%  2.77% 2.77% 1.25%  1.80% 1.95%
After
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Total
As of December 31, 2001
Long-term debt:
Fixed rate $ 61 $ 12 $30 $11 $156 $194 $ 464
Avg. interest rate 6.12% 526% 6.34% 7.50% 6.04% 5.37% 5.80%
Variable rate - - - -- - $10.0 $ 10.0
Avg. interest rate - - - - - 2.20% 2.20%
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Exchange Rate Sensitivity

Armstrong manufactures and sells its productsnnraber of countries throughout the world and, essalt, is exposed to movements in
foreign currency exchange rates. To a large exéemstrong's global manufacturing and sales proeidatural hedge of foreign currency
exchange rate movement, as foreign currency expayeseerally offset foreign currency revenues. At&eber 31, 2002, Armstrong's major
foreign currency exposures are to the Canadiamgdlie Euro and the British pound.

Armstrong has used foreign currency forward exckasntracts to reduce its exposure to the riskttteeventual net cash inflows and
outflows, resulting from the sale of product toefign customers and purchases from foreign suppliglishe adversely affected by change:
exchange rates. These derivative instruments a&at fas firmly committed or forecasted transactiofisese transactions allow Armstrong to
further reduce its overall exposure to exchangemadvements, since the gains and losses on thasaas offset losses and gains on the
transactions being hedged.

Armstrong also has used foreign currency forwarcharge contracts to hedge exposures created ksrcuno®ncy inter-company loans.

The table below details Armstrong's outstandingenay instruments as of December 31, 2002 and 28I0the instruments outstanding as
December 31, 2002 have scheduled maturity befdesdeefore December 31, 2003.

Notional Amount (millions): December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

Forward contracts $2 77.5 $189.9
Fair Value (millions):

Forward contracts - Asset/(Liability) $ (4.6) $ 1.7

Commodity Price Sensitivity

Armstrong purchases natural gas for use in the faature of ceiling tiles and other products, ashaslto heat many of its facilities. As a
result, Armstrong is exposed to movements in tieepf natural gas. Armstrong has a policy of miming natural gas cost volatility through
derivative instruments, including swap contractschased call options, and zero-cash collars. abie thelow provides information about
Armstrong's natural gas contracts as of Decembge2@12 and 2001 that are sensitive to changesnmuality prices. Notional amounts and
price ranges are in millions of Btu's (MMBtu).

Maturing in:
On balance sheet commodity related derivatives 2003 2004 Total
As of December 31, 2002
Contract amounts (MMBtu) 5,250,000 1,840,000 7,090,000
Contract price range ($/MMBtu) $2.83-$4.95 $3.68-$5.00 $2 .83 - $5.00
Assets at fair value (millions) $3.3 $0.6 $3.9
Maturing in:
2002 2003 Total
As of December 31, 2001
Contract amounts (MMBtu) 5,500,000 1,740,000 7,240,000
Contract price range ($/MMBtu) $3.54-$4.40 $2.89-$4.23 $2 .89 - $4.40
(Liabilities) at fair value (millions) $(4.8) $(0.4) $(5.2)
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

ARMSTRONG HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

The following consolidated financial statementsfdes as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2@02 2001

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the Yeade® December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' EquitthfolYears Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Reserves

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

The following consolidated financial statementsfdes as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2602 2001

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the Yeadel December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Shareholder's EquitthfolYears Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Reserves
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ARMSTRONG HOLDINGS, INC.

(millions except for per share data) First Second Third Fourth Total year
2002 Net sales $ 7480 $825.7 $8465 $ 752.1 $ 3,172.3
Gross profit 194.2 207.6 205.6 160.4 767.8

Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before cumulative effect

of a change in accounting principle 21.9 27.7 29.4 (1,628.0) (1,549.0)
Per share of common stock:
Basic 0.54 0.68 0.73 (40.20) (38.25)
Diluted 0.54 0.68 0.72 (40.20) (38.25)
Net earnings (loss) (571.9) 27.7 29.4 (1,628.0) (2,142.8)
Per share of common stock:
Basic (14.12) 0.68 0.73 (40.20) (52.91)
Diluted (14.12) 0.68 0.72 (40.20) (52.91)
Price range of common stock--high 4.10 3.82 1.98 1.85 4.10
Price range of common stock--low 2.70 1.79 1.28 0.24 0.24
2001 Net sales $ 780.3 $814.7 $8054 $ 7383 $ 3,138.7
Gross profit 1975 220.2 199.2 157.1 774.0
Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations 25.2 34.5 14.3 (0.8) 73.2
Per share of common stock:
Basic 0.62 0.85 0.35 (0.02) 181
Diluted 0.62 0.84 0.35 (0.02) 1.79
Net earnings (loss) 20.3 32.1 41.2 (0.8) 92.8
Per share of common stock:
Basic 0.50 0.79 1.02 (0.02) 2.29
Diluted 0.50 0.78 1.01 (0.02) 2.27
Price range of common stock--high 5.69 4.05 3.74 3.80 5.69
Price range of common stock--low 2.06 3.20 2.20 2.34 2.06

There were no dividends paid in 2002 or 2001. THe Excility stipulates that AWI will not declare pay any dividends either directly or
indirectly.

Note: The net sales and gross profit amounts reg@ove are reported on a continuing operatiosis ad may differ from previous
reported amounts due to reclassifications to comfaith current presentation. The sum of the quiresairnings per share data does not equal
the total year amounts due to changes in the ageslagres outstanding and, for diluted data, thiision of the antidilutive effect in certain
quarters.

Fourth Quarter 2002 Compared With Fourth Quart&12Qet sales of $752.1 million in the fourth quad€&2002 increased from net sales of
$738.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2001, acnease of 1.9%. Excluding the effect of foreignrexmge, net sales decreased 0.4%. Resilien
Flooring net sales decreased 3.2% due to the sféé@mendments to distribution agreements desthbbéow, partially offset by increased

net sales in laminate due to volume and product Wizod Flooring net sales increased by 12.4% dwséoall increases in volume and pri
Textiles and Sports Flooring increased 4.0%, batughng the effect of foreign exchange, decreas@édue to lower sales volume and
pricing. Building Products net sales increased By@due to favorable effects of foreign exchangtianreased volume. Cabinets decreased
by 14.0% due to lower sales volume. Net sales @s&é 0.9% and 7.2% in the Americas and Europegcésply, with
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the Pacific area remaining constant. Excludingatfiect of foreign exchange, Europe net sales deeck&.6%.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, AHI amendedaiggeements with its independent U.S. distributelated to sales of certain products to
major home center retailers in the Resilient Flogand Building Products segments. Sales are redardder these agreements when the
products are shipped from the distributor's locatmthese retailers. Approximately $20.8 millidrevenue and $8.3 million of operating

income will be recorded in subsequent periods 6820r products shipped to these distributors dytire fourth quarter of 2002.

For the fourth quarter of 2002 and 2001, the cbgbods sold was 78.7% of sales. During the fogtthrter of 2002, a charge of $9.3 million
was recorded relating to fixed asset impairmentgdmand inventory adjustments. Cost of saleshifdurth quarter of 2002 also included a
$2.4 million decreased U.S. pension credit. Duthrggfourth quarter of 2001, a charge of $5.5 millweas recorded to revise management's

best estimate for the accrual of workers compemsatiaims.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) experfeeshe fourth quarter of 2002 were $150.0 millescompared to $146.6 million for the
fourth quarter of 2001. The increase is primarig do a $2.0 million decreased U.S. pension cr2dl included $2.8 million of income
from the reversal of previously-accrued potentraf@rence claims that have been resolved, as &2 million of environmental and
building demolition expenses at one manufacturaaiity.

The fourth quarter of 2002 included a non-cash stekecharge of $2.5 billion to increase its estévadtprobable asbestoslated liability. Se
Note 32 of the Consolidated Financial Stateme

In accordance with FAS 142, which was effectiveudam 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer amortized. Asls 2002 includes no goodwill
amortization, which compares to $5.7 million of dadll amortization in 2001.

An operating loss from continuing operations of4®&5,.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 comphte operating income of $1.8 million
the fourth quarter of 2001. Operating income piicthe asbestos charge in the fourth quarter o2 2@@s $14.2 million. Operating income
prior to goodwill amortization in the fourth quartef 2001 was $7.5 million. The increase priortie isbestos charge and goodwill
amortization is primarily the result of the $6.0Inh restructuring charge in the fourth quarte2601, a change in vacation policy in 2002
resulting in a $2.9 million benefit within the Woétboring and Cabinets segments, increased net aattimproved operating performanc
Wood Flooring, partially offset by increases in S&&s discussed above.

Other non-operating expense in the fourth quaft@062 of $5.8 million compared to $3.1 million2001. The increase was due to a $5.3
million charge related to an environmental expdnsa divested business, offset by lower foreigrrency transaction gains.

The effective tax rate benefit for the fourth qeaxf 2002 was 34.8% compared to a tax benefitab8.7% for the same period of 2001.
The rate for 2002 reflects the impact of an aslsesttated charge. The rate for 2001 was aided Ipyawing foreign tax credit utilization.

Net loss of $1,628.0 million in the fourth quartér2002 compared to net loss of $0.8 million in therth quarter of 200

60



Part 1 - Financial Information
Item 1 - Financial Statements

Armstrong Holdings, Inc., and Subsidiaries Consakd Statements of Earnings

(amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold 2,404.5 2,3 64.7 2,386.2
Gross profit 767.8 7 74.0 862.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses 624.9 5 96.6 595.3
Charge for asbestos liability, net 2,500.0 22.0 236.0
Restructuring and reorganization charges, net 1.9 9.0 18.8
Goodwill amortization - 22.8 23.9
Equity (earnings) from affiliates, net (21.7) ( 16.5) (18.0)
Operating income (loss) (2,337.3) 1 40.1 6.7
Interest expense (unrecorded contractual interest
of $99.2, $99.7, and $7.0) 13.8 131 102.9
Other non-operating expense 8.2 11.8 3.7
Other non-operating income (6.0) ( 13.0) (80.4)
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net 235 12.5 103.3
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before i ncome taxes and
cumulative effect of a change in accounting prin ciple (2,376.8) 1 15.7 (122.8)
Income tax expense (benefit) (827.8) 425 (37.7)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before ¢ umulative
effect of a change in accounting principle (1,549.0) 73.2 (85.1)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting princip le, net of tax of $2.2 (593.8) - -
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations $(2,142.8) $ 732 $ (85.1)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax of $3.9 - - 6.3
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax of $0.0 and $39.2 - 1.1) 114.8
Net loss on expected disposal of discontinued opera tions,
net of tax of $0.0 and $10.7 - (3.3) (23.8)
Net reversal of income on discontinued operations n o longer to be
disposed of, net of tax of $10.7 - 24.0 -
Earnings from discontinued operations - 19.6 97.3
Net earnings (loss) $(2,142.8) $ 928 $ 122
Earnings (loss) per share of common stock, continui ng operations before
cumulative effect of a change in accounting prin ciple:
Basic $ (38.25) $ 181 $ (2.12)
Diluted $ (38.25) $ 179 $ (2.12)
Loss per share of common stock, cumulative effect o f a change in accounting
principle:
Basic $ (14.66) $ -8 -
Diluted $ (14.66) $ - 8 -
Earnings per share of common stock, discontinued op erations:
Basic $ - 3 048 $ 242
Diluted $ - 8 048 $ 2.40
Net earnings (loss) per share of common stock:
Basic $ (52.91) $ 229 $ 0.30
Diluted $ (52.91) $ 227 $ 0.30
Average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic 40.5 40.5 40.2
Diluted 40.7 40.8 40.5

Years Ended
2002 20

$3,1723 $3,1

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#tisients beginning on page 65.
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Armstrong Holdings, Inc., and Subsidiaries Consikd Balance Sheets

(amounts in millions except share data)

Assets December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 380.0 $ 2774
Accounts and notes receivable, net 332.4 323.3
Inventories, net 443.4 436.3
Deferred income taxes 14.7 11.5
Other current assets 85.4 64.1
Total current assets 1,255.9 1,112.6
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated dep reciation and
amortization of $1,263.8 and $1,143.3, respecti vely 1,303.7 1,278.6
Insurance receivable for asbestos-related liabiliti es, non-current 174.1 192.1
Prepaid pension costs 435.2 392.9
Investment in affiliates 43.9 39.6
Goodwill, net 227.6 822.8
Other intangibles, net 87.9 94.1
Deferred income tax assets, non-current 869.7 -
Other noncurrent assets 106.8 105.4
Total assets $ 4,504.8 $4,038.1

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $ 123 $ 189
Current installments of long-term debt 6.7 6.1
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 359.3 306.7
Income taxes 26.0 40.8
Total current liabilities 404.3 3725
Liabilities subject to compromise 4,861.1 2,357.6
Long-term debt, less current installments 39.9 50.3
Postretirement and postemployment benefit liabiliti es 255.1 244.4
Pension benefit liabilities 185.9 148.9
Other long-term liabilities 75.0 76.8
Deferred income taxes 20.7 18.4
Minority interest in subsidiaries 9.5 8.8
Total noncurrent liabilities 5,447.2 2,905.2

Shareholders' equity (deficit):
Common stock, $1 par value per share

Authorized 200 million shares; issued 51,878 ,910 shares 51.9 51.9
Capital in excess of par value 167.6 166.8
Reduction for ESOP loan guarantee (142.2) (142.2)
Retained earnings (deficit) (898.5) 1,244.3
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (12.2) (47.1)
Less common stock in treasury, at cost

2002 - 11,201,326 shares; 2001 - 11,176,617 shares (513.3) (513.3)

Total shareholders' equity (deficit) (1,346.7) 760.4
Total liabilities and shareholders' equi ty $ 4,504.8 $4,038.1

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#tisients beginning on page 65.
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Armstrong Holdings, Inc., and Subsidiaries Consukd Statements of Shareholders' Equity

(amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

2002 2001 2000

Common stock, $1 par value:
Balance at beginning and end of year $ 519 $ 51 .9 $ 519
Capital in excess of par value:
Balance at beginning of year $ 166.8 $ 162 2 $ 176.4
Stock issuances and other 0.8 4 .6 (8.9)
Contribution of treasury stock to ESOP - - (5.3)
Balance at end of year $ 167.6 $ 166 .8 $ 162.2
Reduction for ESOP loan guarantee:
Balance at beginning of year $ (142.2) $ (142 .2) $(190.3)
Principal paid - - 13.2
Loans to ESOP - - (7.3)
Interest on loans to ESOP - - (1.1)
Contribution of treasury stock to ESOP - - (4.1)
Impairment of loans to ESOP - - 43.3
Accrued compensation - - 4.1
Balance at end of year $ (142.2) $ (142 .2) $(142.2)
Retained earnings (deficit):
Balance at beginning of year $1,244.3 $1,151 5 $1,196.2
Net earnings (loss) for year (2,142.8) $(2,142.8) 92 .8 $92.8 12.2 $12.2
Tax benefit on dividends paid on unallocated ESOP ¢ ommon shares - - 1.2

Total $ (898.5) $1,244 3 $1,209.6
Less common stock dividends (per share $1.44 in 200 0) - - 58.1
Balance at end of year $ (898.5) $1,244 .3 $1,151.5

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Balance at beginning of year $ (47.1) $ (45 .2) $ (16.5)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 37.7 3 .3) (17.2)
Derivative gain (loss), net 6.9 3 .3) -

Realized loss on available for sale securities - 2 .0 -
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities - (2.0)
Minimum pension liability adjustments 9.7) 2 7 (9.5)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 34.9 34.9 @ .9) (1.9) (28.7) (28.7)

Balance at end of year $ (12.2) $ (47 1) $ (45.2)

Comprehensive income (loss) $(2,107.9) $90.9 $(16.5)

Balance at beginning of year $ 513.3 $ 513 1 $ 538.5
Stock purchases - 0 3 1.6
Stock issuance activity, net - © 1) (17.6)
Contribution of treasury stock to ESOP - - (9.4)
Balance at end of year $ 513.3 $ 513 .3 $ 513.1
Total shareholders' equity (deficit) $(1,346.7) $ 760 4 $ 665.1

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana#tsients beginning on page 65.
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Armstrong Holdings, Inc., and Subsidiaries Consuikd Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss)/earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to n

provided by operating activities:

Cumulative effect of change in accounting princi
Depreciation and amortization, continuing operat
Depreciation and amortization, discontinued oper
Loss (gain) on sale of businesses, net
Reversal of loss on expected disposal of discont
Deferred income taxes
Equity (earnings) from affiliates, net
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net
Chapter 11 reorganization costs payments
Restructuring and reorganization charges, net of
Restructuring and reorganization payments
Recoveries (payments) for asbestos-related claim
Charge for asbestos liability, net

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of
reorganizations, restructuring, acquisitions and
Decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
(Increase) in other noncurrent assets
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and accr
Increase in income taxes payable
Increase/(decrease) in other long-term liabiliti
Other, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and co
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, disco
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Distributions from equity affiliates
Proceeds from the sale of businesses
Proceeds from the sale of assets

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase/(decrease) in short-term debt, net
Issuance of long-term debt
Payments of long-term debt
Cash dividends paid
Purchase of common stock for the treasury, net
Other, net

Net cash used for financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash eq

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

et cash
ple, net
ions
ations

inued business

reversals
s, net

effects of
dispositions

ued expenses

es

mputer software
ntinued operations

uivalents

(amounts in millions)

Years Ende
2002

$(2,142.8) $

593.8
136.7

(125.1)

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana#tsients beginning on page 65.
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2001 2000
928 $ 12.2
156.8 164.4

- 41

0.9 (183.9)
(31.4) -
23.7 (35.7)
(16.5) (18.0)
125 103.3
(15.0) (2.6)

9.0 188
(14.1) (7.9)
322 (199.2)
22.0 236.0
458 37.2
(50.7) 13.8
256 (12.6)

(71.0) (41.6)
15.0  (80.1)
101 25.9

3.0 (23.5)
214 17.2
2721 278

(127.8) (159.1)
- (3.0
(5.6) (6.5)
135 12.7
- 3299
60 5.3

(113.9) 179.3

(15.8) 16.0
- 34
(17.6) (36.3)

(2.00 @37

118.3 $ 1325
159.1 26.6




Armstrong Holdings Inc., and Subsidiaries Note€tmsolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1. BUSINESS AND CHAPTER 11 REORGANIZATION

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. ("AWI") is a Peryhgania corporation incorporated in 1891, whichdtiger with its subsidiaries is referred
to here as "Armstrong". Through its U.S. operatiand U.S. and international subsidiaries, Armstrdesjgns, manufactures and sells
flooring products (resilient, wood, carpeting apass flooring) as well as ceiling systems, arothrelworld. Armstrong products are sold
primarily for use in the finishing, refurbishinganrepair of residential, commercial and institutibbuildings. Armstrong also designs,
manufactures and sells kitchen and bathroom cabinetingle and multi family homebuilders and reeleds.

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. (which together with itsbsidiaries is referred to here as "AHI") is thdlly held parent holding company of
Armstrong. Armstrong Holdings, Inc. became the pacempany of Armstrong on May 1, 2000, followingVAshareholder approval of a
plan of exchange under which each share of AWIlawematically exchanged for one share of Armstidotglings, Inc. Armstrong
Holdings, Inc. was formed for purposes of the slexehange and holds no other significant assetp@rations apart from AWI and AWI's
subsidiaries. Stock certificates that formerly esgnted shares of AWI were automatically convarttxcertificates representing the same
number of shares of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. Thbligly held debt of AWI was not affected in therigaction.

Proceedings under Chapter 11

On December 6, 2000, AWI, the major operating siiasy of AHI, filed a voluntary petition for religthe "Filing") under Chapter 11 of the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") in tthated States Bankruptcy Court for the Districelaware (the "Court") in order to
use the court-supervised reorganization proceashi@ve a resolution of its asbestos liability.cM8ing under Chapter 11 were two of
Armstrong's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Nitram Lidaiors, Inc. ("Nitram") and Desseaux CorporatioMNofth America, Inc. ("Desseaux,"
and together with AWI and Nitram, the "Debtors"helChapter 11 cases are being jointly administenelér case numbers 00-4469,D0¢0,
and 00-4471 (the "Chapter 11 Case").

AWI is operating its business and managing its pri@s as a debtor-in-possession subject to thagioas of the Bankruptcy Code. Pursuant
to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, AWI i permitted to pay any claims or obligations whigbse prior to the Filing date
(prepetition claims) unless specifically authorizgdthe Court. Similarly, claimants may not enfoars claims against AWI that arose prior
to the date of the Filing unless specifically auihed by the Court. In addition, as a debtor-ingassion, AWI has the right, subject to the
Court's approval, to assume or reject any execwomyracts and unexpired leases in existence atateeof the Filing. Parties having claims
as a result of any such rejection may file clainithwhe Court, which will be dealt with as parttbé Chapter 11 Case.

Three creditors' committees, one representing sbpsrsonal injury claimants (the "Asbestos Peakhmjury Claimants' Committee™), one
representing asbestos property damage claimart§Adbestos Property Damage Committee"), and theraepresenting other unsecured
creditors (the "Unsecured Creditors' Committee8yénbeen appointed in the Chapter 11 Case. Iniaddin individual has been appointe
represent the interests of future asbestos perggogy} claimants (the "Future Claimants' Repreagwme”). In accordance with the provisions
of the Bankruptcy Code, these parties have the tighe heard on matters that come before the Qotine Chapter 11 Case.

Plan of Reorganization

On November 4, 2002, AWI filed a Plan of Reorgaticrawith the Court and on March 14, 2003, AWI filés First Amended Plan of
Reorganization and selected exhibits (as so ameitdedeferred to in this report as the "POR"ZeTPOR has been endorsed by AHI's Board
of Directors and is supported by the Asbestos Patdojury Claimants' Committee, the Unsecured G@oest Committee and the Future
Claimants' Representative. At present, AWI hasysbreached agreement with the Asbestos ProperntyaDda Committee with respect to the
terms and provisions of the POR. The POR providesainong other things, the treatment and dischairgél prepetition claims, including ¢
asbestos-related claims.
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The POR excludes Armstrong's Nitram and Desseabsidiaries. Implementation of the POR and the tneat of claims and interests as
provided therein is subject to confirmation of @R in accordance with the provisions of the BaptayiCode. Therefore, the timing and
terms of resolution of the Chapter 11 Case remagerain.

Disclosure Statement

On December 20, 2002, a proposed disclosure statesith respect to the POR was filed with the CoOGm December 26, 2002, AWI filed
projected financial information with the Court aghiibit C to the disclosure statement. On March2D03, AWI filed an amended Disclosure
Statement with the Court (as so amended, it isneddo in this report as the "Disclosure Staterf)eRrior to soliciting acceptances to the
POR, the Court must approve a disclosure statetodrd included as part of the solicitation materatd find that the disclosure statement
contains adequate information to enable those gatimthe POR to make an informed judgment to acmemject the POR.

As indicated in the Disclosure Statement and itghets, the projected financial information andivas estimates of value therein discussed
should not be regarded as representations or wgsary AWI, AHI or any other person as to the aacy of such information or that any
such projection or valuation will be realized. Tihtormation in the Disclosure Statement, includihg projected financial information and
estimates of value, has been prepared by AWI arfth&incial advisors. This information has not baadited or reviewed by independent
accountants. The significant assumptions useddaparation of the information and estimates of valteincluded in Exhibit C to the
Disclosure Statement. The Bankruptcy Court hasdidbd the hearing to consider approval of the Dsate Statement for April 4, 2003.

The discussions of the POR and Disclosure Statemehis report are qualified by reference to thk text of those documents as filed with
the Court and filed for reference purposes withSkeurities and Exchange Commission. The POR ascld3ure Statement are available at
www.armstrongplan.com, where additional informatialt be posted as it becomes available.

Objections to the Disclosure Statement

During February 2003, several parties involvechin €hapter 11 Case filed objections to the indi@kclosure Statement with the Court.
Objections were filed by, among others, Liberty Maltinsurance Company, the Center for Claims RésoluTravelers Indemnity Company
and Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, WeligdBank Minnesota, N.A., as Indenture Trustee,thedJnofficial Committee of Sele
Asbestos Claimants. Additional objections may bedfagainst the amended Disclosure Statement. dhet Geard and addressed many of
these objections at the February 28, 2003 heafing remaining objections are expected to be addrkasthe April 4, 2003 hearing.

Asbestos Personal Injury Trust

A principal feature of the POR is the creation ¢fiest (the "Asbestos Pl Trust"), pursuant to sec&24(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, to which
all present and future asbestos-related persopeyiolaims, including contribution claims of cofdadants, will be channeled. In accordance
with the "524(g) injunction” to be issued by theuftdn connection with the confirmation of the PORyrious entities will be protected from
suit on account of present and future asbestoterefzersonal injury claims. These entities incluapng others, AWI, reorganized AWI,
AHI, AWI's affiliates, and their respective officeand directors. Claims resolution procedures totitiged by the Asbestos Pl Trust have
been developed. These procedures will govern tbevahce and payment by the Asbestos Pl Trust gfralent and future asbestos-related
personal injury claims. The Asbestos PI Trust idlfunded with AWI's rights to insurance providicmyerage for asbestos-related personal
injury claims, as well as a share of cash, noted,cemmon stock to be issued under the POR totoredas described below.
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Consideration to Be Distributed under the POR (ditad) The Asbestos Pl Trust and the holders oéam®d claims will share in the POR
consideration that is made up of the following comgnts:

. Available Cash, which is comprised of:

. Cash available on the effective date of the P@& eeserving up to $100 million to fund ongoingeoations and making provisions for
certain required payments under the POR,

. Any cash drawn, at AWI's sole discretion, undeeait finance facility for the purpose of fundidgstributions under the POR, and

. Certain insurance proceeds related to environahematters

. Plan Notes of reorganized AWI with a term of SL@byears and/or net proceeds from any privateioffe of debt securities, and

. Substantially all of the outstanding common stotkeorganized AWI

The total amount of Plan Notes will be the greafg(i) $1.125 billion less Available Cash and @i 75 million. However, AWI will use
reasonable efforts to issue one or more privagrioffs of debt securities on, or as soon as peditcafter, the Effective Date that would y
net proceeds at least equal to the amount of tne IRbtes prescribed by the Plan. If the privateraifys are successful, the Plan Notes would
not be issued. If the offerings yield proceeds thas the amount of the Plan Notes prescribed &ytan, AWI will issue Plan Notes equal to
the difference. The private offerings, if issued| not be registered under the Securities Act @83 and may not be offered or sold in the
absent registration or an applicable exemption fregistration requirements.

The POR provides that unsecured creditors, otlzar tonvenience creditors described below, willikectheir pro rata share of:

. 34.43% of the new common stock,

. 34.43% of the first $1.05 billion of

. Up to $300 million of Available Cash and

. The principal amount of Plan Notes and/or nehgasceeds from any private debt offerings of deduturities.

. 60% of the next $50 million of Available Cash aiicduch Available Cash is less than $50 millidren 60% of Plan Notes and/or net cash
proceeds from any private debt offerings of debtigées, in an amount equal to the difference leetw$50 million and the amount of such
Available Cash, and

. 34.43% of the remaining amount of Available Casll Plan Notes and/or net cash proceeds from avgt@idebt offerings of debt
securities. The remaining amount of new commonkstAegailable Cash and Plan Notes and/or net casbegds from any private debt
offerings of debt securities, will be distributedthe Asbestos PI Trust.

Under the POR, unsecured creditors whose clainhe(dhan debt securities) are less than $10,00horelect to reduce their claims to
$10,000 will be treated as "convenience creditarg! will receive payment of 75% of their allowediol amount in cash.

Asbestos property damage claims that are stillidéspas of the effective date of the POR will barateled to a separate trust ("Asbestos PD
Trust") under the POR. If the class of asbestopguty damage claimants votes to accept the PORghestos PD Trust will be funded with
$0.5 million to $2.0 million in cash based upon thenber of disputed claims (which will be fundedlesively from the proceeds of
insurance). If the class of asbestos property darmmkgmants rejects the POR, the Court will esténihe aggregate value of asbestos property
damage claims, and the Asbestos PD Trust will bddd exclusively with rights to insurance in an amtcsufficient to provide for payment

in full of asbestos property damage claims, ufphéoaggregate amount estimated by the Court. How#Vess than 25 disputed asbestos
property damage claims remain outstanding as oéffleetive date of the POR, AWI may elect, in ibdesdiscretion, to litigate the merits of
each remaining asbestos property damage claimé#ferCourt and pay any allowed claim in full, &sh, from insurance proceeds rather
than channel the asbestos property damage claithe tdsbestos PD Trust.

67



Under the POR, the existing equity interests in AMill be cancelled. The POR provides for the pdgdmistribution, with respect to existing
equity, of warrants to purchase shares of reorgan/V| (the "Warrants"). The terms of the Warrantauld all be measured from the
effective date of the POR. The Warrants:

. Would constitute 5% of the common stock of reaiged AWI on a fully diluted basis:

. Would have a 7-year exercisable term; and

. Would contain an exercise price equal to 125%efper share equity value of reorganized AWI,gased among the financial advisers for
AWI, the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' Contemitthe Unsecured Creditors' Committee, and ther&Claimants' Representative, and
which will be set forth in the Court-approved dastire statement for the POR. The Warrants are &&iiio have a value on the effective
date of the POR of approximately $40 million to $Bilion.

AHI's shareholders will have no actual vote onRI@R. If the POR is implemented, the only value thifitbe retained by AHI shareholders
the potential to receive their ratable share ofiterants if AHI's Plan of Liquidation (see discassbelow) is approved. If the shareholders
and Board of Directors of AHI do not approve AHPlan of Liquidation, AHI will not receive any Wants to distribute to its shareholders.

Consideration Value Defined by the Disclosure Stetet (unaudited) In the Disclosure Statement, asspan Effective Date of the POR of
July 1, 2003, and based on estimates of the fhievaf reorganized AWI, the total value of consatem to be distributed to the Asbestos PI
Trust, other than the asbestos product liabilisuance policies, will be approximately $2.1 bifli@nd the total value of consideration to be
distributed to holders of allowed unsecured clajaiber than convenience claims) will be approxirya$d..1 billion. Based upon the
estimated value of the POR consideration and A@étenate that unsecured claims allowed by the Gotiner than convenience claims) will
total approximately $1.65 billion, AWI estimatestiolders of allowed unsecured claims (other tavenience claims) will receive a
recovery having a value equal to approximately 86d their allowed claims. AWI's estimates of tlemsideration and potential recoveries
are based upon many assumptions, including:

. The estimated reorganization value for AWI isiEetn $2.7 billion and $3.3 billion (with a midpoiwit $3.0 billion)

. The estimated equity value of new common stodletsveen $25.60 and $34.40 per share with a mitpdi$30.00 per share (assuming a
distribution of 67.5 million shares of new commaack to holders of unsecured claims and the Aslsd3tdrust)

. The Plan Notes will be in the aggregate princgrabunt of $775 million and are worth their facéuea

. AWI expects to have Available Cash of approxirya®350 million

. The estimated value of the Warrants is betwe@rilion and $50 million

AHI's Plan of Liquidation

In connection with the consummation of the POR gkisting equity interests in AWI will be cancellexhd the common stock of reorganized
AWI will be held principally by AWI's unsecured diéors and the Asbestos Pl Trust. The POR contebepthat AHI will propose to its
shareholders that it adopt a plan for winding ug dissolving itself. The POR provides that, in arfitle AHI to receive the Warrants, the
shareholders and Board of Directors of AHI mustrape AHI's Plan of Liquidation within one year aftBe occurrence of the effective date
under the POR. If such approval is not obtaineg hibider of AWI's existing equity interest will natceive the Warrants. The POR provides
that reorganized AWI will pay any costs and expsriseurred in connection with AHI's Plan of Liquitten. More information regarding the
contemplated dissolution and winding up of AHI vii# made available to AHI shareholders in the &utur
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Structure of Reorganized AWI

As disclosed within the 2002 third quarter FormQ@ing, AWI had planned to effectuate a "divisiaimder the Pennsylvania Business
Corporation Law in connection with the consummatibthe POR. Under the planned division, reorgahix@/| was to separate into a
holding company and separate wholly-owned subsetiararrying out its major lines of business. Aftether analysis and review, the
previously contemplated division will no longer acand AWI will emerge from bankruptcy protectiomthe parent and primary operating
company.

Common Stock and Debt Securities

As a result of filing the POR on November 4, 2002, New York Stock Exchange stopped trading orEtkehange of the common stock of
AHI (traded under the ticker symbol "ACK") and twlebt securities of AWI (traded under the ticker bpis "AKK" and "ACK 08"). AHI's
common stock has resumed trading in the over-thexen (OTC) Bulletin Board under the ticker symb®CKHQ" and one of AWI's debt
securities has resumed trading under the tickebsytAKKWQ".

Bar Date for Filing Claims

The Court established August 31, 2001 as the karfdaall claims against AWI except for asbestelsted personal injury claims and certain
other specified claims. A bar date is the date hiclwclaims against AWI must be filed if the claim&wish to participate in any distribution
in the Chapter 11 Case. The Court has extendedktheate for claims from several environmental agenuntil the first quarter of 2003. On
March 1, 2002, the Court allowed certain holderalte#fged asbestos property damage claims to filass proof of claim against AWI and
extended the bar date for ashestos property daotaiges to March 20, 2002. In July 2002, the Coentidd the certification of the proposed
class and held that the plaintiffs' proof of clahall only be effective as to the named claimahtisar date for asbestastated personal inju
claims (other than claims for contribution, indefiwation, or subrogation) has not been set.

Approximately 4,600 proofs of claim (including l&fiied claims) totaling approximately $6.2 billi@ileging a right to payment from AWI
were filed with the Court in response to the Auddst2001 bar date, which are discussed below. gdkitinues to investigate claims. The
Court will ultimately determine liability amountbdt will be allowed as part of the Chapter 11 pssce

In its ongoing review of the filed claims, AWI hakentified and successfully objected to approxifyate300 claims totaling $1.6 billion.
These claims were primarily duplicate filings, oaithat were subsequently amended or claims thatarrelated to AWI. The Court
disallowed these claims with prejudice.

Approximately 1,000 proofs of claim totaling appimately $1.9 billion are pending with the Courttthae associated with asbestos-related
personal injury litigation, including direct persdninjury claims, claims by co-defendants for cdmition and indemnification, and claims
relating to AWI's participation in the Center fola@ins Resolution (the "Center”). As stated abolre,dar date of August 31, 2001 did not
apply to asbestoelated personal injury claims other than clainrscfantribution, indemnification, or subrogation.eTROR contemplates tF
all asbestos-related personal injury claims, inicigalaims for contribution, indemnification, ortsegation, will be addressed in the future
pursuant to the procedures to be developed in abionewith the POR. See further discussion regardikVvI's liability for asbestos-
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related matters in Note 32 of the Consolidated fére Statements.

Approximately 500 proofs of claim totaling approxtaly $0.8 billion alleging asbestos-related propdamage are pending with the Court.
Most of these claims were new to AWI and many vegeriemitted with insufficient documentation to asdésdr validity. As part of
determining whether AWI asbestos containing resilf®or covering products give rise to propertyrdage liability, the Court conducted an
initial hearing on September 26 - 27, 2002 to deditk type of scientific testing allowable undex Brederal Rules of Evidence to prove or
disprove whether such products cause building comi@ion. On October 22, 2002, the Court granted’AVquested relief and ruled that
the methodology offered by the Asbestos Propertm@ge Committee in support of its claims is notiargdically valid method of
guantifying the level of asbestos contaminationa uilding. On November 1, 2002, the Court dire¢ted all property damage claimants
provide, in support of their claims, substantiatibat Armstrong flooring products were used in¢k@mants' buildings. The Court's deadline
for submission of such product identification do@ntation was February 10, 2003. Prior to the Codeadline, AWI reached an agreement
in principle to settle approximately 360 propergnthage claims, which alleged damages of $0.2 bjlfienapproximately $2 million. Any
amounts to be paid are expected to be funded lyanse. This settlement is subject to the Coupfsaval, which is scheduled to be hearc
the Court on April 4, 2003. Additionally, 130 prapedamage claims have been disallowed or withdraypproximately 100 property
damage claims totaling $0.6 billion will remain asolved if the settlement is approved. Only 2éheke approximately 100 remaining
property damage claims submitted product identificeby the February 10, 2003 deadline referreahiove. AWI expects to continue
vigorously defending any asserted asbestos-refatguerty damage claims in the Court. AWI believet it has a significant amount of
existing insurance coverage available for asbestiased property damage liability, with the amoultimately available dependent upon,
among other things, the profile of the claims tinaty be allowed by the Court. AWI's history of prdgelamage litigation prior to the Chap
11 filing is described in Note 32 of the ConsolethFinancial Statements.

Approximately 1,800 claims totaling approximatell.$ billion alleging a right to payment for finangi, environmental, trade debt and other
claims are pending with the Court. For these categmf claims, AWI has previously recorded appnoiely $1.6 billion in liabilities. AWI
continues to investigate the claims to determiedr talidity.

AWI continues to evaluate claims filed in the Cleadtl Case. AWI has recorded liability amountsclaims whose value can be reasonably
estimated and which it believes are probable aidpailowed by the Court. During the fourth quadg&2002, AWI recorded a $2.5 billion
charge to increase its estimate of probable asbestated liability based on the developments e@hapter 11 Case. See Note 32 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dis@mn. At this time, it is impossible to reasonatdyimate the value of all the claims that
will ultimately be allowed by the Court. Howeverid likely the value of the claims ultimately alted by the Court will be different than
amounts presently recorded by AWI and could be rizdt® AWI's financial position and the resultsitsf operations. Management will
continue to review the recorded liability in lightfuture developments in the Chapter 11 Case aaicernhanges to the recorded liability if
and when it is appropriate.

Financing

On November 1, 2002, the Court announced it hadoapp AWI's motion to reduce the amount of its delim-possession credit facility (the
"DIP Facility") from $200 million to $75 million, leninate the revolving credit borrowing featuretaia the letter of credit issuance facility
and extend the maturity date to December 8, 2083fDecember 31, 2002, AWI had approximately $28illion in letters of credit which
were issued pursuant to the DIP Facility. As of &aber 31, 2002, AWI had $76.4 million of cash aaslcequivalents, excluding cash held
by its non-debtor subsidiaries. The decrease flan$205.9 million of cash and cash equivalentepte&nber 30, 2002 is primarily due to an
intercompany payment of $120 million from AWI tavaolly owned non-debtor subsidiary under a licemgeeement for use of intangible
assets and intellectual property. This payment doggsffect Armstrong's consolidated cash balaAb¥l believes that cash on hand and
generated from operations and dividends from ibsisliaries, together with lines of credit and th® Bacility, will be adequate to address its
foreseeable
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liquidity needs. Obligations under the DIP Facilitycluding reimbursement of draws under the Isttdrcredit, if any, constitute superprior
administrative expense claims in the Chapter 1kCas

Accounting Impact

AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, "Financial Repartby Entities in Reorganization under the BankeypCode" ("SOP 90-7") provides
financial reporting guidance for entities that srerganizing under the Bankruptcy Code. This guidan implemented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to SOP 90-7, AWI is required to segrepgedpetition liabilities that are subject to compisenand report them separately on the
balance sheet. See Note 4 of the Consolidated EiadeBtatements for detail of the liabilities sulijeo compromise at December 31, 2002
2001. Liabilities that may be affected by a plamasfrganization are recorded at the expected anajuhée allowed claims, even if they may
be settled for lesser amounts. Substantially al\Wi's prepetition debt, now in default, is recalds face value and is classified within
liabilities subject to compromise. Obligations afdstrong subsidiaries not covered by the Filingaentlassified on the consolidated bale
sheet based upon maturity date. AWI's estimatéilitiafor asbestos-related personal injury claimalso recorded in liabilities subject to
compromise. See Note 32 of the Consolidated FiaaStatements for further discussion of AWI's astetability.

Additional prepetition claims (liabilities subjeitt compromise) may arise due to the rejection etatory contracts or unexpired leases, or as
a result of the allowance of contingent or disputiaiins.

SOP 90-7 also requires separate reporting of @dimees, expenses, realized gains and losses, avidipn for losses related to the Filing as
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net. AccordingW/| recorded the following Chapter 11 reorganizataxtivities during 2002, 2001 and
2000:

Year Ended December 31,

(amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Professional fees $27.8 $245 $ 26
Interest income, post petition (3.5) (5.1) (0.3)
Reductions to prepetition liabilities (1.2) (2.0) --
Termination of prepetition lease obligation - (5.9)
ESOP related costs - - 58.8
Adjustment of net debt and debt issue costs to expe nsed

amount of allowed claim - -- 42.0
Other expense directly related to bankruptcy, net 0.3 1.0 0.2
Total Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net $235 $125 $103.3

Professional fees represent legal and financiakady fees and expenses directly related to thad-il
Interest income is earned from short-term investsieficash by AWI subsequent to the Filing.

Reductions to prepetition liabilities represent difeerence between the prepetition invoiced amaunt the actual cash payment made to
certain vendors due to negotiated settlements.eTpagments of prepetition obligations were madesuymmt to authority granted by the Court.

Termination of prepetition lease obligation repreésehe reversal of an accrual for future leasermays for office space in the U.S. that AWI
will not pay due to the termination of the leasatcact. This amount was previously accrued in i tquarter of 2000 as part of a
restructuring charge when the decision to vacaetbmises was made.
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ESOP related costs include a $43.3 million impaithodarge related to amounts borrowed by the ES@R Armstrong, the trustee of the
ESOP. After the Filing, it was expected that thePSvould no longer have the ability to repay Armost money it previously borrowed. In
addition, a $15.5 million expense was recordededlto interest and tax penalty guarantees ow&SOP bondholders caused by the default
on the ESOP bonds.

In order to record prepetition debt at the faceigalr the amount of the expected allowed claims) Aujusted the amount of net debt and
debt issue costs and recorded a pretax expeng2df fillion.

As a result of the Filing, realization of assetd dguidation of liabilities are subject to uncenty. While operating as a debtor-in-possession,
AWI may sell or otherwise dispose of assets anddigte or settle liabilities for amounts other tlhose reflected in the consolidated finar
statements. Although a POR and Disclosure Stateh@am been filed with the Court, implementatiornih&f POR is subject to confirmation of
the POR in accordance with the provisions of thekBaptcy Code. AWI is unable to predict when anthé POR will be confirmed.
Therefore, the timing and terms of a resolutiothef Chapter 11 Case remain uncertain. Furthemfirowd plan of reorganization could
materially change the amounts and classificatiepsnted in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation Policy. The consolidated financiatsments and accompanying data in this reportdectbe accounts of AHI and its majority-
owned subsidiaries. The results of less than ntgjovwned subsidiaries are accounted for under qégyemethod. All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminated frentonsolidated financial statements. Certaiorprear amounts have been reclassified
to conform to the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates. These financial statements agaped in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples and include
management estimates and judgments, where appmpvlanagement utilizes estimates to record mamgstincluding asbestos-related
liabilities and insurance asset recoveries andvesdor bad debts, inventory obsolescence, warrardrkers compensation, general liability
and environmental claims. Management determineari@unt of necessary reserves based upon all krelevant information. Management
also confers with outside parties, including owtsidunsel, where appropriate. Actual results migrdrom these estimates.

Revenue Recognition. AHI recognizes revenue froenstile of products and the related accounts rdueiva earlier than the date on which
title transfers, generally on the date of shipm@ntrovision is made for the estimated cost of teband promotional programs. Provisions
for estimated discounts and bad debt losses assllmasknowledge of specific customers and a reakoutstanding accounts receivable
balances.

Sales Incentives. In accordance with the Emergisgds Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 00-014, "Actimgrfor Certain Sales Incentives,”
certain sales incentives are recorded as a reduatinet sales for all periods presented. In acooed with EITF Issue No. 00-022,
"Accounting for “Points' and Certain Other Time-Ba®r Volume-Based Sales Incentive Offers, andr®fier Free Products or Services to
Be Delivered in the Future," certain sales volumeentives are recorded as a reduction of net saledl periods presented. In accordance
with EITF Issue No. 00-025, "Vendor Income Statet@maracterization of Consideration from a Vendoa Retailer," effective January 1,
2002, AHI has reclassified $1.9 million from sefirgeneral and administrative expenses to a rexfuofinet sales for both 2001 and 2000.

Shipping and Handling Costs. Shipping and handiimg}s are reflected in cost of goods sold for atlqas presented.
Advertising Costs. AHI recognizes advertising exg@Enas they are incurred.
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Pension and Postretirement Benefits. AHI has bepkfihs that provide for pension, medical andiliurance benefits to certain eligible
employees when they retire from active service.ggally, AHI's practice is to fund the actuariallgtdrmined current service costs and the
amounts necessary to amortize prior service olidigatover periods ranging up to 30 years, butmatxicess of the funding limitations.

Taxes. The provision for income taxes has beermrm@ied using the asset and liability approach ebaating for income taxes. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized using endatethtes for expected future tax consequencesaerits recognized in the financial
statements or tax returns. The provision for incoaxes represents income taxes paid or payabtbdazurrent year plus the change in
deferred taxes during the year. Valuation allowarare recorded to reduce deferred tax assets wiemeore likely than not that a tax benefit
will not be realized. The tax benefit for dividenusid on unallocated shares of stock held by th@EE®as recognized in shareholders' eq

Gains and Losses on Divestitures. AHI generallprés the gain or loss on divested businesses ar ottn-operating income or expense.

Earnings (loss) per Common Share. Basic earnings)(per share are computed by dividing the easr(ilogs) by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding duhagear. Diluted earnings (loss) per common steftect the potential dilution of
securities that could share in the earnings (Id9%.diluted earnings (loss) per share computafiensome periods use the basic number of
shares due to the loss from continuing operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivaiehide cash on hand and shierm investments that have maturities of three oot
less when purchased.

Concentration of Credit. AHI principally sells pracis to customers in the building products indastrin various geographic regions. In 2(
Armstrong's net sales to The Home Depot, Inc. ¢édtapproximately $380.3 million compared to appmately $340.8 million and $373.2
million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. No othestaumer accounted for more than 10% of Armstroreysmue. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk other than with twamte center customers who represent 22% and 18%ib$ Aade receivables as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. AHI coatiisly evaluates the creditworthiness of its austs and generally does not require
collateral.

Inventories. Inventories are valued at the lowerast or market. Inventories also include certagilient flooring samples used in ongoing
sales and marketing activities.

Property and Depreciation. Property, plant andp@gent values are stated at acquisition cost leasadated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation charges for financial reporting pugsare determined on the straight-line basis a$ redlculated to provide for the retirement
of assets at the end of their useful lives, geheeaal follows: buildings, 20 to 40 years; machinand equipment, 3 to 20 years.

In accordance with SFAS 144, "Accounting for the&imment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," effeetdanuary 1, 2002, impairment
losses are recorded when indicators of impairmenpeesent and the undiscounted cash flows estihtatiee generated by those assets are
less than the assets' carrying amount. For purpisesgculating any impairment, fair values areetletined using a net discounted cash flows
approach. When assets are disposed of or retirel,dosts and related depreciation are removed fhe financial statements and any
resulting gains or losses normally are reflectetSielling, general and administrative expenses."

Costs of the construction of certain property idelcapitalized interest which is amortized overdbémated useful life of the related asset.
There was no capitalized interest recorded in 20@22001 due to the Chapter 11 Filing. Capitalinéerest was $0.4 million in 2000.

73



Gooduwill and Other Intangibles. Effective Januar202, AHI adopted SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and €&tmtangible Assets" ("FAS 142"),
which requires that goodwill and intangible asséth indefinite useful lives no longer be amortizédt instead be tested for impairment at
least annually. AHI's annual impairment test iSgened in the fourth quarter. FAS 142 also requihed intangible assets with determinable
useful lives be amortized over their respectivarestied useful lives to their estimated residualigaland reviewed for impairment. See Note
12 for required disclosure on goodwill and othé¢angibles.

Contingent Liabilities. In the context of the Chapt1 Case, contingent liabilities, including claithat became known after the Filing, are
recorded on the basis of the expected amount dltbeed claim in accordance with SOP 90-7 as opgds the amount for which a claim
may be settled.

Foreign Currency Transactions. Assets and liagditof AHI's subsidiaries operating outside the &thibtates, which account in a functional
currency other than US dollars, are translatedgudie year end exchange rate. Revenues and exmedeanslated at the average exchange
rates effective during the year. Foreign curremapglation gains or losses are included as a coemai accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) within shareholders' equity. Gainkeses on foreign currency transactions are rezedrhrough the statement of earnings.

Financial Instruments and Derivatives. From timénee, AHI uses derivatives and other financiatiasients to diversify or offset the effect
of currency, interest rate and commodity priceafaitity. See Note 19 for further discussion.

Stock-based Employee Compensation. Effective Deeeidib, 2002, AHI adopted SFAS No. 148, "AccounfmgStock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure," whidjuiees the following disclosure. At December 31020AHI had three stock-based
employee compensation plans, which are described folly in Note

25. AHI accounts for those plans under the intdngilue recognition and measurement principlesfBApinion No. 25, "Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpogisit The following table illustrates the effectmet income and earnings per share if AHI
had applied the fair value recognition provisioh§ASB Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stockdrh€ompensation,” to stock-based
employee compensation.

2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss), as reported $(2,142.8) $92.8 $12.2
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense inc luded in reported
net income, net of related tax effects 0.6 1.8 2.9
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation ex pense determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net o f related tax
effects (1.2) (4.0) (8.1)
Pro forma net income (loss) $(2,143.3) $90.6 $7.0
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic - as reported $ (52.91) $2.29 $0.30
Basic - pro forma $ (52.92) $2.24 $0.17
Diluted - as reported $ (52.91) $2.27 $0.30
Diluted - pro forma $ (52.92) $2.22 $0.17

Fiscal Periods. The fiscal years of the Wood Flupand Cabinets segments end on the Saturday ttod@ecember 31, which was
December 28, 2002, December 29, 2001, and Dece3@®@000. No events occurred between these datkBerember 31 materially
affecting AHI's financial position or results ofenations.
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NOTE 3. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Industry Segments

Textiles
Resilient Wood & Sports  Building Al | Unallocated
For the year ended 2002 Flooring Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Oth er Corporate  Total
(millions)
Net sales to external customers $1,152.3 $719.3 $247.2 $826.6  $226.9 $3,172.3
Equity loss (earnings) from
affiliates 0.1 - - (19.7) - 82 1) (21.7)
Segment operating income (loss) 64.5 53.0 4.7) 96.5 3.9 2 1 $(2,544.8) (2,337.3)
Restructuring and reorganization
charges, net of reversals 2.2 - 0.3) - - - - 1.9
Segment assets 890.7 619.7 203.4 544.6 116.6 18 4 2,111.4 4,504.8
Depreciation and amortization 54.7 16.8 5.6 32.2 2.2 - 25.2 136.7
Investment in affiliates 0.9 - - 24.6 - 18 4 - 43.9
Capital additions 39.0 229 4.1 28.5 6.0 - 24.6 125.1
Textiles
Resilient Wood & Sports Building Al | Unallocated
For the year ended 2001 Flooring Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Oth er Corporate Total
(millions)
Net sales to external customers  $1,164.2 $ 655.3 $262.9 $831.0 $225.3 $3,138.7
Equity (earnings) from affiliates (0.1) - - (16.1) - $(0 .3) (16.5)
Segment operating income (loss) 70.8 0.9 0.7) 92.4 152 0 3 % (38.8) 1401
Restructuring and reorganization
charges, net of reversals 0.2 4.1 1.2 1.1 1.1 - 1.3 9.0
Segment assets 855.3 1,260.6 177.7 527.0 108.0 16 3 1,093.2 4,038.1
Depreciation and amortization 57.3 36.0 4.7 33.0 2.3 - 235 156.8
Investment in affiliates 0.9 - - 224 - 16 3 - 39.6
Capital additions 43.9 22.7 8.6 32.2 21 - 18.3 127.8
Textiles
Resilient Wood & Sports  Building Al | Unallocated
For the year ended 2000 Flooring Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Oth er Corporate Total
(millions)
Net sales to external customers ~ $1,237.3 $ 683.3 $277.0 $833.1 $218.2 $3,248.9
Intersegment sales 4.2 - - - - 4.2
Equity (earnings) from affiliates - - - (17.9) - $(0 1) (18.0)
Segment operating income (loss) 80.4 57.8 5.2 113.9 165 O 1 $ (267.2) 6.7
Restructuring and reorganization
charges, net of reversals 7.9 1.3 0.8 0.2 0.4 - 8.2 18.8
Segment assets 884.7 1,255.1 213.2 568.5 1035 16 3 963.9 4,005.2
Depreciation and amortization 70.1 34.7 35 32.8 2.3 - 21.0 164.4
Investment in affiliates 11 - - 19.9 - 16 3 - 37.3
Capital additions 52.0 325 11.1 43.6 6.2 - 13.7 159.1

Accounting policies of the segments are the sanibas® described in the summary of significant antiag policies. Performance of the
segments is evaluated on operating income befomarie taxes, unusual gains and losses, and inteqgshse. AHI accounts for intersegment
sales and transfers based upon its internal tnapgfeng policy.

The 2002 decrease in the assets of the Wood Fpedgment is primarily due to the $596.0 millio643.8 million, net of tax) goodwill and
intangible asset impairment write down recorded asmulative effect of a change in accounting ppiecas of January 1, 2002. See Note 12
for further details.

The 2002 increase in the assets of the Unallocatedorate segment is primarily due to the $869Iianiincrease in the deferred tax asset
primarily created by the fourth quarter 2002 asiesharge described in Notes 1 and 32.
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Resilient Flooring

Armstrong is a worldwide manufacturer of a broatgeaof resilient floor coverings for homes and cameral and institutional buildings,
which are sold with adhesives, installation andnteiance materials and accessories. ArmstronglBeRée§&looring products include vinyl
sheet and vinyl tile, linoleum and laminate flogriiVarious products offer ease of installationu@etl maintenance (no-wax), and cushioning
for greater underfoot comfort. The business mixgproximately 55% residential and 45% commercihk products are sold in a wide vari

of types, designs, and colors to commercial, regidieand institutional customers through wholesglestailers (including large home centers
and buying groups), contractors, and to the hotgkhand manufactured homes industries.

Wood Flooring

The Wood Flooring segment manufactures and diggtwood and other flooring products. These pradact used primarily in residential
new construction and remodeling, with some comrnaésgplications in stores, restaurants and highedfices. The business mix is
approximately 95% residential, and 5% commerciabod/Flooring sales are generally made through iedépnt wholesale flooring
distributors and retailers (including large homatees and buying groups) under the brand namesefR)cHartco(R) and Robbins(R).

Textiles & Sports Flooring

The Textiles and Sports Flooring business segmantufactures carpeting and sports flooring prodinasare mainly sold in Europe. The
carpeting products consist principally of carpletstiand broadloom used in commercial applicatienwell as the leisure and travel industry.
Sports flooring products include artificial turfréaces. The business mix is approximately 26% esgtidl and 74% commercial. Both product
groups are sold through wholesalers, retailerscamtractors.

Building Products

The Building Products segment includes commercidlrasidential ceiling systems. Commercial suspemneding systems, designed for use
in shopping centers, offices, schools, hospitald, aher commercial and institutional settings,aailable in numerous colors, performance
characteristics and designs and offer charactesistich as acoustical control, accessibility toplleaum (the area above the ceiling), rated
protection, and aesthetic appeal. The businesssaipproximately 90% commercial, with approximat@p-thirds in improvement projects
and the balance in new construction. Armstrong selmmercial ceiling materials and accessoriegiling systems contractors and to resale
distributors. Armstrong sells commercial ceilingterals and accessories to ceiling systems cowoftraeind to resale distributors. Ceiling
materials for the home provide noise reductioniandrporate features intended to permit ease ¢dliasion. These residential ceiling
products are sold through wholesalers and retdiilectuding large home centers). Framework (gridducts for Armstrong suspension
ceiling systems products are manufactured throuygmaiventure with Worthington Industries (WAVEp@are sold by both Armstrong and
the WAVE joint venture.

Cabinets

The Cabinets segment manufactures kitchen anddmathcabinetry and related products, which are psiadarily in residential new
construction and remodeling. The business mix istipoesidential, with approximately 70% in new stmction and 30% in home
improvement projects. Through its nationwide systfroompany-owned and independent distributionesnthe Cabinets segment provides
design, fabrication and installation services tgkg-family builders, multi-family builders and rexfelers under the brand names IXL(R),
Bruce(R) and Armstrong(TM).

All Other
The All Other segment contributes operating incoetated to the equity investment in Interface Sohg, Inc.

Unallocated Corporate
The Unallocated Corporate segment includes expehathave not been allocated to the business. Utissmost significant of these
expenses relate to asbestos charges as discudseteifi2.
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The sales in the table below are allocated to ggagc areas based upon the location of the customer

Geographic Areas

Net trade sales (millions) 20 02 2001 2000
Americas:
United States $2,2 22.1 $2,188.1 $2,257.6
Canada 1 20.5 114.4 122.7
Other Americas 30.7 23.5 25.5
Total Americas $2,3 73.3 $2,326.0 $2,405.8
Europe:
England $1 34.3 $ 135.6 $ 1317
France 69.3 67.8 74.6
Germany 1 72.6 182.2 191.6
Italy 33.2 31.1 31.9
Netherlands 69.8 87.1 92.5
Russia 27.2 25.9 21.1
Spain 26.2 125 17.8
Sweden 15.8 15.9 19.8
Switzerland 36.7 34.1 22.0
Other Europe 1 09.6 120.9 118.7
Total Europe $6 94.7 $ 7131 $ 7217
Pacific area:
Australia $ 27.2 $ 253 $ 247
China 22.9 24.1 27.7
Other Pacific area 54.2 50.2 69.0
Total Pacific area $1 04.3 $ 99.6 $ 1214
Total net trade sales $3,1 72.3 $3,138.7 $ 3,248.9
Long-lived assets (property, plant and equipment), net
at December 31 (millions) 2002 2001
Americas:
United States $ 9309 $ 947.6
Canada 14.1 14.6
Other Americas -- 0.1
Total Americas $ 9450 $ 962.3
Europe:
Belgium $ 254 $ 238
England 39.2 35.7
France 13.9 115
Germany 192.5 166.9
Netherlands 42.8 35.9
Sweden 10.0 8.0
Other Europe 5.8 4.5
Total Europe $ 3296 $ 286.3
Pacific area:
China $ 232 $ 246
Other Pacific area 5.9 5.4
Total Pacific area $ 201 $ 30.0
Total long-lived assets, net $1,303.7  $1,278.6
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NOTE 4. LIABILITIES SUBJECT TO COMPROMISE

As a result of AWI's Chapter 11 filing (see Notedyrsuant to SOP 90-AWI is required to segregate prepetition lidkdb that are subject
compromise and report them separately on the balgineet. Liabilities that may be affected by a pifareorganization are recorded at the
amount of the expected allowed claims, even if i@y be settled for lesser amounts. Substantifilf &WI's prepetition debt, now in
default, is recorded at face value and is claskifigghin liabilities subject to compromise. Obligats of AHI subsidiaries not covered by the
Filing remain classified on the consolidated batasiceet based upon maturity date. AWI's asbestbiitly is also recorded in liabilities
subject to compromise. During the fourth quarte2@2, AWI recorded a non-cash charge of $2.5amilto increase its estimate of probable
asbestoselated liability. See Note 1 for further discugsan how the Chapter 11 process may address Alsbiities subject to compromi
and Note 32 for further discussion of AWI's ashssbility.

Liabilities subject to compromise at December 3I02and December 31, 2001 are as follows:

(millions) 2002 2001
Debt (at face value) $1,400.7 $1,400.7
Asbestos-related liability 3,190.6 690.6
Prepetition trade payables 51.7 52.2
Prepetition other payables and accrued interest 60.4 56.4
ESOP loan guarantee 157.7 157.7
Total liabilities subject to compromise $4,861.1 $2,357.6

Additional prepetition claims (liabilities subjeitt compromise) may arise due to the rejection etetory contracts or unexpired leases, or as
a result of the allowance of contingent or dispudkedms.

See Note 17 for detail of debt subject to compremis

NOTE 5. ACQUISITIONS
During 2001, AHI spent $5.6 million to purchase soofithe remaining minority interest of already-solidated entities within the Resilient
Flooring segment. Approximately $5.0 million of therchase price was allocated to goodwiill.

On May 18, 2000, AHI acquired privately-held Switaead-based Gema Holding AG ("Gema"), a manufactureriastaller of metal ceilings
for $6 million plus certain contingent consideratiwot to exceed $25.5 million, based on results twethree year period ending December
31, 2002. The purchase agreement requires thébtimer owners of Gema are advised of the probadnirngent consideration calculation
within 30 days of the Gema's audited financialestants being available. If the former owners doawoept such calculation within 30 days,
the contingent consideration calculation will beafly determined by a third party.

The acquisition was recorded under the purchaskadeif accounting. The purchase price was alloctatélde assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed based on the estimated faiketaralue at the date of acquisition. Contingemtsideration, when and if paid, will be
accounted for as additional purchase price. Thenfarket value of tangible and identifiable intaslginet assets acquired exceeded the
purchase price by $24.2 million and this amount reasrded as a reduction of the fair value of prgpelant and equipment.

NOTE 6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In February 2001, AHI determined to permanently thé Textiles and Sports Flooring segment andebriary 20, 2001 entered into
negotiations to sell substantially all of the besises comprising this segment to a private equigsitor based in Europe. Based on these
events, the segment was classified as a discouttioperation starting with the fourth quarter of @00n June 12, 2001, negotiations with
investor were terminated. During the third quace2001, AHI terminated its plans to permanentlit &is segment. This decision was based
on the difficulty encountered in selling the
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business and a new review of the business, indastityoverall economy conducted by new senior manage Accordingly, this segment is
no longer classified as a discontinued operati@hanounts have been reclassified into operationscasred by EITF Issue No. 90-16 -
"Accounting for Discontinued Operations SubsequyeR#tained". All prior periods have been reclassifio conform to the current
presentation.

Based on the expected net realizable value oftkmbss determined during the negotiations tatlselbusiness, AHI had recorded a pretax
net loss of $34.5 million in the fourth quarter28f00, $23.8 million net of tax benefit. AHI alsocheecorded an additional net loss of $3.3
million in the first quarter of 2001, as a resulpoce adjustments resulting from the negotiatiddsncurrent with the decision to no longer
classify the business as a discontinued operatiememaining accrued loss of $37.8 million ($27illion net of tax) was reversed in the
third quarter of 2001 and recorded as part of egmfrom discontinued operations. Additionally, fegment's net income of $3.1 million for
the first and second quarter of 2001 was recl&skifito earnings from continuing operations forsthperiods.

During the third quarter of 2001, AHI concludedréhgvere indicators of impairment related to certseets in this segment, and accordingly,
an impairment evaluation was conducted at the étigecthird quarter under the guidelines of SFAS Neil -"Accounting for the Impairme

of Long-Lived Assets and for Lonigved Assets to be Disposed Of". This evaluatiahtean impairment charge of $8.4 million, repreésey
the excess of book value over estimated fair valnieh was determined using a net discounted castsfapproach. The charge was included
in cost of sales. The impairment was related t@@rty, plant and equipment that produce certaidyets for which AHI anticipates lower
demand in the future. Additionally, an inventoryitesdown of $2.1 million was recorded in the thipdarter of 2001 within cost of sales
related to certain products that will no longersbé.

On May 31, 2000, Armstrong completed its sale bbfthe entities, assets and certain liabilitiesprising its Insulation Products segment to
Orion Einundvierzigste Beteiligungsgesellschaft Matsubsidiary of the Dutch investment firm Gildedstment Management N.V. for $264
million. The transaction resulted in an after takngof $114.8 million, or $2.86 per share in 20D0ring 2001, AHI recorded a pretax loss of
$1.1 million related to its divestiture of its Ihation Products segment. This loss resulted frortagepost-closing adjustments.

NOTE 7. OTHER DIVESTITURES

In November 2000, Armstrong sold a component of @stiles and Sports Flooring segment. As this slittere included a business classified
as held for sale since its 1998 acquisition, Aroregrhad been recording the 2000 operating losstssoliusiness within SG&A expense. The
overall 2000 impact was a reduction of SG&A expewis®0.7 million.

On July 31, 2000, AHI completed the sale of it¢difation Products Group ("IPG") to subsidiariedltd German company Ardex GmbH, for
$86 million in cash. Ardex purchased substantiallyof the assets and liabilities of IPG includitgyshares of the W.W. Henry Company. -
transaction resulted in a gain of $44.1 million@&million pretax) or $1.10 per share and was e in other non-operating income during
the third quarter 2000. The financial results d&IRere reported as part of the Resilient Flooriegnsent. The proceeds and gain are subject
to a post-closing working capital adjustment. Unitherterms of a supply agreement, AHI will purchasme of its installation product needs
from Ardex for an initial term of eight years, sebj to certain minimums for the first five yearteathe sale. The supply agreement also
called for price adjustments based upon changingeharices for raw materials, labor and energyd3uring February 2003, Armstrong
and Ardex reached a settlement in principle onsdwapen issues, which must be approved by thetCbhe settlement allowed for the
payment of the pre-petition liability to Ardex withdiscount, adjusted the pricing for Armstronglbesives purchases, eliminated the
minimum purchase requirement and resolved envirot@mheemediation disputes. Under the settlemerdeRmwill file a proof of claim relate
to environmental remediation in AWI's Chapter 1€&awhich will be treated as an allowed unsecul&cc This claim resulted in a fourth
quarter 2002 charge of $5.3 million, which was reded in other non-operating expense.
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NOTE 8. ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

(millions) 2002 2001
Customer receivables $364.8 $348.5
Customer notes 6.9 7.7
Miscellaneous receivables 17.2 21.3
Less allowance for discounts and losses (56.5) (54.2)
Net accounts and notes receivable $332.4 $323.3

Generally, AHI sells its products to select, preraped customers whose businesses are affectelgalmges in economic and market
conditions. AHI considers these factors and tharfaial condition of each customer when establiskigllowance for losses from doubtful
accounts.

NOTE 9. INVENTORIES
Approximately 42% of AHI's total inventory in 20@2&d 2001 was valued on a LIFO (last-in, fiost) basis. Inventory values were lower t
would have been reported on a total FIFO (firsffinst-out) basis, by $52.6 million at the end 602 and $46.2 million at year-end 2001.

(millions) 2002 2001
Finished goods $ 294.3 $269.6
Goods in process 46.6 39.0
Raw materials and supplies 172.1 182.9
Less LIFO and other reserves (69.6) (55.2)
Total inventories, net $ 443.4 $436.3

NOTE 10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(millions) 2002 2001
Land $ 943 $ 856
Buildings 624.9 582.8
Machinery and equipment 1,786.0 1,693.1
Construction in progress 62.3 60.4
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,263.8)  (1,143.3)
Net property, plant and equipment $1,303.7 $1,278.6

NOTE 11. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Investments in affiliates were $43.9 million at Beter 31, 2002, an increase of $4.3 million, prilmaeflecting the equity earnings of AH
50% interest in its WAVE joint venture and its raniag 35% interest in Interface Solutions, Inc['l). AHI continues to purchase certain
raw materials from ISI under a long-term supplyesggnent. Equity earnings from affiliates for 200202 and 2000 consisted primarily of
income from a 50% interest in the WAVE joint vergand the 35% interest in ISI.

AHI purchases some grid products from WAVE, its 56%ned joint venture with Worthington Industried€eltotal amount of these
purchases was approximately $41 million, $38 millamd $41 million for the years ended DecembefB02, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
AHI also provides certain selling and administratprocessing services to WAVE for which it receiv@sbursement. Additionally, WAVE
leases certain land and buildings from AHI.
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Condensed financial data for significant investraentaffiliates accounted for under the equity metbf accounting are summarized below:

(millions) 2002 2001

Current assets $ 821 $ 724
Non-current assets 31.6 32.3

Current liabilities 16.0 15.0

Long-term debt 50.0 50.0

Other non-current liabilities 3.0 1.2

(millions) 2002 2001 2000
Net sales $ 201.4 $200.1 $212.2
Gross profit 61.2 57.1 60.3
Net earnings 39.2 32.3 35.5

NOTE 12. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Effective January 1, 2002, AHI adopted SFAS No.,IGbodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("FAS 142ihich requires that goodwill a
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives nader be amortized, but instead be tested for imygait at least annually. FAS 142 also
requires that intangible assets with determinabéful lives be amortized over their respectiveneated useful lives to their estimated resi
values and reviewed for impairment.

As of January 1, 2002, AHI had unamortized goodefi$822.8 million, of which $717.2 million was @butable to the Wood Flooring
segment. In the second quarter of 2002, AHI coregl¢he assessment of goodwill and recorded a $58illibn non-cash transitional
impairment charge related to the Wood Flooring segmnilhe impairment charge is presented in thenrecstatement as a cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle as of JanuaB002. The impairment charge arose from the Wdodrkhg segment's fair value being
lower than its carrying value. The Wood Flooringreent's fair value was determined using a comhmnaif discounted cash flows, values
implicit in precedent business combinations of Emtompanies in the building products industry atatk market multiples of publicly-
traded flooring companies. The fair value was negbt affected by lower operating profits and célslwvs than were assumed at the time of
the acquisition in 1998. The shortfalls were caused combination of lower sales plus higher mactufiing costs. Under previous
accounting rules, no goodwill impairment would h#seen recorded at January 1, 2002.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, AHI completed itxaal assessment of goodwill as required by FASatPdetermined there was no
impairment.

The following table represents the changes in gdlbdince December 31, 2001.

(amounts in millions)

Goodwill by segment January 1, 200 2 Adjustments, net/(1)/ Impairments December 31, 2002
Resilient Flooring $ 82.9 $ 6.4 $ 89.3

Wood Flooring 717.2 (13.4) $(590.0) 113.8

Building Products 10.1 1.8 - 11.9

Cabinets 12.6 - - 12.6

Total consolidated goodwill $822.8 $(5.2) $(590.0) $227.6

/(1)/ Primarily consists of the effects of foreignchange and resolution of pre-acquisition tax@heér contingencies.
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As of January 1, 2002, AHI had unamortized idealtife intangible assets of $94.1 million. It wasedetined that the fair value of one of
Wood Flooring's trademarks was lower than its dagyalue. The fair value of the trademark wasneated using a discounted cash flow
methodology. Accordingly, a non-cash transitiongbairment charge of $6.0 million ($3.8 million, rdttax) was calculated and is presented
in the income statement as a cumulative effectafange in accounting principle as of January 0220

The following table details amounts related to AHifitangible assets as of December 31, 2002.

December 31, 2002

(amounts in millions) Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization

Amortized intangible assets

Computer software $100.6 $ 447
Land use rights and other 3.6 0.7
Total $104.2 $ 454

Unamortized intangible assets

Trademarks and brand names $ 29.1

Total intangible assets $133.3

Aggregate Amortization Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2002 $ 1438

Amortization charges for computer software are rheiteed on a straight-line basis at rates calcultagatovide for the retirement of assets at
the end of their useful lives, generally 3 to 7rgea

The annual amortization expense expected for thesy#2003 through 2007 is as follows:

2003 $14.8
2004 13.4
2005 114
2006 7.5
2007 3.5
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Comparison to prior year "As Adjusted"”
The following table presents prior year reportedants adjusted to eliminate the effect of gooduauiltl certain identifiable intangible asset
amortization in accordance with FAS 142.

(in millions except per share amounts) December 31,
2002 2001 20 00
Reported net income (loss) $(2,142.8) $92.8 $1 2.2
Add back: Goodwill amortization - 22.8 2 3.9
Add back: Trademark and brand names amortization - 0.8 0.8
Adjusted net income (loss) $(2,142.8) $116.4 $3 6.9
Basic net earnings (loss) per share:
Reported net income (loss) $ (52.91) $2.29 $0 .30
Goodwill amortization - 0.56 0 59
Trademark and brand names amortization - 0.02 0 .02
Adjusted net income (loss) $ (52.91) $2.87 $0 91
Diluted net earnings (loss) per share:
Reported net income (loss) $ (52.91) $2.27 $0 .30
Goodwill amortization - 0.56 0 59
Trademark and brand names amortization - 0.02 0 .02
Adjusted net income (loss) $ (52.91) $2.85 $0 91
NOTE 13. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
(millions) 2002 2001
Cash surrender value of company owned life insuranc e policies $58.8 $57.9
Long term notes receivable 22.4 22.7
Other 25.6 24.8
Total other non-current assets $106.8  $105.4
NOTE 14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
(millions) 2002 2001
Payables, trade and other $207.6 $179.8
Employment costs 65.8 47.5
Other 85.9 79.4
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $359.3 $306.7

Certain other accounts payable and accrued expbasesheen categorized as liabilities subject topromise (see Note 4).
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NOTE 15. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER ACTIONS

The following table summarizes activity in the rgamization and restructuring accruals for 2002 20@{L. The net amount of charges and
reversals in the table does not agree to the inatatement due to non-cash charges for enhandeghrent benefits that did not affect the
restructuring accrual accounts.

Beginning Cash En ding
(millions) Balance Payments Charges Reversals Other Ba lance
2002 $8.9 $(2.1) $ 23 $ (0.8) $ 0.8 $ 9.1
2001 22.2 (14.1) 9.7 (2.8) (6.1) 8.9

A $0.5 million restructuring charge was recordethia first quarter of 2002. The charge relatedetesance benefits for eleven employees in
the Textiles and Sports Flooring segment, to refleaffing needs for current business conditiorts @ntinued efforts initiated in the fourth
quarter of 2001.

A $2.2 million restructuring charge was recordethia second quarter of 2002. The charge primagibted to severance benefits for
approximately 120 employees in the European Resilooring business due to a slow European ecorammya consolidation of worldwide
research and development activities. Of the $2IRomj $0.4 million represented a non-cash chamyeehhanced retirement benefits, which is
accounted for as an increase to pension bendditifies.

In the third quarter of 2002, $0.6 million of tremaining accrual related to the first quarter 280@ fourth quarter 2001 charges in the
Textiles and Sports Flooring segment was revers@muprising certain severance accruals that welenger necessary. In the fourth quarter
of 2002, an additional $0.2 million of this sameraal was reversed.

A $5.4 million pre-tax restructuring charge wasareled in the first quarter of 2001. The chargetegldo severance and enhanced retirement
benefits for more than 50 corporate and line-ofiess salaried staff positions, as a result obstiming the organization, to reflect staffing
needs for current business conditions. Of the $8l4bn, $1.6 million represented a non-cash chdogeenhanced retirement benefits, which
is accounted for as a reduction of the prepaidiparasset.

In the second quarter of 2001, a $1.1 million reaewas recorded related to a formerly occupietiimg for which AHI no longer believes it
will incur any additional costs. In addition, $0rlllion of the remaining accrual for the first qterr2001 reorganization was reversed,
comprising certain severance accruals that welenmger necessary as certain individuals remaingol@rad by AHI.

In the third quarter of 2001, a $1.4 million re\araas recorded related to certain 2000 severamtdeanefit accruals that were no longer
necessary and a $0.3 million pre-tax charge wasrded for additional severance payments.

A $6.1 million pretax restructuring charge was recorded in the foguidrter of 2001. $5.2 million of the charge, whiehs allocated betwes
Wood Flooring and Cabinets, related to severandesahanced retirement benefits for six salariedleyeges (including the former Chief
Operating Officer), as a result of the on-going@gration of the wood flooring and resilient floagioperations. Of the $5.2 million, $0.5
million represented non-cash charges for enharet@@ment benefits, which is accounted for as actdn of the prepaid pension asset, and
accelerated vesting of restricted stock awards.réhmining $0.9 million of the $6.1 million charg®ated to severance benefits for more
twenty positions in the textiles and sports flogrivusiness, as a result of streamlining the orgdioiz. Also in the fourth quarter of 2001, a
$0.1 million reversal was recorded related to éersaverance and benefit accruals that were ncelomgcessary.

The amount in "other" in 2002 is related to foreggmrency translation. The amount in "other" in 2@ primarily related to the termination
an operating lease for an office facility in theSUThese lease costs were previously accrued ithiftequarter of 2000 as part of the
restructuring charge when the decision to vacaetbemises was made. The lease was rejected axf plaet Chapter 11 process. According
the $5.9 million reversal is recorded as a redunabdbChapter 11 reorganization costs in
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accordance with SOP 90-7. See Note 1 for furthegudision. The remaining amount in "other" is relateforeign currency translation.

Substantially all of the remaining balance of testructuring accrual as of December 31, 2002 ielata noncancelable-operating lease,
which extends through 2017, and severance for text®il employees with extended payouts, the majofiyhich will be paid by the second
quarter of 2003.

NOTE 16. INCOME TAXES

The tax effects of principal temporary differenbegween the carrying amounts of assets and ligsilénd their tax bases are summarized in
the table below. Management believes it is morayikhan not that the results of future operatiiisgenerate sufficient taxable income to
realize deferred tax assets, except for certagidartax credit, net operating loss carryforwandd ather basis adjustments for which AHI has
provided a valuation allowance of $228.8 milliomer$4.9 million of U.S. foreign tax credits will gixe in 2005. AHI has $1,864.0 million of
state net operating losses with expirations betv2®@83 and 2022, and $187.9 million of foreign ne¢mating losses, which will be carried
forward indefinitely. The valuation allowance inased by $47.9 million primarily due to additionatdign and state net operating losses and

other basis adjustments.

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) (millions) 2002 2001
Postretirement and postemployment benefits $ 884 $ 86.5
Chapter 11 reorganization costs and restructuri ng costs 17.9 19.6
Asbestos-related liabilities 1,153.5 241.7
Foreign tax credit carryforward 4.9 8.6
Net operating losses 205.5 204.9
Other 96.5 79.0

Total deferred tax assets 1,566.7 640.3

Valuation allowance (228.8) (180.9)

Net deferred tax assets 1,337.9 459.4
Accumulated depreciation (175.4) (186.6)
Pension costs (138.5) (118.1)
Insurance for asbestos-related liabilities (66.5) (72.1)
Tax on unremitted earnings (27.0) (27.0)
Other (66.8) (62.5)

Total deferred income tax liabilities (474.2) (466.3)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 863.7 $ (6.9)

Deferred income taxes have been classified in the C onsolidated

Balance Sheet as:

Deferred income tax asset - current $ 147 $ 115

Deferred income tax asset - non-current 869.7 -

Deferred income tax liability - non-current (20.7) (18.4)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 863.7 $ (6.9)
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Details of taxes (millions)

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before i
Domestic
Foreign
Eliminations

Total

Income tax provision (benefit):
Current:
Federal
Foreign
State

Total current

Deferred:
Federal
Foreign
State

Total deferred

Total income taxes (benefit)

2002 2001
ncome taxes:
$(2,398.0) $117.1
21.2 14.1
- (15.5)

$(2,376.8) $115.7

$ 352 $ 5.0

10.6 13.2
1.4 (0.6)
472 17.6
(874.1) 333
(1.6) (8.4)
0.7 -
(875.0) 24.9

$ (827.8) $ 425

$(135.9)
23.0

1.8

At December 31, 2002, unremitted earnings of sudises outside the U.S. were $244.5 million (at &aber 31, 2002 balance sheet

exchange rates). AHI expects to repatriate $77lomiof earnings for which $27.0 million of U.Saxes were provided in 2000. No U.S.
taxes have been provided on the remaining unresmétenings as it is AHI's intention to invest theaenings permanently. If such earnings
were to be remitted without offsetting tax creditshe U.S., withholding taxes would be $4.5 miilid’he 2002 tax provision includes bene
from the completion of various domestic and fordigg examinations. The 2001 tax provision reflétsreversal of certain state tax and
other accruals no longer required due to the cotiopl®f state tax audits and/or expiration of statof limitation partially offset by certain

nondeductible expenses.

Reconciliation to U.S. statutory tax rate (millions

Continuing operations tax (benefit) at statutory ra
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Foreign losses

Tax on foreign and foreign-source income
Goodwill

Sale of subsidiary

Permanent differences

Other items, net

Tax expense (benefit) at effective rate

Other taxes (millions)

Payroll taxes
Property, franchise and capital stock taxes

) 2002 2001

te  $(831.9) $40.5

1.7 (1.9)
7.2 1.1
(15.9) (8.4)
- 6.7
10.8 5.9
0.3 (1.4)

$(827.8) $42.5

2002 2001

$76.1 $74.2
12.6 16.3
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NOTE 17. DEBT
(See Note 4 regarding treatment of prepetition.jlebt

Average Average

year-end year-end
($ millions) 2002 interest rate 2001 interest rate
Borrowings under lines of credit $ 450.0 7.18% $ 450.0 7.18%
DIP Facility - - - -
Commercial paper 50.0 6.75% 50.0 6.75%
Foreign banks 12.3 4.58% 18.9 5.16%
Bank loans due 2003-2006 30.6 5.95% 39.5 5.47%
9.00% medium-term notes due 2001 7.5 9.00% 7.5 9.00%
6.35% senior notes due 2003 200.0 6.35% 200.0 6.35%
6.50% senior notes due 2005 150.0 6.50% 150.0 6.50%
9.75% debentures due 2008 125.0 9.75% 125.0 9.75%
7.45% senior notes due 2029 200.0 7.45% 200.0 7.45%
7.45% senior quarterly interest bonds due 2038 180.0 7.45% 180.0 7.45%
Industrial development bonds 21.0 4.00% 21.0 4.95%
Capital lease obligations 5.6 7.63% 6.3 7.25%
Other 27.6 10.65% 27.8 10.56%
Subtotal 1,459.6 7.26% 1,476.0 7.24%
Less debt subject to compromise 1,400.7 7.35% 1,400.7 7.35%
Less current portion and short-term debt 19.0 5.14% 25.0 6.01%
Total long-term debt, less current portion $ 39.9 5.10% $ 50.3 4.92%

Approximately $24.1 million of the $58.9 million tétal debt not subject to compromise outstandmgfddecember 31, 2002 was secured
with buildings and other assets. Approximately 84aillion of the $75.3 million of total debt notlgect to compromise outstanding as of
December 31, 2001 was secured with buildings aheratssets.

Scheduled payments of long-term debt, excluding sebject to compromise (millions):

2003 $6.7
2004 7.6
2005 6.7
2006 5.1
2007 1.6

In accordance with SOP 90-7, AWI stopped recordtigrest expense on unsecured prepetition delttaféeDecember 6, 2000. This
unrecorded interest expense was $99.2 million B22699.7 million in 2001, and $7.0 million in 2000

Debt from the table above included in liabilitiebgect to compromise consisted of the followindpatember 31, 2002 and 2001.

($ millions) 2002 and 2001
Borrowings under lines of credit $ 450.0
Commercial paper 50.0
9.00% medium-term notes due 2001 7.5
6.35% senior notes due 2003 200.0
6.50% senior notes due 2005 150.0
9.75% debentures due 2008 125.0
7.45% senior notes due 2029 200.0
7.45% senior quarterly interest bonds due 2038 180.0
Industrial development bonds 11.0
Other 27.2

Total debt subject to compromise $1,400.7
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On November 1, 2002, the Court announced it hadoapd AWI's motion to reduce the amount of its BHility from $200 million to $75
million, eliminate the revolving credit borrowingdture, retain the letter of credit issuance figciind extend the maturity date to Decemb
2003. Obligations under the DIP Facility to reimdidrawing upon the letters of credit constituseigerpriority administrative expense claim
in the Chapter 11 Case. As of December 31, 20026a6d, AWI had approximately $28.7 million and $&lion, respectively, in letters of
credit which were issued pursuant to the DIP Rscili

Other debt includes an $18.6 million zero-coupote mue in 2013 that was fully amortized to its faakie due to the Chapter 11 filing.

In addition, AHI's foreign subsidiaries have appnoately $45.2 million of unused short-term linescoédit available from banks. The credit
lines are subject to immaterial annual commitmeasf

NOTE 18. PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PROGRAMS

Armstrong and a number of its subsidiaries havesiperplans and postretirement medical and insurbanefit plans covering eligible
employees worldwide. Armstrong also has definedtribution pension plans (including the Retiretm@avings and Stock Ownership Plan
described in Note 24) for eligible employees. Baadfom pension plans, which cover substantiallgmployees worldwide, are based on an
employee's compensation and years of service. Weeassary, pension plans are funded by Armstraogjrétirement benefits are funded by
Armstrong on a pay-as-you-go basis, with the retpgaying a portion of the cost for health care Benby means of deductibles and
contributions. Armstrong announced in 1989 and 1896-year phase-out of its health care benefitsddain future retirees. These future
retirees include parent company nonunion emplogedssome union employees. Shares of RSSOP comuasere allocated to eligible
active employees through June 2000, based on eemknye and years to expected retirement, to hghogees offset their future
postretirement medical costs. The RSSOP was amendéalvember 2000 to suspend future allocationsiai@ecember 2000, Armstrong
used cash to fund this benefit. In 2001, an eghigre allocation was made to all eligible activetime employees as of July 26, 2001. The
allocation was made as a result of Armstrong'sifertess of loans receivable from the RSSOP.

Effective November 1, 2000, an amendment to the@&eént Income Plan (RIP), a qualified U.S. defibedefit plan, established an
additional benefit known as the ESOP Pension Acttwupartially compensate active employee andeetiESOP participants for the decline
in the market value of AHI's stock. The effectluiftamendment had no material impact to the firenposition or results of operations in
2000, but increased the benefit obligation by $92illon and decreased the pension credit by $iillfon in 2001. The RIP document was
revised to reflect these changes.
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The following tables summarize the balance shepaatn as well as the benefit obligations, assetgldd status and rate assumptions
associated with the pension and postretirementfivgaens. The plan assets are primarily stockstualufunds and bonds. Included in these
assets were 1,426,751 shares of AHI common stogkaatend 2002 and 2001. The pension benefitsadigrts include both the RIP and the
Retirement Benefit Equity Plan, which is a nondfiedi, unfunded plan designed to provide pensiorefienin excess of the limits defined
under Sections 415 and 401(a)(17) of the IntermaieRue Code.

Retiree Health and Life

Pension Benefits Insurance Benefits
U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2002 200 1
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation as of January 1 1,324.4 $1,132.4 $ 386.6 $ 259 .6
Service cost 17.2 14.9 5.6 3 .6
Interest cost 89.1 93.0 28.1 20 2
Plan participants' contributions - - 4.0 3 7
Plan amendments 0.7 79.6 (0.5) --
Effect of special termination benefits -- 2.9 -- --
Actuarial loss 83.5 92.7 64.5 129 5
Benefits paid (91.5) (91.1) (30.1) (30 .0)
Benefit obligation as of December 31 1,423.4 $1,324.4 $458.2 $ 386 .6
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 1,735.9 $1,790.6
Actual return on plan assets - (loss)/gain (43.9) 329
Employer contribution 3.0 35 $ 26.1 $ 26 3
Plan participants' contributions - - 4.0 3 7
Benefits paid (91.4) (91.1) (30.1) (30 .0)
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 1,603.6 $1,735.9 $ 0.0 $0 .0
Funded status $ 180.2 $ 4115 $(458.2) $(386 .6)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) 100.9 (187.4) 215.0 161 7
Unrecognized transition asset - (2.1) - --
Unrecognized prior service cost 131.9 148.7 9.1 9 9
Net amount recognized 413.0 $ 370.7 $(234.1) $(215 .0)
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The funded status of U.S. defined-benefit plans esrmined using the assumptions presented itabhe below.

Retiree Health and Life
Pensio n Benefits Insurance Benefits

U.S. defined-benefit plans 2002 2001 2002 2001

Weighted-average assumption as of
December 31:

Discount rate 6.50% 7.00% 6.50% 7.00%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.75% n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00%  4.00% 4.00%

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsist of:

Retiree Health and Life

Pension Benefits Insurance Benefits
(millions) 2002 2001 2002 2001
Prepaid benefit costs $428.9 $386.9
Accrued benefit liability (33.3) (30.4) $(234.1) $(215.0)
Intangible asset 1.0 1.2 - -
Other comprehensive income 16.4 13.0 - -
Net amount recognized $413.0 $370.7 $(234.1)  $(215.0)

Pension Benefits

U.S. pension plans with benefit obligations in exce ss of assets (millions) 2002 20 01
Projected benefit obligation, December 31 $35.5 $33 2
Accrued benefit obligation, December 31 33.3 30 A4

Fair value of plan assets, December 31 -- -

The above table relates to the Retirement Bengfiitiz Plan, which is a nonqualified, unfunded ptiesigned to provide pension benefits in
excess of the limits defined under Sections 4154xida)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The components of pension credit are as follows:

Pension Benefits

U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Service cost of benefits earned during the year $ 17.2 $ 149 $ 13.9
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 89.1 93.0 84.0
Expected return on plan assets (154.4) (164.4) (153.6)
Amortization of transition asset (2.2) (6.2) (6.2)
Amortization of prior service cost 17.6 17.5 11.9
Recognized net actuarial (gain) (6.6) (11.6) (13.9)
Net periodic pension credit $(39.2) $(56.8) $ (63.9)

The components of postretirement benefit cost afellows:

Retiree Health and

Life Insurance Benefit S
U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Service cost of benefits earned during the year $5.6 $3.6 $238
Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 28.1 20.2 18.7
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit) 0.2 0.3 (0.9)
Recognized net actuarial loss 11.2 2.1 1.0
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $45.1 $26.2 $21.6
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For measurement purposes, an average rate of 1d@alancrease in the per capita cost of coveretttheare benefits was assumed for 2(
decreasing 1% per year to an ultimate rate of 68sufed health care cost trend rates have a s@mifgffect on the amounts reported for the
health care plans. A one-percentage-point changesamed health care cost trend rates would havieltbwing effects:

One percentage poi nt
U.S. retiree health and life insurance benefit plan s (millions) Increase  Decrea se
Effect on total of service and interest cost compon ents $40 $@33 )
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 47.9 (40.0 )

AHI has pension plans covering employees in a nurobforeign countries that utilize assumptionst i@ consistent with, but not identical
to, those of the U.S. plans. The following tablesymarize the balance sheet impact as well as thefibebligations, assets, funded status
rate assumptions associated with foreign pensiosfiis.

Pension Benefits

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation as of January 1 $283.6 $290.8
Service cost 8.1 7.9
Interest cost 15.9 15.4
Plan participants' contributions 2.3 2.2
Plan amendments 0.1 1.8
Effect of settlements 0.1 -
Effect of special termination benefits -- 0.3
Foreign currency translation adjustment 44.3 (11.6)
Actuarial loss (gain) 4.0 (9.6)
Benefits paid (18.3) (13.6)
Benefit obligation as of December 31 $340.1 $283.6

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 $156.8 $179.2
Actual return on plan assets (loss) (20.9) (18.1)
Employer contributions 151 11.8
Plan participants' contributions 2.3 2.2
Foreign currency translation adjustment 18.7 4.7)
Benefits paid (18.3) (13.6)
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 $153.7 $156.8
Funded status $(186.4) $(126.8)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 53.4 13.3
Unrecognized transition obligation 0.2 0.3
Unrecognized prior service cost 5.9 5.7

Net amount recognized $(126.9) $(107.5)
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsist of:

Pension Benefits

(millions) 2002 2001
Prepaid benefit cost $ 63 $ 6.0
Accrued benefit liability (152.6) (119.6)
Intangible asset 3.9 0.5
Other comprehensive income 155 5.6
Net amount recognized $(126.9) $(107.5)
Non-U.S. pension plans with benefit obligations Pension Benefits
in excess of assets (millions) 2002 2001
Projected benefit obligation, December 31 $340.1 $123.0
Accrued benefit obligation, December 31 300.2 117.8
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 153.7 2.3

The components of pension cost are as follows:

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Service cost of benefits earned during the year $ 8.1 $ 79 $7.2
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 15.9 154 14.6
Expected return on plan assets (11.2) (11.0) (9.9)
Amortization of transition obligation 0.1 0.4 0.2
Amortization of prior service cost 0.6 0.2 1.0
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 0.2 - (0.2)
Net periodic pension cost $13.7 $12.9 $13.0

The funded status of non-U.S. defined-benefit plaas determined using the following assumptions:

Pension Benefits

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans 2002 2001
Weighted-average assumption as of December 31:

Discount rate 5.49% 5.49%
Expected return on plan assets 6.54% 6.35%
Rate of compensation increase 3.71% 3.72%

Costs for other defined contribution benefit plansl multiemployer pension plans were $9.9 millior2002, $11.9 million in 2001, and $1
million in 2000.
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NOTE 19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AHI does not hold or issue financial instrumentstfading purposes. The estimated fair values of @\fihancial instruments are as follows:

2002 20 01
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

(millions at December 31) amount fair value amount fair value
Assets/(Liabilities):

Debt subject to compromise $(1,400.7) $(600.2)  $(1,400.7) $(739.6)

Long-term debt, including current portion (46.6) (46.6) (56.4) (56.4)

Foreign currency contract obligations (4.6) (4.6) 1.7 1.7

Natural gas contracts 3.9 3.9 (5.2) (5.2)

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalegdsjvables, accounts payable and accrued expestssterm debt and current
installments of long-term debt approximate fairnebecause of the short-term maturity of theseunsnts. The fair value estimates of long-
term debt were based upon quotes from major firdirtstitutions taking into consideration curreates offered to AHI for debt of the same
remaining maturities. The fair value estimatesooéign currency contract obligations are estimétech national exchange quotes. The fair
value estimates of natural gas contracts are efgihigy obtaining quotes from major financial ingiitns and energy companies.

AHI utilizes lines of credit and other commerciahemitments in order to ensure that adequate furelaailable to meet operating
requirements. On December 31, 2002, AHI's foreigrsiliaries had available lines of credit totaltf..1 million, of which $5.9 million was
used, leaving $45.2 million of unused lines of d@réat borrowing on December 31, 2002.

On December 31, 2002, AHI had outstanding lettérsedit totaling $59.6 million, of which $28.7 nidn was issued under the DIP Facility.
The DIP Facility had $46.3 million that remained#able for issuance of letters of credit as of &aber 31, 2002. Letters of credit are iss
to third party suppliers, insurance and finanaiatitutions and can only be drawn upon in the eeéitHI's failure to pay its obligations to
the beneficiary. Standby letters of credit are ently arranged through AWI's DIP Facility with JRMan Chase. Certain standby letters of
credit arranged with Wachovia and Bank of Ameridaro the Filing have been extended to their eesipe expiration dates.

NOTE 20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AHI is exposed to market risk from changes in fgneturrency exchange rates, interest rates and odityprices that could impact its
results of operations and financial condition. Aldks financial instruments, including fixed andafale rate debt, as well as swap, forward
and option contracts to finance its operationstarttedge interest rate, currency and commodity sxy@s. AHI regularly monitors
developments in the capital markets and only emtéoscurrency and swap transactions with estabtistounter-parties having investment
grade ratings. Exposure to individual counterparisecontrolled, and thus Armstrong considers igleaf counterparty default to be
negligible. Swap, forward and option contractsartered into for periods consistent with underly@éxgosure and do not constitute positions
independent of those exposures. AHI uses derivéitiamcial instruments as risk management toolsrasidor speculative trading purposes.
In addition, derivative financial instruments argezed into with a diversified group of major firtdal institutions and energy companies in
order to manage Armstrong's exposure to nonperfaecman such instruments.

Interest Rate RiskBue to AWI's Chapter 11 Filing, all affected delats classified as liabilities subject to compronaed there were no op
interest rate derivatives as of December 31, 20@22801.
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Currency Rate Risk - AHI manufactures and sellpitglucts in a number of countries throughout thedvand, as a result, is exposed to
movements in foreign currency exchange rates. [aoge extent, AHI's global manufacturing and saleside a natural hedge of foreign

currency exchange rate movement, as foreign currexggenses generally offset foreign currency reesnit December 31, 2002, AHI's

major foreign currency exposures are to the Canadtilar, the Euro and the British pound.

AHI has used foreign currency forward exchangereats and purchased options to reduce its expasuhe risk that the eventual net cash
inflows and outflows, resulting from the sale obguct to foreign customers and purchases fromdarsuppliers, will be adversely affected
by changes in exchange rates. These derivativeimsnts are used for forecasted transactions andassified as cash flow hedges. These
transactions allow AHI to further reduce its oveexdposure to exchange rate movements, since the gad losses on these contracts offset
losses and gains on the transactions being he@gads and losses on these instruments are deferatder comprehensive income until the
underlying transaction is recognized in earnindg et fair value of these instruments at Decer@lbeP002 was an asset of $1.7 million, all
of which is expected to be charged to earninghémiext twelve months. The earnings impact is tepdn either net sales or cost of goods
sold to match the underlying transaction being leedd he earnings impact of these hedges was netialaduring 2002.

AHI also uses foreign currency forward exchangetreats to hedge exposures created by cross-curisterycompany loans. The underlying
inter-company loans are classified as short-terchteanslation adjustments related to these loamsemorded in other income. The related
derivative contracts are classified as fair valaddes and the offsetting gains and losses on twgmcts are also recorded in other income.
The fair value of these instruments at DecembeRB@2 was a $6.3 million liability, all of which expected to be charged to earnings in the
next twelve months. During 2002, the net earninggaict of these hedges was $0.3 million, recordedhiar income, which was comprised of
a loss of approximately $27.7 million from the figre currency forward exchange contracts substaniidiiset by the 2002 translation
adjustment of approximately $28.0 million for thederlying inter-company loans.

Commodity Price Risk - AHI purchases natural gasi&e in the manufacture of ceiling tiles and oftreducts and to heat many of its
facilities. As a result, AHI is exposed to movenseintthe price of natural gas. AHI has a policyrafiimizing cost volatility by purchasing
natural gas forward contracts, purchased call aptiand zero-cash collars. These instruments aigriged as cash flow hedges. The mark-
to-market gain or loss on qualifying hedges isudeld in other comprehensive income to the extdatife, and reclassified into cost of
goods sold in the period during which the undedyimoducts are sold. The mark-to-market gains ssde on ineffective portions of hedges
are recognized in cost of goods sold immediatehe fair value of these instruments at DecembeRB02 was a $3.9 million asset, of which
$3.3 million is expected to be charged to earningbe next twelve months. The earnings impactenfges that matured during 2002,
recorded in cost of goods sold, was a $2.4 mikirpense. The earnings impact of the ineffectivéigoiof these hedges was not material
during 2002.

NOTE 21. GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2002, Armstrong maintained agezgs with the lending institutions of severaltsfdistributors. Under these
agreements, if a distributor were to default orbdsrowings and the lender foreclosed on the asfetdank could return a large part of any
Armstrong product still at the distributor (subjéetcertain quality and roll size minimums) foredund of original cost. The last agreement
will expire in February 2004. At December 31, 200®, amount of inventory held at these distributeas less than $8.0 million. No claim
has been made under any of these agreements ando&klinot anticipate any such claims in the futéieesuch, no liability has been recor
for these agreements.

In disposing of assets through mid 2000, AWI antesubsidiaries had entered into contracts th&ided various indemnity provisions,
covering such matters as taxes, environmentalitielsiand asbestos and other litigation. Somée$é¢ contracts had exposure limits, but
many did not. Due to the
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nature of the indemnities, there is no way to estinthe potential maximum exposure under theseaxiat As a debtor-in-possession, for
those contracts that are still executory where A¥ds the sole guarantor, AWI anticipates rejectimasé contracts effective the date of Fili
Parties having claims under those contracts coaMe filed claims in AWI's Chapter 11 Case, which b dealt with as part of the Case.
AWI cannot estimate the value of any potentialmmkathat will ultimately be allowed by the Court.eSdote 1 regarding Proceedings under
Chapter 11.

Subsidiaries that are not part of the Chapter lihig-also entered into certain contracts that idetlivarious indemnity provisions similar to
those described above. Since these subsidiariesapart of the Chapter 11 filing, these contractstinue to be in effect. Some of these
contracts had exposure limits, but many did note Buthe nature of the indemnities, there is no teagstimate the potential maximum
exposure under all these contracts. For contrateruwhich an indemnity claim has been receivdihdlity of $1.4 million has been
recorded as of December 31, 2002. See Note 32diagdritigation for additional information.

In September 1999, Armstrong sold its Textiles Botsl operations. As part of the divestiture agregm&rmstrong transferred certain
liabilities and assets to the purchaser to covesipa payments earned by the workforce as of tleedsde. Armstrong also will reimburse the
purchaser for such pension payments that are mered by the pension assets. In addition, Armstadag agreed to reimburse the purchaser
for the tax impact of Armstrong's reimbursementhaf pension payments. This agreement has no tetiiorirdate. As of December 31, 2002,
Armstrong maintained a $1.2 million liability fdnis guarantee and the maximum payments could bespmately $2.6 million, excluding

any amounts paid for tax reimbursement.

See Notes 4 and 24 for a discussion of the ESQPdoarantee.

NOTE 22. PRODUCT WARRANTIES

AHI provides direct customer and end-user warrarfoe its products. These warranties cover manufang defects that would prevent the
product from performing in line with its intendeddamarketed use. Generally, the terms of theseawt@s range up to 25 years and provide
for the repair or replacement of the defective pmidAHI collects and analyzes warranty claims deth a focus on the historic amount of
claims, the products involved, the amount of timéneen the warranty claims and their respectivessaihd the amount of current sales. The
following table illustrates the activity for produgarranties for 2002:

(millions) 2002
Balance at beginning of year $ 19.2
Reductions for payments (38.5)
Current year warranty accruals 41.8
Preexisting warranty accrual changes (1.2)
Effects of foreign exchange translation 14
Balance at end of year - e
$ 22.7
NOTE 23. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
(millions) 2002 2001
Long-term deferred compensation arrangements $41.5 $42.2
Environmental liabilities not subject to compromise 9.8 10.2
Other 23.7 24.4
Total other long-term liabilities $75.0 $76.8
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NOTE 24. RETIREMENT SAVINGS AND STOCK OWNERSHIP PLA N (RSSOP)

In 1989, Armstrong established an Employee Stock&ship Plan ("ESOP") that borrowed $270 millioonfrbanks and insurance
companies, repayable over 15 years and guaranie@ivibh. The ESOP used the proceeds to purchase 3684hares of a new series of
convertible preferred stock issued by Armstrondgl986, the ESOP was merged with the Retiremenih8awlan for salaried employees (a
defined-contribution pension plan) to form the Retient Savings and Stock Ownership Plan ("RSS@®i)July 31, 1996, the trustee of the
ESOP converted the preferred stock held by thé itntcs approximately 5.1 million shares of commaock at a one-for-one ratio.

The number of shares released for allocation tigigaant accounts has been based on the propatiprincipal and interest paid to the total
amount of debt service remaining to be paid ovelife of the borrowings. Through December 31, 2088 RSSOP allocated 2,593,000
shares to participants that remain outstandindigiaants retired 1,831,000 shares, AHI contribuaadadditional 437,000 shares from its
treasury and the trustee purchased 243,000 sharthe @pen market to allocate to employees. Asafedinber 31, 2002, there were
approximately 1,912,000 shares in the RSSOP ththyéito be allocated to participants.

All RSSOP shares are considered outstanding foiiregs per share calculations. Historically, divideron allocated shares were credited to
employee accounts while dividends on unallocatedeshwere used to satisfy debt service payments.

AHI recorded costs for the RSSOP of $4.5 millior2002, $3.5 million in 2001 and $10.5 million inG which related to company
contributions. During the fourth quarter of 2000//Aamended the RSSOP to provide for a cash mateimployee contributions in lieu of t
stock match. AHI recorded an expense of $4.5 millin2002, $3.5 million in 2001 and $0.5 million2000 related to the cash match.

See Note 32 for information regarding an audith®y Department of Labor.

The RSSOP currently covers parent company nonwemgployees, some parent company union employeesd\Maooring salaried
employees, and Cabinets salaried employees.

Details of ESOP debt service payments (millions) 2000
Common stock dividends paid $45
Employee contributions 1.2
Company contributions 7.0
Company loans to ESOP 7.3
Debt service payments made by ESOP trustee $20.0

On November 22, 2000, AWI failed to repay $50 raillin commercial paper that was due. Subsequeh#yremaining ESOP bond principal
balance of $142.2 million became immediately pagabbng with a $15.5 million interest and tax makesle premium. ESOP debt service
payments have not been made since June 2000.&5sikh of the Chapter 11 filing, AWI's guarantedgh@se ESOP loan obligations of $157.7
million is now classified as a liability subject¢ompromise.

The trustee borrowed from AWI $7.3 million in 2080d $12.9 million in 1999. These loans were madmgure that the financial
arrangements provided to employees remained censisith the original intent of the RSSOP. Suchkbeeceivable were included as a
component of shareholders' equity. In December 2id0€bnnection with the Chapter 11 Filing of AWAdchdefault on RSSOP loan
obligations, AHI recorded an impairment charge 48.8 million related to these loans receivableig@wof the fact that the only asset of the
RSSOP consisted of the stock of AHI which had disfiad substantially in value. The impairment wanrded as a component of Chapte
reorganization costs. In July 2001, the Court inBS\VChapter 11 Case authorized the Board of DireaibArmstrong to forgive the entire
amount of all principal and interest on outstandoans to the RSSOP.
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NOTE 25. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Awards under the 1993 Long-Term Stock Incentiven®14993 Plan") were made in the form of stock @psi, stock appreciation rights in
conjunction with stock options, performance restdcshares and restricted stock awards. No addlteamards may be issued under the 1993
Plan.

During 1999, AHI adopted the 1999 Long-Term IncemtPlan ("1999 Plan") which replaced the 1993 Pl 1999 Plan is similar to the
1993 Plan in that it provides for the grantingrideéntive stock options, nonqualified stock optiagsteck appreciation rights, performance-
restricted shares and restricted stock awards19B8 Plan also incorporates stock awards and oashtive awards. No more than 3,250,
shares of common stock may be issued under the RIg®9 and no more than 300,000 of the shares mayharded in the form of
performance restricted shares, restricted stockdsna@ stock awards. The 1999 Plan does not alleards to be granted after April 25, 201
Pre-1999 grants made under predecessor plansengibberned under the provisions of those plans.

During 2000, AHI adopted the Stock Award Plan ("@@an") to enable stock awards and restrictecksda@rds to officers, key employees
and non-employee directors. No more than 750,32ty shares may be awarded under the 2000 Piar20DO0 Plan will remain in effect
until the earlier of the grant of all the shardswaéd under the plan or termination of the plarthey Board of Directors.

All of the three plans discussed above will be feated upon the effective date of AWI's plan ofrgamization.

Approximately 1,702,000 stock options were candedls a result of a restricted stock for stock apérchange program offered to employ
in 2000. Employees other than the CEO holding stptions were given a one-time opportunity to exgeatheir stock options with exercise
prices above $50 per share for shares of AHI i&stiistock based on specified conversion ratios.sHares issued under this exchange
program were issued under the 2000 Plan and wiyevisted by August 2002. Expenses related toahent were $0.1 million in 2002, $0.7
million in 2001 and $1.5 million in 2000.

Options are granted to purchase shares at pricdessothan the closing market price of the sharethe dates the options are granted. The
options generally become exercisable in one tethiears and expire 10 years from the date of grant.

Changes in option shares outstanding

(thousands except for share price) 2002 2001 2000
Option shares at beginning of year 2,682.6 2,777.5 3,509.5
Options granted - 100.0 1,818.5
Option shares exercised - - -
Options cancelled (173.8 ) (194.9) (2,550.5)
Option shares at end of year 2,508.8 2,682.6 2,777.5
Option shares exercisable at end of year 1,963.5 1,551.7 973.3
Shares available for grant 4,285.6 4,161.5 4,068.7
Weighted average price per share:

Options outstanding $ 30.52 $ 30.36 $ 30.69
Options exercisable 34.50 39.51 48.92
Options granted N/A 3.60 18.24
Option shares exercised N/A N/A N/A
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The table below summarizes information about stgations outstanding at December 31, 2002. (thowsardept for life and share price)

Options outst anding Options exercisab le
Weighted-

Number average Weighted- Number Weig hted-
Range of outstanding remaining average exercisable ave rage
exercise prices at 12/31/02 contractual | ife exercise price at 12/31/02  exercis e price
$1.19 - $18.00 300.0 7.9 $7.05 166.7 $7 .75
$18.01 - $19.50 1,299.2 7.2 19.44 888.6 19 44
$19.51 - $46.00 332.7 1.9 41.83 331.3 41 .92
$46.01 - $59.00 209.5 4.0 52.07 209.5 52 .07
$59.01 - $84.00 367.4 4.0 66.34 367.4 66 .34

2,508.8 1,963.5

Performance restricted shares issuable under @@ d®d 1999 plans entitle certain key executiveleyges to earn shares of AHI's common
stock, but only if the total company or individumisiness units meet certain predetermined perfarenareasures during defined performance
periods (generally three years). At the end ofgrenince periods, common stock awarded may carnyiaaa restriction periods, during

which time AHI will hold the shares in custody urkie expiration or termination of restrictions. @pensation expense is charged to earnings
over the performance period. There were no shdnesrformance restricted common stock outstandirgezember 31, 2002.

Restricted stock awards can be used for the puspafsecruitment, special recognition and retentbkey employees. No award of restric
stock shares was granted in 2002. At the end o2 2@re were 143,433 restricted shares of comnumk sutstanding with 2,613
accumulated dividend equivalent shares.

SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensdt permits entities to continue to apply theyisons of APB Opinion No. 25 and
provide pro forma net earnings and pro forma eaper share disclosures. Had compensation cadfsefee plans been determined
consistent with SFAS No. 123, AHI's net earningd aarnings per share would have been reduced foltbesing pro forma amounts.

(millions) 2002 2001 2000

As reported $(2,142.8 ) $92.8 $12.2
Pro forma (2,143.3 ) 90.6 7.0

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

As reported (52.91 ) 2.29 0.30
Pro forma (52.92 ) 2.24 0.17

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

As reported (52.91 ) 2.27 0.30
Pro forma (52.92 ) 2.22 0.17
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The fair value of grants was estimated on the daggant using the Black-Scholes option pricing relogith the weighted-average
assumptions for 2001 and 2000 presented in the tadbw. The weighted-average fair value of stqukoms granted in 2001 and 2000 was
$1.21 and $2.08 per share, respectively. There me@stock options granted in 2002.

2001 2000
Risk-free interest rate 4.57% 6.48%
Dividend yield 0% 9.50%
Expected life 5years 5years
Volatility 28% 28%

NOTE 26. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
Employee compensation is presented in the tabtesb&lharges for severance costs and early retiremesntives to terminated employees
(otherwise recorded as restructuring charges) haea excluded.

Employee compensation cost (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Wages and salaries $698.3 $685.3 $669.3
Payroll taxes 76.1 74.2 73.9
Pension credits, net (15.6 ) (32.0) (34.8)
Insurance and other benefit costs 106.7 92.3 67.2
Stock-based compensation 0.9 2.7 4.4
Total $866.4 $8225 $780.0

The increases in insurance and other benefit eostprimarily related to increased medical beroefts.

NOTE 27. LEASES

AHI rents certain real estate and equipment. Séleases include options for renewal or purchasd,cntain clauses for payment of real
estate taxes and insurance. In most cases, manapexpects that in the normal course of businessds will be renewed or replaced by
other leases. As part of the Chapter 11 Case, AWétlecide whether to assume, assume and assigrjedrprepetition unexpired leases
and other prepetition executory contracts. AWI basn granted an extension until July 15, 2003 byQburt to make these decisions with
respect to prepetition unexpired leases of reglgmty and this date may be further extended. Wipect to prepetition executory contracts
and unexpired leases not related to real estatd, #/until confirmation of a reorganization plamtake these decisions unless such time is
shortened by the Court. The accompanying finarste&bements do not reflect any adjustment relatedsomption or rejection of such
agreements.

Rental expense was $20.5 million in 2002, $19.1lionilin 2001 and $21.5 million in 2000. Future mimim payments at December 31, 2002,
by year and in the aggregate, having noncanceleé$e terms in excess of one year were as follows:

Capital Operating

Scheduled minimum lease payments (millions) Leases Leases
2003 $1.4 $15.0
2004 2.6 11.7
2005 1.7 7.8
2006 1.0 5.0
2007 0.7 3.0
Thereafter 0.3 9.8
Total $7.7 $52.3
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AHI has capital leases that have lease paymentextend until 2018.

sheets as follows:

(millions)

Land

Building

Machinery

Less accumulated amortization

Net assets

NOTE 28. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Treasury share changes for 2002, 2001 and 200és&@lows:

Years ended December 31 (thousands) 2002
Common shares
Balance at beginning of year 11,176.6
Stock purchases 24.7
Stock issuance activity, net -
Balance at end of year 11,201.3

Assets under capital leasesrauded in the consolidated balance

2002 2001
$38 $38
4.1 41
25.2 26.1
(9.5)  (10.0)
$23.6 $24.0

2001 2000
11,034.3 11,628.7
145.3 90.8
(3.0) (685.2)
11,176.6 11,034.3

Stock purchases represent shares received und&rlssed compensation plan forfeitures and shareithholding transactions.

The balance of each component of accumulated otmaprehensive loss as of December 31, 2002 andi&@B#&sented in the table below.

(millions)

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative (gain)/loss, net

Minimum pension liability adjustments

Total

$5.1)
(3.6)
20.9

The related tax effects allocated to each compowiesther comprehensive income (loss) for 2002paesented in the table below.

(millions)

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative gain, net
Minimum pension liability adjustments

Total

100

Pre-tax = Tax Expense  After tax
Amount (Benefit) Amount
$37.7 $37.7
10.6 $(3.7) 6.9
(14.4) 4.7 9.7)
$33.9 $1.0 $34.9




NOTE 29. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(millions)

Maintenance and repair costs
Research and development costs
Advertising costs

Other non-operating expense

Foreign currency translation loss, net of hedging a
Environmental expense for divested business
Impairment loss on available for sale securities
Impairment of note receivable from previous divesti
Other

Total

Other non-operating income

Interest and dividend income

Gain on sale of businesses, net

Demutualization proceeds

Foreign currency translation gain, net of hedging a
Other

Total

NOTE 30. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(millions)
Interest paid
Income taxes paid, net of refunds
Acquisitions:
Fair value of assets acquired
Cost in excess of net assets acquired
Less:
Net assets in excess of consideration
Liabilities assumed

Acquisitions cash paid, net of cash acquired

NOTE 31. RELATED PARTIES

ctivity

ture

ctivity

2002 2001
$110.7 $112.2
55.9 56.3
46.2 49.8
$ 0.3 $ 3.8
5.3 --

-- 3.2

0.2 2.0
2.4 2.8
$ 8.2 $11.8
$ 4.8 $ 4.8
0.2 3.5

0.7 4.3
0.3 0.4
$ 6.0 $13.0
2002 2001
$6.1 $84
44.4 13.3

-- 0.6

-- 5.0

- $5.6

Armstrong sold 65% of its ownership in its gasketducts subsidiary, (now known as Interface Sohsgjdnc. or "ISI") on June 30, 1999.
Armstrong still retains 35% ownership of this besia as of December 31, 2002. As part of the diuestiArmstrong agreed to continue to
purchase a portion of the felt products used imthaufacturing of resilient flooring from ISI fonanitial term of eight years. Currently,
Armstrong is required to purchase at least 75%sdkit requirements from ISI. The sale agreemésut stipulated quarterly felt price
adjustments that are based upon changing marlegspior the felt. In October 2002, the agreemerst amaended to include a cap on increi
for 2003 and 2004. Armstrong can purchase felt petgifrom another supplier if ISI's prices are mibign 10% higher than another supplier's
prices. Armstrong and ISI| are required to coopedrafroduct reformulation and new product developtmbut Armstrong is free to seek
alternatives to felt products. Additionally, Armmtig receives nominal monthly payments from ISisome logistics and administrative
services. ISI had filed a proof of claim in Armstgis Chapter 11 Case requesting payment for Armgs@repetition obligations. This mal
was settled in November 2002 with Armstrong recg\vé net payment of $0.2 million, with the BankaypCourt's approval.
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See discussion of Ardex in Note 7.
See discussion of WAVE in Note 11.

NOTE 32. LITIGATION AND RELATED MATTERS

ASBESTOS-RELATED LITIGATION

AWI is a defendant in personal injury cases ang@rty damage cases related to asbestos contairadggis. On December 6, 2000, AWI
filed a voluntary petition for relief ("the Filing'under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Codesithe court supervised reorganization
process to achieve a final resolution of its agizekability.

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Claims

Prior to filing for relief under the Bankruptcy CedAWI was a member of the Center for Claims Rdsmiuthe "Center") which handled the
defense and settlement of asbestos-related perisqungl claims on behalf of its members. The Ceptarsued broad-based settlements of
asbestos-related personal injury claims under tfaegjic Settlement Program ("SSP") and had reaagesements with law firms that
covered approximately 130,000 claims that named A%v4 defendant.

Due to the Filing, holders of asbestos-relatedgrekinjury claims are stayed from continuing tog@cute pending litigation and from
commencing new lawsuits against AWI. In additiovyAceased making payments to the Center with respexsbestos-related personal
injury claims, including payments pursuant to thisstanding SSP agreements. AWI's obligations vefipect to payments called for under
these settlements will be determined in its Chapte€Case.

A creditors' committee representing the interebsbestos personal injury claimants and an indadithas been appointed to represent the
interests of future personal injury claimants ia @hapter 11 Case. AWI's present and future asbiahility will be addressed in its Chapter
11 Case rather than through the Center and a oddtivf lawsuits in different jurisdictions throughidhe U.S. It is anticipated that all of
AWI's current and future asbestos-related persiopaly claims will be resolved in the Chapter 11s€a

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Liability In ewalng its potential asbestoslated personal injury liability prior to the Fifj, AWI reviewer
information provided by the Center including, amanlier things, recent and historical settlementwnts the incidence of past and recent
claims, the mix of the injuries of the plaintifthe number of cases pending against it and thesstattd results of broad-based settlement
discussions. Based on this review, AWI developedsiimated range for its cost to defend and resadbestos-related personal injury claims
for six years, through 2006. This estimated range large due to the limitations of the availabl@dad the difficulty of forecasting with a
certainty the numerous variables that could hafectfd AWI's actual liability for this period. AWoncluded that no amount within the ral
was more likely than any other, and therefore céélé the low end of the range as the liabilitytiea tonsolidated financial statements, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes

It is expected that the Chapter 11 process will déh all current and future asbestos-related geasinjury claims against AWI. There are
significant differences between the way the aslsesttated personal injury claims may be addressdénthe bankruptcy process and the
historical way AWI's claims were resolved. See Nbt# the Consolidated Financial Statements fahimrdiscussion on how the Chapter 11
process may address AWI's asbestos-related pelisgungl claims.

As of September 30, 2000, AWI had recorded a lighdf $758.8 million for its asbestos-related maral injury liability that it determined
was probable and estimable through 2006. Due tinttieased uncertainty created as a result of it Fthe only change made to the
previously recorded liability through the third gitea of 2002 was to record October and Novembef2&yments of $68.2 million against
the accrual. The asbestos-related personal injibjlity balance recorded at December 31, 2001 $6290.6 million, which was recorded in
liabilities subject to compromise.
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As discussed previously, AWI filed an initial PORdadisclosure statement with respect to the PO gte fourth quarter of 2002. In
March 2003, AWI filed an amended POR and disclostagement. The POR represents the product of iaigos with and is supported by
the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' Committee Unsecured Creditors' Committee and the FutlaiEn@nts' Representative. Based
upon the foregoing, the discussions AWI has hatl vepresentatives of such entities within the $asteral months and the hearings held
before the Court in the last several months, mamagé now believes that it is reasonably likely ttat claims addressed in the POR will be
satisfied substantially in the manner set fortthen POR. As a result, AWI has concluded that it e@sonably estimate its probable liability
for asbestoselated current and future personal injury claifascordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2002, AWI meded a $2.5 billion charge
increase the liability. The asbestos-related ligbdf approximately $3.2 billion at December 3002, which was treated as subject to
compromise, represents the estimated amount adlityathat is implied based upon the negotiatedhetson reflected in the POR, the total
consideration expected to be paid to the AsbedtdsuRt pursuant to the POR and a recovery valuegmtage for the allowed claims of the
Asbestos PI Trust that is equal to the estimatedvery value percentage for the allowed non-asbasteecured claims. Pursuant to the POR,
all current and future asbestos-related persopatyiclaims will be channeled to the Asbestos RIstifor resolution and, upon emergence
from Chapter 11, reorganized AWI will not have aagponsibility for the claims or participate in ithesolution.

AWI is unable to predict when and if this POR via# confirmed. Therefore, the timing and terms ebhation of the Chapter 11 Case remain
uncertain. As long as this uncertainty exists, feitthanges to the recorded liability are possihte@uld be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@nwill continue to review the recorded liabilitylight of future developments in the
Chapter 11 Case and make changes to the recoadddyiif and when it is appropriate.

The $2.5 billion, fourth quarter 2002, charge tor@ase the asbestos-related personal injury fplislibefore recognition of gains from the
settlement of liabilities subject to compromise jebhwill arise at a later date as a consequentieeo€Chapter 11 process.

Collateral Requirements

During 2000, AWI had secured a bond for $56.2 millto meet minimum collateral requirements esthblisby the Center with respect to
asbestos-related personal injury claims assertaahstgAWI. On October 27, 2000, the insurance comyghat underwrote the surety bond
informed AWI and the Center of its intention notrémew the surety bond effective February 28, 2@iLFebruary 6, 2001, the Center
advised the surety of the Center's demand for patofehe face value of the bond. The surety faesiotion with the Court seeking to
restrain the Center from drawing on the bond. Tlation was not granted. On March 28, 2001, the gdiled an amended complaint in the
Court seeking similar relief. The Center has fidehotion to dismiss the amended complaint. The Qs not yet ruled on the Center's
motion or the complaint. In addition, on April 2001, AWI filed a complaint and a motion with theugt seeking an order, among other
things, enjoining the Center from drawing on thadbor, in the event the Center is permitted to doawhe bond, requiring that the proceeds
of any such draw be deposited into a Court-appraeedunt subject to further order of the Courtgtudlifred M. Wolin of the Federal
District Court for the District of New Jersey, whsoalso presiding over AWI's Chapter 11 Case, imid he would determine these matters.
Judge Wolin has not yet ruled on these matters.

Asbestos-Related property Damage Litigation Overyibars, AWI was one of many defendants in asbestated property damage claims
that were filed by public and private building owsiewith six claims pending as of June 30, 200% @laims that were resolved prior to the
Filing resulted in aggregate indemnity obligatiafisess than $10 million. To date, all paymentshefse obligations have been entirely
covered by insurance. The pending cases presegatibns of damage to the plaintiffs’ buildingsseiby asbestos-containing products and
generally seek compensatory and punitive damagtsquitable relief, including reimbursement of exgitures for removal and replacement
of such products. In the second quarter of 2000] A6 served with a lawsuit seeking class certificaof Texas residents who own propt
with asbestos-containing products. This case irdwalegations that AWI asbestos-containing prasicatsed
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damage to buildings and generally seeks compelysdéonages and equitable relief, including testingnbursement for removal and
diminution of property value. AWI vigorously denitde validity of the allegations against it in taegtions and, in any event, believes that
any costs will be covered by insurance.

Continued prosecution of these actions and the camsgment of any new asbestos property damage seierstayed due to the Filing. In
March 2002, the Court allowed certain alleged halag asbestos property damage claims to file ssgh@oof of claim against AWI. In July
2002, the Court denied the certification of thepgmged class and held that the plaintiffs' proaflaim shall only be effective as to the named
claimants. The plaintiffs' motion for leave to appt the U.S. District Court was denied by JudgaiWon October 3, 2002. As part of
determining whether AWI asbestos containing resilfoor covering products give rise to propertyrdaye liability, the Court conducted an
initial hearing on September 26 - 27, 2002 to detik type of scientific testing allowable under Bederal Rules of Evidence to prove or
disprove whether such products cause building comi@ion. On October 22, 2002, the Court granted’AV¢quested relief and ruled that
the methodology offered by the Asbestos Propertn&ge Committee in support of its claims is notiargdically valid method of

quantifying the level of asbestos contaminatioa building. On November 1, 2002, the Court diredted all property damage claimants
provide, in support of their claims, substantiatibat Armstrong flooring products were used in¢te@mants' buildings. The Court's deadline
for submission of such product identification do@mation was February 10, 2003. Prior to the Coddadline, AWI reached an agreement
in principle to settle approximately 360 propergnthge claims, which alleged damages of $0.2 bjlimn$2 million. Any amounts to be p:
are expected to be funded by insurance. This sedtieis subject to the Court's approval, whiclchesluled to be heard by the Court on April
4, 2003. Additionally, 130 property damage claimsdbeen disallowed or withdrawn. Approximately pd@perty damage claims totaling
$0.6 billion will remain unresolved if the settlentés approved. Only 26 of these 100 remaining eriypdamage claims submitted product
identification by the February 10, 2003 deadlinfemed to above.

Consistent with prior periods and due to increasezkrtainty, AWI has not recorded any liabilityateld to asbestos-related property damage
claims as of December 31, 2002. See Note 1 of tmes@lidated Financial Statements for further disursof property damage claims in the
Chapter 11 Case. A separate creditors' commitesenting the interests of property damage asbekionants has been appointed in the
Chapter 11 Case.

Insurance Recovery Proceedings

A substantial portion of AWI's primary and excessiaining insurance asset is nonproducts (genaflity) insurance for personal injury
claims, including among others, those that invaliteged exposure during AWI's installation of asbgsnsulation materials. AWI has ente
into settlements with a number of the carriersIkésg its coverage issues. However, an alternatigpute resolution ("ADR") procedure was
commenced against certain carriers to determinpeéheentage of resolved and unresolved claimsatigabonproducts claims, to establish the
entitlement to such coverage and to determine venethd how much reinstatement of prematurely exkdysoducts hazard insurance is
warranted. The nonproducts coverage potentialljl@e is substantial and includes defense costsldition to limits.

During 1999, AWI received preliminary decisiongli initial phases of the trial proceeding of tHeR\ which were generally favorable to
AWI on a number of issues related to insurance iamee However, during the first quarter of 200heav trial judge was selected for the
ADR. The new trial judge conducted hearings in 280d determined not to rehear matters decidedéprivious judge. In the first quarter
of 2002, the new trial judge concluded the ADRIpiaceeding with findings in favor of AWI on substially all key issues. Liberty Mutual,
the only insurer that is still a party to the ADRs appealed that final judgment. Appellate argurogginally scheduled for October 2002
was adjourned and was held on March 11, 2003.1in2002, AWI filed a lawsuit against Liberty Mutuia the Federal District Court for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania seeking, amongratings, a declaratory judgment with respectetitain policy issues not subject to
binding ADR.
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One of the insurance carriers, Reliance Insurammregany, was placed under an order of liquidatiothigyPennsylvania Insurance
Department during October 2001 due to financidialifties. The order of liquidation prohibits Relige from making any claim payments
under the insurance policies until the liquidatomeurs. AWI intends to file a proof of claim agdiReliance by the December 2003 deadline.
It is uncertain when AWI will receive proceeds frételiance under these insurance policies.

Another insurer, Century Indemnity Company, whovpresly settled its coverage issues with AWI, haglensome of its required payments
under the settlement to a trust of which AWI iseaéficiary. During January 2002, this insurer filmdadversary action in AWI's Chapter 11
Case. Among other things, the action requests thet@o (1) declare that the settlement agreensea iexecutory contract and to compel
assumption or rejection of the agreement; (2) dedlzat the insurer need not make its present@ndef scheduled payments unless AWI
assumes the agreement; (3) declare that the insugatitled to indemnification from AWI againstyalabilities that the insurer may incur in
certain unrelated litigation in which the insurgiirivolved; and (4) enjoin the disposition of funieviously paid by the insurer to the trust
pending an adjudication of the insurer's rightseSghissues are before the Court for determinatidn®dVI believes it is highly unlikely the
insurer will prevail in this matter.

On March 5, 2003, the New Hampshire Insurance Deyant placed The Home Insurance Company ("Homedguan order of
rehabilitation. Less than $10 million of AWI's reded insurance asset is based on policies with Harieh management believes is still
probable of recovery.

Insurance Asset

An insurance asset in respect of asbestos persgmal claims in the amount of $198.1 million icoeded as of December 31, 2002 comp
to $214.1 million as of December 31, 2001. Of thtaltrecorded asset at December 31, 2002, apprtedyr35.7 million represents partial
settlement for previous claims that will be paidiifixed and determinable flow and is reportedsahét present value discounted at 6.50%.
The total amount recorded reflects AWI's belietia availability of insurance in this amount, baspdn AWI's success in insurance
recoveries, settlement agreements that provide camdrage, the nonproducts recoveries by other aaiap and the opinion of outside
counsel. Such insurance is either available thraagtlement or probable of recovery through negjotialitigation or resolution of the ADR
process. Depending on further progress of the A&dRyities such as settlement discussions withrarsee carriers party to the ADR and
those not party to the ADR, the final determinatiércoverage shared with ACandS (the former AWulason contracting subsidiary that
was sold in August 1969 and which filed for reliefder Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in Septer2®@2) and the financial condition of
the insurers, AWI may revise its estimate of prdbafisurance recoveries. Approximately $80 millafrthe $198.1 million asset is
determined from agreed coverage in place and refibre directly related to the amount of the ligilOf the $198.1 million asset, $24.0
million has been recorded as a current asset Be@#mber 31, 2002 reflecting management's estiofdte2 minimum insurance payments to
be received in the next 12 months. As of Febru@g82approximately $8.0 million of the $24.0 miflicurrent asset is past due based on a
previous settlement agreement. AWI believes catlaadf the full amount is still probable and themef has not established a reserve against
these receivables.

A significant part of the recorded asset relatdasarance that AWI believes is probable and wélidbtained through settlements with the
various carriers. Although AWI revised its recoragetestos liability by $2.5 billion in the fourtbarter of 2002, there was no increase
recorded in the estimated insurance recovery aéfete AWI believes that the process of resolvingpdted insurance coverage may resu
higher settlement amounts than recorded, therédas no increase in the recorded amounts due tnttertainties remaining in the process.
Accordingly, this asset could change significatt&sed upon resolution of the issues. Managementass that the timing of future cash
payments for the recorded asset may extend beyoyddrs.

Cash Flow Impact

As a result of the Chapter 11 Filing, AWI did noake any payments for asbestos-related claims i@ 80@001. AWI received $16.0 million
and $32.2 million in asbestos-related insurancevees during 2002 and 2001, respectively. Dutirggpendency of the Chapter 11 Case,
AWI does not expect to
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make any further cash payments for asbestos-retédgds, but AWI expects to continue to receivainasice proceeds under the terms of
various settlement agreements.

Conclusion

Based upon the events described above, managearaatto a belief that AWI's asbestos-related lighiliill be settled substantially in the
manner set forth in the POR. As a result, AWI rdedra $2.5 billion charge to increase its estiméfobable asbestos-related liability to
approximately $3.2 billion at December 31, 2002jchitwas treated as subject to compromise. TheHayrarter charge was determined by
calculating an implied liability based upon theypsions of the POR and Disclosure Statement. Howegehange was made to the estim
asbestos-related insurance recovery asset. Margrtaimties continue to exist about the matters otipg AWI's asbestos-related liability and
insurance asset. These uncertainties include thadtof the Filing and the Chapter 11 processntimaber of future claims to be filed, the
ultimate value of the asbestos liability, the impafcany potential legislation, the impact of thBR proceedings on the insurance asset and
the financial condition of AWI's insurance carriedslditionally, although a POR and Disclosure Staat have been filed with the Court,
implementation of the POR is subject to confirmati the POR in accordance with the provisionshefBankruptcy Code. AWI is unable to
predict when and if the POR will be confirmed. Téfere, the timing and terms of resolution of thea@tier 11 Case remain uncertain. As long
as this uncertainty exists, future changes toekended liability and insurance asset are possidecould be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@nwill continue to review the recorded liabiland insurance asset in light of future
developments in the Chapter 11 Case and make cham¢fge recorded amounts if and when it is apjeitgar

Environmental Matters

Most of Armstrong's manufacturing and certain ofm&trong's research facilities are affected by weri@deral, state and local environmental
requirements relating to the discharge of matedakhe protection of the environment. Armstrong hede, and intends to continue to make,
necessary expenditures for compliance with appliécabvironmental requirements at its operatinglifaas. Armstrong incurred capital
expenditures of approximately $4.5 million in 2088,8 million in 2001 and $6.2 million in 2000 askded with environmental compliance
and control facilities. Armstrong anticipates thahual expenditures for those purposes will nohgbanaterially from recent experience.
However, applicable environmental laws continueltange. As a result of continuous changes in régylaequirements, Armstrong cannot
predict with certainty future capital expendituessociated with compliance with environmental regaients.

Armstrong is involved in proceedings under the Cmhpnsive Environmental Response, Compensatiohiabdity Act ("Superfund"), and
similar state laws at approximately 22 sites. Irshuases, Armstrong is one of many potentially sasjble parties ("PRPs") which have
potential liability for the required investigati@md remediation of each site, and which in somes;dsve agreed to jointly fund that required
investigation and remediation. With regard to saites, however, Armstrong disputes the liabilibhg proposed remedy or the proposed cost
allocation among the PRPs. Armstrong may havesightontribution or reimbursement from other pgrtor coverage under applicable
insurance policies.

Armstrong has been remediating environmental cointation resulting from past industrial activitycdrtain of its former plant sites. AWI's
payments and remediation work on such sites foclwAWI is the potentially responsible party is undeview in light of the Chapter 11
Filing. The bar date for claims from several enmirental agencies has been extended into the €iester of 2003.

Estimates of Armstrong's future environmental ligpbat the Superfund sites and current or formanpsites are based on evaluations of
currently available facts regarding each individsitg and consider factors such as Armstrong'sitiesi in conjunction with the site, existing
technology, presently enacted laws and regulatmaisprior company experience in remediating cormtateid sites. Although current law
imposes joint and several liability on all part&sSuperfund sites, Armstrong's contribution torraediation of these sites is expected to be
limited by the number of other companies also iifiegt as potentially liable for site remediations A result, Armstrong's estimated liability
reflects only Armstrong's
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expected share. In determining the probabilityarftdbution, Armstrong considers the solvency @ garties, whether liability is being
disputed, the terms of any existing agreementseapdrience with similar matters. The Chapter 11eGdso may affect the ultimate amount
of such contributions.

AWI is subject to a unilateral order by the Ored@epartment of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") to caretla remedial investigation and
feasibility study and any necessary remedial deaighaction at its St. Helens, Oregon facilitynwadl as the adjacent Scappoose Bay. AWI
has denied liability for the Scappoose Bay, butdwsperated with the DEQ regarding its owned prigp&ther potentially responsible part
who are not yet subject to orders by the DEQ inelietmer site owners Owens Corning ("OC") and Ka@Ggpsum Company, Inc. OC has
entered into a settlement with the DEQ. Pursuattigcettlement, OC will make a lump sum paymerii¢oDEQ in exchange for
contribution protection (including protection agsticommon law and statutory contribution claimsdI against OC) and a covenant not to
sue. AWI has negotiated with the DEQ how these $umitl be made available for the investigation aechedial action for the site. AWI has
recorded an environmental liability with respectie St. Helens remedial investigations and felyilsitudy at its facility, but not for
Scappoose Bay because AWI continues to disputemegylity for any contamination in Scappoose Bay.

Liabilities of $21.2 million at December 31, 2002de$16.6 million at December 31, 2001 were for ptiéd environmental liabilities that
Armstrong considers probable and for which a realslenestimate of the probable liability could bedmaWhere existing data is sufficient to
estimate the liability, that estimate has been uségre only a range of probable liability is ashile and no amount within that range is more
likely than any other, the lower end of the range heen used. As assessments and remediationi@stpriogress at each site, these liabilities
are reviewed to reflect additional information elsecomes available. Due to the Chapter 11 Fifiid,.4 million of the December 31, 2002
and $6.4 million of the December 31, 2001 environtakliabilities are classified as prepetition lidgkes subject to compromise. As a general
rule, the Chapter 11 process does not preserveamyrgssets for such prepetition liabilities.

The estimated liabilities above do not take intooamt any claims for recoveries from insurancenodtparties. Such recoveries, where
probable, have been recorded as an asset in tielmtatied financial statements and are either abiglthrough settlement or anticipated tc
recovered through negotiation or litigation. Theoaimt of the recorded asset for estimated recoveréss$3.3 million and $3.8 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites magy from the estimates, given the inherent uadeties in evaluating environmental
liabilities. Subject to the imprecision in estirmafienvironmental remediation costs, Armstrong ebethat any sum it may have to pay in
connection with environmental matters in exceshefamounts noted above would not have a matehedrae effect on its financial

condition, or liquidity, although the recordingfature costs may be material to earnings in sutdréuperiod. Armstrong recorded expense of
$4.5 million, $2.1 million and $1.5 million for theears ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 200@atasgy.

Patent Infringement Claims

Armstrong is a defendant in two related lawsuignlng patent infringement related to some of Anorsg's laminate products. The plaintiffs
have claimed unspecified monetary damages. Armgtioheing defended and indemnified by its supgbeall costs and potential damages
related to the litigation.

Former Employees Claim

About 370 former Armstrong employees that were s#pd in two business divestitures in 2000 havedinbtwo purported class actions
against the Retirement Committee of AWI, certairrent and former members of the Retirement Committee Retirement Savings and
Stock Ownership Plan (RSSOP), AHI and the trustew lof the RSSOP. The cases are pending in thed)8iiates District Court (Eastern
District of PA). Similar proofs of claim have befiled against AWI in the Chapter 11 Case. Plaistdflege breach of Employee Retirement
Income Security Act (ERISA) fiduciary duties andh@t violations of ERISA pertaining to losses initiRSSOP accounts, which were
invested in Armstrong common stock. While AHI beés there are substantive defenses to the allegatiod while denying
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liability, AWI has reached an agreement to settle imatter for $1.0 million, which will be allocat@among the approximate 370 former
employees and treated as convenience claims i@liapter 11 Case. The settlement requires appréviaé Bankruptcy Court.

Department of Labor Discussions

Subsequent to an audit by the United States Depattof Labor ("DOL"), Armstrong has been informédttthe DOL is challenging the
validity of the use of certain contributions to éudebt payments made by the Armstrong EmployeekSomership Plan ("ESOP"), as
provided for by that plan. Armstrong is cooperativith the DOL to address its questions and concabosit those transactions. Armstrong
believes that it fully complied with all applicabdkewvs and regulations governing the plan, and fhezehas not recorded any liability relatec
this matter.

Inquiries Concerning World Trade Center Collapsegtrong has received inquiries from parties (inicilgdhe National Institute of Standa
and Technology or NIST) investigating the fire aoflapse at the World Trade Center in New York @itySeptember 11, 2001 concerning
the types and amounts of the company's productsvéir@ placed into the World Trade Center towemesr divne. The products manufactured
by the company that are believed to have been gliactne World Trade Center site including the Toweildings in significant amounts
included ceiling tile, floor tile (some containiegcapsulated asbestos fibers) and low temperataregsbestos) pipe insulation. The
company has not been made aware of any claimigatiibn relating to its products which were in mas of September 11, 2001.

Other Claims

Additionally, AHI, through AWI and AWI's subsidias, is involved in various other claims and legaioms involving product liability,
patent infringement, distributor termination, emptent law issues and other actions arising in tldeary course of business. While
complete assurance cannot be given to the outcéthese claims, AHI does not expect that any suah itay have to be paid in connection
with these matters will have a materially adveif$ect on its consolidated financial position ordidity, however it could be material to the
results of operations in the particular period imah a matter is resolved.

NOTE 33. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ARMSTRONG HOLDINGS INC . AND ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
The difference between the financial statemensHtifand Armstrong is primarily due to transactighat occurred in 2000 related to the
formation of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and stockiity.
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NOTE 34. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The table below provides a reconciliation of theneuators and denominators of the basic and dilpéedhare calculations for net earnings
(loss). The diluted earnings (loss) per share cdatjmns for 2002 and 2000 use the basic numbehnares due to the loss from continuing
operations.

Net Per share

Millions except for per-share data Earnings/(Loss) Shares Amo unt
For the year e nded 2002

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

Loss from continuing operations $(2,142.8) 40.5 $(52 .91)

DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

Dilutive options 0.2

Loss from continuing operations $(2,142.8) 40.7 $(52 .91)
For the year e nded 2001

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings from continuing operations $ 732 40.5 $1 .81

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Dilutive options 0.3 (0} .02)

Earnings from continuing operations $ 732 40.8 $1 .79
For the year e nded 2000

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

Loss from continuing operations $ (85.1) 40.2 $(2 12)

DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

Dilutive options 0.3

Loss from continuing operations $ (85.1) 40.5 $(2 12)

NOTE 35. PREFERRED STOCK PURCHASE RIGHTS PLAN

AHI has a shareholder rights plan under a Rightse@gent dated as of March 14, 2000 and in connethierewith distributed one right for
each share of its common stock outstanding. Inrgértbe rights become exercisable at $300 pet fagha fractional share of a new series of
Class A preferred stock 10 days after a persomauyg other than certain affiliates of AHI eitheqaires beneficial ownership of shares
representing 20% or more of the voting power of AHannounces a tender or exchange offer that gesldt in such person or group
beneficially owning shares representing 28% or nodithe voting power of AHI. If thereafter any pensor group becomes the beneficial
owner of 28% or more of the voting power of AHI,ibAHI is the surviving company in a merger witlparson or group that owns 20% or
more of the voting power of AHI, then each ownerafght (other than such 20% shareholder) wouldrigled to purchase shares of
company common stock having a value equal to tifieeexercise price of the right. Should AHI be acepliin a merger or other business
combination, or sell 50% or more of its assetsasnimgs power, each right would entitle the hokdepurchase, at the exercise price, common
shares of the acquirer having a value of twiceettexcise price of the right. The exercise price de&termined on the basis of the Board's \

of the long-term value of AHI's common stock. Tights have no voting power nor do they entitle llaoto receive dividends. At AHI's
option, the rights are redeemable prior to becorexgycisable at five cents per right. The rightgiexon March 21, 2006, unless extended or
earlier redeemed by the AHI Board of Directorghé POR discussed in Note 1 is approved and beceffeztive, and the proposed
dissolution of AHI is effected, the rights will loissolved along with the related shares of AHI canmtock.
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Independent Auditors' Report
The Board of Directors and Shareholders, Armstitdolglings, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated dinhstatements of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. andssdiaries ("the Company”) as listed
in the accompanying index on page 58. In connedatiitim our audits of the consolidated financial staénts, we also have audited the
financial statement schedule as listed in the apamying index on page 58. These consolidated finhs@atements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company'sagament. Our responsibility is to express an opinin these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAmerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6ig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as ofémweler 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of tipeirations and their cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended Deceihe2002, in conformity with accounting principlgenerally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the relafiedncial statement schedule, when consideredlation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly] imaterial respects, the information set forth éirer

The accompanying consolidated financial statemamdisfinancial statement schedule have been prepaseaning that the Company will
continue as a going concern. As discussed in Notietlie consolidated financial statements, threthefCompany's domestic subsidiaries,
including Armstrong World Industries, Inc., the Coamy's major operating subsidiary, filed separatantary petitions for relief under
Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy CodbénUnited States Bankruptcy Court on Decembef802Armstrong World Industries,
Inc. has also defaulted on certain debt obligatigdthiough these operating subsidiaries are cugremerating their businesses as debtors-in-
possession under the jurisdiction of the Bankru@owrt, the continuation of their businesses asgyobncerns is contingent upon, among
other things, the ability to formulate a plan afmganization which will gain approval of the cred# and confirmation by the Bankruptcy
Court. The filing under Chapter 11 and the resglticcreased uncertainty regarding the Companyenpiat asbestos liabilities, as discussed
in Note 32 of the consolidated financial statemeratise substantial doubt about the Company'staldlicontinue as a going concern. The
accompanying consolidated financial statementdiaadcial statement schedule do not include anysidjents that might result from the
outcome of these uncertainties.

As discussed in Note 12 of the consolidated fir@rgtatements, the Company changed its methodcofuating for goodwill and intangible
assets in 2002.

/sl KPMG LLP

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a
March 14, 2003
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidia@msolidated Statements of Earnings

(amounts in millions)

Years En ded December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net sales $3,172.3 $3,138.7  $3,248.9
Cost of goods sold 2,404.5 2,364.7 2,386.2
Gross profit 767.8 774.0 862.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses 624.9 596.6 594.8
Charge for asbestos liability, net 2,500.0 22.0 236.0
Restructuring and reorganization charges, net 1.9 9.0 18.8
Goodwill amortization - 22.8 23.9
Equity (earnings) from affiliates, net (21.7) (16.5) (18.0)
Operating income (loss) (2,337.3) 140.1 7.2
Interest expense (unrecorded contractual interest

of $99.2, $99.7, and $7.0) 13.8 13.1 102.9
Other non-operating expense 8.2 11.8 3.7
Other non-operating income (6.0) (13.0) (80.4)
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net 23.5 12.5 103.3
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before i ncome taxes and

cumulative effect of a change in accounting princ iple (2,376.8) 115.7 (122.3)
Income tax expense (benefit) (827.8) 42.5 (36.8)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before ¢ umulative

effect of a change in accounting principle (1,549.0) 73.2 (85.5)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting princip le, net of tax of $2.2 (593.8) - -
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations $(2,142.8) $ 732 $ (85.5)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax of $3.9 - - 6.3
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax of $0.0 and $39.2 - (1.1) 114.8
Net loss on expected disposal of discontinued opera tions,

net of tax of $0.0 and $10.7 - (3.3) (23.8)
Net reversal of income on discontinued operations n o longer to be

disposed of, net of tax of $10.7 - 24.0 -
Earnings from discontinued operations - 19.6 97.3
Net earnings (loss) $(2,142.8) $ 928 $ 11.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanasgsients beginning on page 115.
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Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and notes receivable, net
Inventories, net
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated dep
amortization of $1,263.8 and $1,143.3, respec

Insurance receivable for asbestos-related liabiliti
Prepaid pension costs

Investment in affiliates

Goodwill, net

Other intangibles, net

Deferred income tax assets, non-current

Other noncurrent assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current liabilities:
Short-term debt
Current installments of long-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Short-term amounts due to affiliates
Income taxes

Total current liabilities

Liabilities subject to compromise

Long-term debt, less current installments
Postretirement and postemployment benefit liabiliti
Pension benefit liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Minority interest in subsidiaries

Total noncurrent liabilities

Shareholder's equity (deficit):
Common stock, $1 par value per share
Authorized 200 million shares; issued 51,878
Capital in excess of par value
Reduction for ESOP loan guarantee
Retained earnings (deficit)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Less common stock in treasury, at cost
2002 and 2001 - 11,393,170 shares

Total shareholder's equity (deficit)

Total liabilities and shareholder's equit

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidia@msolidated Balance Sheets

(amounts in millions except share data)

reciation and

tively

es, non-current

es

,910 shares

112

December 31, 2002

Decembe r31, 2001

$ 380.0
332.4
443.4
14.7
85.4

1,255.9

1,303.7

174.1
435.2
43.9
227.6
87.9
869.7
106.8

51.9
172.9
(142.2)
(902.9)
(12.2)

(528.5)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitésients beginning on page 115.

$ 277.4
323.3
436.3
115
64.1

1,112.6

1,278.6

192.1
392.9
39.6
822.8
94.1

51.9
173.2

(142.2)

1,239.9
(47.1)

(528.5)



Common stock, $1 par value:

Balance at beginning and end of year

Capital in excess of par value:

Balance at beginning of year
Stock issuances and other
Contribution of treasury stock to ESOP

Balance at end of year

Reduction for ESOP loan guarantee:

Balance at beginning of year

Principal paid

Loans to ESOP

Interest on loans to ESOP
Contribution of treasury stock to ESOP
Impairment of loans to ESOP

Accrued compensation

Balance at end of year

Retained earnings (deficit):

Balance at beginning of year
Net earnings (loss) for year
Tax benefit on dividends paid on unallocated ESOP ¢

Total
Less rights redemptions
Less common stock dividends (per share $1.44 in 200

Balance at end of year

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Balance at beginning of year

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative gain (loss), net

Realized loss on available for sale securities
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities
Minimum pension liability adjustments

Total other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance at end of year

Comprehensive income (loss)

Balance at beginning of year
Stock issuance activity, net
Contribution of treasury stock to ESOP

Balance at end of year

Total shareholder's equity (deficit)

2002

$1,239.9

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidia@mnsolidated Statements of Shareholder's Equity

(amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

2001

$1,147.1

(2,142.8) $(2,142.8) 92.8

ommon shares

$ (902.9) $1,239.9
0) ; ;
$ (902.9) $1,239.9
$ (47.1) $ (45.2)
37.7 (3.3)
6.9 (3.3)

- 2.0
9.7) 2.7
349 349 (1.9)

$ (12.2) $ (47.1)
$(2,107.9)

$ 5285 $ 5285

$ 5285  $ 5285

$(1,361.0) $ 747.2
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$(190.3)
13.2
(7.3)
(1.1)
4.1)
433
41

$1,196.2
$92.8 118 $11.8
1.2

$ (16.5)
17.2)

@.0)
(9.5)

$90.9 $(16.9)




Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidia@nsolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(amounts in millions)

Years Ende d December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss)/earnings $(2,142.8) $ 928 $ 11.8
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to n et cash
provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princi ple, net 593.8 - -
Depreciation and amortization, continuing operat ions 136.7 156.8 164.4
Depreciation and amortization, discontinued oper ations - - 41
Loss (gain) on sale of businesses, net - 0.9 (183.9)
Reversal of loss on expected disposal of discont inued business - (31.4) -
Deferred income taxes (870.3) 23.7 (35.7)
Equity (earnings) from affiliates, net (21.7) (16.5) (18.0)
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net 23.5 12,5 103.3
Chapter 11 reorganization costs payments (23.0) (15.0) (2.6)
Restructuring and reorganization charges, net of reversals 1.9 9.0 1838
Restructuring and reorganization payments (2.1) (14.1) (7.9)
Recoveries (payments) for asbestos-related claim S, net 16.0 32.2 (199.2)
Charge for asbestos liability, net 2,500.0 22.0 236.0
Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of
reorganizations, restructuring, acquisitions and dispositions
Decrease in receivables 11.7 458 37.2
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 18.1 (50.7) 13.8
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets (19.8) 25.6 (12.6)
(Increase) in other noncurrent assets (42.0) (71.0) (41.6)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and accr ued expenses 30.1 15.0 (79.3)
Increase in income taxes payable 0.1 10.1 27.6
Increase/(decrease) in other long-term liabiliti es 11.9 3.0 (23.5)
Other, net 1.4 214 151
Net cash provided by operating activities 2235 2721  27.8
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and co mputer software (125.1) (127.8) (159.1)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, disco ntinued operations - - (3.0
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired - (5.6) (6.5)
Distributions from equity affiliates 175 135 127
Proceeds from the sale of businesses - - 3299
Proceeds from the sale of assets 35 6.0 53
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activitie S (104.1) (113.9) 179.3
Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase/(decrease) in short-term debt, net (13.9) (15.8) 16.0
Issuance of long-term debt - - 34
Payments of long-term debt (9.0) (17.6) (36.3)
Cash dividends paid - - (58.1)
Purchase of common stock for the treasury, net - (0.3) (1.6)
Other, net (0.9) (4.2) 5.7
Net cash used for financing activities (23.8) (37.9) (70.9)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash eq uivalents 7.0 (2.00 (3.7)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 1026 $ 118.3 $132.5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 277.4 159.1 26.6
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 380.0 $ 277.4 $159.1

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigésients beginning on page 115.
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and SubsidiafiEstes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1. BUSINESS AND CHAPTER 11 REORGANIZATION

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. ("AWI") is a Peryhgania corporation incorporated in 1891, whichdtiger with its subsidiaries is referred
to here as "Armstrong". Through its U.S. operatiand U.S. and international subsidiaries, Armstréegigns, manufactures and sells
flooring products (resilient, wood, carpeting apass flooring) as well as ceiling systems, arothrelworld. Armstrong products are sold
primarily for use in the finishing, refurbishinganrepair of residential, commercial and institutibbuildings. Armstrong also designs,
manufactures and sells kitchen and bathroom cabinetingle and multi family homebuilders and reeleds.

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. (which together with itsbsidiaries is referred to here as "AHI") is thdlly held parent holding company of
Armstrong. Armstrong Holdings, Inc. became the pacempany of Armstrong on May 1, 2000, followingVAshareholder approval of a
plan of exchange under which each share of AWIlawematically exchanged for one share of Armstidotglings, Inc. Armstrong
Holdings, Inc. was formed for purposes of the slexehange and holds no other significant assetp@rations apart from AWI and AWI's
subsidiaries. Stock certificates that formerly esgnted shares of AWI were automatically convarttxcertificates representing the same
number of shares of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. Thbligly held debt of AWI was not affected in therigaction.

Proceedings under Chapter 11

On December 6, 2000, AWI, the major operating siiasy of AHI, filed a voluntary petition for religthe "Filing") under Chapter 11 of the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") in tthated States Bankruptcy Court for the Districelaware (the "Court") in order to
use the court-supervised reorganization proceashi@ve a resolution of its asbestos liability.cM8ing under Chapter 11 were two of
Armstrong's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Nitram Lidaiors, Inc. ("Nitram") and Desseaux CorporatioMNofth America, Inc. ("Desseaux,"
and together with AWI and Nitram, the "Debtors"helChapter 11 cases are being jointly administenelér case numbers 00-4469,D0¢0,
and 00-4471 (the "Chapter 11 Case").

AWI is operating its business and managing its pri@s as a debtor-in-possession subject to thagioas of the Bankruptcy Code. Pursuant
to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, AWI i permitted to pay any claims or obligations whigbse prior to the Filing date
(prepetition claims) unless specifically authorizgdthe Court. Similarly, claimants may not enfoars claims against AWI that arose prior
to the date of the Filing unless specifically auihed by the Court. In addition, as a debtor-ingassion, AWI has the right, subject to the
Court's approval, to assume or reject any execwomyracts and unexpired leases in existence atateeof the Filing. Parties having claims
as a result of any such rejection may file clainithwhe Court, which will be dealt with as parttbé Chapter 11 Case.

Three creditors' committees, one representing sbpsrsonal injury claimants (the "Asbestos Peakhmjury Claimants' Committee™), one
representing asbestos property damage claimart§Adbestos Property Damage Committee"), and theraepresenting other unsecured
creditors (the "Unsecured Creditors' Committee8yénbeen appointed in the Chapter 11 Case. Iniaddin individual has been appointe
represent the interests of future asbestos perggogy} claimants (the "Future Claimants' Repreagwme”). In accordance with the provisions
of the Bankruptcy Code, these parties have the tighe heard on matters that come before the Qotine Chapter 11 Case.

Plan of Reorganization

On November 4, 2002, AWI filed a Plan of Reorgaticrawith the Court and on March 14, 2003, AWI filés First Amended Plan of
Reorganization and selected exhibits (as so ameitdedeferred to in this report as the "POR"ZeTPOR has been endorsed by AHI's Board
of Directors and is supported by the Asbestos Patdojury Claimants' Committee, the Unsecured G@oest Committee and the Future
Claimants' Representative. At present, AWI hasysbreached agreement with the Asbestos ProperntyaDda Committee with respect to the
terms and provisions of the POR. The POR providesaimong
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other things, the treatment and discharge of albetition claims, including all asbestos-relateadmk. The POR excludes Armstrong's Nitram
and Desseaux subsidiaries. Implementation of thie B the treatment of claims and interests asigied\therein is subject to confirmation
of the POR in accordance with the provisions ofBaekruptcy Code. Therefore, the timing and terfngsolution of the Chapter 11 Case
remain uncertain.

Disclosure Statement

On December 20, 2002, a proposed disclosure statesith respect to the POR was filed with the CoOGm December 26, 2002, AWI filed
projected financial information with the Court ashiibit C to the disclosure statement. On March2D03, AWI filed an amended Disclosure
Statement with the Court (as so amended, it isneddo in this report as the "Disclosure Staterf)eRrior to soliciting acceptances to the
POR, the Court must approve a disclosure statetodrd included as part of the solicitation materatd find that the disclosure statement
contains adequate information to enable those gaimthe POR to make an informed judgment to acmemject the POR.

As indicated in the Disclosure Statement and itshgts, the projected financial information andivas estimates of value therein discussed
should not be regarded as representations or vigsasy AWI, AHI or any other person as to the aacy of such information or that any
such projection or valuation will be realized. TihtBormation in the Disclosure Statement, includihg projected financial information and
estimates of value, has been prepared by AWI arfth&incial advisors. This information has not baadited or reviewed by independent
accountants. The significant assumptions useddpagpation of the information and estimates of valteeincluded in Exhibit C to the
Disclosure Statement. The Bankruptcy Court hasdidbd the hearing to consider approval of the Dsate Statement for April 4, 2003.

The discussions of the POR and Disclosure Statemehis report are qualified by reference to thk text of those documents as filed with
the Court and filed for reference purposes withSkeurities and Exchange Commission. The POR ascld3ure Statement are available at
www.armstrongplan.com, where additional informatialt be posted as it becomes available.

Obijections to the Disclosure Statement

During February 2003, several parties involvechin €hapter 11 Case filed objections to the indi@kclosure Statement with the Court.
Objections were filed by, among others, Liberty Maltinsurance Company, the Center for Claims RésoluTravelers Indemnity Company
and Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, WeligdBank Minnesota, N.A., as Indenture Trustee,thrdJnofficial Committee of Sele
Asbestos Claimants. Additional objections may bedfagainst the amended Disclosure Statement. dhet Geard and addressed many of
these objections at the February 28, 2003 heafing remaining objections are expected to be addrkasthe April 4, 2003 hearing.

Asbestos Personal Injury Trust

A principal feature of the POR is the creation ofiest (the "Asbestos Pl Trust"), pursuant to sec&24(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, to which
all present and future asbestos-related persojuayinlaims, including contribution claims of cofdadants, will be channeled. In accordance
with the "524(g) injunction” to be issued by theutdn connection with the confirmation of the PORyrious entities will be protected from
suit on account of present and future asbestoterkefzersonal injury claims. These entities incluapng others, AWI, reorganized AWI,
AHI, AWI's affiliates, and their respective officeand directors. Claims resolution procedures totitiged by the Asbestos Pl Trust have
been developed. These procedures will govern tbevahce and payment by the Asbestos Pl Trust gfraent and future asbestos-related
personal injury claims. The Asbestos PI Trust idlfunded with AWI's rights to insurance providoayerage for asbestos-related personal
injury claims, as well as a share of cash, noted,cemmon stock to be issued under the POR totoredas described below.
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Consideration to Be Distributed under the POR (ditad) The Asbestos Pl Trust and the holders oéam®d claims will share in the POR
consideration that is made up of the following comgnts:

. Available Cash, which is comprised of:

. Cash available on the effective date of the P@& eeserving up to $100 million to fund ongoingeoations and making provisions for
certain required payments under the POR,

. Any cash drawn, at AWI's sole discretion, undeeait finance facility for the purpose of fundidgstributions under the POR, and

. Certain insurance proceeds related to environahematters

. Plan Notes of reorganized AWI with a term of SL@byears and/or net proceeds from any privateioffe of debt securities, and

. Substantially all of the outstanding common stotkeorganized AWI

The total amount of Plan Notes will be the greafg(i) $1.125 billion less Available Cash and @i 75 million. However, AWI will use
reasonable efforts to issue one or more privagrioffs of debt securities on, or as soon as peditcafter, the Effective Date that would y
net proceeds at least equal to the amount of tne IRbtes prescribed by the Plan. If the privateraifys are successful, the Plan Notes would
not be issued. If the offerings yield proceeds thas the amount of the Plan Notes prescribed &ytan, AWI will issue Plan Notes equal to
the difference. The private offerings, if issued| not be registered under the Securities Act @83 and may not be offered or sold in the
absent registration or an applicable exemption fregistration requirements.

The POR provides that unsecured creditors, otlzar tonvenience creditors described below, willikectheir pro rata share of:

. 34.43% of the new common stock,

. 34.43% of the first $1.05 billion of

. Up to $300 million of Available Cash and

. The principal amount of Plan Notes and/or nehgasceeds from any private debt offerings of deduturities.

. 60% of the next $50 million of Available Cash aiicduch Available Cash is less than $50 millidren 60% of Plan Notes and/or net cash
proceeds from any private debt offerings of debtigées, in an amount equal to the difference leetw$50 million and the amount of such
Available Cash, and

. 34.43% of the remaining amount of Available Casll Plan Notes and/or net cash proceeds from avgt@idebt offerings of debt
securities. The remaining amount of new commonkstAegailable Cash and Plan Notes and/or net casbegds from any private debt
offerings of debt securities, will be distributedthe Asbestos PI Trust.

Under the POR, unsecured creditors whose clainhe(dhan debt securities) are less than $10,00horelect to reduce their claims to
$10,000 will be treated as "convenience creditarg! will receive payment of 75% of their allowediol amount in cash.

Asbestos property damage claims that are stillidéspas of the effective date of the POR will barateled to a separate trust ("Asbestos PD
Trust") under the POR. If the class of asbestopguty damage claimants votes to accept the PORghestos PD Trust will be funded with
$0.5 million to $2.0 million in cash based upon thenber of disputed claims (which will be fundedlesively from the proceeds of
insurance). If the class of asbestos property darmmkgmants rejects the POR, the Court will esténihe aggregate value of asbestos property
damage claims, and the Asbestos PD Trust will bddd exclusively with rights to insurance in an amtcsufficient to provide for payment

in full of asbestos property damage claims, ufphéoaggregate amount estimated by the Court. How#Vess than 25 disputed asbestos
property damage claims remain outstanding as oéffleetive date of the POR, AWI may elect, in ibdesdiscretion, to litigate the merits of
each remaining asbestos property damage claimé#ferCourt and pay any allowed claim in full, &sh, from insurance proceeds rather
than channel the asbestos property damage claithe tdsbestos PD Trust.
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Under the POR, the existing equity interests in AMill be cancelled. The POR provides for the pdgdmistribution, with respect to existing
equity, of warrants to purchase shares of reorgan/V| (the "Warrants"). The terms of the Warrantauld all be measured from the
effective date of the POR. The Warrants:

. Would constitute 5% of the common stock of reaiged AWI on a fully diluted basis:

. Would have a 7-year exercisable term; and

. Would contain an exercise price equal to 125%efper share equity value of reorganized AWI,gased among the financial advisers for
AWI, the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' Contemitthe Unsecured Creditors' Committee, and ther&Claimants' Representative, and
which will be set forth in the Court-approved dastire statement for the POR. The Warrants are &&iiio have a value on the effective
date of the POR of approximately $40 million to $Bilion.

AHI's shareholders will have no actual vote onRI@R. If the POR is implemented, the only value thifitbe retained by AHI shareholders
the potential to receive their ratable share ofiterants if AHI's Plan of Liquidation (see discassbelow) is approved. If the shareholders
and Board of Directors of AHI do not approve AHPlan of Liquidation, AHI will not receive any Wants to distribute to its shareholders.

Consideration Value Defined by the Disclosure Stetet (unaudited) In the Disclosure Statement, asspan Effective Date of the POR of
July 1, 2003, and based on estimates of the fhievaf reorganized AWI, the total value of consatem to be distributed to the Asbestos PI
Trust, other than the asbestos product liabilisuance policies, will be approximately $2.1 bifli@nd the total value of consideration to be
distributed to holders of allowed unsecured clajaiber than convenience claims) will be approxirya$d..1 billion. Based upon the
estimated value of the POR consideration and A@étenate that unsecured claims allowed by the Gotiner than convenience claims) will
total approximately $1.65 billion, AWI estimatestiolders of allowed unsecured claims (other tavenience claims) will receive a
recovery having a value equal to approximately 86d their allowed claims. AWI's estimates of tlemsideration and potential recoveries
are based upon many assumptions, including:

. The estimated reorganization value for AWI isiEetn $2.7 billion and $3.3 billion (with a midpoiwit $3.0 billion)

. The estimated equity value of new common stodletsveen $25.60 and $34.40 per share with a mitpdi$30.00 per share (assuming a
distribution of 67.5 million shares of new commaack to holders of unsecured claims and the Aslsd3tdrust)

. The Plan Notes will be in the aggregate princgrabunt of $775 million and are worth their facéuea

. AWI expects to have Available Cash of approxirya®350 million

. The estimated value of the Warrants is betwe@rilion and $50 million

AHI's Plan of Liquidation

In connection with the consummation of the POR gkisting equity interests in AWI will be cancellexhd the common stock of reorganized
AWI will be held principally by AWI's unsecured diéors and the Asbestos Pl Trust. The POR contebepthat AHI will propose to its
shareholders that it adopt a plan for winding ug dissolving itself. The POR provides that, in arfitle AHI to receive the Warrants, the
shareholders and Board of Directors of AHI mustrape AHI's Plan of Liquidation within one year aftBe occurrence of the effective date
under the POR. If such approval is not obtaineg hibider of AWI's existing equity interest will natceive the Warrants. The POR provides
that reorganized AWI will pay any costs and expsriseurred in connection with AHI's Plan of Liquitten. More information regarding the
contemplated dissolution and winding up of AHI vii# made available to AHI shareholders in the &utur
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Structure of Reorganized AWI

As disclosed within the 2002 third quarter FormQ@ing, AWI had planned to effectuate a "divisiaimder the Pennsylvania Business
Corporation Law in connection with the consummatibthe POR. Under the planned division, reorgahix@/| was to separate into a
holding company and separate wholly-owned subsetiararrying out its major lines of business. Aftether analysis and review, the
previously contemplated division will no longer acand AWI will emerge from bankruptcy protectiomthe parent and primary operating
company.

Common Stock and Debt Securities

As a result of filing the POR on November 4, 2002, New York Stock Exchange stopped trading orEtkehange of the common stock of
AHI (traded under the ticker symbol "ACK") and twlebt securities of AWI (traded under the ticker bpis "AKK" and "ACK 08"). AHI's
common stock has resumed trading in the over-thexen (OTC) Bulletin Board under the ticker symb®CKHQ" and one of AWI's debt
securities has resumed trading under the tickebsytAKKWQ".

Bar Date for Filing Claims

The Court established August 31, 2001 as the karfdaall claims against AWI except for asbestelsted personal injury claims and certain
other specified claims. A bar date is the date hiclwclaims against AWI must be filed if the claim&wish to participate in any distribution
in the Chapter 11 Case. The Court has extendedktheate for claims from several environmental agenuntil the first quarter of 2003. On
March 1, 2002, the Court allowed certain holderalte#fged asbestos property damage claims to filass proof of claim against AWI and
extended the bar date for ashestos property daotaiges to March 20, 2002. In July 2002, the Coentidd the certification of the proposed
class and held that the plaintiffs' proof of clahall only be effective as to the named claimahtisar date for asbestastated personal inju
claims (other than claims for contribution, indefiwation, or subrogation) has not been set.

Approximately 4,600 proofs of claim (including l&fiied claims) totaling approximately $6.2 billi@ileging a right to payment from AWI
were filed with the Court in response to the Auddst2001 bar date, which are discussed below. gdkitinues to investigate claims. The
Court will ultimately determine liability amountbdt will be allowed as part of the Chapter 11 pssce

In its ongoing review of the filed claims, AWI hakentified and successfully objected to approxifyate300 claims totaling $1.6 billion.
These claims were primarily duplicate filings, oaithat were subsequently amended or claims thatarrelated to AWI. The Court
disallowed these claims with prejudice.

Approximately 1,000 proofs of claim totaling appimately $1.9 billion are pending with the Courttthae associated with asbestos-related
personal injury litigation, including direct persdninjury claims, claims by co-defendants for cdmition and indemnification, and claims
relating to AWI's participation in the Center fola@ins Resolution (the "Center”). As stated abolre,dar date of August 31, 2001 did not
apply to asbestoelated personal injury claims other than clainrscfantribution, indemnification, or subrogation.eTROR contemplates tF
all asbestos-related personal injury claims, inicigalaims for contribution, indemnification, ortsegation, will be addressed in the future
pursuant to the procedures to be developed in abionewith the POR. See further discussion regardikVvI's liability for asbestos-
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related matters in Note 32 of the Consolidated fére Statements.

Approximately 500 proofs of claim totaling approxtaly $0.8 billion alleging asbestos-related propdamage are pending with the Court.
Most of these claims were new to AWI and many vegeriemitted with insufficient documentation to asdésdr validity. As part of
determining whether AWI asbestos containing resilf®or covering products give rise to propertyrdage liability, the Court conducted an
initial hearing on September 26 - 27, 2002 to deditk type of scientific testing allowable undex Brederal Rules of Evidence to prove or
disprove whether such products cause building comi@ion. On October 22, 2002, the Court granted’AVquested relief and ruled that
the methodology offered by the Asbestos Propertm@ge Committee in support of its claims is notiargdically valid method of
guantifying the level of asbestos contaminationa uilding. On November 1, 2002, the Court dire¢ted all property damage claimants
provide, in support of their claims, substantiatibat Armstrong flooring products were used in¢k@mants' buildings. The Court's deadline
for submission of such product identification do@ntation was February 10, 2003. Prior to the Codeadline, AWI reached an agreement
in principle to settle approximately 360 propergnthage claims, which alleged damages of $0.2 bjlfienapproximately $2 million. Any
amounts to be paid are expected to be funded lyanse. This settlement is subject to the Coupfsaval, which is scheduled to be hearc
the Court on April 4, 2003. Additionally, 130 prapedamage claims have been disallowed or withdraypproximately 100 property
damage claims totaling $0.6 billion will remain asolved if the settlement is approved. Only 2éheke approximately 100 remaining
property damage claims submitted product identificeby the February 10, 2003 deadline referreahiove. AWI expects to continue
vigorously defending any asserted asbestos-refatguerty damage claims in the Court. AWI believet it has a significant amount of
existing insurance coverage available for asbestiased property damage liability, with the amoultimately available dependent upon,
among other things, the profile of the claims tinaty be allowed by the Court. AWI's history of prdgelamage litigation prior to the Chap
11 filing is described in Note 32 of the ConsolethFinancial Statements.

Approximately 1,800 claims totaling approximatell.$ billion alleging a right to payment for finangi, environmental, trade debt and other
claims are pending with the Court. For these categmf claims, AWI has previously recorded appnoiely $1.6 billion in liabilities. AWI
continues to investigate the claims to determiedr talidity.

AWI continues to evaluate claims filed in the Cleadtl Case. AWI has recorded liability amountsclaims whose value can be reasonably
estimated and which it believes are probable aidpailowed by the Court. During the fourth quadg&2002, AWI recorded a $2.5 billion
charge to increase its estimate of probable asbestated liability based on the developments e@hapter 11 Case. See Note 32 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dis@mn. At this time, it is impossible to reasonatdyimate the value of all the claims that
will ultimately be allowed by the Court. Howeverid likely the value of the claims ultimately alted by the Court will be different than
amounts presently recorded by AWI and could be rizdt® AWI's financial position and the resultsitsf operations. Management will
continue to review the recorded liability in lightfuture developments in the Chapter 11 Case aaicernhanges to the recorded liability if
and when it is appropriate.

Financing

On November 1, 2002, the Court announced it hadoapp AWI's motion to reduce the amount of its delim-possession credit facility (the
"DIP Facility") from $200 million to $75 million, leninate the revolving credit borrowing featuretaia the letter of credit issuance facility
and extend the maturity date to December 8, 2083fDecember 31, 2002, AWI had approximately $28illion in letters of credit which
were issued pursuant to the DIP Facility. As of &aber 31, 2002, AWI had $76.4 million of cash aaslcequivalents, excluding cash held
by its non-debtor subsidiaries. The decrease flan$205.9 million of cash and cash equivalentepte&nber 30, 2002 is primarily due to an
intercompany payment of $120 million from AWI tavaolly owned non-debtor subsidiary under a licemgeeement for use of intangible
assets and intellectual property. This payment doggsffect Armstrong's consolidated cash balaAb¥l believes that cash on hand and
generated from operations and dividends from ibsisliaries, together with lines of credit and th® Bacility, will be adequate to address its
foreseeable
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liquidity needs. Obligations under the DIP Facilitycluding reimbursement of draws under the Isttdrcredit, if any, constitute superprior
administrative expense claims in the Chapter 1kCas

Accounting Impact

AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, "Financial Repartby Entities in Reorganization under the BankeypCode" ("SOP 90-7") provides
financial reporting guidance for entities that srerganizing under the Bankruptcy Code. This guidan implemented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to SOP 90-7, AWI is required to segrepgedpetition liabilities that are subject to compisenand report them separately on the
balance sheet. See Note 4 of the Consolidated EiadeBtatements for detail of the liabilities sulijeo compromise at December 31, 2002
2001. Liabilities that may be affected by a plamasfrganization are recorded at the expected anajuhée allowed claims, even if they may
be settled for lesser amounts. Substantially al\Wi's prepetition debt, now in default, is recalds face value and is classified within
liabilities subject to compromise. Obligations afdstrong subsidiaries not covered by the Filingaentlassified on the consolidated bale
sheet based upon maturity date. AWI's estimatéilitiafor asbestos-related personal injury claimalso recorded in liabilities subject to
compromise. See Note 32 of the Consolidated FiaaStatements for further discussion of AWI's astetability.

Additional prepetition claims (liabilities subjeitt compromise) may arise due to the rejection etatory contracts or unexpired leases, or as
a result of the allowance of contingent or disputiaiins.

SOP 90-7 also requires separate reporting of @dimees, expenses, realized gains and losses, avidipn for losses related to the Filing as
Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net. AccordingW/| recorded the following Chapter 11 reorganizataxtivities during 2002, 2001 and
2000:

Year Ended December 31,

(amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Professional fees $27.8 $245 $ 26
Interest income, post petition (3.5) (5.1) (0.3)
Reductions to prepetition liabilities (1.2) (2.0)
Termination of prepetition lease obligation -- (5.9)

ESOP related costs -- - 58.8
Adjustment of net debt and debt issue costs to expe nsed

amount of allowed claim -- -- 42.0
Other expense directly related to bankruptcy, net 0.3 1.0 0.2
Total Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net $23.5 $12.5 $103.3

Professional fees represent legal and financiakady fees and expenses directly related to thad-il
Interest income is earned from short-term investsieficash by AWI subsequent to the Filing.

Reductions to prepetition liabilities represent difeerence between the prepetition invoiced amaunt the actual cash payment made to
certain vendors due to negotiated settlements.eTpagments of prepetition obligations were madesuymmt to authority granted by the Court.

Termination of prepetition lease obligation repreésehe reversal of an accrual for future leasermays for office space in the U.S. that AWI
will not pay due to the termination of the leasatcact. This amount was previously accrued in i tquarter of 2000 as part of a
restructuring charge when the decision to vacaetbmises was made.
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ESOP related costs include a $43.3 million impaithodarge related to amounts borrowed by the ES@R Armstrong, the trustee of the
ESOP. After the Filing, it was expected that thePSvould no longer have the ability to repay Armost money it previously borrowed. In
addition, a $15.5 million expense was recordededlto interest and tax penalty guarantees ow&SOP bondholders caused by the default
on the ESOP bonds.

In order to record prepetition debt at the faceigalr the amount of the expected allowed claims) Aujusted the amount of net debt and
debt issue costs and recorded a pretax expeng2df fillion.

As a result of the Filing, realization of assetd dguidation of liabilities are subject to uncenty. While operating as a debtor-in-possession,
AWI may sell or otherwise dispose of assets anddigte or settle liabilities for amounts other tlhose reflected in the consolidated finar
statements. Although a POR and Disclosure Stateh@am been filed with the Court, implementatiornih&f POR is subject to confirmation of
the POR in accordance with the provisions of thekBaptcy Code. AWI is unable to predict when anthé POR will be confirmed.
Therefore, the timing and terms of a resolutiothef Chapter 11 Case remain uncertain. Furthemfirowd plan of reorganization could
materially change the amounts and classificatiepsnted in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation Policy. The consolidated financiatsments and accompanying data in this reportdiectbe accounts of Armstrong and its
majority-owned subsidiaries. The results of lesstmajority owned subsidiaries are accounted fdeuthe equity method. All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminated frentonsolidated financial statements. Certaiorprear amounts have been reclassified
to conform to the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates. These financial statements agaped in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples and include
management estimates and judgments, where appmpvlanagement utilizes estimates to record mamgstincluding asbestos-related
liabilities and insurance asset recoveries andvesdor bad debts, inventory obsolescence, warrardrkers compensation, general liability
and environmental claims. Management determineari@unt of necessary reserves based upon all krelevant information. Management
also confers with outside parties, including owtsidunsel, where appropriate. Actual results migrdrom these estimates.

Revenue Recognition. Armstrong recognizes reverara fthe sale of products and the related accoentsivable no earlier than the date on
which title transfers, generally on the date opsiént. A provision is made for the estimated césebates and promotional programs.
Provisions for estimated discounts and bad debtkare based on knowledge of specific customera agview of outstanding accounts
receivable balances.

Sales Incentives. In accordance with the Emergisgds Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 00-014, "Actimgrfor Certain Sales Incentives,"
certain sales incentives are recorded as a reduatinet sales for all periods presented. In acooed with EITF Issue No. 00-022,
"Accounting for “Points' and Certain Other Time-Ba®r Volume-Based Sales Incentive Offers, andr®fier Free Products or Services to
Be Delivered in the Future," certain sales volumeentives are recorded as a reduction of net saledl periods presented. In accordance
with EITF Issue No. 00-025, "Vendor Income Statet@maracterization of Consideration from a Vendoa Retailer," effective January 1,
2002, Armstrong has reclassified $1.9 million freelling, general and administrative expenses &wlaation of net sales for both 2001 and
2000.

Shipping and Handling Costs. Shipping and handiivgfs are reflected in cost of goods sold for atlqus presented.
Advertising Costs. Armstrong recognizes advertigrgenses as they are incurred.
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Pension and Postretirement Benefits. Armstrongoeagfit plans that provide for pension, medical Bfiednsurance benefits to certain
eligible employees when they retire from activerier. Generally, Armstrong's practice is to fund #ttuarially determined current service
costs and the amounts necessary to amortize tivice obligations over periods ranging up to 3@rgebut not in excess of the funding
limitations.

Taxes. The provision for income taxes has beerrm@ied using the asset and liability approach ebaating for income taxes. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized using endatethtes for expected future tax consequencesaerits recognized in the financial
statements or tax returns. The provision for incoaxes represents income taxes paid or payabtbdazurrent year plus the change in
deferred taxes during the year. Valuation allowarare recorded to reduce deferred tax assets wiemeore likely than not that a tax benefit
will not be realized. The tax benefit for dividenusid on unallocated shares of stock held by th@EE®as recognized in shareholder's eq

Gains and Losses on Divestitures. Armstrong gelyenredords the gain or loss on divested busineissether non-operating income or
expense.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivaiehide cash on hand and shierm investments that have maturities of three oot
less when purchased.

Concentration of Credit. Armstrong principally sgliroducts to customers in the building produdisigtries, in various geographic regions
2002, Armstrong's net sales to The Home Depot,tbialed approximately $380.3 million compared pprximately $340.8 million and
$373.2 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Nloes customer accounted for more than 10% of Amwnsts revenue. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk otherrthaith two home center customers who represent 22&:18% of Armstrong's trade
receivables as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, cesply. Armstrong continuously evaluates the ciwdithiness of its customers and
generally does not require collateral.

Inventories. Inventories are valued at the lowerast or market. Inventories also include certagilient flooring samples used in ongoing
sales and marketing activities.

Property and Depreciation. Property, plant andpgent values are stated at acquisition cost lessalated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation charges for financial reporting pugmare determined on the straight-line basis as r@lculated to provide for the retirement
of assets at the end of their useful lives, geheeaal follows: buildings, 20 to 40 years; machinand equipment, 3 to 20 years.

In accordance with SFAS 144, "Accounting for the&imment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," effeetdanuary 1, 2002, impairment
losses are recorded when indicators of impairmenpeesent and the undiscounted cash flows estihtatke generated by those assets are
less than the assets' carrying amount. For purpidsesgculating any impairment, fair values areetletined using a net discounted cash flows
approach. When assets are disposed of or retirel,dosts and related depreciation are removed fhe financial statements and any
resulting gains or losses normally are reflectetSielling, general and administrative expenses."

Costs of the construction of certain property idelcapitalized interest which is amortized overdbmated useful life of the related asset.
There was no capitalized interest recorded in 20@22001 due to the Chapter 11 Filing. Capitalinégrest was $0.4 million in 2000.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles. Effective Januar2@02, Armstrong adopted SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill ®ther Intangible Assets" ("FAS
142"), which requires that goodwill and intangibsets with indefinite useful lives no longer beetimed, but instead be tested for
impairment at least annually. Armstrong's annugldirment test is performed in the fourth quarté&fSA.42 also requires that intangible
assets with determinable useful lives be amortmet their respective estimated useful lives tarthstimated residual values and reviewed
for impairment. See Note 12 for required disclosamegoodwill and other intangibles.
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Contingent Liabilities. In the context of the Chapt1 Case, contingent liabilities, including claithat became known after the Filing, are
recorded on the basis of the expected amount dltbeed claim in accordance with SOP 90-7 as opgds the amount for which a claim
may be settled.

Foreign Currency Transactions. Assets and liabditf Armstrong's subsidiaries operating outsigelthited States, which account in a
functional currency other than US dollars, aredlated using the year end exchange rate. Revendesxaenses are translated at the average
exchange rates effective during the year. Foreigreacy translation gains or losses are includeal @amponent of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) within shareholdetstggGains or losses on foreign currency transasctiare recognized through the stater

of earnings.

Financial Instruments and Derivatives. From timéinge, Armstrong uses derivatives and other finalnoistruments to diversify or offset the
effect of currency, interest rate and commoditg@nariability. See Note 19 for further discussion.

Stock-based Employee Compensation. Effective Deeeidib, 2002, Armstrong adopted SFAS No. 148, "Acoting for Stock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure," whidjuiees the following disclosure. At December 31020Armstrong had three stock-based
employee compensation plans, which are described fally in Note 25. Armstrong accounts for thosans under the intrinsic value
recognition and measurement principles of APB Qpirilo. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplay/2and related Interpretations. The
following table illustrates the effect on net ino@ih Armstrong had applied the fair value recogmitprovisions of FASB Statement No. 123,
"Accounting for Stock-based Compensation," to stbaked employee compensation.

2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss), as reported $(2,142.8) $92.8 $11.8
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense inc luded in reported
net income, net of related tax effects 0.6 1.8 2.9
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation ex pense determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net o f related tax
effects (1.2) (4.0) (8.1)
Pro forma net income (loss) $(2,143.3) $90.6 $6.6

Fiscal Periods. The fiscal years of the Wood Flugpand Cabinets segments end on the Saturday ctodeecember 31, which was
December 28, 2002, December 29, 2001, and Dece3@®@000. No events occurred between these datkBerember 31 materially
affecting Armstrong's financial position or resufsoperations.
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NOTE 3. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Industry Segments

Resilient
For the year ended 2002 Flooring
(millions)
Net sales to external customers $1,152.3
Equity loss (earnings) from affiliates 0.1
Segment operating income (loss) 64.5
Restructuring and reorganization
charges, net of reversals 2.2
Segment assets 890.7
Depreciation and amortization 54.7
Investment in affiliates 0.9
Capital additions 39.0
Resilient
For the year ended 2001 Flooring
(millions)
Net sales to external customers $1,164.2
Equity (earnings) from affiliates (0.1)
Segment operating income (loss) 70.8
Restructuring and reorganization
charges, net of reversals 0.2
Segment assets 855.3
Depreciation and amortization 57.3
Investment in affiliates 0.9
Capital additions 43.9
Resilient
For the year ended 2000 Flooring
(millions)
Net sales to external customers $1,237.3
Intersegment sales 4.2
Equity (earnings) from affiliates -
Segment operating income (loss) 80.4
Restructuring and reorganization
charges, net of reversals 7.9
Segment assets 884.7
Depreciation and amortization 70.1
Investment in affiliates 11
Capital additions 52.0

Accounting policies of the segments are the santbas® described in the summary of significant antiag policies. Performance of the
segments is evaluated on operating income befomarie taxes, unusual gains and losses, and inteqgshse. Armstrong accounts for

Textiles
Wood & Sports Building A
Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Ot

$719.3 $247.2 $826.6 $226.9
- - (19.7) - $(
530 (47) 965  (3.9)

- (0.3) - -
619.7 2034 5446 1166 1
16.8 5.6 32.2 2.2
- - 24.6 -1
22.9 4.1 28.5 6.0

Textiles
Wood & Sports  Building A
Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Ot

$ 655.3 $262.9 $831.0 $225.3
- - (16.1) - $(
09 (07) 924 152

4.1 1.2 1.1 11
1,260.6 177.7 527.0 108.0 1
36.0 4.7 33.0 2.3
- - 22.4 -1
22.7 8.6 32.2 2.1

Textiles
Wood & Sports Building A
Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Ot

$ 683.3 $277.0 $833.1 $218.2

- - 179 - $(
578 52 1139 165

13 0.8 0.2 0.4
1,255.1 213.2 568.5 1035 1
34.7 35 32.8 2.3
- - 19.9 -1
325 111 43.6 6.2

intersegment sales and transfers based uponetnéaittransfer pricing policy.

The 2002 decrease in the assets of the Wood Fpedgment is primarily due to the $596.0 millioB%3.8 million, net of tax) goodwill and
intangible asset impairment write down recorded asmulative effect of a change in accounting ppiecas of January 1, 2002. See Note 12

for further details.

The 2002 increase in the assets of the Unallocatedorate segment is primarily due to the $869Iianiincrease in the deferred tax asset

primarily created by the fourth quarter 2002 astesharge described in Notes 1 and 32.

125

Il Unallocated
her Corporate Total

$3,172.3
2.1) (21.7)
2.1 $(2,544.8) (2,337.3)
- - 19
8.4 21114 4,504.8
- 252 136.7
8.4 - 43.9
- 246 1251
II' Unallocated

her Corporate Total

$3,138.7
0.3) (16.5)
0.3 $ (38.8) 1401
- 1.3 9.0
6.3 1,093.2 4,038.1
- 23.5 156.8
6.3 - 39.6
- 18.3 1278
Il Unallocated

her Corporate Total

0.1)

0.1

$3,248.9
42
(18.0)
$(266.7) 7.2
82 188
963.9 4,005.2
21.0 164.4
- 373
137 159.1



Resilient Flooring

Armstrong is a worldwide manufacturer of a broatgeaof resilient floor coverings for homes and cameral and institutional buildings,
which are sold with adhesives, installation andnteiance materials and accessories. ArmstronglBeRée§&looring products include vinyl
sheet and vinyl tile, linoleum and laminate flogriiVarious products offer ease of installationu@etl maintenance (no-wax), and cushioning
for greater underfoot comfort. The business mixgproximately 55% residential and 45% commercihk products are sold in a wide vari

of types, designs, and colors to commercial, regidieand institutional customers through wholesglestailers (including large home centers
and buying groups), contractors, and to the hotgkhand manufactured homes industries.

Wood Flooring

The Wood Flooring segment manufactures and diggtwood and other flooring products. These pradact used primarily in residential
new construction and remodeling, with some comrnaésgplications in stores, restaurants and highedfices. The business mix is
approximately 95% residential, and 5% commerciabod/Flooring sales are generally made through iedépnt wholesale flooring
distributors and retailers (including large homatees and buying groups) under the brand namesefR)cHartco(R) and Robbins(R).

Textiles & Sports Flooring

The Textiles and Sports Flooring business segmantufactures carpeting and sports flooring prodinasare mainly sold in Europe. The
carpeting products consist principally of carpletstiand broadloom used in commercial applicatienwell as the leisure and travel industry.
Sports flooring products include artificial turfréaces. The business mix is approximately 26% esgtidl and 74% commercial. Both product
groups are sold through wholesalers, retailerscamtractors.

Building Products

The Building Products segment includes commercidlrasidential ceiling systems. Commercial suspemneding systems, designed for use
in shopping centers, offices, schools, hospitald, aher commercial and institutional settings,aailable in numerous colors, performance
characteristics and designs and offer charactesistich as acoustical control, accessibility toplleaum (the area above the ceiling), rated
protection, and aesthetic appeal. The businesssaipproximately 90% commercial, with approximat@p-thirds in improvement projects
and the balance in new construction. Armstrong selmmercial ceiling materials and accessoriegiling systems contractors and to resale
distributors. Armstrong sells commercial ceilingterals and accessories to ceiling systems cowoftraeind to resale distributors. Ceiling
materials for the home provide noise reductioniandrporate features intended to permit ease ¢dliasion. These residential ceiling
products are sold through wholesalers and retdiilectuding large home centers). Framework (gridducts for Armstrong suspension
ceiling systems products are manufactured throuygmaiventure with Worthington Industries (WAVEp@are sold by both Armstrong and
the WAVE joint venture.

Cabinets

The Cabinets segment manufactures kitchen anddmathcabinetry and related products, which are psiadarily in residential new
construction and remodeling. The business mix istipoesidential, with approximately 70% in new stmction and 30% in home
improvement projects. Through its nationwide systfroompany-owned and independent distributionesnthe Cabinets segment provides
design, fabrication and installation services tgkg-family builders, multi-family builders and rexfelers under the brand names IXL(R),
Bruce(R) and Armstrong(TM).

All Other
The All Other segment contributes operating incoetated to the equity investment in Interface Sohg, Inc.

Unallocated Corporate
The Unallocated Corporate segment includes expehathave not been allocated to the business. Utissmost significant of these
expenses relate to asbestos charges as discudseteifi2.
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Geographic Areas

Americas:
United States
Canada
Other Americas

Total Americas

Europe:
England
France
Germany
Italy
Netherlands
Russia
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
Other Europe

Total Europe
Pacific area:
Australia
China
Other Pacific area

Total Pacific area

Total net trade sales

Long-lived assets (property, plant and equipment),

at December 31 (millions)
Americas:
United States
Canada
Other Americas

Total Americas

Europe:
Belgium
England
France
Germany
Netherlands
Sweden
Other Europe

Total Europe
Pacific area:
China

Other Pacific area

Total Pacific area

Total long-lived assets, net
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The sales in the table below are allocated to ggagc areas based upon the location of the customer

2002 2001 2000
$2,222.1 $2,188.1 $2,257.6
120.5 114.4 122.7
30.7 23.5 25.5
$2,373.3 $2,326.0 $2,405.8
$ 1343 $ 135.6 $ 1317
69.3 67.8 74.6
172.6 182.2 191.6
33.2 311 31.9
69.8 87.1 92.5
27.2 25.9 211
26.2 125 17.8
15.8 15.9 19.8
36.7 34.1 22.0
109.6 120.9 118.7
$ 694.7 $ 713.1 $ 7217
$ 27.2 $ 253 $ 247
22.9 241 27.7
54.2 50.2 69.0
$ 104.3 $ 99.6 $ 1214
$3,172.3 $3,138.7 $3,248.9
net
2002 2001

$ 9309 $ 947.6
141 14.6
-- 0.1

$ 254 $ 238
39.2 35.7
13.9 115
1925 166.9
42.8 35.9
10.0 8.0
5.8 4.5

5.9 5.4

$1,303.7 $1,278.6




NOTE 4. LIABILITIES SUBJECT TO COMPROMISE

As a result of AWI's Chapter 11 filing (see Notedyrsuant to SOP 90-AWI is required to segregate prepetition lidkdb that are subject
compromise and report them separately on the balgineet. Liabilities that may be affected by a pifareorganization are recorded at the
amount of the expected allowed claims, even if i@y be settled for lesser amounts. Substantifilf &WI's prepetition debt, now in
default, is recorded at face value and is claskifigghin liabilities subject to compromise. Obligats of Armstrong subsidiaries not covered
by the Filing remain classified on the consoliddtathnce sheet based upon maturity date. AWI'ssésbéability is also recorded in
liabilities subject to compromise. During the fduguarter of 2002, AWI recorded a non-cash chaf@® billion to increase its estimate of
probable asbestos-related liability. See Note Tudher discussion on how the Chapter 11 procesgsaddress AWI's liabilities subject to
compromise and Note 32 for further discussion ofIA\Vesbestos liability.

Liabilities subject to compromise at December 32and December 31, 2001 are as follows:

(millions) 2002 2001
Debt (at face value) $1,400.7 $1,400.7
Asbestos-related liability 3,190.6 690.6
Prepetition trade payables 51.7 52.2
Prepetition other payables and accrued interest 60.4 56.4
Amounts due to affiliates 4.7 4.6
ESOP loan guarantee 157.7 157.7
Total liabilities subject to compromise $4,865.8 $2,362.2

Additional prepetition claims (liabilities subjeitt compromise) may arise due to the rejection eteatory contracts or unexpired leases, or as
a result of the allowance of contingent or dispudkedims.

See Note 17 for detail of debt subject to compremis

NOTE 5. ACQUISITIONS
During 2001, Armstrong spent $5.6 million to pursd@ome of the remaining minority interest of algeaonsolidated entities within the
Resilient Flooring segment. Approximately $5.0 roill of the purchase price was allocated to goodwill

On May 18, 2000, Armstrong acquired privately-h8lditzerland-based Gema Holding AG ("Gema"), a mactuirer and installer of metal
ceilings, for $6 million plus certain contingentnsideration not to exceed $25.5 million, basedesults over the three year period ending
December 31, 2002. The purchase agreement red@ethe former owners of Gema are advised of thbgble contingent consideration
calculation within 30 days of the Gema's auditedificial statements being available. If the fornven@rs do not accept such calculation
within 30 days, the contingent consideration catah will be finally determined by a third party.

The acquisition was recorded under the purchaskadeif accounting. The purchase price was alloctatélde assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed based on the estimated faiketaralue at the date of acquisition. Contingemtsigeration, when and if paid, will be
accounted for as additional purchase price. Thenfarket value of tangible and identifiable intariginet assets acquired exceeded the
purchase price by $24.2 million and this amount reasrded as a reduction of the fair value of prgpelant and equipment.

NOTE 6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In February 2001, Armstrong determined to permdpenxit the Textiles and Sports Flooring segmert an February 20, 2001 entered into
negotiations to sell substantially all of the besises comprising this segment to a private equitysitor based in Europe. Based on these
events, the segment was classified as a discountioperation starting with the fourth quarter of @00n June 12, 2001, negotiations with
investor were terminated. During the third quadie2001, Armstrong terminated its
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plans to permanently exit this segment. This denigias based on the difficulty encountered insglthe business and a new review of the
business, industry and overall economy conductedey senior management. Accordingly, this segmenbilonger classified as a
discontinued operation and amounts have been sifidakinto operations as required by EITF Issue 816 -"Accounting for Discontinue
Operations Subsequently Retained". All prior pesibdve been reclassified to conform to the cupesgentation.

Based on the expected net realizable value oftkbss determined during the negotiations tatlselbusiness, Armstrong had recorded a
pretax net loss of $34.5 million in the fourth geeaof 2000, $23.8 million net of tax benefit. Atmmg also had recorded an additional net
loss of $3.3 million in the first quarter of 20Qs a result of price adjustments resulting fromnibgotiations. Concurrent with the decision to
no longer classify the business as a discontinpedation, the remaining accrued loss of $37.8 amil({$27.1 million net of tax) was reversed
in the third quarter of 2001 and recorded as plagbmings from discontinued operations. Additibnahe segment's net income of $3.1
million for the first and second quarter of 2001sweclassified into earnings from continuing operet for those periods.

During the third quarter of 2001, Armstrong con@ddhere were indicators of impairment relatedeidain assets in this segment, and
accordingly, an impairment evaluation was conduetetthe end of the third quarter under the guigsliof SFAS No. 121 - "Accounting for
the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long«d Assets to be Disposed Of". This evaluatiortéeain impairment charge of $8.4
million, representing the excess of book value @stimated fair value which was determined usingtadiscounted cash flows approach.
charge was included in cost of sales. The impaitmes related to property, plant and equipmentphaduce certain products for which
Armstrong anticipates lower demand in the futuréditionally, an inventory write-down of $2.1 milliowas recorded in the third quarter of
2001 within cost of sales related to certain prasititat will no longer be sold.

On May 31, 2000, Armstrong completed its sale bbfthe entities, assets and certain liabilitiemprising its Insulation Products segment to
Orion Einundvierzigste Beteiligungsgesellschaft Matsubsidiary of the Dutch investment firm Gildedstment Management N.V. for $264
million. The transaction resulted in an after taxngof $114.8 million. During 2001, Armstrong reded a pretax loss of $1.1 million related
to its divestiture of its Insulation Products segim@his loss resulted from certain post-closingisitnents.

NOTE 7. OTHER DIVESTITURES

In November 2000, Armstrong sold a component of @stiles and Sports Flooring segment. As this slittere included a business classified
as held for sale since its 1998 acquisition, Aroregrhad been recording the 2000 operating losst#ssoliusiness within SG&A expense. The
overall 2000 impact was a reduction of SG&A expewis®0.7 million.

On July 31, 2000, Armstrong completed the salésofnistallation Products Group ("IPG") to subsigiarof the German company Ardex
GmbH, for $86 million in cash. Ardex purchased sabsally all of the assets and liabilities of IR@&luding its shares of the W.W. Henry
Company. The transaction resulted in a gain of Bddllion ($60.2 million pretax) and was recordediher noreperating income during tl
third quarter 2000. The financial results of IPGeveeported as part of the Resilient Flooring segniehe proceeds and gain are subject to a
post-closing working capital adjustment. Undertdrens of a supply agreement, Armstrong will purehssme of its installation product
needs from Ardex for an initial term of eight yeasbject to certain minimums for the first fiveaye after the sale. The supply agreement
called for price adjustments based upon changingeharices for raw materials, labor and energysd3uring February 2003, Armstrong
and Ardex reached a settlement in principle onsdwapen issues, which must be approved by thetCohe settlement allowed for the
payment of the pre-petition liability to Ardex withdiscount, adjusted the pricing for Armstronglbesives purchases, eliminated the
minimum purchase requirement and resolved envirot@mheemediation disputes. Under the settlemerdeRmwill file a proof of claim relate
to environmental remediation in AWI's Chapter 1€&awhich will be treated as an allowed unsecul&cc This claim resulted in a fourth
quarter 2002 charge of $5.3 million, which was reded in other non-operating expense.
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NOTE 8. ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

(millions) 2002 2001
Customer receivables $364.8  $348.5
Customer notes 6.9 7.7
Miscellaneous receivables 17.2 21.3
Less allowance for discounts and losses (56.5) (54.2)
Net accounts and notes receivable $332.4  $323.3

Generally, Armstrong sells its products to selpot-approved customers whose businesses are dffectthanges in economic and market
conditions. Armstrong considers these factors aredihancial condition of each customer when eghinlg its allowance for losses from

doubtful accounts.

NOTE 9. INVENTORIES

Approximately 42% of Armstrong's total inventory2002 and 2001 was valued on a LIFO (last-in,-fig) basis. Inventory values were
lower than would have been reported on a total Hifi¥6-in, first-out) basis, by $52.6 million &ié¢ end of 2002 and $46.2 million at yesrd

2001.
(millions) 2002 2001
Finished goods $294.3 $269.6
Goods in process 46.6 39.0
Raw materials and supplies 172.1 182.9
Less LIFO and other reserves (69.6) (55.2)
Total inventories, net $443.4 $436.3

NOTE 10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(millions) 2002 2001
Land $ 943 $ 85.6
Buildings 624.9 582.8
Machinery and equipment 1,786.0 1,693.1
Construction in progress 62.3 60.4
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,263.8) (1,143.3)
Net property, plant and equipment $1,303.7 $1,278.6

NOTE 11. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Investments in affiliates were $43.9 million at Beter 31, 2002, an increase of $4.3 million, prilmaeflecting the equity earnings of
Armstrong's 50% interest in its WAVE joint ventwed its remaining 35% interest in Interface Sohgidnc. ("ISI"). Armstrong continues to
purchase certain raw materials from ISI under g@mm supply agreement. Equity earnings from afékafor 2002, 2001 and 2000 consis
primarily of income from a 50% interest in the WAV&nt venture and the 35% interest in ISI.

Armstrong purchases some grid products from WAWES0%-owned joint venture with Worthington Indiesr The total amount of these
purchases was approximately $41 million, $38 millamd $41 million for the years ended DecembefB02, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Armstrong also provides certain selling and adntiaisve processing services to WAVE for which itee/es reimbursement. Additionally,
WAVE leases certain land and buildings from Armsgo
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Condensed financial data for significant investraentaffiliates accounted for under the equity metbf accounting are summarized below:

(millions) 2002 2001
Current assets $82.1 $72.4
Non-current assets 31.6 32.3
Current liabilities 16.0 15.0
Long-term debt 50.0 50.0

Other non-current liabilities 3.0 1.2
(millions) 2002 2001 2000
Net sales $201.4 $200.1 $212.2
Gross profit 61.2 57.1 60.3
Net earnings 39.2 32.3 35.5

NOTE 12. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Effective January 1, 2002, Armstrong adopted SFASI™2, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ($A42"), which requires that
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite usdives no longer be amortized, but instead beetkfor impairment at least annually. FAS
142 also requires that intangible assets with detetble useful lives be amortized over their reipeestimated useful lives to their
estimated residual values and reviewed for impaitme

As of January 1, 2002, Armstrong had unamortizeztgall of $822.8 million, of which $717.2 million as attributable to the Wood Flooring
segment. In the second quarter of 2002, Armstramgpdeted the assessment of goodwill and recordk&P8.0 million non-cash transitional
impairment charge related to the Wood Flooring segmnilhe impairment charge is presented in thenrecstatement as a cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle as of JanuaB002. The impairment charge arose from the Wdodrkhg segment's fair value being
lower than its carrying value. The Wood Flooringreent's fair value was determined using a comhmnaif discounted cash flows, values
implicit in precedent business combinations of Emtompanies in the building products industry atatk market multiples of publicly-
traded flooring companies. The fair value was negbt affected by lower operating profits and célslwvs than were assumed at the time of
the acquisition in 1998. The shortfalls were caused combination of lower sales plus higher mactufiing costs. Under previous
accounting rules, no goodwill impairment would h#seen recorded at January 1, 2002.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, Armstrong compleitschnnual assessment of goodwill as required bg EA2 and determined there was no
impairment.

The following table represents the changes in gdlbdince December 31, 2001.

(amounts in millions)

Goodwill by segment January 1, 200 2 Adjustments, net/(1)/ Impairments D ecember 31, 2002
Resilient Flooring $ 829 $ 6.4 $89.3

Wood Flooring 717.2 (13.4) $ (590.0) 113.8
Building Products 10.1 1.8 - 11.9
Cabinets 12.6 - - 12.6

Total consolidated goodwill $822.8 $(5.2) $ (590.0) $227.6

/(1)/ Primarily consists of the effects of foreignchange and resolution of pre-acquisition tax@heér contingencies.

As of January 1, 2002, Armstrong had unamortizedtifiable intangible assets of $94.1 million. lsvdetermined that the fair value of one
of Wood Flooring's trademarks was lower than itsyéag value. The fair value of the trademark wasneated using a discounted cash flow
methodology. Accordingly, a non-cash transitiongbairment charge of $6.0 million ($3.8 million, rdttax) was calculated and is
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presented in the income statement as a cumuldfiret ©f a change in accounting principle as ofudag 1, 2002.
The following table details amounts related to Anmisg's intangible assets as of December 31, 2002.

December 31, 2002

(amounts in millions) Gro ss Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization

Computer software $100.6 $ 447
Land use rights and other 3.6 0.7
Total $104.2 $ 454

Unamortized intangible assets

Trademarks and brand names $ 29.1

Total intangible assets $133.3

Aggregate Amortization Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2002 $ 148

Amortization charges for computer software are mheiteed on a straight-line basis at rates calcultdgatovide for the retirement of assets at
the end of their useful lives, generally 3 to 7rgea

The annual amortization expense expected for thesy#2003 through 2007 is as follows:

2003 $14.8
2004 13.4
2005 114
2006 7.5
2007 3.5

Comparison to prior year "As Adjusted"”

The following table presents prior year reportecbants adjusted to eliminate the effect of gooduauiltl certain identifiable intangible asset
amortization in accordance with FAS 142.

(in millions) December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Reported net income (loss) $(2,142.8) $92.8 $11 .8
Add back: Goodwill amortization - 22.8 23 9
Add back: Trademark and brand names amortization - 0.8 0 8
Adjusted net income (loss) $(2,142.8) $116.4 $36 5

NOTE 13. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

(millions) 2002 2001
Cash surrender value of company owned life insuranc e policies $58.8 $57.9
Long term notes receivable 22.4 22.7
Other 25.6 24.8
Total other non-current assets $106.8  $105.4
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NOTE 14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

(millions) 2002 2001
Payables, trade and other $207.6 $179.8
Employment costs 65.8 47.5
Other 85.9 79.4
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $359.3 $306.7

Certain other accounts payable and accrued expbasedeen categorized as liabilities subject topromise (see Note 4).
NOTE 15. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER ACTIONS

The following table summarizes activity in the rganization and restructuring accruals for 2002 20@{L. The net amount of charges and
reversals in the table does not agree to the inatatement due to non-cash charges for enhandeghrent benefits that did not affect the
restructuring accrual accounts.

Beginning Cash Ending
(millions) Balance Pa yments Charges Reversals Other Balance
2002 $8.9 $ (2.1) $ 23 $ (0.8) $ 0. 8 $ 91
2001 22.2 (14.1) 9.7 (2.8) (6. 1) 8.9

A $0.5 million restructuring charge was recordethia first quarter of 2002. The charge relatedetesance benefits for eleven employees in
the Textiles and Sports Flooring segment, to reBeaffing needs for current business conditiords @ntinued efforts initiated in the fourth
quarter of 2001.

A $2.2 million restructuring charge was recordethi@ second quarter of 2002. The charge primeaeited to severance benefits for
approximately 120 employees in the European Resiiooring business due to a slow European ecorammya consolidation of worldwide
research and development activities. Of the $2IRomj $0.4 million represented a non-cash chamyeehhanced retirement benefits, which is
accounted for as an increase to pension bendfititias.

In the third quarter of 2002, $0.6 million of tresmaining accrual related to the first quarter 280@ fourth quarter 2001 charges in the
Textiles and Sports Flooring segment was revers@muprising certain severance accruals that welenger necessary. In the fourth quarter
of 2002, an additional $0.2 million of this sameraal was reversed.

A $5.4 million pre-tax restructuring charge wasareled in the first quarter of 2001. The chargetegldo severance and enhanced retirement
benefits for more than 50 corporate and line-ofiless salaried staff positions, as a result ohstiming the organization, to reflect staffing
needs for current business conditions. Of the 88lébn, $1.6 million represented a non-cash chdayeenhanced retirement benefits, which
is accounted for as a reduction of the prepaidiparasset.

In the second quarter of 2001, a $1.1 million reaewas recorded related to a formerly occupietliimg for which Armstrong no longer
believes it will incur any additional costs. In @tth, $0.2 million of the remaining accrual fortffirst quarter 2001 reorganization was
reversed, comprising certain severance accrualsvifr@ no longer necessary as certain individugisained employed by Armstrong.

In the third quarter of 2001, a $1.4 million rex@was recorded related to certain 2000 severamt¢danefit accruals that were no longer
necessary and a $0.3 million pre-tax charge wasrded for additional severance payments.

133



A $6.1 million pretax restructuring charge was recorded in the foguttrter of 2001. $5.2 million of the charge, whiehs allocated betwe:
Wood Flooring and Cabinets, related to severandesahanced retirement benefits for six salariedleyees (including the former Chief
Operating Officer), as a result of the on-goinggration of the wood flooring and resilient floagioperations. Of the $5.2 million, $0.5
million represented non-cash charges for enharet@@ment benefits, which is accounted for as actdn of the prepaid pension asset, and
accelerated vesting of restricted stock awards.réhmining $0.9 million of the $6.1 million chargdated to severance benefits for more
twenty positions in the textiles and sports flogrivusiness, as a result of streamlining the orgdioiz. Also in the fourth quarter of 2001, a
$0.1 million reversal was recorded related to éersaverance and benefit accruals that were ncelomgcessary.

The amount in "other" in 2002 is related to foreggmrency translation. The amount in "other" in 20€ primarily related to the termination
an operating lease for an office facility in theSUThese lease costs were previously accrued ithiftequarter of 2000 as part of the
restructuring charge when the decision to vacaetbemises was made. The lease was rejected axf plaetChapter 11 process. According
the $5.9 million reversal is recorded as a rednatibChapter 11 reorganization costs in accordaiteSOP 90-7. See Note 1 for further
discussion. The remaining amount in "other" istealao foreign currency translation.

Substantially all of the remaining balance of testructuring accrual as of December 31, 2002 ielata noncancelable-operating lease,
which extends through 2017, and severance for teted employees with extended payouts, the majofityhich will be paid by the second
quarter of 2003.

NOTE 16. INCOME TAXES

The tax effects of principal temporary differenbesween the carrying amounts of assets and ligsiliind their tax bases are summarized in
the table below. Management believes it is morgljikhan not that the results of future operatiatisgenerate sufficient taxable income to
realize deferred tax assets, except for certagidartax credit, net operating loss carryforwandd ather basis adjustments for which
Armstrong has provided a valuation allowance of@g2nillion. The $4.9 million of U.S. foreign taxetlits will expire in 2005. Armstrong
has $1,864.0 million of state net operating losgi#is expirations between 2003 and 2022, and $18ifllbn of foreign net operating losses,
which will be carried forward indefinitely. The wedtion allowance increased by $47.9 million pridyadue to additional foreign and state net
operating losses and other basis adjustments.

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) (millions) 2002 2001
Postretirement and postemployment benefits $ 884 $ 86.5
Chapter 11 reorganization costs and restructuring costs 17.9 19.6
Asbestos-related liabilities 1,153.5 241.7
Foreign tax credit carryforward 4.9 8.6
Net operating losses 205.5 204.9
Other 96.4 79.0

Total deferred tax assets 1,566.6 640.3

Valuation allowance (228.8) (180.9)

Net deferred tax assets 1,337.8 459.4
Accumulated depreciation (175.4) (186.6)
Pension costs (138.5) (118.1)
Insurance for asbestos-related liabilities (66.5) (72.1)
Tax on unremitted earnings (27.0) (27.0)
Other (66.8) (62.5)

Total deferred income tax liabilities (474.2) (466.3)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 863.6 $ (6.9)
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Deferred income taxes have been classified in the C onsolidated
Balance Sheet as:

Deferred income tax asset - current $14.7 $115
Deferred income tax asset - non-current 869.7 --
Deferred income tax liability - non-current (20.8)

$863.6 $(6.9)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities)

Details of taxes (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before i ncome taxes:
Domestic $(2,398.0) $117.1 $(135.4)
Foreign 21.2 141 23.0
Eliminations - (15.5) (9.9)
Total $(2,376.8) $115.7 $(122.3)
Income tax provision (benefit):
Current:
Federal $ 352 $ 50 $(11.3)
Foreign 10.6 13.2 7.6
State 14 (0.6) 1.8
Total current 47.2 17.6 (1.9)
Deferred:
Federal (874.1) 333 (32.7)
Foreign (1.6) (8.4) (2.5)
State 0.7 -- 0.3
Total deferred (875.0) 24.9 (34.9)
Total income taxes (benefit) $ (827.8) $42.5 $ (36.8)

At December 31, 2002, unremitted earnings of sudises outside the U.S. were $244.5 million (at &aber 31, 2002 balance sheet
exchange rates). Armstrong expects to repatriafed$illion of earnings for which $27.0 million &f.S. taxes were provided in 2000. No
U.S. taxes have been provided on the remainingmittesl earnings as it is Armstrong's intentionrteest these earnings permanently. If such
earnings were to be remitted without offsetting ¢eedits in the U.S., withholding taxes would beS5ahillion. The 2002 tax provision

includes benefits from the completion of variousnéstic and foreign tax examinations. The 2001 taxipion reflects the reversal of certain
state tax and other accruals no longer requiredaltfee completion of state tax audits and/or eatfn of statues of limitation partially offset

by certain nondeductible expenses.

Reconciliation to U.S. statutory tax rate (millions ) 2002 2001 2000
Continuing operations tax (benefit) at statutory ra te $(831.9) $40.5 $(43.3)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 1.7 (1.9) 1.8
Foreign losses 7.2 1.1 --
Tax on foreign and foreign-source income (15.9) (8.4) 4.4
Goodwill - 6.7 9.9
Sale of subsidiary - -- (9.1)
Permanent differences 10.8 5.9 --
Other items, net 0.3 (1.4) (0.5)
Tax expense (benefit) at effective rate $(827.8) $425 $(36.8)
Other taxes (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Payroll taxes $ 76.1 $ 742 $73.9
12.6 16.3 20.0

Property, franchise and capital stock taxes
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NOTE 17. DEBT
(See Note 4 regarding treatment of prepetition.jlebt

Average Average
year-end year-end

($ millions) 2002 interest rate 2001 interest rate
Borrowings under lines of credit $ 450.0 7.18% $ 450.0 7.18%
DIP Facility - - - -
Commercial paper 50.0 6.75% 50.0 6.75%
Foreign banks 12.3 4.58% 18.9 5.16%
Bank loans due 2003-2006 30.6 5.95% 39.5 5.47%
9.00% medium-term notes due 2001 7.5 9.00% 7.5 9.00%
6.35% senior notes due 2003 200.0 6.35% 200.0 6.35%
6.50% senior notes due 2005 150.0 6.50% 150.0 6.50%
9.75% debentures due 2008 125.0 9.75% 125.0 9.75%
7.45% senior notes due 2029 200.0 7.45% 200.0 7.45%
7.45% senior quarterly interest bonds due 2038 180.0 7.45% 180.0 7.45%
Industrial development bonds 21.0 4.00% 21.0 4.95%
Capital lease obligations 5.6 7.63% 6.3 7.25%
Other 27.6 10.65% 27.8 10.56%
Subtotal 1,459.6 7.26% 1,476.0 7.24%
Less debt subject to compromise 1,400.7 7.35% 1,400.7 7.35%
Less current portion and short-term debt 19.0 5.14% 25.0 6.01%
Total long-term debt, less current portion $ 39.9 510% $ 50.3 4.92%

Approximately $24.1 million of the $58.9 million tétal debt not subject to compromise outstandmgfddecember 31, 2002 was secured
with buildings and other assets. Approximately 84aillion of the $75.3 million of total debt notlgect to compromise outstanding as of
December 31, 2001 was secured with buildings aheratssets.

Scheduled payments of long-term debt, excluding sebject to compromise (millions):

2003 $6.7
2004 7.6
2005 6.7
2006 5.1
2007 1.6

In accordance with SOP 90-7, AWI stopped recordtigrest expense on unsecured prepetition delttaféeDecember 6, 2000. This
unrecorded interest expense was $99.2 million B22699.7 million in 2001, and $7.0 million in 2000

Debt from the table above included in liabilitiebgect to compromise consisted of the followindpatember 31, 2002 and 2001.

($ millions) 2002 and 2001
Borrowings under lines of credit $ 450.0
Commercial paper 50.0
9.00% medium-term notes due 2001 7.5
6.35% senior notes due 2003 200.0
6.50% senior notes due 2005 150.0
9.75% debentures due 2008 125.0
7.45% senior notes due 2029 200.0
7.45% senior quarterly interest bonds due 2038 180.0
Industrial development bonds 11.0
Other 27.2

Total debt subject to compromise $ 1,400.7

136



On November 1, 2002, the Court announced it hadoapd AWI's motion to reduce the amount of its BHility from $200 million to $75
million, eliminate the revolving credit borrowingdture, retain the letter of credit issuance figciind extend the maturity date to Decemb
2003. Obligations under the DIP Facility to reimdidrawing upon the letters of credit constituseigerpriority administrative expense claim
in the Chapter 11 Case. As of December 31, 20026a6d, AWI had approximately $28.7 million and $&lion, respectively, in letters of
credit which were issued pursuant to the DIP Rscili

Other debt includes an $18.6 million zero-coupote mue in 2013 that was fully amortized to its faakie due to the Chapter 11 filing.

In addition, Armstrong's foreign subsidiaries happroximately $45.2 million of unused short-termeb of credit available from banks. The
credit lines are subject to immaterial annual cotnrant fees.

NOTE 18. PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PROGRAMS

Armstrong and a number of its subsidiaries havesiperplans and postretirement medical and insurbanefit plans covering eligible
employees worldwide. Armstrong also has definedtribution pension plans (including the Retiretm@avings and Stock Ownership Plan
described in Note 24) for eligible employees. Baadfom pension plans, which cover substantiallgmployees worldwide, are based on an
employee's compensation and years of service. Weeassary, pension plans are funded by Armstraogjrétirement benefits are funded by
Armstrong on a pay-as-you-go basis, with the retpgaying a portion of the cost for health care Benby means of deductibles and
contributions. Armstrong announced in 1989 and 1896-year phase-out of its health care benefitsddain future retirees. These future
retirees include parent company nonunion emplogedssome union employees. Shares of RSSOP comuasere allocated to eligible
active employees through June 2000, based on eemknye and years to expected retirement, to hghogees offset their future
postretirement medical costs. The RSSOP was amendéalvember 2000 to suspend future allocationsiai@ecember 2000, Armstrong
used cash to fund this benefit. In 2001, an eghigre allocation was made to all eligible activetime employees as of July 26, 2001. The
allocation was made as a result of Armstrong'sifertess of loans receivable from the RSSOP.

Effective November 1, 2000, an amendment to the@&eént Income Plan (RIP), a qualified U.S. defibedefit plan, established an
additional benefit known as the ESOP Pension Acttwupartially compensate active employee andeetiESOP participants for the decline
in the market value of Armstrong's stock. The dftdchis amendment had no material impact to thanicial position or results of operations
in 2000, but increased the benefit obligation bg2.89million and decreased the pension credit by Bfdillion in 2001. The RIP document
was revised to reflect these changes.
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The following tables summarize the balance shepaatn as well as the benefit obligations, assetgldd status and rate assumptions
associated with the pension and postretirementfivgaens. The plan assets are primarily stockstualufunds and bonds. Included in these
assets were 1,426,751 shares of AHI common stogkaatend 2002 and 2001. The pension benefitsadigrts include both the RIP and the
Retirement Benefit Equity Plan, which is a nondfiedi, unfunded plan designed to provide pensiorefienin excess of the limits defined
under Sections 415 and 401(a)(17) of the IntermaieRue Code.

Retiree Health and Life

Pension Benefits Insurance Be nefits
U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2002 2001
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation as of January 1 $1,324.4 $1,132.4 $ 386.6 $259.6
Service cost 17.2 14.9 5.6 3.6
Interest cost 89.1 93.0 28.1 20.2
Plan participants' contributions -- - 4.0 3.7
Plan amendments 0.7 79.6 (0.5) -
Effect of special termination benefits -- 2.9 -- --
Actuarial loss 83.5 92.7 64.5 129.5
Benefits paid (91.5) (91.1) (30.1) (30.0)
Benefit obligation as of December 31 $1,423.4 $1,324.4 $458.2 $ 386.6
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 $1,735.9 $1,790.6
Actual return on plan assets - (loss)/gain (43.9) 329
Employer contribution 3.0 35 $ 26.1 $ 26.3
Plan participants' contributions -- - 4.0 3.7
Benefits paid (91.4) (91.1) (30.1) (30.0)
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 $1,603.6 $1,735.9 $ 0.0 $ 0.0
Funded status $ 180.2 $ 4115 $(458.2) $(386.6)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) 100.9 (187.4) 215.0 161.7
Unrecognized transition asset -- (2.1) - -
Unrecognized prior service cost 131.9 148.7 9.1 9.9
Net amount recognized $ 413.0 $ 370.7 $(234.1) $(215.0)
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The funded status of U.S. defined-benefit plans esrmined using the assumptions presented itabhe below.

Retiree Health and Life
Pension Benefits Insurance Benefits

U.S. defined-benefit plans 2002 2001 2002 2001

Weighted-average assumption as of
December 31:

Discount rate 6.50% 7.00% 6.50% 7.00%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.75% n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase 4.00%  4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsist of:

Retiree Health and Life
Pension Benefits Insurance Benefits

(millions) 2002 2001 2002 2001

Prepaid benefit costs $428.9 $386.9

Accrued benefit liability (33.3) (30.4) $(234.1) $(215.0)

Intangible asset 1.0 1.2 - -

Other comprehensive income 16.4 13.0 - --

Net amount recognized $413.0 $370.7 $(234.1) $(215.0)

Pension Bene fits

U.S. pension plans with benefit obligations in exce ss of assets (millions) 2002 2 001
Projected benefit obligation, December 31 $35.5 $33.2
Accrued benefit obligation, December 31 33.3 30.4

Fair value of plan assets, December 31 -- -

The above table relates to the Retirement Bengfiitiz Plan, which is a nonqualified, unfunded ptiesigned to provide pension benefits in
excess of the limits defined under Sections 4154xida)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The components of pension credit are as follows:

Pension Benefits

U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Service cost of benefits earned during the year $ 172 $ 149 $ 13.9
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 89.1 93.0 84.0
Expected return on plan assets (154.4) (164.4) (153.6)
Amortization of transition asset (2.1) (6.2) (6.2)
Amortization of prior service cost 17.6 17.5 11.9
Recognized net actuarial (gain) (6.6) (11.6) (13.9)
Net periodic pension credit $(39.2) $(56.8) $ (63.9)

The components of postretirement benefit cost afellows:

Retiree Health and

Life Insurance Benefit S
U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2 000
Service cost of benefits earned during the year $5.6 $3.6 $238
Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 28.1 20.2 18.7
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit) 0.2 0.3 (0.9)
Recognized net actuarial loss 11.2 2.1 1.0
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $45.1 $26.2 $21.6
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For measurement purposes, an average rate of 1d@alancrease in the per capita cost of coveretttheare benefits was assumed for 2(
decreasing 1% per year to an ultimate rate of 68sufed health care cost trend rates have a s@mifgffect on the amounts reported for the
health care plans. A one-percentage-point changesamed health care cost trend rates would havieltbwing effects:

One percentag e point
U.S. retiree health and life insurance benefit plan s (millions) Increase D ecrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost compon ents $4.0 $(3.3)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 47.9 (40.0)

Armstrong has pension plans covering employeesmaber of foreign countries that utilize assummithat are consistent with, but not
identical to, those of the U.S. plans. The follogvtables summarize the balance sheet impact asw/élle benefit obligations, assets, funded
status and rate assumptions associated with fopgggeion benefits.

Pension Benefits

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation as of January 1 $283.6 $290.8
Service cost 8.1 7.9
Interest cost 15.9 15.4
Plan participants' contributions 2.3 2.2
Plan amendments 0.1 1.8
Effect of settlements 0.1 -
Effect of special termination benefits - 0.3
Foreign currency translation adjustment 44.3 (11.6)
Actuarial loss (gain) 4.0 (9.6)
Benefits paid (18.3) (13.6)
Benefit obligation as of December 31 $340.1 $283.6

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 $156.8 $179.2
Actual return on plan assets (loss) (20.9) (18.1)
Employer contributions 15.1 11.8
Plan participants' contributions 2.3 2.2
Foreign currency translation adjustment 18.7 4.7)
Benefits paid (18.3) (13.6)
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 $153.7 $156.8
Funded status $(186.4) $(126.8)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 53.4 13.3
Unrecognized transition obligation 0.2 0.3
Unrecognized prior service cost 5.9 5.7

Net amount recognized $(126.9) $(107.5)
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsist of:

Pension Benefits

(millions) 2002 2001
Prepaid benefit cost $ 63 $ 6.0
Accrued benefit liability (152.6) (119.6)
Intangible asset 3.9 0.5
Other comprehensive income 155 5.6
Net amount recognized $(126.9) $(107.5)
Non-U.S. pension plans with benefit obligations Pension Benefits
in excess of assets (millions) 2002 2001
Projected benefit obligation, December 31 $340.1 $123.0
Accrued benefit obligation, December 31 300.2 117.8
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 153.7 2.3

The components of pension cost are as follows:

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Service cost of benefits earned during the year $ 8.1 $79 $72
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 15.9 154 14.6
Expected return on plan assets (11.2) (12.0) (9.9
Amortization of transition obligation 0.1 0.4 0.2
Amortization of prior service cost 0.6 0.2 1.0
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 0.2 - (0.2)
Net periodic pension cost $13.7 $129 $13.0

The funded status of non-U.S. defined-benefit plaas determined using the following assumptions:

Pension Benefits

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans 2002 2001
Weighted-average assumption as of December 31:

Discount rate 5.49% 5.49%
Expected return on plan assets 6.54% 6.35%
Rate of compensation increase 3.71% 3.72%

Costs for other defined contribution benefit plansl multiemployer pension plans were $9.9 millior2002, $11.9 million in 2001, and $1
million in 2000.
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NOTE 19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Armstrong does not hold or issue financial instratador trading purposes. The estimated fair vabfelsrmstrong's financial instruments are
as follows:

2002 2001
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

(millions at December 31) amount fair value amount fair value
Assets/(Liabilities):

Debt subject to compromise $(1,400.7) $(600.2) $(1,400.7) $(739.6)

Long-term debt, including current portion (46.6) (46.6) (56.4) (56.4)

Foreign currency contract obligations (4.6) (4.6) 1.7 1.7

Natural gas contracts 3.9 3.9 (5.2) (5.2)

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivaletsjvables, accounts payable and accrued expestgesterm debt and current
installments of long-term debt approximate fairnebecause of the short-term maturity of theseunsnts. The fair value estimates of long-
term debt were based upon quotes from major fimduntstitutions taking into consideration curreates offered to Armstrong for debt of the
same remaining maturities. The fair value estimafdereign currency contract obligations are eatied from national exchange quotes. The
fair value estimates of natural gas contracts stienated by obtaining quotes from major finanamsititutions and energy companies.

Armstrong utilizes lines of credit and other comai@rcommitments in order to ensure that adequatdd are available to meet operating
requirements. On December 31, 2002, Armstrong&sidarsubsidiaries had available lines of credaliog $51.1 million, of which $5.9
million was used, leaving $45.2 million of unusétk of credit for borrowing on December 31, 2002.

On December 31, 2002, Armstrong had outstandingrieof credit totaling $59.6 million, of which $Z8million was issued under the DIP
Facility. The DIP Facility had $46.3 million thamained available for issuance of letters of craslibf December 31, 2002. Letters of credit
are issued to third party suppliers, insurancefenrahcial institutions and can only be drawn upoethie event of Armstrong's failure to pay its
obligations to the beneficiary. Standby lettersrmafdit are currently arranged through AW!I's DIPikigowith JP Morgan Chase. Certain
standby letters of credit arranged with Wachovid Bank of America prior to the Filing have beeneexted to their respective expiration
dates.

NOTE 20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Armstrong is exposed to market risk from changdsiieign currency exchange rates, interest ratdcammodity prices that could impact
results of operations and financial condition. Anmmsg uses financial instruments, including fixed aariable rate debt, as well as swap,
forward and option contracts to finance its operatiand to hedge interest rate, currency and corityredposures. Armstrong regularly
monitors developments in the capital markets arig @mters into currency and swap transactions estiablished counter-parties having
investment grade ratings. Exposure to individuainterparties is controlled, and thus Armstrong @®ers the risk of counterparty default to
be negligible. Swap, forward and option contractsemtered into for periods consistent with undegyexposure and do not constitute
positions independent of those exposures. Armstusieg derivative financial instruments as risk ngangent tools and not for speculative
trading purposes. In addition, derivative finandamstruments are entered into with a diversifiedugr of major financial institutions and
energy companies in order to manage Armstrong'sexe to nonperformance on such instruments.

Interest Rate Riskbue to AWI's Chapter 11 Filing, all affected delats classified as liabilities subject to comprongiad there were no op
interest rate derivatives as of December 31, 20@22801.
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Currency Rate Risk - Armstrong manufactures and gslproducts in a number of countries througttbatworld and, as a result, is exposed
to movements in foreign currency exchange rates l[Boge extent, Armstrong's global manufacturing sales provide a natural hedge of
foreign currency exchange rate movement, as forgigrency expenses generally offset foreign cuye@agenues. At December 31, 2002,
Armstrong's major foreign currency exposures atheoCanadian dollar, the Euro and the British gbun

Armstrong has used foreign currency forward exckasantracts and purchased options to reduce itssexe to the risk that the eventual net
cash inflows and outflows, resulting from the safi@roduct to foreign customers and purchases fargign suppliers, will be adversely
affected by changes in exchange rates. These teevastruments are used for forecasted transastmd are classified as cash flow hedges.
These transactions allow Armstrong to further redite overall exposure to exchange rate movemsinise the gains and losses on these
contracts offset losses and gains on the transechieing hedged. Gains and losses on these insttsiaw@ deferred in other comprehensive
income until the underlying transaction is recogdim earnings. The net fair value of these insemit: at December 31, 2002 was an asset of
$1.7 million, all of which is expected to be chatde earnings in the next twelve months. The egsimpact is reported in either net sales or
cost of goods sold to match the underlying transadieing hedged. The earnings impact of thesedsedgs not material during 2002.

Armstrong also uses foreign currency forward exgearontracts to hedge exposures created by crosmacy inter-company loans. The
underlying inter-company loans are classified astderm and translation adjustments related to theeses| are recorded in other income. '
related derivative contracts are classified asvaline hedges and the offsetting gains and losséisese contracts are also recorded in other
income. The fair value of these instruments at bdisr 31, 2002 was a $6.3 million liability, allwhich is expected to be charged to
earnings in the next twelve months. During 2008, rtkt earnings impact of these hedges was $0.@mitecorded in other income, which
was comprised of a loss of approximately $27.7iamlfrom the foreign currency forward exchange cacts substantially offset by the 2002
translation adjustment of approximately $28.0 millfor the underlying inter-company loans.

Commodity Price Risk - Armstrong purchases natgaal for use in the manufacture of ceiling tiles atiter products and to heat many of its
facilities. As a result, Armstrong is exposed toverments in the price of natural gas. Armstrongapslicy of minimizing cost volatility by
purchasing natural gas forward contracts, purcheak@ptions, and zero-cash collars. These insgtntmare designated as cash flow hedges.
The mark-to-market gain or loss on qualifying hedgeincluded in other comprehensive income tcetttent effective, and reclassified into
cost of goods sold in the period during which theerlying products are sold. The mark-to-markehgair losses on ineffective portions of
hedges are recognized in cost of goods sold imrteddid he fair value of these instruments at Decein®i, 2002 was a $3.9 million asset, of
which $3.3 million is expected to be charged toegys in the next twelve months. The earnings ihpébedges that matured during 2002,
recorded in cost of goods sold, was a $2.4 mikirpense. The earnings impact of the ineffectivéigoiof these hedges was not material
during 2002.

NOTE 21. GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2002, Armstrong maintained agezgs with the lending institutions of severaltefdistributors. Under these
agreements, if a distributor were to default orbdsrowings and the lender foreclosed on the asfetdank could return a large part of any
Armstrong product still at the distributor (subjéetcertain quality and roll size minimums) foredund of original cost. The last agreement
will expire in February 2004. At December 31, 200®, amount of inventory held at these distributeas less than $8.0 million. No claim
has been made under any of these agreements aredréingn does not anticipate any such claims indh&é€. As such, no liability has been
recorded for these agreements.
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In disposing of assets through mid 2000, AWI antesubsidiaries had entered into contracts th&ided various indemnity provisions,
covering such matters as taxes, environmentalitigliand asbestos and other litigation. Somée$é contracts had exposure limits, but
many did not. Due to the nature of the indemnitileste is no way to estimate the potential maxinexmosure under these contracts. As a
debtor-in-possession, for those contracts thastit@xecutory where AWI was the sole guarantdylfanticipates rejecting those contracts
effective the date of Filing. Parties having claamgler those contracts could have filed claims\kI’A Chapter 11 Case, which will be dealt
with as part of the Case. AWI cannot estimate #iaevof any potential claims that will ultimatelg bllowed by the Court. See Note 1
regarding Proceedings under Chapter 11.

Subsidiaries that are not part of the Chapter lifig-also entered into certain contracts that ideblivarious indemnity provisions similar to
those described above. Since these subsidiariesapart of the Chapter 11 filing, these contractstinue to be in effect. Some of these
contracts had exposure limits, but many did noe Buthe nature of the indemnities, there is no teagstimate the potential maximum
exposure under all these contracts. For contramteruwhich an indemnity claim has been receivdibelity of $1.4 million has been
recorded as of December 31, 2002. See Note 32diegdritigation for additional information.

In September 1999, Armstrong sold its Textiles Botsl operations. As part of the divestiture agregm&rmstrong transferred certain
liabilities and assets to the purchaser to covasipa payments earned by the workforce as of tleedsde. Armstrong also will reimburse the
purchaser for such pension payments that are metred by the pension assets. In addition, Armstaisg agreed to reimburse the purchaser
for the tax impact of Armstrong's reimbursementhaf pension payments. This agreement has no tetiorirdate. As of December 31, 2002,
Armstrong maintained a $1.2 million liability fdnis guarantee and the maximum payments could bespmately $2.6 million, excluding

any amounts paid for tax reimbursement.

See Notes 4 and 24 for a discussion of the ESQPdoarantee.

NOTE 22. PRODUCT WARRANTIES

Armstrong provides direct customer and end-useramdies for its products. These warranties covenufecturing defects that would prevent
the product from performing in line with its intesdiand marketed use. Generally, the terms of thas&nties range up to 25 years and
provide for the repair or replacement of the défegproduct. Armstrong collects and analyzes wayrataims data with a focus on the
historic amount of claims, the products involvdte amount of time between the warranty claims hei tespective sales and the amount of
current sales. The following table illustrates #iogivity for product warranties for 2002:

(millions) 2002
Balance at beginning of year $19.2
Reductions for payments (38.5)
Current year warranty accruals 41.8
Preexisting warranty accrual changes (1.2)
Effects of foreign exchange translation 14
Balance at end of year $22.7

NOTE 23. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

(millions) 2002 2001
Long-term deferred compensation arrangements $41.5 $42.2
Environmental liabilities not subject to compromise 9.8 10.2
Other 23.7 24.4
Total other long-term liabilities $75.0 $76.8
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NOTE 24. RETIREMENT SAVINGS AND STOCK OWNERSHIP PLA N (RSSOP)

In 1989, Armstrong established an Employee Stock&ship Plan ("ESOP") that borrowed $270 millioonfrbanks and insurance
companies, repayable over 15 years and guaranie@ivibh. The ESOP used the proceeds to purchase 3684hares of a new series of
convertible preferred stock issued by Armstrondgl986, the ESOP was merged with the Retiremenih8awlan for salaried employees (a
defined-contribution pension plan) to form the Retient Savings and Stock Ownership Plan ("RSS@®i)July 31, 1996, the trustee of the
ESOP converted the preferred stock held by thé itntcs approximately 5.1 million shares of commaock at a one-for-one ratio.

The number of shares released for allocation tigigaant accounts has been based on the propatiprincipal and interest paid to the total
amount of debt service remaining to be paid ovelife of the borrowings. Through December 31, 2088 RSSOP allocated 2,593,000
shares to participants that remain outstandindigizannts retired 1,831,000 shares, Armstrong douted an additional 437,000 shares from
its treasury and the trustee purchased 243,00@sloarthe open market to allocate to employeesf B2cember 31, 2002, there were
approximately 1,912,000 shares in the RSSOP tlthyéito be allocated to participants.

All RSSOP shares are considered outstanding foiiregs per share calculations. Historically, divideron allocated shares were credited to
employee accounts while dividends on unallocatedeshwere used to satisfy debt service payments.

Armstrong recorded costs for the RSSOP of $4.5anilh 2002, $3.5 million in 2001 and $10.5 million2000, which related to company
contributions. During the fourth quarter of 2000//Aamended the RSSOP to provide for a cash mateimployee contributions in lieu of t
stock match. Armstrong recorded an expense of ®édln in 2002, $3.5 million in 2001 and $0.5 nwlh in 2000 related to the cash match.

See Note 32 for information regarding an audith®y Department of Labor.

The RSSOP currently covers parent company nonwemgployees, some parent company union employeesd\Maooring salaried
employees, and Cabinets salaried employees.

Details of ESOP debt service payments (millions) 2000
Common stock dividends paid $ 45
Employee contributions 1.2
Company contributions 7.0
Company loans to ESOP 7.3
Debt service payments made by ESOP trustee $20.0

On November 22, 2000, AWI failed to repay $50 raillin commercial paper that was due. Subsequeh#yremaining ESOP bond principal
balance of $142.2 million became immediately pagabbng with a $15.5 million interest and tax makesle premium. ESOP debt service
payments have not been made since June 2000.&5sikh of the Chapter 11 filing, AWI's guarantedh@se ESOP loan obligations of $157.7
million is now classified as a liability subject¢ompromise.

The trustee borrowed from AWI $7.3 million in 2080d $12.9 million in 1999. These loans were madmgure that the financial
arrangements provided to employees remained censisith the original intent of the RSSOP. Suclkbeeceivable were included as a
component of shareholder's equity. In December 2id0€bnnection with the Chapter 11 Filing of AWAdchdefault on RSSOP loan
obligations, Armstrong recorded an impairment charfy$43.3 million related to these loans receigablview of the fact that the only asset
of the RSSOP consisted of the stock of AHI whicH Haninished substantially in value. The impairmenats recorded as a component of
Chapter 11 reorganization costs. In July 2001 CGbert in AWI's Chapter 11 Case authorized the Baéildirectors of Armstrong to forgive
the entire amount of all principal and interestomstanding loans to the RSSOP.
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NOTE 25. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Awards under the 1993 Long-Term Stock Incentiven®14993 Plan") were made in the form of stock @psi, stock appreciation rights in
conjunction with stock options, performance restdcshares and restricted stock awards. No addlteamards may be issued under the 1993
Plan.

During 1999, Armstrong adopted the 1999 Long-Temgehtive Plan ("1999 Plan") which replaced the 1B&81. The 1999 Plan is similar to
the 1993 Plan in that it provides for the grantifigncentive stock options, nonqualified stock ops, stock appreciation rights, performance-
restricted shares and restricted stock awards19B8 Plan also incorporates stock awards and oashtive awards. No more than 3,250,
shares of common stock may be issued under the RIg®9 and no more than 300,000 of the shares mayharded in the form of
performance restricted shares, restricted stockdsna@ stock awards. The 1999 Plan does not alleards to be granted after April 25, 201
Pre-1999 grants made under predecessor plansengibberned under the provisions of those plans.

During 2000, Armstrong adopted the Stock Award F12000 Plan") to enable stock awards and resttisteck awards to officers, key
employees and non-employee directors. No more 7I68r000 treasury shares may be awarded under €eRan. The 2000 Plan will
remain in effect until the earlier of the grantadifthe shares allowed under the plan or termimadiothe plan by the Board of Directors.

All of the three plans discussed above will be feated upon the effective date of AWI's plan ofrgamization.

Approximately 1,702,000 stock options were candedls a result of a restricted stock for stock apérchange program offered to employ
in 2000. Employees other than the CEO holding stptions were given a one-time opportunity to exgeatheir stock options with exercise
prices above $50 per share for shares of AHI i&stiistock based on specified conversion ratios.sHares issued under this exchange
program were issued under the 2000 Plan and wiyevisted by August 2002. Expenses related toahent were $0.1 million in 2002, $0.7
million in 2001 and $1.5 million in 2000.

Options are granted to purchase shares at pricdessothan the closing market price of the sharethe dates the options are granted. The
options generally become exercisable in one tethiears and expire 10 years from the date of grant.

Changes in option shares outstanding
(thousands except for share price) 2002 2001 2000

Option shares at beginning of year 2,682.6 2,777.5 3,509.5
Options granted -- 100.0 1,818.5
Option shares exercised - - -

Options cancelled (173.8) (194.9) (2,550.5)

Option shares at end of year 2,508.8 2,682.6 2,777.5
Option shares exercisable at end of year 1,963.5 1,551.7 973.3
Shares available for grant 4,285.6 4,161.5 4,068.7
Weighted average price per share:

Options outstanding $ 3052 $ 3036 $ 30.69
Options exercisable 34.50 39.51 48.92
Options granted N/A 3.60 18.24
Option shares exercised N/A N/A N/A
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The table below summarizes information about stgations outstanding at December 31, 2002. (thowsardept for life and share price)

Options out standing Options exercis able
Weighte d-

Number averag e Weighted- Number We ighted-
Range of outstanding remaini ng average exercisable a verage
exercise prices at 12/31/02 contractual life exercise price at 12/31/02  exerc ise price
$1.19 - $18.00 300.0 7.9 $7.05 166.7 $ 7.75
$18.01 - $19.50 1,299.2 7.2 19.44 888.6 19.44
$19.51 - $46.00 332.7 1.9 41.83 331.3 41.92
$46.01 - $59.00 209.5 4.0 52.07 209.5 52.07
$59.01 - $84.00 367.4 4.0 66.34 367.4 66.34

2,508.8 1,963.5

Performance restricted shares issuable under @@ d®d 1999 plans entitle certain key executiveleyges to earn shares of AHI's common
stock, but only if the total company or individumlsiness units meet certain predetermined perfarenareasures during defined performance
periods (generally three years). At the end ofgrenfince periods, common stock awarded may carnyiaa restriction periods, during
which time Armstrong will hold the shares in custaahtil the expiration or termination of restriatee Compensation expense is charged to
earnings over the performance period. There werghaces of performance restricted common stockanding at December 31, 2002.

Restricted stock awards can be used for the puspafsecruitment, special recognition and retentbkey employees. No award of restric
stock shares was granted in 2002. At the end o2 2B@re were 143,433 restricted shares of comnumk sutstanding with 2,613
accumulated dividend equivalent shares.

SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensdt permits entities to continue to apply theyisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and
provide pro forma net earnings disclosures. Hadpsareation costs for these plans been determinesistent with SFAS No. 123,
Armstrong's net earnings would have been reducétetéollowing pro forma amounts.

(millions) 2002 2001 2000

As reported $(2,142.8) $92.8 $11.8
Pro forma (2,143.3) 90.6 6.6

The fair value of grants was estimated on the dbtgant using the Black-Scholes option pricing ®lodith the weighted-average
assumptions for 2001 and 2000 presented in the tadbw. The weighted-average fair value of stqukoms granted in 2001 and 2000 was
$1.21 and $2.08 per share, respectively. There mestock options granted in 2002.

2001 2000
Risk-free interest rate 4.57% 6.48%
Dividend yield 0% 9.50%
Expected life 5years 5years
Volatility 28% 28%

147



NOTE 26. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
Employee compensation is presented in the tabteshélharges for severance costs and early retireimesntives to terminated employees
(otherwise recorded as restructuring charges) haea excluded.

Employee compensation cost (millions) 2002 2001 2000
Wages and salaries $698.3 $685.3 $669.3
Payroll taxes 76.1 74.2 73.9
Pension credits, net (15.6) (32.0) (34.8)
Insurance and other benefit costs 106.7 92.3 67.2
Stock-based compensation 0.9 2.7 4.4
Total $866.4 $8225 $780.0

The increases in insurance and other benefit evstprimarily related to increased medical beroefitts.

NOTE 27. LEASES

Armstrong rents certain real estate and equipn8aueral leases include options for renewal or @mgehand contain clauses for payment of
real estate taxes and insurance. In most casesgmament expects that in the normal course of bssjeases will be renewed or replaced by
other leases. As part of the Chapter 11 Case, AWt mlecide whether to assume, assume and assiggjectr prepetition unexpired leases
and other prepetition executory contracts. AWI b@sn granted an extension until July 15, 2003 byGburt to make these decisions with
respect to prepetition unexpired leases of regignty and this date may be further extended. Wiipect to prepetition executory contracts
and unexpired leases not related to real estatd,#/until confirmation of a reorganization plamtake these decisions unless such time is
shortened by the Court. The accompanying finarst&ements do not reflect any adjustment relategsamption or rejection of such
agreements.

Rental expense was $20.5 million in 2002, $19.lionilin 2001 and $21.5 million in 2000. Future mimim payments at December 31, 2002,
by year and in the aggregate, having noncanceleh$e terms in excess of one year were as follows:

Capital Operating

Scheduled minimum lease payments (millions) Leases Leases
2003 $1.4 $15.0
2004 2.6 11.7
2005 1.7 7.8
2006 1.0 5.0
2007 0.7 3.0
Thereafter 0.3 9.8
Total $7.7 $52.3

Armstrong has capital leases that have lease pagrtieat extend until 2018. Assets under capitadsare included in the consolidated
balance sheets as follows:

(millions) 2002 2001
Land $3.8 $ 3.8
Building 4.1 4.1
Machinery 25.2 26.1
Less accumulated amortization (9.5) (10.0)
Net assets $23.6 $24.0
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NOTE 28. SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
Treasury share changes for 2002, 2001 and 200#s&@lows:

Years ended December 31 (thousands) 2002

Common shares

Balance at beginning of year 11,393
Stock purchases

Stock issuance activity, net

Balance at end of year 11,393

2001 2000
2 11,3932 11,6287
- - 56.4

- ~  (291.9)

2 11,3932 11,393.2

Stock purchases represent shares received und&rlssed compensation plan forfeitures and shareithholding transactions.

The balance of each component of accumulated otimaprehensive loss as of December 31, 2002 andi@hésented in the table below.

(millions)

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative (gain)/loss, net

Minimum pension liability adjustments

Total

2002 2001
$(5.1) $32.6
(3.6) 3.3
20.9 11.2
$12.2  $471

The related tax effects allocated to each compouwiesther comprehensive income (loss) for 2002paesented in the table below.

Pre-t
(millions) Amou
Foreign currency translation adjustments $37
Derivative gain, net 10
Minimum pension liability adjustments (14

$33

Total

NOTE 29. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(millions)

Maintenance and repair costs
Research and development costs
Advertising costs

Other non-operating expense

Foreign currency translation loss, net of hedging a
Environmental expense for divested business
Impairment loss on available for sale securities
Impairment of note receivable from previous divesti
Other

Total

Other non-operating income

Interest and dividend income

Gain on sale of businesses, net

Demutualization proceeds

Foreign currency translation gain, net of hedging a
Other

Total

ctivity

ture

ctivity
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ax Tax Expense After tax

nt (Benefit)  Amount

7 $37.7

.6 $(3.7) 6.9

4) 4.7 9.7)

9 $1.0 $34.9
2002 2001 2000
$110.7 $112.2 $1146
55.9 56.3 60.3
46.2 49.8 43.7
$03 $ 38 $ 04
5.3 - -

- 3.2 -

0.2 2.0 -
2.4 2.8 33
$82 $118 $ 37
$48 $ 48 $ 56

- - 60.2

0.2 35 5.2

0.7 4.3 7.4
0.3 0.4 2.0
$60 $130 $ 804




NOTE 30. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(millions) 2002 2001 2000
Interest paid $ 6.1 $84 $101.5
Income taxes paid, net of refunds 44.4 13.3 14.7
Acquisitions:

Fair value of assets acquired - 0.6 55.6

Cost in excess of net assets acquired - 5.0

Less:

Net assets in excess of consideration - - 24.2

Liabilities assumed - - 24.9
Acquisitions cash paid, net of cash acquired - $56 $ 6.5

NOTE 31. RELATED PARTIES

Armstrong sold 65% of its ownership in its gasketducts subsidiary, (now known as Interface Sohsgjdnc. or "ISI") on June 30, 1999.
Armstrong still retains 35% ownership of this besia as of December 31, 2002. As part of the diuestiArmstrong agreed to continue to
purchase a portion of the felt products used imtlhaufacturing of resilient flooring from ISI fonanitial term of eight years. Currently,
Armstrong is required to purchase at least 75%sdkit requirements from ISI. The sale agreemésut stipulated quarterly felt price
adjustments that are based upon changing marletspior the felt. In October 2002, the agreemerst amended to include a cap on increi
for 2003 and 2004. Armstrong can purchase felt petgifrom another supplier if ISI's prices are mban 10% higher than another supplier's
prices. Armstrong and ISI are required to cooperafgoduct reformulation and new product developtnbut Armstrong is free to seek
alternatives to felt products. Additionally, Armmtig receives nominal monthly payments from ISIdome logistics and administrative
services. IS| had filed a proof of claim in Armstgis Chapter 11 Case requesting payment for Armgs@repetition obligations. This mal
was settled in November 2002 with Armstrong recg\ée net payment of $0.2 million, with the Bankayp€ourt's approval.

See discussion of Ardex in Note 7.
See discussion of WAVE in Note 11.

NOTE 32. LITIGATION AND RELATED MATTERS

ASBESTOS-RELATED LITIGATION

AWI is a defendant in personal injury cases angerty damage cases related to asbestos contairadggis. On December 6, 2000, AWI
filed a voluntary petition for relief ("the Filing'under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Codesmthe court supervised reorganization
process to achieve a final resolution of its agizekability.

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Claims

Prior to filing for relief under the Bankruptcy CadAWI was a member of the Center for Claims Rdgmiuthe "Center") which handled the
defense and settlement of asbestos-related perisqungl claims on behalf of its members. The Ceptarsued broad-based settlements of
asbestos-related personal injury claims under traegjic Settlement Program ("SSP") and had reaagesements with law firms that
covered approximately 130,000 claims that named A% defendant.

Due to the Filing, holders of asbestos-relatedgekinjury claims are stayed from continuing tog®cute pending litigation and from
commencing new lawsuits against AWI. In additiovyAceased making payments to the Center with regpexsbestos-related personal
injury claims, including payments pursuant to thistanding SSP agreements. AWI's obligations vefipect to payments called for under
these settlements will be determined in its Chapte€Case.
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A creditors' committee representing the interebtssbestos personal injury claimants and an indalithas been appointed to represent the
interests of future personal injury claimants ia @hapter 11 Case. AWI's present and future asbiahility will be addressed in its Chapter
11 Case rather than through the Center and a oddtivf lawsuits in different jurisdictions throughidhe U.S. It is anticipated that all of
AWI's current and future asbestos-related persiopaly claims will be resolved in the Chapter 11s€a

Asbestos-Related Personal Injury Liability In exaing its potential asbestoslated personal injury liability prior to the Fifj, AWI reviewe(
information provided by the Center including, amatlier things, recent and historical settlementwams) the incidence of past and recent
claims, the mix of the injuries of the plaintifthe number of cases pending against it and thesstatd results of broad-based settlement
discussions. Based on this review, AWI developedsiimated range for its cost to defend and resadbestos-related personal injury claims
for six years, through 2006. This estimated range large due to the limitations of the availabladad the difficulty of forecasting with a
certainty the numerous variables that could hafectfd AWI's actual liability for this period. AWoncluded that no amount within the ral
was more likely than any other, and therefore céélé the low end of the range as the liabilitytie tonsolidated financial statements, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes

It is expected that the Chapter 11 process will déth all current and future asbestos-related geasinjury claims against AWI. There are
significant differences between the way the aslsesttated personal injury claims may be addresséénthe bankruptcy process and the
historical way AWI's claims were resolved. See Nbt# the Consolidated Financial Statements fahimrdiscussion on how the Chapter 11
process may address AWI's asbestos-related pelisgungl claims.

As of September 30, 2000, AWI had recorded a lighdf $758.8 million for its asbestos-related maral injury liability that it determined
was probable and estimable through 2006. Due totlreased uncertainty created as a result of itheyFthe only change made to the
previously recorded liability through the third gtex of 2002 was to record October and Novembef2&yments of $68.2 million against
the accrual. The asbestos-related personal injibjlity balance recorded at December 31, 2001 $629.6 million, which was recorded in
liabilities subject to compromise.

As discussed previously, AWI filed an initial PORdadisclosure statement with respect to the POlRnghe fourth quarter of 2002. In
March 2003, AWI filed an amended POR and disclostagement. The POR represents the product of ia¢igos with and is supported by
the Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants' CommittezUnsecured Creditors' Committee and the Futlaien@nts' Representative. Based
upon the foregoing, the discussions AWI has hatl vdpresentatives of such entities within the $asteral months and the hearings held
before the Court in the last several months, mamagé now believes that it is reasonably likely tiet claims addressed in the POR will be
satisfied substantially in the manner set fortthen POR. As a result, AWI has concluded that it@sonably estimate its probable liability
for asbestoselated current and future personal injury claifscordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2002, AWI meded a $2.5 billion charge
increase the liability. The asbestos-related lighdf approximately $3.2 billion at December 3002, which was treated as subject to
compromise, represents the estimated amount dlitjethat is implied based upon the negotiatedhetson reflected in the POR, the total
consideration expected to be paid to the Asbedtdsult pursuant to the POR and a recovery valuegmage for the allowed claims of the
Asbestos PI Trust that is equal to the estimatedvery value percentage for the allowed non-asbasteecured claims. Pursuant to the POR,
all current and future asbestos-related persopatyirclaims will be channeled to the Asbestos RIstifor resolution and, upon emergence
from Chapter 11, reorganized AWI will not have aagponsibility for the claims or participate in ithe@solution.

AWI is unable to predict when and if this POR vl confirmed. Therefore, the timing and terms ebhetion of the Chapter 11 Case remain
uncertain. As long as this uncertainty exists, feitthanges to the recorded liability are possibte@uld be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its
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operations. Management will continue to reviewrdeorded liability in light of future developmeritsthe Chapter 11 Case and make cha
to the recorded liability if and when it is apprizpe.

The $2.5 billion, fourth quarter 2002, charge ter@ase the asbestos-related personal injury liglilibefore recognition of gains from the
settlement of liabilities subject to compromisejethwill arise at a later date as a consequentleso€hapter 11 process.

Collateral Requirements

During 2000, AWI had secured a bond for $56.2 onillto meet minimum collateral requirements esthblisby the Center with respect to
asbestos-related personal injury claims assertaihstgAWI. On October 27, 2000, the insurance camwighat underwrote the surety bond
informed AWI and the Center of its intention notrémew the surety bond effective February 28, 2@l February 6, 2001, the Center
advised the surety of the Center's demand for payofahe face value of the bond. The surety faemotion with the Court seeking to
restrain the Center from drawing on the bond. Tl#ion was not granted. On March 28, 2001, the gdiled an amended complaint in the
Court seeking similar relief. The Center has fidehotion to dismiss the amended complaint. The s not yet ruled on the Center's
motion or the complaint. In addition, on April 2001, AWI filed a complaint and a motion with theutt seeking an order, among other
things, enjoining the Center from drawing on thadbor, in the event the Center is permitted to doavthe bond, requiring that the proceeds
of any such draw be deposited into a Court-appraeedunt subject to further order of the Courtgtudlfred M. Wolin of the Federal
District Court for the District of New Jersey, wisoalso presiding over AWI's Chapter 11 Case, iamgid he would determine these matters.
Judge Wolin has not yet ruled on these matters.

Asbestos-Related property Damage Litigation Overyiisars, AWI was one of many defendants in asbestated property damage claims
that were filed by public and private building owsiewith six claims pending as of June 30, 200% @laims that were resolved prior to the
Filing resulted in aggregate indemnity obligatiafisess than $10 million. To date, all paymentshefse obligations have been entirely
covered by insurance. The pending cases presegatiins of damage to the plaintiffs' buildingssmaiby asbestos-containing products and
generally seek compensatory and punitive damagesauitable relief, including reimbursement of exgliéures for removal and replacement
of such products. In the second quarter of 2000] A6 served with a lawsuit seeking class certificaof Texas residents who own propt
with asbestos-containing products. This case irdwallegations that AWI asbestos-containing pradoatised damage to buildings and
generally seeks compensatory damages and equitdiele including testing, reimbursement for remioarad diminution of property value.
AWI vigorously denies the validity of the allegat®against it in these actions and, in any evaigves that any costs will be covered by
insurance.

Continued prosecution of these actions and the cameement of any new asbestos property damage setierstayed due to the Filing. In
March 2002, the Court allowed certain alleged halad asbestos property damage claims to file ssgh@oof of claim against AWI. In July
2002, the Court denied the certification of thepgm®ed class and held that the plaintiffs' proaflaim shall only be effective as to the named
claimants. The plaintiffs' motion for leave to appt the U.S. District Court was denied by Judgaiwon October 3, 2002. As part of
determining whether AWI asbestos containing resilf®or covering products give rise to propertyrdage liability, the Court conducted an
initial hearing on September 26 - 27, 2002 to deditk type of scientific testing allowable undex Brederal Rules of Evidence to prove or
disprove whether such products cause building comi@ion. On October 22, 2002, the Court granted’AV¢quested relief and ruled that
the methodology offered by the Asbestos Propertm@ge Committee in support of its claims is notiargdically valid method of

quantifying the level of ashestos contaminationa uilding. On November 1, 2002, the Court dire¢ted all property damage claimants
provide, in support of their claims, substantiatibat Armstrong flooring products were used in¢t@mants' buildings. The Court's deadline
for submission of such product identification do@ntation was February 10, 2003. Prior to the Codeadline, AWI reached an agreement
in principle to settle approximately 360 propergntage claims, which alleged damages of $0.2 bjlfien$2 million. Any amounts to be pe
are expected to be funded by insurance. This segtieis subject to the Court's approval, whictclsesluled to be heard by the Court on April
4,
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2003. Additionally, 130 property damage claims hbgen disallowed or withdrawn. Approximately 100gmrty damage claims totaling $0.6
billion will remain unresolved if the settlementapproved. Only 26 of these 100 remaining propéaiyage claims submitted product
identification by the February 10, 2003 deadlinfemed to above.

Consistent with prior periods and due to increasezkrtainty, AWI has not recorded any liabilityateld to asbestos-related property damage
claims as of December 31, 2002. See Note 1 of tres@lidated Financial Statements for further dismrsof property damage claims in the
Chapter 11 Case. A separate creditors' commitesenting the interests of property damage asbekionants has been appointed in the
Chapter 11 Case.

Insurance Recovery Proceedings

A substantial portion of AWI's primary and excessiaining insurance asset is nonproducts (genataliti) insurance for personal injury
claims, including among others, those that invaliteged exposure during AWI's installation of asbgsnsulation materials. AWI has ente
into settlements with a number of the carriersIkésg its coverage issues. However, an alternatigpute resolution ("ADR") procedure was
commenced against certain carriers to determinpe¢heentage of resolved and unresolved claimsatieabonproducts claims, to establish the
entitlement to such coverage and to determine venethd how much reinstatement of prematurely exbdysoducts hazard insurance is
warranted. The nonproducts coverage potentialljl@e is substantial and includes defense costsldition to limits.

During 1999, AWI received preliminary decisionglie initial phases of the trial proceeding of tHeR, which were generally favorable to
AWI on a number of issues related to insurance iama& However, during the first quarter of 200hewv trial judge was selected for the
ADR. The new trial judge conducted hearings in 2806d determined not to rehear matters decidedéprivious judge. In the first quarter
of 2002, the new trial judge concluded the ADRIfpiaceeding with findings in favor of AWI on substially all key issues. Liberty Mutual,
the only insurer that is still a party to the ADRs appealed that final judgment. Appellate argurogginally scheduled for October 2002
was adjourned and was held on March 11, 2003.1in2002, AWI filed a lawsuit against Liberty Mutuia the Federal District Court for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania seeking, amongratings, a declaratory judgment with respectetitain policy issues not subject to
binding ADR.

One of the insurance carriers, Reliance Insurammregany, was placed under an order of liquidatiothigyPennsylvania Insurance
Department during October 2001 due to financididalifties. The order of liquidation prohibits Reatiee from making any claim payments
under the insurance policies until the liquidatomeurs. AWI intends to file a proof of claim agdifeliance by the December 2003 deadline.
It is uncertain when AWI will receive proceeds frételiance under these insurance policies.

Another insurer, Century Indemnity Company, whovresly settled its coverage issues with AWI, haglesome of its required payments
under the settlement to a trust of which AWI iseaéficiary. During January 2002, this insurer filmdadversary action in AWI's Chapter 11
Case. Among other things, the action requests thet@ (1) declare that the settlement agreenseaih iexecutory contract and to compel
assumption or rejection of the agreement; (2) dedlzat the insurer need not make its present@nidef scheduled payments unless AWI
assumes the agreement; (3) declare that the insugatitled to indemnification from AWI againstyalabilities that the insurer may incur in
certain unrelated litigation in which the insurginvolved; and (4) enjoin the disposition of funmeviously paid by the insurer to the trust
pending an adjudication of the insurer's rightseSehissues are before the Court for determinatidn®&VI believes it is highly unlikely the
insurer will prevail in this matter.

On March 5, 2003, the New Hampshire Insurance Deyant placed The Home Insurance Company ("Homedguan order of
rehabilitation. Less than $10 million of AWI's reded insurance asset is based on policies with Harieh management believes is still
probable of recovery.
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Insurance Asset

An insurance asset in respect of asbestos persgmal claims in the amount of $198.1 million icoeded as of December 31, 2002 comp
to $214.1 million as of December 31, 2001. Of thtaltrecorded asset at December 31, 2002, apprtedyr$35.7 million represents partial
settlement for previous claims that will be paidhifixed and determinable flow and is reportedsahét present value discounted at 6.50%.
The total amount recorded reflects AWI's beliethia availability of insurance in this amount, bagpdn AWI's success in insurance
recoveries, settlement agreements that provide camdrage, the nonproducts recoveries by other aaiap and the opinion of outside
counsel. Such insurance is either available thraggtlement or probable of recovery through negjotialitigation or resolution of the ADR
process. Depending on further progress of the A&dRyities such as settlement discussions withrarste carriers party to the ADR and
those not party to the ADR, the final determinatiércoverage shared with ACandS (the former AWulason contracting subsidiary that
was sold in August 1969 and which filed for reliefder Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in Septe2®@2) and the financial condition of
the insurers, AWI may revise its estimate of prdbafisurance recoveries. Approximately $80 millafrthe $198.1 million asset is
determined from agreed coverage in place and igfitre directly related to the amount of the liepilOf the $198.1 million asset, $24.0
million has been recorded as a current asset Be@#mber 31, 2002 reflecting management's estiofdte2 minimum insurance payments to
be received in the next 12 months. As of Febru@g82 approximately $8.0 million of the $24.0 miflicurrent asset is past due based on a
previous settlement agreement. AWI believes catlaadf the full amount is still probable and thenmef has not established a reserve against
these receivables.

A significant part of the recorded asset relatdasarance that AWI believes is probable and wélidbtained through settlements with the
various carriers. Although AWI revised its recoragetbestos liability by $2.5 billion in the fourtbarter of 2002, there was no increase
recorded in the estimated insurance recovery adfgle AWI believes that the process of resolvirgpdted insurance coverage may resu
higher settlement amounts than recorded, therééas no increase in the recorded amounts due tnttertainties remaining in the process.
Accordingly, this asset could change significamtised upon resolution of the issues. Managementass that the timing of future cash
payments for the recorded asset may extend beyowyddrs.

Cash Flow Impact

As a result of the Chapter 11 Filing, AWI did noake any payments for asbestos-related claims i@ 20@001. AWI received $16.0 million
and $32.2 million in asbestos-related insuranceveges during 2002 and 2001, respectively. Dutiregpendency of the Chapter 11 Case,
AWI does not expect to make any further cash paysien asbestos-related claims, but AWI expectotatinue to receive insurance
proceeds under the terms of various settlementaggats.

Conclusion

Based upon the events described above, managearaatto a belief that AWI's asbestos-related lighiliill be settled substantially in the
manner set forth in the POR. As a result, AWI rdedra $2.5 billion charge to increase its estiméprobable asbestos-related liability to
approximately $3.2 billion at December 31, 2002ichiwas treated as subject to compromise. TheHawrarter charge was determined by
calculating an implied liability based upon theypsions of the POR and Disclosure Statement. Howegechange was made to the estim
asbestos-related insurance recovery asset. Mamytairdies continue to exist about the matters tipg AWI's asbestos-related liability and
insurance asset. These uncertainties include thadhof the Filing and the Chapter 11 processntheber of future claims to be filed, the
ultimate value of the asbestos liability, the impafcany potential legislation, the impact of thBR proceedings on the insurance asset and
the financial condition of AWI's insurance carriefslditionally, although a POR and Disclosure Staat have been filed with the Court,
implementation of the POR is subject to confirmatid the POR in accordance with the provisionshefBankruptcy Code. AWI is unable to
predict when and if the POR will be confirmed. Téfere, the timing and terms of resolution of theafier 11 Case remain uncertain. As long
as this uncertainty exists, future changes toekended liability and insurance asset are possitdecould be material to AWI's financial
position and the results of its operations. Manag@rmwill continue to review the
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recorded liability and insurance asset in lighfutfire developments in the Chapter 11 Case and wctakages to the recorded amounts if and
when it is appropriate.

Environmental Matters

Most of Armstrong's manufacturing and certain ofmAtrong's research facilities are affected by veri@deral, state and local environmental
requirements relating to the discharge of matedalhe protection of the environment. Armstrong heade, and intends to continue to make,
necessary expenditures for compliance with appiécabvironmental requirements at its operatinglitées. Armstrong incurred capital
expenditures of approximately $4.5 million in 2088,8 million in 2001 and $6.2 million in 2000 askded with environmental compliance
and control facilities. Armstrong anticipates thahual expenditures for those purposes will nohgbanaterially from recent experience.
However, applicable environmental laws continuehtange. As a result of continuous changes in rémylaequirements, Armstrong cannot
predict with certainty future capital expendituessociated with compliance with environmental regaints.

Armstrong is involved in proceedings under the Cmhpnsive Environmental Response, Compensatiohiabdity Act ("Superfund"), and
similar state laws at approximately 22 sites. Irstroamses, Armstrong is one of many potentially asjble parties ("PRPs") which have
potential liability for the required investigatiamd remediation of each site, and which in somes;dsave agreed to jointly fund that required
investigation and remediation. With regard to saites, however, Armstrong disputes the liabilibe proposed remedy or the proposed cost
allocation among the PRPs. Armstrong may havesightontribution or reimbursement from other pgrtor coverage under applicable
insurance policies.

Armstrong has been remediating environmental cointation resulting from past industrial activityartain of its former plant sites. AWI's
payments and remediation work on such sites fochvAWI is the potentially responsible party is undeview in light of the Chapter 11
Filing. The bar date for claims from several enmirental agencies has been extended into the €iester of 2003.

Estimates of Armstrong's future environmental ligbat the Superfund sites and current or formanpsites are based on evaluations of
currently available facts regarding each individsied and consider factors such as Armstrong'siieti in conjunction with the site, existing
technology, presently enacted laws and regulatmaisprior company experience in remediating comatei sites. Although current law
imposes joint and several liability on all part&sSuperfund sites, Armstrong's contribution torraediation of these sites is expected to be
limited by the number of other companies also ifiext as potentially liable for site remediations A result, Armstrong's estimated liability
reflects only Armstrong's expected share. In deit@ng the probability of contribution, Armstrongresiders the solvency of the parties,
whether liability is being disputed, the terms ny &xisting agreements and experience with similatters. The Chapter 11 Case also may
affect the ultimate amount of such contributions.

AWI is subject to a unilateral order by the Ored@epartment of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") to caretla remedial investigation and
feasibility study and any necessary remedial deaighaction at its St. Helens, Oregon facilitynwadl as the adjacent Scappoose Bay. AWI
has denied liability for the Scappoose Bay, butdwsperated with the DEQ regarding its owned prigp&ther potentially responsible par
who are not yet subject to orders by the DEQ ineliotmer site owners Owens Corning ("OC") and Ka@Ggpsum Company, Inc. OC has
entered into a settlement with the DEQ. Pursuattigcettlement, OC will make a lump sum paymerii¢oDEQ in exchange for
contribution protection (including protection agsticommon law and statutory contribution claimsdI against OC) and a covenant not to
sue. AWI has negotiated with the DEQ how these $umitl be made available for the investigation aechedial action for the site. AWI has
recorded an environmental liability with respectie St. Helens remedial investigations and felsilsitudy at its facility, but not for
Scappoose Bay because AWI continues to disputemegylity for any contamination in Scappoose Bay.

Liabilities of $21.2 million at December 31, 2002de$16.6 million at December 31, 2001 were for ptiéd environmental liabilities that
Armstrong considers probable and for which a realslenestimate of the probable liability could bedmaWhere existing data is sufficient to
estimate the liability, that
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estimate has been used; where only a range of lpleobability is available and no amount within thange is more likely than any other, the
lower end of the range has been used. As assessarehtemediation activities progress at eachthiése liabilities are reviewed to reflect
additional information as it becomes available. Buthe Chapter 11 Filing, $11.4 million of the Rewber 31, 2002 and $6.4 million of the
December 31, 2001 environmental liabilities aresiféed as prepetition liabilities subject to commise. As a general rule, the Chapter 11
process does not preserve company assets for seétition liabilities.

The estimated liabilities above do not take intoocamt any claims for recoveries from insurancenodtparties. Such recoveries, where
probable, have been recorded as an asset in teelmated financial statements and are either abiilthrough settlement or anticipated tc
recovered through negotiation or litigation. Theoaimt of the recorded asset for estimated recoveréess$3.3 million and $3.8 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites magy from the estimates, given the inherent uadeties in evaluating environmental
liabilities. Subject to the imprecision in estinmgtienvironmental remediation costs, Armstrong bebethat any sum it may have to pay in
connection with environmental matters in exceshefamounts noted above would not have a mateharae effect on its financial

condition, or liquidity, although the recordingfature costs may be material to earnings in sutdréuperiod. Armstrong recorded expense of
$4.5 million, $2.1 million and $1.5 million for theears ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 200@atasgy.

Patent Infringement Claims

Armstrong is a defendant in two related lawsuitsnalng patent infringement related to some of Anorsg's laminate products. The plaintiffs
have claimed unspecified monetary damages. Armgtioheing defended and indemnified by its supgbeall costs and potential damages
related to the litigation.

Former Employees Claim

About 370 former Armstrong employees that were @pd in two business divestitures in 2000 havedinbtwo purported class actions
against the Retirement Committee of AWI, certairrent and former members of the Retirement Committee Retirement Savings and
Stock Ownership Plan (RSSOP), AHI and the trustewlof the RSSOP. The cases are pending in thed)8iiates District Court (Eastern
District of PA). Similar proofs of claim have befled against AWI in the Chapter 11 Case. Plaintdflege breach of Employee Retirement
Income Security Act (ERISA) fiduciary duties andh@t violations of ERISA pertaining to losses inithi@SSOP accounts, which were
invested in Armstrong common stock. While AHI beés there are substantive defenses to the allegatiod while denying liability, AWI
has reached an agreement to settle this matt&dformillion, which will be allocated among the amgmate 370 former employees and
treated as convenience claims in the Chapter 1&.Jd® settlement requires approval of the Banksu@ourt.

Department of Labor Discussions

Subsequent to an audit by the United States Depattof Labor ("DOL"), Armstrong has been informédttthe DOL is challenging the
validity of the use of certain contributions to éudebt payments made by the Armstrong EmployeekSomership Plan ("ESOP"), as
provided for by that plan. Armstrong is cooperativith the DOL to address its questions and concabasit those transactions. Armstrong
believes that it fully complied with all applicabdkewvs and regulations governing the plan, and fhezehas not recorded any liability relatec
this matter.

Inquiries Concerning World Trade Center Collapsegtrong has received inquiries from parties (initilgdhe National Institute of Standa
and Technology or NIST) investigating the fire aadlapse at the World Trade Center in New York @itySeptember 11, 2001 concerning
the types and amounts of the company's productsvér@ placed into the World Trade Center towemesr divne. The products manufactured
by the company that are believed to have been gliactne World Trade Center site including the Toweildings in significant amounts
included ceiling tile, floor tile (some containiegcapsulated asbestos fibers) and low temperatare (

156



asbestos) pipe insulation. The company has not imeele aware of any claim or litigation relatingtsoproducts which were in place as of
September 11, 2001.

Other Claims

Additionally, Armstrong, through AWI and AWI's sub&ries, is involved in various other claims arddl actions involving product liabilit
patent infringement, distributor termination, enmypfeent law issues and other actions arising in tldénary course of business. While
complete assurance cannot be given to the outcéthese claims, Armstrong does not expect thatsamy that may have to be paid in
connection with these matters will have a matsriativerse effect on its consolidated financial fiasior liquidity, however it could be
material to the results of operations in the patticperiod in which a matter is resolved.

NOTE 33. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ARMSTRONG HOLDINGS INC . AND ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
The difference between the financial statemensHtifand Armstrong is primarily due to transactidhat occurred in 2000 related to the
formation of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and stockiwity.
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Independent Auditors' Report

The Board of Directors,
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated ¢inhatatements of Armstrong World Industries, laed subsidiaries ("the Company") as
listed in the accompanying index on page 58. Imeation with our audits of the consolidated finahstatements, we also have audited the
financial statement schedule as listed in the apamying index on page 58. These consolidated finhs@atements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company'sagament. Our responsibility is to express an opiwoin these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAmerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6iig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well agatirgg the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiarisoaDecember 31, 2002 and 2001, and the resutteeafoperations and their cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period eémgcember 31, 2002, in conformity with accounfimiciples generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also in our opinion, teéated financial statement schedule, when consitier relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presenty,fai all material respects, the information &&th therein.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemamdisfinancial statement schedule have been prepaseaing that the Company will
continue as a going concern. As discussed in Nofietie consolidated financial statements, the Comgand two of its domestic subsidiaries
filed separate voluntary petitions for relief un@rapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy CodaerlUnited States Bankruptcy Court on
December 6, 2000. The Company has also defaultegmain debt obligations. Although the Company #rade operating subsidiaries are
currently operating their businesses as debtopegsession under the jurisdiction of the Bankrugowrt, the continuation of their
businesses as going concerns is contingent upamauother things, the ability to formulate a pldmemrganization which will gain approval
of the creditors and confirmation by the BankrupBmyurt. The filing under Chapter 11 and the resglincreased uncertainty regarding the
Company's potential asbestos liabilities, as dsedisn Note 32 of the consolidated financial st&tets, raise substantial doubt about the
Company's ability to continue as a going concehe accompanying consolidated financial statemardgiaancial statement schedule do
include any adjustments that might result fromdbh&ome of these uncertainties.

As discussed in Note 12 of the consolidated fir@rgtatements, the Company changed its methodcofuating for goodwill and intangible
assets in 2002.

/sl KPMG LLP

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a
March 14, 2003
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Codes of Ethics

Armstrong has followed a code of ethics for mangrge The Company began in a small cork-cutting $hdB60 in Pittsburgh under its
Founder, Thomas Armstrong. He was determined tsatdmpany act with fairness and in the "balancest mterests (of) customers,
stockholders, employees, suppliers, community rimgh government and the general public.”

Armstrong was among the first American entrepresi¢midiscard the old business maxim of Caveat emfitet the buyer beware"--and
replace it by practicing the principle of "Let theyer have faith", which became an enduring maitalfe Company.

To memorialize this ethical foundation, in 1960 Atnong adopted its Operating Principles which ipooate the philosophy of Thomas
Armstrong and his successors:

. To respect the dignity and inherent rights ofitidévidual human being in all dealings with peaple

. To maintain high moral and ethical standard®ftect honesty, integrity, reliability, and fortghtness in all relationships.

. To reflect the tenets of good taste and commantesy in all attitudes, words and deeds.

. To serve fairly and in proper balance the intisre$ all groups associated with the business tocuesrs, stockholders, employees, suppliers,
community neighbors, government and the public.

In 1992, the Company built on these Operating fplas and established its "Code of Business Cofigwtiich all employees, including the
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officend the Controller, are required to observe. Tate was updated in 2000, when the
current version was introduced.

In 2002, the Company adopted an additional "Codgtbics for Financial Professionals”, which apptiesil professionals in the Company's
finance and controller functions worldwide, incladithe Chief Financial Officer, the Controller, aheé financial management of each of its
business units.

These two Codes and the Company policies thatitieeyporate contain written standards to deter wdming and to promote:

1. honest and ethical conduct, including the etffiaadling of actual or apparent conflicts of imt&trbetween personal and professional
relationships;

2. full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandatifzlosure in reports and documents filed with$fC and in other public communications;
3. compliance with applicable governmental lawtgswand regulations;

4. the prompt internal reporting of Code violatidasan appropriate person; and

5. accountability for adherence to the Codes.

These Codes (and any amendments or waivers thabenaljowed) are available to the public through @ompany's internet web site at
www.armstrong.com.

160



Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board of Directors of Armstrong Holdings, Ihas determined that the Company has at least odié @ammittee Financial Expert
serving on its Audit Committee, namely Van C. CaglptMr. Campbell is also independent, as that terosed in Item 7(d)(3)(iv) of
Schedule 14A under the 1934 Securities Exchangd"S&C").

Under the applicable SEC standard, an audit coraenfthancial expert means a person who has thesfirlyy attributes:

(i) An understanding of generally accepted accagngirinciples and financial statements;

(i) The ability to assess the general applicatbbsuch principles in connection with the accougfior estimates, accruals and reserves;
(iii) Experience preparing, auditing, analyzingemaluating financial statements that present adbhesnd level of complexity of accounting
issues that are generally comparable to the breadittomplexity of issues that can reasonably peard to be raised by the registrant's
financial statements, or experience actively supemg one or more persons engaged in such actyitie

(iv) An understanding of internal controls and mdares for financial reporting; and

(v) An understanding of audit committee functions.

Director Information
The following information is current as of Janu&ty, 2003.

Directors of Armstrong Holdings, Inc.

H. Jesse Arnelle - Age 69; Director since July 29@6mber--Audit Committee. Mr. Arnelle is Of Couhseéth the law firm of Womble
Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC since October 198d former senior partner and co-founder of Arndflastie, McGee, Willis & Greene, a
San Francisco-based corporate law firm from whiehéiired in 1996. He is a graduate of Pennsylvatage University and the Dickinson
School of Law. Armstrong has retained Womble Carlyandridge & Rice, PLLC for many years, includ2@®l1 and 2002. Mr. Arnelle
served as Vice Chairman (1992-1995) and Chairm@@g11998) of the Board of Trustees of the Pennsytv&tate University. He serves on
the Boards of Waste Management, Inc., FPL Group, EEastman Chemical Company, Textron, Inc., Gar@etporation and Metropolitan
Life Series Fund.

Van C. Campbell - Age 64; Director since March 199&mber--Audit Committee (Audit Committee Finaridixpert). Mr. Campbell
graduated from Cornell University and holds an M&&gree from Harvard University. He retired in 1289Vice Chairman of Corning
Incorporated (glass and ceramic products) and alraeof its Board of Directors. He also serves @anBloard of Quest Diagnostics
Incorporated. Mr. Campbell is a Trustee of the @GayiMuseum of Glass.

Judith R. Haberkorn - Age 56; Director since JU@8; Member--Nominating and Governance Committde{®nan) and Management
Development and Compensation Committee. Ms. Halberikoa graduate of Briarcliff (N.Y.) College andropleted the Advanced
Management Program at Harvard Business School. EA98 until her retirement in June 2000, she seageresident - Consumer Sales &
Service for Bell Atlantic (telecommunications). Sireviously served as President - Public & Oper&ewvices (1997-1998), also at Bell
Atlantic, and Vice President - Material Managem@®90-1997) for NYNEX Telesector Resources Groefeftommunications). Ms.
Haberkorn is a director of Enesco Corporation argies on the advisory board of Norfolk Southerre Bhchair emeritus of the Committee
200 and a member of The International Women's FamdhThe Harvard Business School Network of Womkm#ae. She is a Vice
President Emerita of the Harvard Business Schoafii Advisory Board and a member of the Visitingn@oittee.
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John A. Krol - Age 66; Director since February 198@mber--Nominating and Governance Committee aacid@ement Development and
Compensation Committee. Mr. Krol is a graduate uft§ University where he also received a masteggak in chemistry. Mr. Krol was
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of DuPontirneg) in 1998. He is a director of MeadWestvaco itwation, Milliken & Company, Tyc
International Ltd. and ACE Limited Insurance Co.. Mrol also serves on the Boards of Trustees offtiits University and the University of
Delaware. He is on the advisory Boards of Teijimlted and Bechtel Corporation. He is a trustednefHiagley Museum. He is also the
former president of GEM: The National Consortium @raduate Degrees for Minorities in Engineering &giences, Inc.

Michael D. Lockhart - Age 53; Chairman of the Boardl Chief Executive Officer of AHI since August(®0 Director since November 2000
and Chairman of the Board and President since M206A of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Mr. Lo@hpreviously served as Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of General Signal (eedsified manufacturer) headquartered in StamfGahnecticut from September 1995 u

it was acquired in October 1998. He joined Gen8igihal as President and Chief Operating Office8éptember 1994. From 1981 until 1994,
Mr. Lockhart worked for General Electric in varioesecutive capacities in the GE Credit Corporatitow GE Capital), GE Transportation
Systems and GE Aircraft Engines. He is a membéneBusiness Council for the Graduate School oifiass at the University of Chicago.

James E. Marley - Age 67; Director since NovemI$88] Member--Audit Committee (Chairman) and LeackBtor since December 2002,
also Director--Armstrong World Industries, Inc. NMarley is a graduate of Pennsylvania State Unityeesd earned a master's degree in
mechanical engineering from Drexel University. Frd@®3 until his retirement (August 1998), he serasd€hairman of the Board of AMP
Incorporated (electrical/electronic connection des), which he joined in 1963 and where he sersdrasident and Chief Operating Officer
(1990-1992) and President (1986-1990). He alscesawm the Board of Arvin Meritor, Inc.

Ruth M. Owades - Age 54; Director since April 200 mber--Nominating and Governance Committee anddgdament Development and
Compensation Committee. Ms. Owades is a gradugserigbps College in Claremont, California and edrae MBA from Harvard Business
School. She was a Fulbright Scholar in Strasbdem@nce. Since 2002, she has served as the Presidentades Enterprises, LLC.
(marketing enterprise having the rights to four nEatented consumer products). She was the foumde€&O (1989-2001) of Calyx &
Corolla (first fresh flower catalog and internehguany). She was also the founder and CEO of Garddaéen (a catalog of gardening tools
and accessories). Ms. Owades is a director of BiaviFinancial Corporation and The J. Jill Grounz. IShe also serves as a member of the
Board of Associates of Harvard Business SchoolBiterd of Trustees of Scripps College, the CoumtiCompetitiveness, the Committee of
200 and the Advisory Boards of Versura Inc. analias LLC.

M. Edward Sellers - Age 58; Director since May 20BEmber--Audit Committee. Mr. Sellers is a graduat Vanderbilt University and
received his MBA from Harvard Business School. Bkllers joined Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Sa@dholina (a health, life, property a
casualty insurance company with related servicdsfamctions) in 1987, serving as President and iGDjeerating Officer until 1992 when he
assumed the role of President and Chief Executffiedd. In 2000, he assumed the role of ChairmaacHrrently serves as Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer. He serves as ChairmarhefBoard of Palmetto Business Forum of CommerceClrairman of the Board of
Columbia College. He also serves on the followimgaiils: Open Networks Technologies, Inc.; Palmetiosérvation Foundation; National
Bank of South Carolina; American Red Cross; ETVUg&ational Television) Endowment of South Caroli@antral Carolina Economic
Development Alliance and Central Carolina Commuhibyindation.
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Jerre L. Stead - Age 60; Director since April 199&mber--Nominating and Governance Committee anddgament Development and
Compensation Committee (Chairman). Mr. Stead isaduate of the University of lowa and was a partiat in the Advanced Management
Program, Harvard Business School. From August 1886 June 2000 he served as Chairman and ChieflEixe Officer of Ingram Micro,
Inc. (technology products and services). During5, 9% served as Chairman, President and Chief ExedDfficer of Legent Corporation
(integrated product and service software solutiomsi its sale late in 1995. He was Executive Vitesident, American Telephone and
Telegraph Company (telecommunications) and ChairamahChief Executive Officer of AT&T Global Inforrtian Solutions (computers and
communicating), formerly NCR Corp. (1993-1994). Was President of AT&T Global Business Communicai8ystems (communications)
(1991-1993) and Chairman, President and Chief BrexO@fficer (1989-1991) and President (1987-1989%quare D Company (industrial
control and electrical distribution products). kidétion, he held numerous positions during a 21-geaeer at Honeywell. He is a Director of
Thomas & Betts, Conexant Systems, Inc., Brightptinot and Mobility Electronics, Inc. Mr. Stead is@Chairman of the Board and Director
of WorkWell Systems, Inc.

Directors of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Mieid. Lockhart - (See description, above.)
James E. Marley - (See description, above.)
John N. Rigas - (See description, above.)

Executive Officer Information
The following information is current as of Janu&fy, 2003. Each executive officer serves a one4gzar until reelected or until his or her
earlier death, resignation, retirement or replacggme

Executive Officers of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. Madl D. Lockhart - (See description, above.)

Matthew J. Angello - Age 43; Senior Vice Presidé€dyporate Human Resources since October 2000idesty Vice President, Human
Resources, Floor Products Operations, Armstronddodustries, Inc. January 1997 - September 200 President and Senior Director,
Human Resources, The Restaurant Company (fooccegid®92 - January 1997.

Leonard A. Campanaro - Age 54; Senior Vice Pregidad Chief Financial Officer since April 2001. Picusly President, Chief Operating
Officer and board member of Harsco Corporation\{jater of industrial services and products) Jand®98 - July 2000. Served Harsco for
over 20 years in a variety of financial and operadipositions before assuming the role of PresidEHarsco, served as Senior Vice Presil
and Chief Financial Officer from 1992-1997.

John N. Rigas - Age 53; Senior Vice President, &acy and General Counsel since November 200006¥ite President, Secretary and
General Counsel of Armstrong World Industries, kince May 2001. Previously Deputy General Coub#@jation, Armstrong World
Industries, Inc. March 1999 - November 2000; worf@dDow Corning Corporation (specialty chemicairgmany) October 1982 - March
1999, his last title being Senior Managing Counsel.

William C. Rodruan - Age 48; Vice President and olter since July 1999. Previously Director, Carge Transformation and Shared
Services, Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Februb®97 - July 1999 and Vice President of Financep@ate Retail Accounts, Armstrong
World Industries, Inc. July 1994 - February 1997.
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Barry M. Sullivan - Age 57; Vice President and Tes@r since February 2002. Vice President and Gireasf Armstrong World Industries,
Inc. since May 2001. Previously Vice President @rehsurer for RailWorks Corporation (engineering aanstruction firm focused on rail
transit) January 2000 - May 2001; Vice President Bireasurer for Harsco Corporation (provider ofuisiial services and products) October
1993 - September 1999.

April L. Thornton - Age 41; Senior Vice PresidendaChief Marketing Officer since April 2001. Preugly Vice President, Marketing and
Sales for Capitol Wire, Inc. (online interactiveaseservice) May 2000 - March 2001; Vice Presidbtarketing, Worldwide Building
Products Operations, Armstrong World Industries, Beptember 1997 - May 2000; Marketing DirectaswNBeverage Product Strategy and
Development, Pepsi Cola Company (snack food, sofkénd juice) April 1992 - August 1997.

Executive Officers of Armstrong World Industriescl Michael D. Lockhart - (See description, above.)
Matthew J. Angello - (See description, above.)
Leonard A. Campanaro - (See description, above.)

Chan W. Galbato - Age 40; President and Chief Eteefficer, Armstrong Floor Products, ArmstrongoW Industries, Inc. since July
2001. Previously, President and Chief Executived®ifof ChoiceParts LLC (provider of integratediwal exchange services for auto parts
industry) June 2000 - June 2001. Held senior managepositions at various divisions of General Elecincluding most recently President
and Chief Executive Officer of Coregis (a GE Cdpitaurance company) February 1999 - June 2000.

Gerard L. Glenn - Age 56; President and CEO, AromgfrDLW, Europe (Armstrong Floor Products) sinceuday 2001. Previously held the
following positions with Armstrong World Industriemd/or its subsidiaries: Senior Vice Presiderdrimitional - Building Products
Operations from January 1998 - December 2000, aoel Rresident Sales & Marketing, Americas - BuidgdProducts Operations from March
1994 - December 1997.

David E. Gordon - Age 36; President and Chief ExgeuOfficer, Armstrong Cabinet Products, Armstrafgrld Industries, Inc. since
October 2002. Previously, Vice President of MargtiCabinet Products, Armstrong Wood Products, Angystrong World Industries, Inc.
February 2001 - September 2002; Director, Busiiesglopment, Armstrong World Industries, Inc. M@0 - January 2001; Project
Manager, e-Business Team, Armstrong World Industtigc. October 2000 - December 2000.

John N. Rigas - (See description, above.)
William C. Rodruan - (See description, above.)

Stephen J. Senkowski - Age 51; President and Ghietutive Officer, Armstrong Building Products Ogigons, Armstrong World Industries,
Inc. since October 2000. Previously, Senior Vicesiktent, Americas, Building Products Operationsnstrong World Industries, Inc. April
2000 - October 2000; President/Chief Executived@ffi WAVE July 1997 April 2000; Vice President, Innovation Processilding Product
Operations 1994 - July 1997.

Barry M. Sullivan - (See description, above.)
April L. Thornton - (See description, above.)

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings On Decarb2000, the Company's subsidiary, Armstrong \WWanHustries, Inc. and two of
Armstrong World Industries' wholly-owned subsidés; Nitram Liquidators, Inc. and Desseaux Corponatif North America, Inc., filed for
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. BartksjuSode. Several of the Company's officers andotiirs are also officers or directors of
Armstrong World Industries or the subsidiaries ofatrong World Industries that filed for reorganiaa under Chapter 11. In addition, all
present directors of the Company, except Mr. Seled Ms. Owades, were or are directors of Armgtidorld Industries. As such, these
executive officers and directors have been assstiaith a corporation that filed a petition undes federal bankruptcy laws within the last
five years.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Comnptie Securities and Exchange Commission ("SECUla&gns require Company
directors and executive officers, and any persemeficially owning more than ten percent of its coom stock to report to the SEC their
ownership of this stock and any changes in thateship. SEC regulations also require these peitsofisnish the Company with copies of
these reports. The proxy rules require the Compamgport any failure to timely file those reparighe previous fiscal year.

Based solely upon review of copies of reports flrad to the Company and written representatioms fi® directors and executive officers
that no other reports were required, the Compaligues that all of these filing requirements weasdied by Armstrong's directors and
executive officers during 2002.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive Officer's Compensation

The following table shows the compensation recelwethe Chief Executive Officer and the four othé&ghest paid individuals who served as
executive officers during 2002. The data reflectisipensation for services rendered to AHI and Aromgjrand its subsidiaries in each of the
last three fiscal years.

TABLE 1: SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

ANNUAL C OMPENSATION LONG-TERM COMPENSATION
Awards Payou t
Other AHI AHI All
Annual Restricted Securities Other
Compen-  Stock Underlying LTIP Compen
Name and Current Year Salary Bo nus sation Awards Options/  Payou ts -sation
Principal Position % @ - ($)y2r  ($)/3/ SARs(#) ($)/4 ! ($)5/
M. D. Lockhart 2002 860,000 1,05 5,000 82,477 - = - 2,241,0 00 25,776
Chairman of the Board 2001 845,000 94 1,188 178,955  ----- 100,000 - 20,276
and Chief Executive 2000 321,212 5,40 1,640 ----- 2,456,250 200,000 - 133
Officer of AHI; Director
Chairman of the Board
and President of
Armstrong
C. W. Galbato 2002 450,000 72 3,400 ----- - - 747,0 00 24,776
President and Chief 2001 234,375 96 5,000 99,015 - @ - - 18

Executive Officer,
Armstrong Floor Products

S. J. Senkowski 2002 385,000 63 4,500 ----- @ -eem - 721,0 00 27,588
President and Chief 2001 376,250 38 7,523 - e e - 26,626
Executive Officer, 2000 219,583 30 9,322 ----- 26,804 13,000 - 6,749
Armstrong Building

Products

J. N. Rigas, Senior Vice 2002 330,000 64 0,875 - e e 355,3 50 25,776
President, Secretary and 2001 322,500 29 2,325 - em e - 24,451
General Counsel, AHI 2000 223,083 13 5000 --- = - 11,000 - 9,838
M. J. Angello 2002 340,000 47 4,700 ----- eem e 310,2 54 27,778
Senior Vice President, 2001 336,250 29 6,162 ----- - - - 26,724
Corporate Human 2000 227,122 14 7,500 ----- 41,319 10,570 - 18,708

Resources, AHI

1) The amounts disclosed for 2002 include paymender the Management Achievement Plan and, whelécaple, cash retention
payments.

2) Except for the income related to Mr. Lockhartidg 2002, the aggregate value does not exceelésker of $50,000 or 10% of shown
salary and bonus. Mr. Lockhart had income of $42 rBtated to the personal use of the company étiranal related tax assistance of $37,

3) The number and value of restricted stock helédigh executive as of January 31, 2003 is as fslltMv D. Lockhart - 100,000 ($66,000);
S. J. Senkowski - 668 ($441); M. J. Angello - 2,160,426).

4) Payout for the 2001 Long-Term Cash Incentive Alva
5) The amounts disclosed for 2002 include:

a) Non-elective contribution by Armstrong to eastlividual's Bonus Replacement Retirement Plan adcdd. D. Lockhart - $20,000; C. W.
Galbato - $20,000; S. J. Senkowski - $20,000; Rijas - $20,000; M. J. Angello - $20,000.

b) Match Account contributions under the Retirenteatings and Stock Ownership Plan; M. D. Lockh&%,500; C. W. Galbato$4,656; S
J. Senkowski - $5,340; J. N. Rigas - $5,500; Muriyello - $5,500.

¢) Taxable income related to company-paid life rasae benefits: M. D.
Lockhart- $276; C. W. Galbat- $120; J. N. Riga- $276.



d) Present value costs of Armstrong's portion @2premiums for split-dollar life insurance: SS&nkowski - $2,248 and M. J. Angello
- $2,278.
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Change in Control Agreements

Armstrong and AHI are partners to change in cor(t©IC") agreements with a group of senior exeagivincluding M. D. Lockhart, C. W.
Galbato, S. J. Senkowski, J. N. Rigas and M. JeflagThese agreements provide severance benefite ievent of a change in control of
AHI or its major subsidiary, Armstrong World Indtiss, Inc. The purpose of the agreements is t@fatability in AHI's management ranks
in the face of a possible change in control.

The severance benefits are payable if the execigivevoluntarily terminated or terminates employrm#r good reason within three years
following a change in control. Good reason to teae employment exists if there are significaningfes in the nature of the employment
following the change in control. For example, auettbn in compensation, a change in responsibitityg relocation of the place of
employment would constitute significant changes.the most senior officers, the agreement includpsovision where the executive may
choose to terminate employment for any reason duhia thirty-day period beginning twelve monthddaling a qualifying change in control
and receive severance benefits. The qualifying gbam control must meet the definitions in (2) §8dshown below. The agreement has an
automatic renewal feature, meaning the agreemeitsomtinue in effect unless either Armstrong, Aéfithe executive elects not to extend
the agreement.

For the purposes of these agreements, a changeatirokincludes the following: (1) acquisition byparson (excluding certain qualified
owners) of beneficial ownership of 20% or more &fl& common stock; (2) change in the compositiothefBoard of AHI, so that existing
Board members and their approved successors dmnstitute a majority of the Board; (3) consummatid a merger or consolidation of
AHI, unless shareholders of voting securities imiaedly prior to the merger or consolidation congérto hold 66-2/3% or more of the voting
securities of the resulting entity; and (4) shatdtioapproval of a liquidation or dissolution of Abf sale of substantially all of AHI's assets.

Severance benefits under the agreements depeme @osition the executive holds, but generallyudet (1) a lump severance payment e
to two or three times the sum of the officer's airase salary and the higher of either (a) thieexfs highest annual bonus earned in the
years prior to termination or prior to the changeantrol, or (b) the annual target bonus for thanjin which the change in control occurs;
a lump payment of the portion of the target inoenfiward calculated by multiplying the target awlaydhe fractional number of months
completed in the performance award period;

(3) payment of remaining premium payments for sgidiiar life insurance policies; (4) enhanced mtient benefits payable as a lump sum;
(5) continuation of life, disability, accident ahdalth insurance benefits for three years followargination; (6) full reimbursement for the
payment of excise taxes; and (7) payment of legred fn connection with a good faith dispute invadvihe agreement.

The Bankruptcy Court in Armstrong World Industri€$lapter 11 case authorized Armstrong World Inéesto assume the CIC agreements
subject to certain modifications. The modificatidingit in certain respects (i) what constituteshagge in control under the CIC agreements;
and (ii) with respect to the CIC agreements forrtteest senior officers, what constitutes a qualifyaange of control that would enable the
executive to terminate employment. If the POR disedl in Item 1 of this 10-K report is approved badomes effective, the issuance of the
stock of AWI according to the provisions of the P@HR constitute a change in control under the GiEeements.

Employment Agreements

AHI and Armstrong World Industries entered intdeee-year employment agreement with Michael D. backeffective August 7, 2000, in
which Mr. Lockhart agreed to serve as ChairmarmefBoard and Chief Executive Officer of AHI at aitial base salary of $800,000 per y
and a $5,000,000 one-time signing bonus. This aohtwas subsequently approved by the Court in AongtWorld Industries' Chapter 11
case. Portions of the signing bonus must be rapadd| if Mr. Lockhart terminates employment foryareason other than death, disability or
good reason or is terminated for cause. The empoymgreement is automatically renewed for an exhdit one-year term on the third
anniversary of the date of the agreement and aamessive anniversary, unless AHI gives noticemeixtend the agreement at least 180
prior to the anniversary date. If AHI terminates ttmployment agreement
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with Mr. Lockhart without "cause" or if Mr. Lockhiarerminates his employment for "good reason" piacthe third year of the employment
contract, Mr. Lockhart is entitled to receive (Juap-sum cash payment equal to his base salarg,tpé higher of (i) his target bonus in the
year of termination, ¢

(i) the highest bonus award earned during thethasie years, including the year of termination|tiplied by either the number of years
remaining in his employment agreement or by twd)("®hichever is larger and (2) continuation oftaér benefits for a period equal to the
greater of two years or the remaining term of thee@ment. If AHI terminates the employment agreaméth Mr. Lockhart without "cause”
or if Mr. Lockhart terminates his employment footgl reason" after the third year of the employnoemtact, Mr. Lockhart is entitled to
receive (1) a lump-sum cash payment equal to tge balary, plus the higher of (i) his bonus inytear of termination at target performance
levels, or (ii) the highest bonus award paid duting last three years, multiplied by either the hanof years remaining in his employment
agreement or by one ("1"), whichever is larger @)ccontinuation of certain benefits. Mr. Lockhagmployment agreement also contains a
non-competition provision that bars him from conipgtwith AHI or any subsidiaries or affiliates farperiod of two years following his
termination. The agreement also provides Mr. Lockiéth the opportunity to participate in all shoerm and long-term incentive plans
offered by AHI and AWI, including an annual cashentive opportunity and an annual long-term ina@néiward under AHI's long-term
incentive plan. The agreement further provides titvalue of his annual long-term incentive awamdhe grant date is required to equal
150% of Mr. Lockhart's target annual cash compémsdior the year.

Armstrong World Industries entered into an emplogtregreement with Chan W. Galbato effective Mag@)1, that was subsequently
approved by the Court in its Chapter 11 case.drctintract, Mr. Galbato agreed to serve as PresaehChief Executive Officer of
Armstrong Floor Products Operations at an initedd salary of $450,000 per year and a $200,00@imeesigning bonus. Mr. Galbato is
eligible to participate in the Company's annualdsoplan, the Management Achievement Plan. The agmeealso provides Mr. Galbato the
opportunity to participate in long-term incentiviaips offered to senior officers. The agreemensdall severance pay for Mr. Galbato at one
and one-half times the sum of the base salaryangetbonus. During the period of the Chapter biganization, Mr. Galbato is eligible to
participate at the maximum level in the cash réd@ndnd enhanced severance benefit programs oftangsWorld Industries.

Severance Pay Plan for Salaried Employees The &sseiPay Plan for Armstrong World Industries’ SathEmployees was adopted in
1990. This plan is designed to cushion the effettmemployment for certain salaried employees. Gdwmefits are payable if a covered
employee is terminated under certain circumstantiésalaried employees of AHI and Armstrong Wontdiustries, including the officers
named in the Summary Compensation Table, are Higilparticipate in the plan. A participant wil lentitled to severance pay if they are
terminated and an exclusion does not apply. Thdarap is not entitled to severance pay if the redeothe termination is the following: (1)
voluntary separation; (2) the employee accepts eynpent with the successor organization in connactith the sale of a plant, unit, divisi
or subsidiary; (3) the employee rejects the offea position in the same geographic area at a $slaey of at least 90% of the employee's
current salary made by AHI or Armstrong World Inttiess, their subsidiaries or any successor orgéiniza(4) misconduct; or (5)
unsatisfactory performance, unless otherwise agutty the Severance Pay Committee. Severance tsewéfibe offset by payments made
under CIC agreements or individual employment agesgs.

Under the plan, the scheduled amount of the paymdrased on the employee's length of serviceprefss termination and base salary le'
The amount of the payment ranges from a minimutwofweeks base salary to a maximum of 39 weeks $maey. Subject to certain

limitations, benefits may be paid by salary conditimn or lump sum payments. A participant may alsoose a combination of periodic and
lump-sum payments. The Severance Pay Committee retangght to depart from the severance pay schedére factors justify an upwa
or downward adjustment in the level of benefitsninevent may the severance benefit exceed twatiheeparticipant's annual compensai
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TABLE 2: OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR

There was no grant of stock options during 2002eumhy of Armstrong's stock-based compensationsplan

TABLE 3: AGGREGATED OPTION/SAR EXERCISES IN LAST FI SCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION/SAR VALUES

The following table sets forth information regamglitne exercise of stock options during 2002 andutiexercised options held as of the en
2002 by each of the named executives:

Value
AHI Realized
Shares  (market price
Acquired  at exercise Securities Underlying Value of Unex ercised
On less exercise Unexercised Options/SARs In-The-Money Opti ons/SARs At
Exercise price) At Fiscal Year-End (#) Fiscal Yea r-End ($)
Name (#) %) E xercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Un exercisable
M. D. Lockhart 0 0 166,665 133,335 0 0
C. W. Galbato 0 0 0 0 0 0
S. J. Senkowski 0 0 10,321 4,334 0 0
J. N. Rigas 0 0 13,333 3,667 0 0
M. J. Angello 0 0 7,046 3,524 0 0

TABLE 4: LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS IN LAST FI SCAL YEAR

The following table sets forth information regamglitne long-term incentive plan awards granted du2®02 to each of the named executives:

Performance Estimated Fu ture Payouts Under Non-Stock Price-Based Plans (1)
Period Until ~ --------------
Maturation or
Name Payout Threshold ($ ) Target ($) Maximum ($)

M. D. Lockhart 1/1/2002 - 2,902,500/2/  See footnote 3.
12/31/2003

C. W. Galbato 1/1/2002 - 270,000 900,000 See footnote 3.
12/31/2003

S. J. Senkowski 1/1/2002 - 231,000 770,000 See footnote 3.
12/31/2003

J. N. Rigas 1/1/2002 - 113,850 379,500 See footnote 3.
12/31/2003

M. J. Angello 1/1/2002 - 117,300 391,000 See footnote 3.
12/31/2003

/1)/ Cash incentive awards are earned on the basismulative operating income (adjusted for wogkaapital variance from budget) for
2002 and 2003 measured against a pre-establisigel.tihe plan allows for certain costs to be edetiwhen measuring performance,
including the impact of interest expense/incomakbaptcy-related expense/income, restructuringgdsmand significant unusual items. The
Management Development and Compensation Committeestablished an award achievement schedulecttsadrs upper limit on the
payment amount at varying levels of financial perfance. The threshold payout requires that Armgtawhieve 70% of the operating
income target, below which no payment will be matiash payments earned will be paid in early 2004.
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/2)] Mr. Lockhart's cash incentive award will beread on the basis of the company's 2003 earninfgsebmterest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) measured against 2001 EBITE®Aults. 60% of the target award will be earnediiact proportion to the ratio of
2003 EBITDA to 2001 EBITDA capped at a ratio of .IThe remaining 40% of the target award will benedrin direct proportion to the ratio
of (1) three times the increase in 2003 EBITDA o2@01 EBITDA to (2) 2001 EBITDA capped at a ratfald). The target and actual results
exclude the impact of bankruptcy-related expensefire, restructuring charges and significant unuiseials. No threshold performance level
has been established. Cash payments earned vpidliden early 2004.

/3)/ Under the terms of the 1999 Long-Term Incemtitan, the maximum payment to any one participarguant to a Cash Incentive Award
with respect to any one year is $3 million.

BENEFITS FROM RETIREMENT PLANS

The following table shows the estimated pensiorefienpayable to a participant at normal retirermesze under Armstrong's Retirement
Income Plan and Retirement Benefit Equity Plan. Reérement Income Plan is a qualified defined ffiepension plan. The Retirement
Benefit Equity Plan is a partially funded, nongtiadl supplemental pension plan. It provides pagptiots with benefits that would otherwise
denied by reason of certain Internal Revenue Ciotigations on qualified plan benefits. The amouwsttewn in Table 5 are based on
compensation that is covered under the plans aa yd service with the Company and its subsidsarie

TABLE 5: PENSION PLAN TABLE
ANNUAL RETIREMENT BENEFIT BASED ON SERVICE/1/

15 20 25 30 35 40

Remuneration/2/ Years Years Years Years Years Years

$ 400,000 $90,000 $120,000 $150,0 00 $ 180,000 $ 210,000 $ 234,000
$ 600,000 $137,000 $182,000 $228,0 00 $ 273,000 $ 318,000 $ 354,000
$ 800,000 $183,000 $244,000 $305,0 00 $ 366,000 $ 427,000 $ 475,000
$1,000,000  $230,000 $306,000 $383,0 00 $ 459,000 $ 535,000 $ 595,000
$1,200,000 $276,000 $368,000 $460,0 00 $ 552,000 $ 644,000 $ 716,000
$1,400,000 $323,000 $430,000 $538,0 00 $ 645,000 $ 752,000 $ 836,000
$1,600,000 $369,000 $492,000 $615,0 00 $ 738,000 $ 861,000 $ 957,000
$1,800,000 $416,000 $554,000 $693,0 00 $ 831,000 $ 969,000 $1,077,000
$2,000,000 $462,000 $616,000 $770,0 00 $ 924,000 $1,078,000 $1,198,000
$2,200,000  $509,000 $678,000 $848,0 00 $1,017,000 $1,186,000 $1,318,000

/1./ Benefits shown assume retirement in 2002. Bdreefits are computed as a straight life annuitjirbeéng at age 65 and are not subject to
deduction for Social Security or other offsets.

2./ Calculated as the average annual compendatibie three highest paid years during the 10 ypdos to retirement. Annual compensat
equals the total of the amounts reported undecahenns captioned "Salary” and "Bonus" in the Sumyn@ompensation Table (excluding
the signing bonus and cash retention paymentselisssArmstrong contributions under the Bonus BRepinent Retirement Plan.

The 2002 annual compensation and estimated yeaexvite for plan purposes for each of the exeesthamed in the Summary
Compensation Table were as follows:

M. D. Lockhart - $1,821,188 (4.8 years); C.W. Gatba$720,000 (12.5 years); S. J. Senkowski - $43(29.6 years); M.J. Angello -

$492,994 (19.9 years) and J. N. Rigas - $586,28@ (2ears). Mr. Lockhart receives two years of mereredit for every one year of actual
service toward the calculation of his pension bigmehder the Retirement Benefit Equity Plan. Eatiad years of service include credit for
prior service awarded to C.W. Galbato (11 years)l. Mngello (14 years) and J. N. Rigas (17 yegpshuheir employment with Armstrong.

The Armstrong retirement benefit will be reducedtvy value of any defined benefit pension payaplprevious employers for the respect
period of the prior service credit.

Special provisions apply if the Retirement InconfenRs terminated within five years following antEaordinary Event, as this item is defir

in the Plan. In that event, Plan liabilities wilist be satisfied; then, remaining Plan assetsheilapplied to increase retirement income to
employees. The amount of
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the increase is based on the assumption that thoger would have continued employment with Armstrantil retirement. The executives
named in the Summary Compensation Table would bieghto this benefit.

Special provisions also apply in the event thatlaried member is terminated other than for causesigns for good reason, as those terms
are defined in the plan, within two years followiaghange in control of Armstrong Holdings, Incthbse members have at least 10 years of
service and are at least 50 years in age, theydamrikligible for early retirement without certaiormal reductions applying. Those members
would also receive some Social Security replacerbenéfits. Members with 15 or more years of servioald also receive credit under the
plan for an additional five years of service.

Compensation of Directors

AHI and Armstrong do not separately compensatectiire who are employees for services as a direAtdr.and Armstrong pay directors a
retainer of $50,000 per year. Shared directorsveamnly a single retainer. AHI directors receivig 200 for each Board and $1,000 for each
Committee meeting attended. Shared directors recdy200 for each Armstrong Board meeting atterahedd$1,000 for each Committee
meeting attended only when there is no AHI Boar€@ommittee meeting held on the same day. The ATalihmittee chairperson receives an
annual fee of $20,000 and the chairpersons of taedgement Development and Compensation Commitidethe Nominating and
Governance Committee each receive an annual f§£0000. Other committee members receive the fatigwnnual fees: Audit-$10,000;
Management Development and Compensation Commifié@®8; and Nominating and Governance Committee@®b,AHI and Armstrong
directors are paid $2,500 per day plus reasonaiplenses for special assignments in connection Ba#rd activity.

Management Development and Compensation CommitieeManagement Development and Compensation Conennitéenbers are Jerre L.
Stead (Chairperson); Judith R. Haberkorn; John ml;kand Ruth M. Owades. Donald C. Clark served &ommittee member during 2002
prior to his retirement from the Board of Directors October 14, 2002. The Management DevelopmeahCampensation Committee
establishes the overall philosophy and policiesegovmg compensation programs, including those stibjeSection 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code, for AHI and Armstrong management.
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ITEM 12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

AHI indirectly owns all of the capital stock of Astrong. The following table /1/ sets forth, as @dember 31, 2002, each person or entity
known to AHI that may be deemed to have benefmatership of more than 5% of the outstanding AHhowon stock. All Armstrong stock
is owned by AHI, except for 11.2 million sharesAirmstrong's treasury.

Name And Address Of Beneficial Amount And Nature Of  Percent Of Class
Owner Beneficial Ownership  Outstanding/2/

JP Morgan Chase/3/
270 Park Ave. 5,930 ,810 14.58%
New York, NY 10017

Royce & Associates, LLC
1414 Avenue of the Americas 2,419 ,500 5.95%
New York, NY 10019

/1.1 In accordance with applicable rules of theusities and Exchange Commission, this informat®based on Section 13(g) information
filed in February 2003.

2./ In accordance with applicable rules of theusities and Exchange Commission, this percentabassd upon the total 40,677,584 shares
of AHI's common stock that were outstanding on Datoer 31, 2002. /3./ JP Morgan Chase serves asutstee¢ of the Armstrong World
Industries, Inc. Master Retirement Plan and thstéei of the Stock Ownership Armstrong Holdings Eteand of the Retirement Savings and
Stock Ownership Plan (RSSOP). As trustee, JP Mo@jase may be deemed to be the beneficial owrle©80,810 shares held in the tru
JP Morgan Chase is obligated to vote, tender, chaxge any Common Stock beneficially owned by t8E8P Trust as directed by
participants in RSSOP. JP Morgan Chase votes #feses in accordance with the participant's divactbhares that are unallocated and any
allocated shares for which no instructions areiveck are voted in the same proportion as the shaefr€ommon Stock for which instructions
are received. JP Morgan Chase directly votes threstbeneficially owned by the Master RetiremeahPI

172



Security Ownership of Management

The following table shows the amount of AHI stobktteach director (and nominee), each individuadethin the Summary Compensation
Table and all directors and executive officers odvas a group. The ownership rights in these stamesist of sole voting and investment
power, except where otherwise indicated. This mi&tion is as of January 31, 2003.

Stock Options
Exercis able w/in Total Beneficial Deferred Stock
Name Stock/1/ 60 days Ownership Units /2/

H. Jesse Arnelle 2,358 - 2,358 1,390
Van C. Campbell 2,200 5,330 7,530 7,981
Judith R. Haberkorn 1,184 4,970 6,154 1,910
John A. Krol 1,433 2,990 4,423 644
Michael D. Lockhart 128,499 166,665 295,164
James E. Marley 4,697 1,410 6,107
Ruth M. Owades 5,000 - 5,000
M. Edward Sellers
Jerre L. Stead 4,400 3,260 7,660 1,283
Chan W. Galbato 3,874 - 3,874
Stephen J. Senkowski 3,708 14,665 18,373 1,327
John N. Rigas 1,353 17,000 18,353
Matthew J. Angello 6,131 10,570 16,701
Director and officers as a
group (19 persons) 184,501 260,380 444,881 16,749

1./ Includes the following shares that may be mieiteed to be owned by the employee through the eyepl stock ownership accounts of
AHI's Retirement Savings and Stock Ownership PIRSSOP"): M. D. Lockhart - 124; C. W. Galbato - 134 J. Senkowski - 2,186; J. N.
Rigas - 979; M. J. Angello - 1,407; and executifficers as a group - 11,271 Includes the followahgres indirectly owned and held in the
savings accounts of the RSSOP accounts of theafimifpindividuals: S. J. Senkowski - 38; M. J. Arigel 563; and executive officers as a
group - 2,034 Includes the following shares indiseowned and held in the Bonus Replacement Regrd@rRlan accounts: M. J. Angello -
292; and executive officers as a group - 301.

2./ Includes phantom shares held in a stock suhatainder the Deferred Compensation Plan. Théceahts have no voting or investment
power.

ITEM 13: CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS
Mr. H. Jesse Arnelle is Of Counsel with the lamTiof Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC. Armstgohas retained Womble Carlyle
Sandridge & Rice, PLLC for many years, includin@2@nd 2002.

ITEM 14: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Within the 90 days prior to the date of this repéitll and AWI (together referred to as "the Comgati) carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Comipa’ management, including the Companies' ChietHtve Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design andrapien of the Companies' disclosure controls amt@iures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief BikeeOfficer and Chief Financial Officer concludgtht the Companies' disclosure controls
and procedures are effective.

There were no significant changes in the Compaimts al controls or in other factors that coulghgficantly affect these controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evatuatio
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES an d Reports on Form 8-K

The financial statements filed as a part of thisidal Report on Form 10-K are listed in the "Inde¥inancial Statements and Schedules" on
page 58.

a. The following exhibits are filed as a part dtAnnual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibits
No. 2(a) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Plan of Reorganization submitted
to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Dis trict of Delaware is
incorporated by reference from the Curre nt Report filed on Form 8-K

on November 4, 2002.

No 2(b) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Discl osure Statement submitted
to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Dis trict of Delaware is
incorporated by reference from the Curre nt Report filed on Form 8-K

on December 20, 2002.

No. 2(c) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Proje cted Financial Information
submitted to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court f or the District of
Delaware, which will appear as Exhibit C to the Disclosure
Statement, is incorporated by reference from the Current Report
filed on Form 8-K on December 26, 2002 w herein it appeared as
Exhibit 99.1.

No. 3(a) Armstrong Holdings, Inc.'s Amended and R estated Articles of
Incorporation are incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit
3.1(i) to Armstrong Holdings, Inc.'s Rep ort on Form 8-K dated May
9, 2000.

No. 3(b) Armstrong Holdings, Inc.'s Bylaws, effec tive May 1, 2000
incorporated herein by reference from 20 00 Annual Report on Form

10-K wherein they appear as Exhibit 3(b)

No. 3(c) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s resta ted Articles of
Incorporation, as amended, are incorpora ted by reference herein
from Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s 1994 Annual Report on Form

10-K wherein they appear as Exhibit 3(b)

No. 3(d) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Bylaw s as amended November 9,
2000 incorporated herein by reference fr om 2000 Annual Report on
Form 10-K wherein they appear as Exhibit 3(d).

No. 4(a) Armstrong Holdings, Inc.'s Shareholder S ummary of Rights to
Purchase Preferred Stock dated as of Mar ch, 14, 2000 is
incorporated by reference herein from Ar mstrong Holdings, Inc.'s
registration statement on Form 8-K dated May 9, 2000, wherein it

appeared as Exhibit 99.2.

No. 4(b) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Retir ement Savings and Stock
Ownership Plan effective as of October 1 , 1996, as amended April
12, 2001 is incorporated by reference he rein from Armstrong World
Industries, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on F orm 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2001, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 4.*

No. 4(c) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s $450, 000,000 Credit Agreement
(5-year) dated as of October 29, 1998, a mong Armstrong World
Industries, Inc., The Chase Manhattan Ba nk, as administrative
agent, and the banks listed therein, is incorporated herein by
reference from Armstrong World Industrie s, Inc.'s 1998 Annual
Report on Form 10-K, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 4(f).
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No. 4(d) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Inden

1996, between Armstrong World Industries
Manhattan Bank, formerly known as Chemic
Mellon Bank, N.A., as Trustee, is incorp
from Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s
Form S-3/A dated August 14, 1996, wherei
4.1.

No 4(e) Instrument of Resignation, Appointment a

December 1, 2000 among Armstrong World |
Manhattan Bank and Wells Fargo Bank Minn
Association, regarding Armstrong World |
Indenture, dated as of August 6, 1996, b
Industries, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan
Chemical Bank, as successor to Mellon Ba
incorporated herein by reference from 20
10-K wherein they appear as Exhibit 4(e)

No. 4(f) Copy of portions of Armstrong World Indu

Directors' Pricing Committee's resolutio
and conditions of $200,000,000 of 6.35%
$150,000,000 of 6 1/2% Senior Notes Due
herein by reference from Armstrong World
Annual Report on Form 10-K, wherein it a

No. 4(g) Copy of portions of Armstrong World Indu

Directors' Pricing Committee's resolutio
and conditions of $180,000,000 of 7.45%
Bonds Due 2038, is incorporated herein b
World Industries, Inc.'s 1998 Annual Rep
it appeared as Exhibit 4(i).

No. 4(h) Note Purchase Agreement dated June 19, 1

Guaranteed Serial ESOP Notes due 1989 -2
Guaranteed Serial ESOP Notes due 2000-20
Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Ownershi
Plan") Trust, with Armstrong World Indus
incorporated by reference herein from Ar
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s regis
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
as Exhibit 4(a).

No. 4(i) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s $300,

and Guarantee Agreement dated December 6
World Industries, Inc. and The Chase Man
referenced therein; the First Amendment
February 2, 2001; and the Amendment Lett
February 28, 2001, is incorporated herei
Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein they

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and Armstrong W
to furnish to the Commission upon reques
defining the rights of holders of long-t

and their subsidiaries which are not fil

with applicable rules of the Commission
securities authorized thereunder does no
assets of the registrants and their subs
basis.

No. 4(j) Amendment to Armstrong World Industries,

Revolving Credit and Guarantee Agreement
reference from the Current Report filed
2002.
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No.

No.

No

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

10(i)(a) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Asbestos-Related Claims dated Ju
Agreement") among Armstrong Worl
companies is incorporated by ref
World Industries, Inc.'s 1997 An
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 1

10(i))(b)  Producer Agreement concerning Ce
as amended, among Armstrong Worl
companies is incorporated by ref
World Industries, Inc.'s 1999 An
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 1

.10(i)(c) Indenture, dated as of March 15,

World Industries, Inc. and Morga
New York, as Trustee, as to whic
Chicago is successor trustee, (r
Industries, Inc.'s $125 million

and Series A Medium Term Notes)
reference from Armstrong World |
Report on Form 10-K wherein it a

10(i)(d)  Senior Indenture dated as of Dec
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Chicago, as Trustee, is incorpor
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Form S-3 (File No. 333-74501) da
it appeared as Exhibit 4.3.

10(i)(e) Global Note representing $200 mi
due 2029 is incorporated by refe
World Industries, Inc.'s Report
with the Commission on May 29, 1
Exhibit 4.2.

10(i))(f) Agreement and Plan of Merger dat
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Sapling Acquisition, Inc., is in
herein from Armstrong World Indu
on June 15, 1998, wherein it app

10(i)(g) Agreement and Plan of Merger, da
and among AISI Acquisition Corp.
Industries, Inc and Armstrong In
incorporated by reference herein
Industries, Inc.'s Report on For
1999, wherein it appeared as Exh

10(iii)(a) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Plan for Key Employees, as amend
reference herein from Armstrong
Annual Report on Form 10-K where
10(iii)(a). *

10(iii)(b) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Plan is incorporated by referenc
Industries, Inc.'s 1998 Annual R
appeared as Exhibit 10(iii)(j).

10(iii)(c) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Income Plan, as amended, is inco
from Armstrong World Industries,
Form 10-K wherein it appeared as

10(iii)(d) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Inc.'s Management Achievement Pl
amended February 26, 2001, is in
reference from 2000 Annual Repor
appear as Exhibit 10(iii)(d). *
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No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

10(iii)(e) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Plan (formerly known as the Exce
January 1, 2000 is incorporated
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
10-K wherein it appeared as Exhi

10(iii)(f) Armstrong Holdings, Inc.'s Defer
amended May 1, 2000, is incorpor
2000 Annual Report on Form 10-K
Exhibit 10(iii)(f).*

10(iii)(g) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
for Salaried Employees of Armstr
as amended, is incorporated by r
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
10-K wherein it appeared as Exhi

10(iii)(h) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Non-employee Directors, as amend
reference herein from Armstrong
Annual Report on Form 10-K where
10(iii)(h). *

10(iii)(i) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Salaried Employees, as amended O
incorporated herein by reference
Form 10-K wherein they appear as

10(iii)(j) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Incentive Plan is incorporated b
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
10-K wherein it appeared as Exhi

10(iii)(k) Form of Agreement between Armstr
and certain of its Executive Off
schedule identifying those execu
differences among the agreements
party, is incorporated herein by
Report on Form 10-K wherein they
10(iii)(k). *

10(iii)(I) Change in Control Agreement betw
and Michael D. Lockhart, dated A
by reference herein from Armstro
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
10-Q for the quarter ended Septe
appeared as Exhibit 10(e). *

10(iii)(m) Form of Indemnification Agreemen
Inc., Armstrong World Industries
Directors and Officers, together
those Directors and Officers, is
herein from Armstrong Holdings,
Industries, Inc.'s Quarterly Rep
quarter ended June 30, 2000, whe
10(iii)(a). *

10(iii)(n) Amendment to August 7, 2000 empl
Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and Mic
incorporated by reference herein
Inc. and Armstrong World Industr
on Form 10-Q for the quarter end
appeared as Exhibit 10. *

10(iii)(0) Form of Indemnification Agreemen
Inc. and certain of its Director
20, 2000, together with a schedu
Directors and Officers and the m
agreements to which each executi
incorporated herein by reference
Form 10-K wherein they appear as
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No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No

No.

No.

10(iii)(p) Form of Indemnification Agreement b
Industries, Inc. and certain of its
together with a schedule identifyin
Officers dated October 20, 2000 and
among the agreements to which each
incorporated herein by reference fr
10-K wherein they appear as Exhibit

10(iii)(q) Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s
Plan, dated as of January 1, 1998,
by reference herein from Armstrong
Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein
10(iii)(m). *

10(iii)(r) Employment agreement between Armstr
and Chan W. Galbato dated May 2, 20
reference herein from Armstrong Wor
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for t
2001, wherein it appeared as Exhibi

10(iii)(s) Form of Indemnification Agreement b
Inc. and M. Edward Sellers, dated M
herein by reference from 2001 Annua
it appeared as Exhibit 10(iii)(s).

10(iii)(t) Employment Agreement between Armstr
Michael D. Lockhart dated August 7,
by reference from Armstrong Holding
Industries, Inc.'s Quarterly Report
ended September 30, 2000 wherein it

10(iii)(u) Order Authorizing and Approving Ret
Employees and Approving Assumption
April 18, 2001 is incorporated here
Annual Report of Form 10-K wherein
10(iii)(u).

10(iii)(v) Armstrong Holdings, Inc.'s Stock Aw
reference herein from Armstrong Hol
statement on form S-8 filed August
as Exhibit 4.1. *

10(iii)(w) Terms of Restricted Stock for Stock
Offered to Employees and Schedule o
incorporated by reference herein fr
and Armstrong World Industries, Inc
10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe
appeared as Exhibit 10(i). *

. 10(iii)(x) Management Services Agreement betwe

and Armstrong World Industries, Inc
incorporated by reference herein fr
and Armstrong World Industries, Inc
10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe
appeared as Exhibit 10(g). *

10(iii)(y) Agreement between Armstrong Holding
Industries, Inc. and Triangle Pacif
2000 is incorporated herein by refe
on Form 10-K wherein they appear as

10(iii)(z) Form of Amendment of Restricted Sto
AHI and the following executive off
Angello, C.A. Engle, S.J. Senkowski
22, 2002 is incorporated herein by
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
it appeared as Exhibit 10.
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No. 11(a) Computation for basic earnings per sh are.

No. 11(b) Computation for diluted earnings per share.

No. 21 List of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and Armstrong World Industries,
Inc.'s domestic and foreign subsidiar ies.

No. 23 Consent of Independent Auditors.

No. 24 Powers of Attorney and authorizing re solutions.

No. 99.1  Certification of Chief Executive Offi cer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed her ewith.

No. 99.2  Certification of Chief Financial Offi cer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed her ewith.

* Compensatory Plan
b. The following Current Reports were filed on F@rK since the third quarter of 2002.

1) On October 16, 2002, a Current Report was fileder Item 5 of Form 8-K related to the resignattbionald C. Clark as a director of
AHI.

2) On October 30, 2002, a Current Report was filedeer Item 5 of Form 8-K related to the approvahefamendment to the company's post-
petition credit facility.

3) On November 4, 2002, a Current Report was fileder Item 5 of Form 8-K related to the filing betcompany's Plan of Reorganization
with the Court.

4) On November 8, 2002, a Current Report was fileder Item 5 of Form 8-K related to the suspendadinig of the companies' securities on
the New York Stock Exchange.

5) On December 20, 2002, a Current Report was €iteter Item 5 of Form 8-K related to the filingtbé company's proposed Disclosure
Statement with the Court.

6) On December 26, 2002, a Current Report was fitetker Items 5 and 7 of Form 8-K related to thedilof the projected financial
information associated with the Disclosure Statemen

7) On March 14, 2003, a Current Report was filedeuritem 9 of Form 8-K related to the filing of thbempany's amended Plan of
Reorganization and amended Disclosure StatemehttigtCourt.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

ARMSTRONG HOLDINGS, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Mchael D. Lockhart

Chai rman and Chi ef Executive O ficer

Date: March 19, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant AHI and in the capacities and ondduwtes indicated.

Directors and Principal Officers of the registramil:

Michael D. Lockhart Chairman and Chief Execu tive Officer
(Principal Executive Off icer)
Leonard A. Campanaro Senior Vice President an d Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Off icer)
William C. Rodruan Vice President and Contr oller
(Principal Accounting Of ficer)
H. Jesse Arnelle Director
Van C. Campbell Director
Judith R. Haberkorn Director
John A. Krol Director
James E. Marley Director
Ruth M. Owades Director
M. Edward Sellers Director
Jerre L. Stead Director
By: /s/ Michael D. Lockhart
(Michae I D. Lockhart, as
attorne y-in-fact for AHI directors
and on his own behalf)
As of M arch 19, 2003
By: /s/ Leonard A. Campanaro
(Leonar d A. Campanaro)
As of M arch 19, 2003
By: /s/ William C. Rodruan
(Willia m C. Rodruan)
As of M arch 19, 2003
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Mchael D. Lockhart

Chai rman and Chi ef Executive O ficer

Date: March 19, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant Armstrong and in the capacities@nthe dates indicated.

Directors and Principal Officers of the registrénistrong:

Michael D. Lockhart Director and Chairman
(Principal Executive Off icer)
Leonard A. Campanaro Senior Vice President an d Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Off icer)
William C. Rodruan Vice President and Contr oller
(Principal Accounting Of ficer)
James E. Marley Director
John N. Rigas Director
By: /s/ Micha el D. Lockhart
(Michael D. L ockhart, as attorney-in-fact
for James E. Marley and on his own behalf)
As of March 1 9, 2003
By: /s/ Leona rd A. Campanaro
(Leonard A. C ampanaro)
As of March 1 9, 2003
By: /s/ Willi am C. Rodruan
(William C. R odruan)
As of March 1 9, 2003
By: /s/ John N. Rigas
(John N. Riga s)
As of March 1 9, 2003
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I, Michael D. Lockhart, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flrmstrong Holdings, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this annual report doégaontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in thisnaial report, fairly present in all matet
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this annual report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as def
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for tigésteant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoimssure that material information relating te thgistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inigh this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraliigdosure controls and procedures as of a datena®0 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusaimut the effectiveness of the disclosure contnts procedures based on our evaluation as
of the Evaluation Date;

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve disclosed, based on our most recent evafyatidghe registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of registrant's board of directors (aispas performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design oeogtion of internal controls which could adversaffect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data awe foentified for the registrant's auditors any enial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal
controls; and

6) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve indicated in this annual report whether thegee significant changes in internal controls
or in other factors that could significantly afféeternal controls subsequent to the date of oustmexent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies amalterial weaknesses.

Date: March 19, 2003
/'s/ M chael D. Lockhart

M chael D. Lockhart
Chai rman and Chi ef Executive O ficer

182



I, Leonard A. Campanaro, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flrmstrong Holdings, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this annual report doégaontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in thisnaial report, fairly present in all matet
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this annual report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as def
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for tigésteant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoimssure that material information relating te thgistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inigh this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraliigdosure controls and procedures as of a datena®0 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusaimut the effectiveness of the disclosure contnts procedures based on our evaluation as
of the Evaluation Date;

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve disclosed, based on our most recent evafyatidghe registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of registrant's board of directors (aispas performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design oeogtion of internal controls which could adversaffect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data awe foentified for the registrant's auditors any enial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal
controls; and

6) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve indicated in this annual report whether thegee significant changes in internal controls
or in other factors that could significantly afféeternal controls subsequent to the date of oustmexent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies amalterial weaknesses.

Date: March 19, 2003
/sl Leonard A. Campanaro

Leonard A. Canpanaro
Sr. Vice President and Chief Financial Oficer
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I, Michael D. Lockhart, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flrmstrong World Industries, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this annual report doégaontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in thisnaial report, fairly present in all matet
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this annual report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as def
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for tigésteant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoimssure that material information relating te thgistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inigh this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraliigdosure controls and procedures as of a datena®0 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusaimut the effectiveness of the disclosure contnts procedures based on our evaluation as
of the Evaluation Date;

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve disclosed, based on our most recent evafyatidghe registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of registrant's board of directors (aispas performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design oeogtion of internal controls which could adversaffect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data awe foentified for the registrant's auditors any enial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal
controls; and

6) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve indicated in this annual report whether thegee significant changes in internal controls
or in other factors that could significantly afféeternal controls subsequent to the date of oustmexent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies amalterial weaknesses.

Date: March 19, 2003
/'s/ Mchael D. Lockhart

M chael D. Lockhart
Chai rman and Chi ef Executive O ficer
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I, Leonard A. Campanaro, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flrmstrong World Industries, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this annual report doégaontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in thisnaial report, fairly present in all matet
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this annual report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as def
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for tigésteant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoimssure that material information relating te thgistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inigh this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraliigdosure controls and procedures as of a datena®0 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusaimut the effectiveness of the disclosure contnts procedures based on our evaluation as
of the Evaluation Date;

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve disclosed, based on our most recent evafyatidghe registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of registrant's board of directors (aispas performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design oeogtion of internal controls which could adversaffect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data awe foentified for the registrant's auditors any enial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal
controls; and

6) The registrant's other certifying officers arftalve indicated in this annual report whether thegee significant changes in internal controls
or in other factors that could significantly afféeternal controls subsequent to the date of oustmexent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies amalterial weaknesses.

Date: March 19, 2003
/sl Leonard A. Campanaro

Leonard A. Canpanaro
Sr. Vice President and Chief Financial Oficer
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SCHEDULE Il

For Years Ended December
(amounts in millions)

Provision for Losses

Balance at beginning of year
Additions charged to earnings
Deductions

Balances via acquisitions/(divestitures)

Balance at end of year

Provision for Discounts

Balance at beginning of year
Additions charged to earnings
Deductions

Balance via acquisitions/(divestitures)

Balance at end of year

Total Provision for Discounts and Losses

Balance at beginning of year
Additions charged to earnings
Deductions

Balances via acquisitions/(divestitures)

Balance at end of year

186

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and Armstrong World Indies, Inc. Valuation and Qualifying Reserves of dagets Receivable

31

2002 2001 2000

$ 220 $ 246 $ 255
78 84 137
(9.5) (11.0) (14.6)

$ 203 % 220 % 246

$ 322 $ 295 % 245
2645 2584 2585
(260.5) (255.7) (254.5)
- - 1.0

$ 36.2% 322 % 295

$ 542 $ 541 $ 50.0
2723 266.8 272.2
(270.0) (266.7) (269.1)
- - 1.0

$ 565 % 542 $ 541




EXHIBIT NO. 11(a)

ARMSTRONG HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

COMPUTATION FOR BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS EXCEPT FOR PER-SHARE DATA)

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Net earnings (loss)

Average number of common shares outstanding

Basic earnings (loss) per share

2002 2001 2000

$(2,142.8) $92.8 $12.2
40.5 40.5 40.2

$ (52.91) $2.29 $0.30

EXHIBIT NO. 11(b)

COMPUTATION FOR DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS EXCEPT FOR PER-SHARE DATA)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Net earnings (loss)

Average number of common shares outstanding

Average number of common shares issuable under sto
or restricted stock grants

Average number of common and common stock equivale
outstanding

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

2002 2001 2000

$(2,142.8) $92.8 $12.2

40.5 40.5 40.2
ck options

nts
40.7 40.8 40.5

$ (52.91) $2.27  $0.30



Exhibit No. 21
Subsidiaries of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. @&December 31, 2002

The following is a list of subsidiaries of ArmstigiVorld Industries, Inc. as of the date hereof,ttng certain subsidiaries which, considered
in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, wouldaostitute a significant subsidiary.

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. is owned 100% hyn&trong Holdings, Inc., which also owns 100% ofm&trong Worldwide, Inc.

Jurisdiction of

AWI Domestic Subsidiaries Incorporation
Armstrong Cork Finance Corporation Delaware
Armstrong Enterprises, Inc. Vermont
Armstrong Realty Group, Inc. Pennsylvania
Armstrong Ventures, Inc. Delaware
Armstrong Wood Products, Inc. Delaware
Armstrong World Industries Asia, Inc. Nevada
Armstrong World Industries (Delaware) Inc. Delaware
Armstrong World Industries (India) Inc. Nevada
Armstrong World Industries Latin America, Inc. Nevada
Armstrong.com Holding Company Delaware
AWI Licensing Company Delaware
AWI (Nevada), INC. Nevada
Charleswater Products, Inc. Delaware
Chemline Industries, Inc. Delaware
Desseaux Corporation of North America Delaware
Interface Solutions Holding, Inc. (35% owned; holds Delaware
interest in Interface Solutions, Inc.)
Nitram Liquidators, Inc. Delaware
Worthington Armstrong Venture (50%-owned unincorpor Delaware

affiliate)

Jurisdiction of

AWI Foreign Subsidiaries Incorporation
AIPB SPRL Belgium
Armstrong (Floor) Holdings, B.V. Netherlands
Armstrong (Floor) Holdings Ltd. United Kingdom
Armstrong (Japan) K.K. Japan
Armstrong (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Armstrong (U.K.) Investments United Kingdom
Armstrong Architectural Products S.L. Spain

Armstrong Building Products
Armstrong Building Products B.V.

Armstrong Building Products Company (Shanghai) Ltd.

United Kingdom
Netherlands
PRC

Armstrong Building Products G.m.b.H. Germany
Armstrong Building Products S.A. France
Armstrong Building Products S.r.l. Italy

Armstrong DLW AG Germany
Armstrong Europa G.m.b.H. Germany
Armstrong Europe Services United Kingdom
Armstrong FSC, Ltd. Bermuda
Armstrong Floor Products Europe G.m.b.H. Germany
Armstrong Floor Products Europe Ltd. United Kingdom
Armstrong Floor Products Europe Ltd. (Rep Office) Spain
Armstrong Floor Products Europe S.a.r.l. France



AWI Foreign Subsidiaries

Armstrong Metal Ceilings Limited

Armstrong Metalldecken Holdings AG
Armstrong World do Brasil Ltda.

Armstrong World Industries (Australia) Pty. Ltd.
Armstrong World Industries (China) Ltd.
Armstrong World Industries (H.K.) Limited
Armstrong World Industries (India) Pvt. Ltd.
Armstrong World Industries (Thailand) Ltd.
Armstrong World Industries AB

Armstrong World Industries Canada Ltd.
Armstrong World Industries Holding G.m.b.H.
Armstrong World Industries Ltd.

Armstrong World Industries Mauritius
Armstrong World Industries Pty. Ltd.

Armstrong World Industries de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.

Liberty Commercial Services Ltd.
Tapijtfabriek H. Desseaux N.V.

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation
United Kingdom
Switzerland
Brazil

Australia

PRC

Hong Kong
India

Thailand
Sweden
Canada
Germany
United Kingdom
Mauritius
Australia
Mexico
Bermuda
Netherlands



Exhibit No. 21

Subsidiaries of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. as of Daber 31, 2002

Armstrong Holdings, Inc.'s subsidiaries includeddlthe Armstrong World Industries, Inc. subsidisriplus Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
(Pennsylvania) and its direct parent company, Aromst Worldwide, Inc. (Delaware).



EXHIBIT NO. 23
Consent of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
Armstrong Holdings, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statement No. 333-74501 on Form S-3 aegid®ration Statements No., 33-
91890, 33-18996, 33-18997, 33-65768, 333-74633;738®3 and 333-43872 on Form S-8 of Armstrong Hadj Inc. of our report dated
March 14, 2003, with respect to the consolidatddrzz sheets of Armstrong Holdings, Inc., and siiases as of December 31, 2002 and
2001 and the related consolidated statements oireg;, cash flows and shareholders' equity andetlaged financial statement schedule for
each of the years in the three-year period endegiber 31, 2002, which report appears in the Deeeib, 2002 annual report on Form 10-
K of Armstrong Holdings, Inc.

Our report dated March 14, 2003, contains an egptay paragraph that states three of the Compdoy'estic subsidiaries, including
Armstrong World Industries, Inc. filed separateurdhry petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of thaited States Bankruptcy Code on
December 6, 2000 and Armstrong World Industries, s also defaulted on certain debt obligatiGns.report also states that the filing
under Chapter 11 and the resulting increased wingrtregarding the Company's potential asbesatnlilies raise substantial doubt about the
Company's ability to continue as a going concehe accompanying consolidated financial statemardgiaancial statement schedule do
include any adjustments that might result fromdbh&ome of these uncertainties.

Our report dated March 14, 2003 refers to a chamgjee method of accounting for goodwill and intdodg assets.

/sl KPMG LLP

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a
March 17, 2003



EXHIBIT NO. 23
Consent of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statement No. 333-74501 on Form S-3 aegid®ration Statements No., 33-
91890, 33-18996, 33-18997, 33-65768, 333-74633388d79093 on Form S-8 of Armstrong World Industries. of our report dated March
14, 2003, with respect to the consolidated balaheets of Armstrong World Industries, Inc., andsidilries as of December 31, 2002 and
2001 and the related consolidated statements oireg;, cash flows and shareholder's equity andetlaged financial statement schedule for
each of the years in the three-year period endegi@ber 31, 2002, which report appears in the Deeeib, 2002 annual report on Form 10-
K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Our report dated March 14, 2003, contains an exbtay paragraph that states the Company and twe dbmestic subsidiaries filed sepa
voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11tloé United States Bankruptcy Code on December®) 20d the Company has also defat
on certain debt obligations. Our report also stttasthe filing under Chapter 11 and the resulihggeased uncertainty regarding the
Company's potential asbestos liabilities raise tauibigl doubt about the Company's ability to camtims a going concern. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements and financiakstant schedule do not include any adjustmentaigtit result from the outcome of these
uncertainties.

Our report dated March 14, 2003 refers to a chamgjee method of accounting for goodwill and intdodg assets.

/sl KPMG LLP

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a
March 17, 2003



EXHIBIT NO. 24
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
POWER OF ATTORNEY
RE: 2002 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

I, James E. Marley, as a Director of Armstrong Hiudd, Inc., do hereby constitute and appoint, MIGHAD. LOCKHART or, in the case of
his absence or inability to act as such, JOHN N6A&D or, in the case of his absence or inabilitpdbas such, WALTER T. GANGL, my
agent, to sign in my name and on my behalf the Gayp Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endedember 31, 2002, and any
amendments thereto, to be filed by the Company thighSecurities and Exchange Commission undereahbaries Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, with the same effect as if such signatere made by me personally.

/sl Janes E. Marley

Janes E. Marl ey

Dat ed: February 24, 2003

All powers of attorney required to be filed are stalntially identical in all material respects. Téfere, in accordance with SEC Regulation
229.601(a) Instruction 2, only the foregoing copypeing included expect, however, that the mansadiged copy filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission includes a complete sgiwérs of attorney.

All powers of attorney differ only from the form tife foregoing in that they are executed by thiofghg parties in the capacities indicated
on or about February 24, 2003.

H. Jesse Arnelle Director
Van C. Campbell Director
Judith R. Haberkorn Director
John A. Krol Director
James E. Marley Director
Ruth M. Owades Director
M. Edward Sellers Director

Jerre L. Stead Director



EXHIBIT NO. 24

I, John N. Rigas, Senior Vice President, Secredad/ General Counsel of Armstrong Holdings, Incoiporation organized and existing
under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvatodhereby certify that at a meeting of the BodrBioectors of said corporation duly

held on the 24th day of February, 2003, at whiguarum was present and acting throughout, theviatig resolution was adopted and is r
in full force and effect.

RESOLVED that the execution of the Company's 2082ual Report on Form 10-K by members of the Bo&fdicectors through powers of
attorney granting Messrs. Lockhart, Rigas and GHrgpower to sign on their behalf is authorized.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my handthaedseal of said corporation this 25th day of Baby, 2003.

/'s/ John N. Rigas

John N. Rigas

Seni or Vice President, Secretary and
General Counsel



EXHIBIT NO. 24

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
POWER OF ATTORNEY

RE: 2002 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

I, James E. Marley, as a Director of Armstrong Wadrldustries, Inc., do hereby constitute and apgpMhiCHAEL D. LOCKHART or, in the
case of his absence or inability to act as suchiN@®. RIGAS or, in the case of his absence or ilitghib act as such, WALTER T. GANGL,
my agent, to sign in my name and on my behalf the@any's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeateghDecember 31, 2002, and any
amendments thereto, to be filed by the Company thighSecurities and Exchange Commission undereabaries Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, with the same effect as if such signatere made by me personally.

/sl James E. Marl ey

James E. Marl ey

Dat ed: March 18, 2003



EXHIBIT NO. 24

I, John N. Rigas, Senior Vice President, Secredad/General Counsel of Armstrong World Industries,, a corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Bgluania, do hereby certify that at a meeting ef Board of Directors of said corporati
duly held on the 17th day of March, 2003, at whaaluorum was present and acting throughout, thesolg resolution was adopted and is
now in full force and effect.

RESOLVED That the execution of the Company's 2008ual Report on Form 10-K by members of the Bodidimectors through powers
of attorney granting Messrs. Lockhart, Rigas anddbthe power to sign on their behalf is authorized

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my handtaedseal of said corporation this 17th day of Mag&003.

/'s/ John N. Rigas

John N. Rigas

Seni or Vice President, Secretary and
General Counsel



Exhibit 99.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantX8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuantdtd®e906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, filed herewith.

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and Armstrong World Indies, Inc.

(the "Companies")
Written Statement by Chief Executive Officer Pursiia Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

| certify to the best of my knowledge and beligdttthe Companies' Form 10-K annual report contgitfieir respective financial statements
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 fudimplies with the requirements of section 13(a)hef $ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, and
that information contained in that report fairlyepents, in all material respects, the financiabd@@n and results of operations of the
Companies as of that date.

/sl M chael D. Lockhart

M chael D. Lockhart

Chi ef Executive O ficer
Arnstrong Hol dings, Inc. and
Arnstrong World Industries, Inc.

Dat ed: March 19, 2003



Exhibit 99.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuantd¢tid®e906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, filed herewith.

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and Armstrong World Indies, Inc.

(the "Companies")
Written Statement by Chief Financial Officer Punsiu Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

| certify to the best of my knowledge and beligdttthe Companies' Form 10-K annual report contgitfieir respective financial statements
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 futimplies with the requirements of section 13(a)ef $ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, and
that information contained in that report fairlyepents, in all material respects, the financiabd@@nm and results of operations of the
Companies as of that date.

/sl Leonard A. Canpanaro
Leonard A. Canpanaro

Chi ef Financial Oficer
Arnstrong Hol dings, Inc. and
Arnstrong World Industries, Inc.

Dated: March 19, 2003



